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TITLE 24-A
MAINE INSURANCE CODE
CHAPTER 1
GENERAL DEFINITIONS AND PROVISIONS

§1. Short title
This Title shall be known and be cited as the Maine Insurance Code. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1
(NEW).]
SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§2. "Person" defined

"Person" includes an individual, firm, partnership, corporation, association, syndicate,
organization, society, business trust, attorney-in-fact and every natural or artificial legal entity. [PL
1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§3. "Insurance" defined

"Insurance" means a contract under which one undertakes to pay or indemnify another as to loss
from certain specified contingencies or perils, to pay or grant a specified amount or determinable benefit
or annuity in connection with ascertainable risk contingencies or to act as surety, except that the
following types of contracts are not considered insurance: [PL 1997, c. 592, §9 (RPR).]

1. Charitable gift annuity. A charitable gift annuity agreement, as defined in section 703-A;
[PL 1997, c. 592, §9 (NEW).]

2. Road or tourist service contract. A road or tourist service contract, other than a contract issued
by a licensed insurer, related to the repair, operation and care of automobiles or to the protection and
assistance of automobile owners or drivers;

[PL 2011, c. 345, §1 (AMD); PL 2011, c. 345, §7 (AFF).]

3. Home service contract. A home service contract whereby, for a set fee and specified duration,
a person agrees to defray the cost of repair or replacement or provide or arrange for the repair or
replacement of all or any part of any structural component, appliance or system of a home necessitated
by wear and tear, deterioration or inherent defect or by failure of an inspection to detect the likelihood
of any such loss; and
[PL 2011, c. 345, §1 (AMD); PL 2011, c. 345, §7 (AFF).]

4. Service contract. A service contract as defined in section 7102, subsection 11.
[PL 2011, c. 345, §2 (NEW); PL 2011, c. 345, §7 (AFF).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1995, c. 375, §C1 (AMD). PL 1997, c. 457, §7 (AMD). PL
1997, ¢. 592, §9 (RPR). PL 2011, c. 345, §§1, 2 (AMD). PL 2011, c. 345, §7 (AFF).

§4. "Insurer" defined
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"Insurer" includes every person engaged as principal and as indemnitor, surety or contractor in the
business of entering into contracts of insurance. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§5. Superintendent, bureau defined

1. Superintendent. "Superintendent" means the Superintendent of the Bureau of Insurance.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §6 (RPR).]

2. Bureau. "Bureau" means the Bureau of Insurance.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §6 (RPR).]
SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §6 (RPR).

nmn

§6. '"Domestic," "foreign," "alien" insurer defined

1. Domestic insurer. A "domestic" insurer is one formed under the laws of this State.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

2. Foreign insurer. A "foreign" insurer is one formed under the laws of any jurisdiction other
than this State.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

3. Alien insurer. An "alien" insurer is a foreign insurer formed under the laws of any country
other than the United States of America, its states, districts, commonwealths and possessions.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§7. "State" defined

When in context signifying other than this State, "state" means any state, district, territory,
commonwealth or possession of the United States of America. [PL 1995, c. 329, §3 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1995, c. 329, §3 (AMD).
§8. "Authorized," "unauthorized" insurer defined

1. Authorized insurer. An "authorized" insurer is one duly authorized to transact insurance in
this State by a subsisting certificate of authority issued by the superintendent.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

2. Unauthorized insurer. An "unauthorized" insurer is one not so authorized.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).
§9. "Transacting insurance' defined

In addition to other aspects of insurance operations to which provisions of this Title by their terms
apply, "transact" with respect to a business of insurance includes any of the following, whether by mail
or any other means: [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

1. Solicitation or inducement;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]
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2. Negotiations;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

3. Effectuation of a contract of insurance;
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

4. Transaction of matters subsequent to effectuation and arising out of such a contract.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]
SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§10. Application of code as to particular types of insurers
No provision of this Title shall apply with respect to: [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

1. Domestic mutual assessment insurers, as identified in chapter 51, except as stated in such
chapter;
[PL 1969, c. 177, §1 (AMD).]

2. Fraternal benefit societies, except as stated in chapter 55;

[PL 1997, c. 676, §2 (AMD).]

3.
[PL 1997, c. 457, §9 (RP).]

4. Unless otherwise expressly provided by this Title, a domestic insurer heretofore formed under
a special Act of the Legislature, when inconsistent with such special Act as heretofore amended;
[PL 1997, c. 676, §3 (AMD).]

5. The government contracting activities of a health care servicing entity, as defined in Title 22,
section 3173, contracting, whether directly or as a subcontractor, with the Department of Health and
Human Services, unless otherwise expressly provided by this Title. This Title may apply to other
insurance or managed care activities of a health care servicing entity; or

[PL 1997, c. 676, §4 (NEW); PL 2003, c. 689, Pt. B, §6 (REV).]

6. The government contracting activities of a health care servicing entity, as defined in Title 22-A,
section 207, subsection 7, contracting, whether directly or as a subcontractor, with the Department of
Health and Human Services, unless otherwise expressly provided by this Title. This Title may apply
to any other insurance or managed care activities of a health care servicing entity.

[PL 2007, c. 695, Pt. C, §14 (AMD).]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §1 (AMD). PL 1985, c. 399, §1 (AMD). PL 1997,
c. 457, §§8,9 (AMD). PL 1997, c. 676, §§2-4 (AMD). PL 2001, c. 354, §3 (AMD). PL 2003, c.
689, §B6 (REV). PL 2007, c. 539, Pt. N, §55 (AMD). PL 2007, c. 695, Pt. C, §14 (AMD).

§11. Particular provisions prevail

Provisions of this Title as to a particular kind of insurance, type of insurer or matter shall prevail
over provisions relating to insurance, insurers or matters in general. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§12. General penalty
(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY
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PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §§1-A (RPR). PL 1989, c. 269, §2 (RP).
§12-A. Civil penalty and enforcement provisions
1. Civil penalty. Civil penalties may be assessed against any person who:

A. Violates any provision of this Title, Title 24 or any other law enforced by the superintendent;
[PL 1997, c. 634, Pt. B, §1 (RPR).]

B. Violates any rule lawfully adopted by the superintendent; or [PL 1997, c. 634, Pt. B, §1
(RPR).]

C. Violates any lawful order of the superintendent that has not been stayed by order of the
superintendent or the Superior Court. [PL 1997, c. 634, Pt. B, §1 (RPR).]

The Superior Court, upon an action brought by the Attorney General, may assess a civil penalty of not
less than $500 and not more than $5,000 for each violation in the case of an individual and not less than
$2,000 and not more than $15,000 for each violation in the case of a corporation or other entity other
than an individual, unless the applicable law specifies a different civil penalty.

The superintendent, following an adjudicatory hearing, may assess a civil penalty of up to $500 for
each violation in the case of an individual and a civil penalty of up to $10,000 for each violation in the
case of a corporation or other entity other than an individual, unless the applicable law specifies a
different civil penalty. The superintendent shall notify the Attorney General or the Attorney General's
designee of any such adjudicatory hearing at the time that the notice of hearing is issued by the
superintendent. The superintendent may not assess a civil penalty if the Attorney General notifies the
superintendent that the Attorney General intends to pursue an action in Superior Court to seek civil
penalties for the same conduct. If the Attorney General elects to pursue the noticed action in Superior
Court, the Attorney General shall notify the superintendent of that decision no later than 7 days prior
to the hearing.

[PL 2005, c. 41, §1 (AMD).]

1-A. Equitable relief; actual damages. In addition to a civil penalty awarded pursuant to
subsection 1, the Superior Court may award to any injured insured or applicant for insurance who is

represented by the Attorney General reasonable equitable relief and actual damages.
[PL 1989, c. 826 (NEW).]

2. Cease and desist orders. The superintendent may issue a cease and desist order following an
adjudicatory hearing held in conformance with Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter IV, if the superintendent
finds that any person has engaged in or is engaging in any act or practice in violation of any law
administered or enforced by the superintendent, any rules promulgated under that law or any lawful
order of the superintendent.

A. A cease and desist order is effective when issued, unless the order specifies a later effective
date or is stayed pursuant to Title 5, section 11004. [PL 1991, c. 298, §1 (AMD).]

B. In the event an appeal is taken, the court shall issue its own order for compliance to the extent
that the superintendent's order is affirmed. [PL 1989, c. 269, §3 (NEW).]

C. Violation of any cease and desist order shall be punishable as a violation of this Title in
accordance with this section. [PL 1989, c. 269, §3 (NEW).]
[PL 1991, c. 298, §1 (AMD).]

2-A. Emergency cease and desist. The superintendent may issue an emergency cease and desist
order, without prior notice and hearing, if the complaint shows that a person is engaging in unlicensed
insurance activities or is engaging in conduct that creates an immediate danger to the public safety or
is causing or is reasonably expected to cause significant, imminent and irreparable public injury.
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A. A request for an emergency cease and desist order must be in writing in the form of a verified
complaint. [PL 1991, c. 298, §2 (NEW).]

B. An emergency cease and desist order is effective immediately and will continue in force and
effect until further order by the superintendent or unless stayed by the superintendent or by a court
of competent jurisdiction. [PL 1991, c. 298, §2 (NEW).]

C. Upon issuance of an emergency cease and desist order, the superintendent shall serve on the
person affected by the order, by registered or certified mail to the person's last known address, an
order that contains a statement of the charges and a notice of hearing. The hearing, held in
conformance with Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter IV, must be held within 10 days of the effective
date of the emergency order, unless a later time is agreed upon by all parties. [PL 1991, c. 298,
§2 (NEW).]

D. At the hearing, the superintendent shall affirm, modify or set aside, in whole or in part, the
emergency cease and desist order and may combine and employ any other enforcement or penalty
provisions available to the superintendent to arrive at a final order. [PL 1991, c. 298, §2 (NEW).]

E. The superintendent's order after hearing is a final order in all respects and is subject to subsection
2, paragraph A and section 236. [PL 1991, c. 298, §2 (NEW).]
[PL 1991, c. 298, §2 (NEW).]

3. Reprimand or censure. The superintendent may issue a letter of reprimand or censure to any
licensee, but only after opportunity for hearing has been provided to any and all persons who are
subjects of the reprimand.

[PL 1989, c. 269, §3 (NEW).]

4. Refunds of overcharges. In the event that any insurer, fraternal benefit society, nonprofit
hospital service plan, nonprofit medical service plan, nonprofit health care plan, health maintenance
organization or preferred provider organization makes charges to any person that are not in conformity
with a filing that it is required to submit for approval or disapproval by this Title or Title 24, the
superintendent may order that refunds of any overcharges be made.

[PL 2009, c. 13, §1 (AMD).]

5. Election of enforcement options. The superintendent may elect to utilize any or all of the
enforcement options provided by this section, in combination or in sequence, as the superintendent
deems appropriate. The penalties and provisions of this section are in addition to any other penalty
provided by law.

[PL 1989, c. 269, §3 (NEW).]

6. Restitution. The superintendent may order restitution for any insured or applicant for insurance
injured by a violation for which a civil penalty may be assessed pursuant to this section.

[PL 1989, c. 826 (NEW)]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1989, c. 269, §3 (NEW). PL 1989, c. 826 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 298, §§1,2 (AMD). PL 1997,
c. 634, §B1 (AMD). PL 2001, c. 165, §B1 (AMD). PL 2005, c. 41, §1 (AMD). PL 2009, c. 13,
§1 (AMD).

§13. Retention of unpaid premium

Any insurance company, broker or agent may retain an amount equal to any undisputed unpaid
premium due on the policy under which a claim is being presented, in connection with claims by and
settled with an insured, as long as the unpaid premium remains unpaid 60 days after the effective date
of that policy or the date of the original billing for the unpaid premium, whichever occurs later. The
unpaid premium may not be retained as against any loss payee or mortgagee named in the policy up to
the amount of the unpaid balance owed to that loss payee or mortgagee on the date the loss that gave
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rise to the claim occurred. This section does not apply to a health insurance policy. [PL 1993, c. 117,
§1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1993, c. 117, §1 (NEW).
§14. Affordable Care Act defined

As used in this Title, "federal Affordable Care Act" means the federal Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act, Public Law 111-148, as amended by the federal Health Care and Education
Reconciliation Act of 2010, Public Law 111-152, and any amendments to or regulations or guidance
issued under those acts. [PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. D, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. D, §1 (NEW).
§15. NAIC defined

As used in this Title, “NAIC” or “National Association of Insurance Commissioners” means the
National Association of Insurance Commissioners or its successor organization of insurance regulators.

[PL 2021, c. 521, §1 (NEW)]
SECTION HISTORY
PL 2021, c. 521, §1 (NEW).

CHAPTER 3
THE INSURANCE SUPERINTENDENT

§200. Department continued

There is continued a department of State Government known as the Insurance Bureau. [PL 1973,
c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).
§201. Superintendent of Insurance; appointment; term

1. The Superintendent of Insurance is the head of the Bureau of Insurance.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §7 (RPR).]

2. The superintendent shall be appointed by the Governor and subject to review by the joint
standing committee of the Legislature having jurisdiction over banking and insurance and to
confirmation by the Legislature.

[PL 1987, c. 105, §3 (AMD).]

3. The superintendent shall hold the superintendent's office for 5 years or until the superintendent's
successor has been appointed and has qualified. Any vacancy occurring must be filled by appointment
for the unexpired portion of the term.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §148 (COR).]

4. The superintendent shall be removable for cause by impeachment or by address of the Governor
to both branches of the Legislature, and Title 5, section 931, subsection 2, shall not apply.
[PL 1987, c. 402, Pt. A, §151 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
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PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §7 (RPR). PL 1975, c. 771, §259 (AMD). PL
1981, c. 359, §§5-7 (AMD). PL 1987, c. 105, §3 (AMD). PL 1987, c. 402, §A151 (AMD). RR
2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §148 (COR).

§202. Seal

The superintendent must have a seal of office of a suitable design, bearing the words "Insurance
Superintendent of the State of Maine." The superintendent shall file an impression of the seal, duly
certified by the superintendent under oath, with the Secretary of State. [RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §149
(COR).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §149 (COR).
§203. Compensation

The State shall pay to the superintendent an annual salary in amount as provided by law as full
compensation for all duties required of the superintendent. [PL 1989, c. 702, Pt. E, §12 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1983, c. 553, §25 (AMD). PL
1989, c. 702, §E12 (AMD).

§204. Principal office
(REPEALED)
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §2 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1979,
c. 251 (RP).

§205. Bureau organization

With the approval of the Commissioner of Professional and Financial Regulation, the
superintendent shall organize the bureau in a manner the superintendent determines necessary for the
discharge of the superintendent's duties. [PL 1995, c. 502, Pt. H, §15 (RPR).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1995, c. 502, §H15 (RPR).
§206. Deputy superintendents

1. The superintendent, with the approval of the Commissioner of Professional and Financial
Regulation, may employ, subject to the Civil Service Law, 2 deputy superintendents. Where authorized
by another section of this Title, the superintendent may also appoint such special deputies as regulatory
responsibilities may necessitate.

[PL 1995, c. 502, Pt. H, §16 (AMD).]

2. The deputies shall perform such duties and exercise such powers of the superintendent as the
superintendent may from time to time authorize. The superintendent shall designate one of the deputy
superintendents to perform the duties of the superintendent whenever the superintendent is absent from
the State; the deputy superintendent is directed to do so by the superintendent; there is a vacancy in the
office of superintendent; or the superintendent is incapacitated by illness.

[PL 1995, c. 502, Pt. H, §16 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §8 (RPR). PL 1983, c. 553, §46 (AMD). PL 1985,
c. 785, §B106 (AMD). RR 1993, c. 1, §55 (COR). PL 1995, c. 502, §H16 (AMD).
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§207. Staff

The superintendent may employ personnel as the business of the bureau may require, subject to the
Commissioner of Professional and Financial Regulation's approval and in accordance with the Civil
Service Law. The qualifications of those personnel must reflect the needs and responsibilities relating
to the bureau's regulatory functions pursuant to this Title. The superintendent may authorize senior
personnel of the bureau to carry out the superintendent's duties and authority. [PL 1995, c. 502, Pt.
H, §17 (RPR).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1985, c. 785, §8107 (AMD). PL
1995, c. 502, §H17 (RPR).

§208. Independent technical, professional services

The superintendent may from time to time contract for such additional actuarial, examination,
rating and other technical and professional services as may be required for discharge of the
superintendent's duties. If a contractor retained pursuant to this section has access to confidential
information, the contract must require the contractor to comply with the requirements of section 216,
subsection 5, paragraph B-1. [PL 2021, c. 521, §2 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §150 (COR).
PL 2021, c. 521, §2 (AMD).

§208-A. Cooperative agreements

The superintendent, in the superintendent's discretion, may enter into cooperative agreements with
other state, federal or foreign law enforcement or regulatory agencies to facilitate the regulatory
functions of the superintendent, including, but not limited to, information sharing, coordination of
examinations and investigations and joint examinations and investigations. [PL 1999, c. 184, §18
(NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1999, c. 184, §18 (NEW).
§209. Prohibited interests, rewards

1. The superintendent, or the superintendent's deputy, or any examiner or employee of the bureau
may not be connected with the management or be holder of a material number of shares of any insurer,
insurance holding company, insurance agency or broker, or be pecuniarily interested in any insurance
transaction, except as a policyholder or claimant under a policy; except that as to matters wherein a
conflict of interests does not exist on the part of any such individual, the superintendent may employ
and retain from time to time insurance actuaries, examiners, accountants, and other technicians who are
independently practicing their professions even though from time to time similarly employed or
retained by insurers or others.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §151 (COR).]
2. Subsection 1 above shall not be deemed to prohibit:

A. Receipt by any such individual of fully vested commissions or fully vested retirement benefits
to which the individual is entitled by reason of services performed prior to becoming superintendent
or prior to employment in the bureau; [RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §152 (COR).]

B. Investment in shares of regulated diversified investment companies; or [PL 1969, c. 132, §1
(NEW).]
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C. Mortgage loans made under customary terms and in ordinary course of business. [PL 1969, c.
132, §1 (NEW).]
[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §152 (COR).]

3. The superintendent, or the superintendent's deputy, or any employee or technician employed or
retained by the bureau may not be given or receive, directly or indirectly, any fee, compensation, loan,
gift or other thing of value in addition to the compensation and expense allowance provided by or
pursuant to the law of this State, or by contract with the superintendent, for any service rendered or to
be rendered as such superintendent, deputy, assistant, employee or technician, or in connection
therewith.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §153 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §§151-153
(COR).

§210. Delegation of powers

1. The superintendent may delegate to the superintendent's deputy, examiner or an employee of
the bureau the exercise or discharge in the superintendent's name of any power, duty or function,
whether ministerial, discretionary or of whatever character, vested in or imposed upon the
superintendent.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §154 (COR).]

2. The official act of any such person acting in the superintendent's name and by his authority
shall be deemed an official act of the superintendent.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §154 (COR).
§211. General powers, duties

1. The superintendent shall enforce the provisions of, and execute the duties imposed upon the
superintendent by, this Title.
[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §155 (COR).]

2. The superintendent has the powers and authority expressly vested in the superintendent by or
reasonably implied from this Title.
[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §156 (COR).]

3. The superintendent shall have such additional rights, powers and duties as may be provided by
other laws.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §§155, 156
(COR).
§212. Rules and regulations

Subject to the applicable requirements and procedures of the Maine Administrative Procedure Act,
Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter II, the superintendent may adopt, amend and rescind reasonable rules
to aid the administration or effectuation of any provisions of this Title or of any other state or federal

statutes to the extent administered or enforced by the superintendent. [PL 2001, c. 262, Pt. C, §1
(AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
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PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1977, c. 694, §386 (AMD). PL
1989, c. 269, §4 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 885, §E23 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 885, §E47 (AFF). PL 2001,
c. 262, §C1 (AMD).

§212-A. Parity for insurance agents and brokers

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, to the extent authorized by the superintendent by rule,
a licensed agent or broker has the power to engage in any insurance activity that financial institutions
chartered by or otherwise subject to the jurisdiction of the Federal Government are authorized to engage
in pursuant to federal law or regulation or by a court of competent jurisdiction. Rules adopted pursuant
to this section are routine technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter II-A. [PL 1997,
c. 207, §3 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1997, c. 207, §3 (NEW).
§213. Orders, notices in general

1. Orders and notices of the superintendent are effective only when in writing signed by the

superintendent or by the superintendent's authority.
[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §157 (COR).]

2. Every order of the superintendent shall state its effective date, and shall concisely state:
A. Tts intent or purpose; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]
B. The grounds on which based; and [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

C. The provisions of this Title pursuant to which action is taken or proposed to be taken; but failure
to so designate a particular provision shall not deprive the superintendent of the right to rely
thereon. [PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

3. An order or notice may be given by delivery to the person to be ordered or notified, or by
mailing it, postage prepaid, addressed to such person at the person's principal place of business or
residence as last of record in the bureau. The order or notice is deemed to have been given when
deposited in a mail depository of the United States post office, and of which the affidavit of the
individual who so mailed the order or notice is prima facie evidence. Written notice of the party's rights
to review or appeal and of the action required and of the time within which action must be taken in

order to appeal must be given to each party with the decision.
[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §158 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1977, c. 694, §387 (AMD). RR
2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §§157, 158 (COR).

§214. Enforcement

1. The superintendent may, through the Attorney General of this State, invoke the aid of the
Superior Court through proceedings instituted in any county of this State to enforce any lawful order
made or action taken by the superintendent. In such proceedings, the Superior Court may make such
orders, either preliminary or final, as it considers proper under the facts established before it.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §159 (COR).]

2. If the superintendent has reason to believe that any person has violated any provision of this
Title, or of other law as applicable to insurance operations, for which criminal prosecution is provided
and would be in order, the superintendent shall give the information relative thereto to the Attorney
General. The Attorney General shall promptly institute such action or proceedings, including, but not
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limited to, actions or proceedings to seek restitution, against that person as in the Attorney General's
opinion the information may require or justify.
[PL 2003, c. 310, §1 (AMD).]

3. The Attorney General upon request of the superintendent is authorized to proceed in the courts
of any other state or in any federal court or agency to enforce an order or decision of any court
proceeding or in any administrative proceeding before the superintendent.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD)]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 2003, c. 310, §1 (AMD). RR
2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §159 (COR).

§215. Violation of rules, regulations, orders; penalty

Any person who knowingly violates any rule, regulation or order of the superintendent shall be
subject to such suspension or revocation of certificate of authority or license as may be applicable under
this Title for violation of the provision to which such rule, regulation or order relates. [PL 1973, c.
585, §12 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).
§216. Records; inspection; destruction

1. The superintendent shall carefully preserve in the bureau and in permanent form a correct
account of all the superintendent's transactions and of all fees and money received by the superintendent
by virtue of the superintendent's office, together with all financial statements, examination reports,
correspondence, filings and documents duly received by the bureau. The superintendent shall hand the

same over to the superintendent's successor in office.
[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §160 (COR).]

2. All records of the bureau are subject to public inspection, except as otherwise expressly
provided by law as to particular matters; and except that records, correspondence and reports of
investigation in connection with actual or claimed violations of this Title or prosecution or disciplinary
action for those violations are confidential. The confidential nature of any such record, correspondence
or report may not limit or affect use of the same by the superintendent in any such prosecution or action.
This subsection does not preclude participation by the superintendent in the establishment of an
interstate complaint handling system that may involve the sharing of information with insurance
regulatory officials in other jurisdictions and with the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners, as long as the names of the complainant and insured remain confidential. This
subsection does not preclude the dissemination of aggregate ratios of consumer complaints to the public
by the superintendent. Only complaints received in writing are included in the calculation of the
complaint ratio. A complaint received by electronic means is considered a written complaint. For the
purposes of this subsection, a "consumer complaint" means any written complaint that results in the
need for the bureau to conduct further investigation or to communicate in writing with a regulated entity
for a response or resolution to the complaint. The superintendent shall adopt rules necessary to define
the method for calculating complaint ratios. Rules adopted pursuant to this subsection are routine
technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter II-A.

[PL 2001, c. 165, Pt. A, §1 (AMD).]

3. All records and documents of the bureau are subject to subpoena by a court of competent
jurisdiction.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]
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4. The superintendent may destroy unneeded or obsolete records and filings in the bureau in
accordance with provisions and procedures applicable to administrative agencies of the State in general.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

5. In order to assist the superintendent in the regulation of insurers in this State, it is the duty of
the superintendent to maintain as confidential a document or information received from the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners or International Association of Insurance Supervisors, public
officials of other jurisdictions and members of supervisory colleges in which the superintendent
participates pursuant to section 222, subsection 7-B, agencies of the Federal Government, the Financial
Industry Regulatory Authority, the National Association of Registered Agents and Brokers or political
subdivisions or other agencies of this State, if the document or the information has been provided to
the superintendent with notice that it is confidential under the laws of the jurisdiction that is the source
of the document or information.

A. Any information furnished pursuant to this subsection by or to the superintendent that has been
designated confidential by the official, agency or other entity furnishing the information remains
the property of the agency furnishing the information and must be held as confidential by the
recipient of the information, except as authorized by the official, agency or other entity furnishing
the information to the superintendent, with prior notice to interested parties and consistent with
other applicable laws. The authority of the superintendent, pursuant to paragraph B, to permit
further disclosure to a 3rd party or to the public of information shared by the superintendent is
subject to the same requirements and conditions that apply if the superintendent discloses the
information directly to a 3rd party or to the public. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §1 (NEW); PL 2013,
c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

B. The superintendent may share information, including otherwise confidential information, with
the National Association of Insurance Commissioners or International Association of Insurance
Supervisors, public officials of other jurisdictions and members of supervisory colleges in which
the superintendent participates pursuant to section 222, subsection 7-B, agencies of the Federal
Government, the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority, the National Association of Registered
Agents and Brokers or political subdivisions or other agencies of this State, if the recipient of the
information agrees to maintain the same level of confidentiality as is available under Maine law
and has demonstrated that it has the legal authority to do so. [PL 2017, c. 115, §1 (AMD).]

B-1. The superintendent may authorize a contractor retained pursuant to section 208, or any other
person outside the bureau that is otherwise designated to act on behalf of the superintendent, to
receive confidential information. The recipient of confidential information is under the direction
and control of the superintendent, is subject to the same confidentiality standards and requirements
as the superintendent and shall act in a purely advisory capacity. The recipient of confidential
information shall comply with the requirements of this paragraph.

(1) Access to confidential information may not be granted unless the recipient agrees in writing
that:

(a) The recipient will maintain the confidentiality of any confidential information that the
superintendent has authorized the recipient to access, and establish appropriate procedures
to protect such information from unauthorized access or use;

(b) Ownership of any confidential information shared by the superintendent pursuant to
this paragraph remains with the superintendent and that the use of such information by the
recipient is subject to the direction of the superintendent;

(c) The recipient will not store confidential information obtained or created under the
contract in a permanent file or database after the work involving the information is
completed;

1 2 ‘ Generated
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(d) The recipient will provide prompt notice to the superintendent of any subpoena, request
for disclosure or request for production of confidential information; and

(e) The recipient will consent to intervention by an insurer in any judicial or administrative
action in which the recipient may be required to disclose confidential information about
the insurer that has been shared pursuant to this paragraph.

(2) The recipient of confidential information shall confirm in writing to the superintendent that
the recipient is free from conflicts of interest and will conduct ongoing monitoring for conflicts
of interest for the duration of the work involving the confidential information. [PL 2021, c.
521, §3 (NEW).]

C. The superintendent may enter into one or more written agreements with the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners governing sharing and using information under this
subsection that:

(1) Specify procedures and protocols regarding the confidentiality and security of information
shared with the National Association of Insurance Commissioners pursuant to this paragraph,
including procedures and protocols for sharing by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners with other state, federal or international insurance regulators;

(2) Specify that ownership of information shared with the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners pursuant to this paragraph remains with the superintendent and that the use of
information by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners is subject to the direction
of the superintendent;

(2-A) Prohibit the National Association of Insurance Commissioners from storing confidential
information in a permanent file or database after the analysis of the confidential information is
completed, other than liquidity stress test information obtained pursuant to section 222,
subsection 8, paragraph B-1, subparagraph (3);

(3) Require prompt notice to be given by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners
to any insurer whose confidential information is in the possession of the National Association
of Insurance Commissioners pursuant to this paragraph when that information is the subject of
a request or subpoena for disclosure or production; and

(4) Require the National Association of Insurance Commissioners to consent to intervention
by an insurer in any judicial or administrative action in which the National Association of
Insurance Commissioners may be required to disclose confidential information about the
insurer shared with the National Association of Insurance Commissioners pursuant to this
paragraph. [PL 2021, c. 521, §4 (AMD).]

D. This subsection does not alter prohibitions or restrictions applicable to ex parte contacts in the
course of an adjudicatory proceeding in which a state agency is a party. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A,
§1 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

E. For purposes of this subsection, "other agencies of this State" includes bureau personnel and
consultants designated as serving in an advocacy capacity in an adjudicatory proceeding before the
superintendent. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §1 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

[PL 2021, c. 521, §§3, 4 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 269, §5 (AMD). PL 1995,
c. 375, §B1 (AMD). PL 1997, c. 314, §1 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 184, §19 (AMD). PL 2001, c. 165,
§A1 (AMD). PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §1 (AMD). PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF). PL 2017, c.
115, §1 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §160 (COR). PL 2021, c. 521, §§3, 4 (AMD).

§217. Annual report
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1. Assoon as practical after the annual financial statements have been received from the authorized
insurers, the superintendent may make a written report to the Governor showing with respect to the
preceding calendar year:

A. The receipts and expenses of the bureau for the year; [PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]
B. A summary of the insurance business transacted in this State; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

C. A summary of the financial condition of each authorized insurer, as shown by its most recent
financial statement on file with the superintendent; [PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

D. Such recommendations as the superintendent considers advisable relative to amendment or
supplementation of the insurance laws; and [RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §161 (COR).]

E. Such other information and matters as the superintendent considers to be in the public interest
relative to the insurance business in this State. [RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §162 (COR).]
[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §§161, 162 (COR).]

2. If the report is printed, the superintendent shall furnish a copy upon request thereby to the
insurance supervisory official of other states and to authorized insurers; and, if copies are available for
the purpose, to other persons who so request and upon payment by such persons of such reasonable
charge therefor as may be fixed by the superintendent.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1975, c. 771, §260 (AMD). RR
2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §§161, 162 (COR).

§218. Publications; price

The superintendent may have the directory of authorized insurers, of licensed insurance
representatives, license examination material, insurance laws and related laws and regulations under
the superintendent's administration published in pamphlet form from time to time, and may fix a price
for each copy to cover cost of printing and mailing. [RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §163 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §163 (COR).
§219. Interstate cooperation

The superintendent may communicate on request of the insurance supervisory official of any state,
province or country any information that it is the superintendent's duty by law to ascertain respecting
authorized insurers. [RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §164 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §164 (COR).
§220. Investigation of violations

1. Discretionary investigations. In addition to examinations and investigations expressly
authorized, the superintendent may conduct investigations of insurance matters as the superintendent
considers proper upon reasonable cause to determine whether any person has violated any provision of
this Title or to secure information useful in the lawful administration of any such provision. The cost

of these investigations must be borne by the State.
[PL 1991, c. 26 (NEW).]

2. Response to inquiries. All insurers and other persons required to be licensed pursuant to this
Title and Title 24 shall respond to all lawful inquiries of the superintendent within 10 business days of
receipt of the inquiry and to all follow-up inquiries of the superintendent within 5 business days of
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receipt. If a substantive response cannot in good faith be provided within the required time, the person
required to respond shall so advise the superintendent and provide the reason for the inability to
respond. The superintendent may adopt routine technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375,

subchapter 2-A to implement the requirements of this subsection.
[PL 2023, c. 59, §1 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 26 (RPR). PL 2023, c.
59, §1 (AMD).

§221. Examination of insurers

1. For the purpose of determining its financial condition, fulfillment of its contractual obligations
and compliance with the law, the superintendent shall examine the affairs, transactions, accounts,
records and assets of each authorized insurer, and of any person as to any matter relevant to the financial
affairs of the insurer or to the examination, as often as the superintendent determines advisable. In
determining the nature, scope and timing of an examination, the superintendent shall consider criteria,
including, but not limited to, the results of financial statement analyses and ratios, changes in
management or ownership, actuarial opinions, reports of independent certified public accountants and
other criteria adopted by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners and published in its
Financial Condition Examiners Handbook or Market Regulation Handbook, as applicable, or their
successor publications. Except as otherwise expressly provided, domestic insurers must be examined
at least once every 3 years, unless the superintendent defers making an examination for a longer period;
but in no event may an authorized insurer be examined less frequently than once every 5 years.
Examination of an alien insurer is limited to its insurance transactions, assets, trust deposits and affairs
in the United States, except as otherwise required by the superintendent.

[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §1 (AMD).]

2. The superintendent shall in like manner examine each insurer applying for an initial certificate
of authority to transact insurance in this State.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

3.
[PL 2021, c. 16, §1 (RP).]

3-A. The superintendent may accept a full examination report by the insurance regulatory authority
of the insurance company's state of domicile or port-of-entry state for any foreign or alien insurer
licensed in this State in lieu of an examination by the superintendent if, at the time of the examination,
that regulatory authority was accredited under the National Association of Insurance Commissioners'
Financial Regulation Standards and Accreditation Program or if the examination was performed under
the supervision of an accredited insurance regulatory authority or with the participation of one or more
examiners who are employed by an accredited insurance regulatory authority and who, after a review
of the examination workpapers and report, state under oath that the examination was performed in a
manner consistent with the standards and procedures required by the regulatory authority.

[PL 2021, c. 16, §2 (AMD).]

4. As far as practical, the examination of a foreign or alien insurer must be made in cooperation
with the insurance supervisory officials of other states in which the insurer transacts business. Duties
may be divided among the participating states in any manner consistent with the standards established
by the laws of this State that are applicable to foreign and alien insurers.

[PL 1993, c. 313, §4 (AMD).]

5. Examination of health carriers. The superintendent shall examine the market conduct of each
domestic health carrier, as defined in section 4301-A, subsection 3, and each foreign health carrier with
at least 1,000 covered lives in this State, offering a health plan as defined in section 4301-A, subsection
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7, no less frequently than once every 5 years. An examination under this subsection may be
comprehensive or may target specific issues of concern observed in the State's health insurance market
or in the company under examination. In lieu of an examination conducted by the superintendent, the
superintendent may participate in a multistate examination, or, in the case of a foreign company,
approve an examination by the company's domiciliary regulator upon a finding that the examination

and report adequately address relevant aspects of the company's market conduct within this State.
[PL 2009, c. 439, Pt. E, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 828, §§1,2 (AMD). PL
1993, c. 313, §§2-4 (AMD). PL 2009, c. 439, Pt. E, §1 (AMD). PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §1
(AMD). PL 2021, c. 16, §§1, 2 (AMD).

§221-A. Financial audit requirements

1. Purpose. The purpose of this section is to provide the superintendent with a means of improved
financial monitoring of insurers doing business in this State. This mechanism of increased financial
surveillance of insurers shall not be a substitute for financial examinations required or authorized by
this Title generally.

[PL 1985, c. 330, §1 (NEW).]

2. Definitions. As used in the section, unless the context indicates otherwise, the following terms
have the following meanings.

A. "Accountant" and "independent certified public accountant” mean an independent certified
public accountant or firm licensed to practice in the State or in any state recognizing similar
reciprocal licensing requirements and who is a member in good standing of the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. It shall also mean, in the case of Canadian and British domiciled
companies, a Canadian or British chartered accountant. [PL 1985, c. 330, §1 (NEW).]

B. "Audited financial report" means a written report which meets the requirements of subsection

4. [PL 1985, c. 330, §1 (NEW) ]

C. "Insurer" means any insurance company doing business in the State pursuant to this Title and
includes, but is not limited to, all life, accident and health, property and casualty, title, direct writing
reinsuring companies and surplus lines companies regulated by the Bureau of Insurance. [PL
1985, c. 330, §1 (NEW).]

[PL 1985, c. 330, §1 (NEW).]

3. Audits required. All insurers, excepting insurers transacting business in this State pursuant to
the terms of chapter 51, shall cause to be conducted an annual audit by an independent certified public
accountant. Each domestic insurer shall file an audited financial report with the superintendent on or
before June 1st for the year ending December 3 Ist preceding. An extension of the filing deadline may
be granted by the superintendent upon a showing by the insurer or its accountant that there exists valid
justification for such an extension. A foreign or alien insurer shall file an audited financial report upon
the superintendent's request. A firm of independent certified public accountants engaged to perform an
audit of an insurer shall substitute the appointed audit partner in charge with another audit partner in
charge at least once every 5 years. An accountant substituted for pursuant to this subsection may not
serve as a partner in charge of that audit until 5 years after the date of substitution, unless the
superintendent waives this requirement on the basis of unusual circumstances upon application by the
insurer.

[PL 2009, c. 511, Pt. A, §1 (AMD).]

4. Content of annual audited financial reporting. Annual audited financial reporting must
consist of the following.

Generated
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A. Financial statements furnished under this section must be examined by independent certified
public accountants in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards as prescribed by the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The opinion of the accountant must cover all
years for which a financial presentation is made.

The opinion expressed concerning the financial statements filed under this section must conform
with the accounting practices prescribed or permitted by the superintendent or the insurance
supervisory official of the insurer's state of domicile. An insurer, with the approval of the
superintendent, may file audited consolidated or combined financial statements in lieu of separate
annual audited financial statements if the insurer is part of a group of insurance companies that uses
a pooling agreement and such an insurer cedes all of its direct and assumed business to the pool or
if the insurer has executed a 100% reinsurance agreement with one or more of the insurers in the
group and the pooling or reinsurance agreement affects the solvency of the insurer or the integrity
of the insurer's reserves. In those cases, a columnar consolidating or combining worksheet must
be filed with the report.

The opinion must be expressed to the insurer by the accountant on the accountant's letterhead and
show the address of the office issuing that opinion, must be manually executed and dated. [PL
1993, c. 313, §6 (AMD).]

B. Financial statements, as a minimum, must consist of:
(1) Balance sheet;
(2) Statement of gain or loss from operations;
(3) Statement of cash flow;

(4) Statement of change in capital paid-up, gross paid-in and contributed surplus and
unassigned funds, surplus funds; and

(5) Notes to financial statements. [PL 1993, c. 313, §6 (AMD).]

C. The statement must include an independent certified public accountant's report respecting
evaluation of internal controls. [PL 1993, c. 313, §6 (AMD).]

D. The statement must include an independent certified public accountant's letter, in conformance
with standards established by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, attesting to
that certified public accountant's qualifications, possession of license and subscription to the code
of professional ethics and pronouncements issued by the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. [PL 1999, c. 113, §6 (AMD).]

[PL 1999, c. 113, §6 (AMD).]

5. Rules authorized. The superintendent shall promulgate such rules as shall be necessary to

effectuate provisions of this section.
[PL 1985, c. 330, §1 (NEW).]

6. Application and effective date. For those insurers doing business in this State that are subject
to this section, the filing of the initial annual audited financial reports required under this section are
due June 30, 1986, covering the calendar year December 31, 1985. Similar recurring reports are due
each June 1st thereafter.

[PL 1999, c. 113, §7 (AMD).]

7. Exemptions. Upon written application of any insurer subject to this section, the superintendent
may grant an exemption of the filing requirements under this section if the superintendent finds upon
review of the application that compliance would constitute a financial hardship upon the insurer.

An insurer is exempt from the filing requirements of this section for any year in which the insurer’s
annual statement reflects:
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A. Nationwide business in an amount less than $1,000,000 in written premium plus reinsurance
assumed; and [PL 2009, c. 511, Pt. A, §2 (NEW).]

B. Outstanding loss reserves in an amount less than $1,000,000. [PL 2009, c. 511, Pt. A, §2
(NEW).]
[PL 2009, c. 511, Pt. A, §2 (RPR).]

8. Required notice concerning adverse financial condition. FEach insurer retaining an
independent certified public accountant to represent it with respect to the report which the insurer is
required to file pursuant to this section shall, as a condition of its written terms of engagement of the
accountant, require that:

A. The accountant immediately notify in writing each member of the board of directors of the
insurer and the superintendent upon any determination by the independent certified public
accountant that the insurer has materially misstated its financial condition as reported in the annual
statement required under section 423 for the year ending December 31st preceding; and [PL 1989,
c. 846, Pt. C, §2 (AMD); PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF).]

B. If the accountant, subsequent to the date of the audited financial report required by this section,
becomes aware of material subsequent facts that would have affected the accountant's report, the
accountant shall provide the pertinent information upon the accountant's determination to the
parties identified in this subsection. [RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §165 (COR).]

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §165 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1985, c. 330, §1 (NEW). PL 1985, c. 636 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 846, §§C1,2,E4 (AMD). PL
1993, c. 313, §§5,6 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 113, §§5-7 (AMD). PL 2009, c. 511, Pt. A, §§1, 2
(AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §165 (COR).

§222. Registration, regulation, supervision and examination of holding company systems, agents,
promoters and others

1. Examination.
[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §2 (RP); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

1-A. Examination. For purposes of ascertaining compliance with law, or relationships and
transactions between any person as defined hereafter and any insurer or proposed insurer subject to this
section, the superintendent may as often as the superintendent determines to be advisable examine the
accounts, records, documents and transactions pertaining to or affecting the insurance affairs or
proposed insurance affairs, or transactions of the insurer or proposed insurer as may be in the possession
of any holding company, its subsidiaries or affiliates as is necessary to ascertain the financial condition,
including the enterprise risk to the insurer by the ultimate controlling party, or legality of conduct of
the insurer or proposed insurer or the insurance holding company system as a whole or any combination
of entities within the insurance holding company system and to verify the accuracy of any information
provided or required to be provided to the superintendent pursuant to this section.

A. The superintendent's investigatory and examination authority under this subsection extends to
the examination of:

(1) Any business entity structured to hold the stock of an insurance company, or person holding
the shares of voting stock or policyholder proxies of an insurer as voting trustee or otherwise,
for the purpose of controlling the management thereof;

(2) Any insurance producer, adjuster or consultant or other insurance or reinsurance
representative or intermediary or any person acting as or purporting to be any of the foregoing;
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(3) Any person having a contract giving that person by its terms or in fact the exclusive or
dominant right to manage or control the insurer; and

(4) Any person in this State engaged in or proposing to be engaged in or acting as or purporting
to be so engaged or proposing to be engaged in the business of insurance or in this State
assisting in the promotion, formation or financing of an insurer or insurance holding
corporation or corporation or other group financing an insurer or the production of its business.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §3 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

B. Subject to the limitations contained in this subsection and in addition to the powers that the
superintendent has under section 221 and sections 223 to 228 relating to the examination of
insurers, the superintendent may order an insurer registered under subsection 8 to produce records,
books or papers in the possession of the insurer or affiliates as may be necessary to verify the
accuracy of the information required to be provided to the superintendent under this section and
any additional information pertinent to transactions between the insurer and affiliates. The books,
records, papers and information are subject to examination in the same manner as prescribed in this
chapter for an examination conducted under section 221, except that expenses incurred by the
superintendent in examining an affiliate that is not an insurer must be borne by the registered insurer
subject to the limitations of section 228, subsection 1. The superintendent may issue subpoenas,
administer oaths and examine any person under oath for purposes of determining compliance with
this subsection. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §3 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

C. A member of an insurer's insurance holding company system shall comply fully and accurately
with a request by the insurer to provide it with information necessary to respond to an examination
request by the superintendent pursuant to this section. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §3 (NEW); PL
2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

D. The superintendent may order an insurer registered under subsection 8 to produce information
not in the possession of the insurer if the insurer can obtain access to the information pursuant to
contractual relationships, statutory obligations or any other lawful method. If the insurer cannot
obtain the information requested by the superintendent, the insurer shall provide the superintendent
a written objection with a detailed explanation of the reason that the insurer cannot obtain the
information and the identity of the holder of the information. It is a violation of this section to
submit an objection to production of information without a reasonable basis or to fail to produce
information on the basis of an objection that the superintendent has denied after notice and
opportunity for hearing. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §3 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34
(AFF).]
[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §3 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

2. Definitions. As used in this section, unless the context otherwise requires, the following words
shall have the following meanings.

A. Affiliate. "Affiliate" of, or a person "affiliated" with, a specific person means a person who
directly or indirectly controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with the person
specified. [PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (RPR).]

A-1. Beneficial owner. "Beneficial owner" of a voting security, voting insurance policy or
guaranty capital share means any person or group of persons acting in concert who, directly or
indirectly, through any contract, arrangement, proxy appointment, understanding, relationship or
otherwise, has or shares:

(1) Voting power over the security, policy or guaranty capital share, including the power to
vote or to direct the voting of the security, policy or share; or

(2) Investment power over the security, policy or share, including the power to dispose or to
direct the disposition of the security, policy or share.
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The superintendent may determine that persons are acting in concert, either on the superintendent's
own initiative or upon application of an interested person, based upon evidence that actions taken
by those persons, if consummated, may permit the exercise of common control, directly or
indirectly, over the domestic insurer. The absence of a determination by the superintendent that
persons are acting in concert shall not be construed to exempt those persons from compliance with
the requirements of this section. [PL 1989, c. 385, §1 (NEW).]

A-2. "Continuing director" means:

(1) Any member of a domestic insurer's board of directors, while that person is a member of
the board of directors, who was a member of that board of directors prior to the time that any
person acquires control of the domestic insurer or any person controlling the insurer; and

(2) Any successor of a continuing director, while the successor is a member of the board of
directors, who is recommended or elected to succeed a continuing director by a number of
continuing directors equal to a majority of continuing directors in office immediately preceding
the acquisition of control. [PL 1991, c. 37, §1 (NEW).]

B. Control.

nn

(1) "Control," including "controlling," "controlled by" and "under common control with,"
means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of a person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by
contract other than a commercial contract for goods or nonmanagement services, or otherwise,
unless the power is solely the result of an official position with or a corporate office held by
the person. Control is presumed to exist if any person is the beneficial owner of 10% or more
of the voting securities or guaranty capital shares, if applicable, or has the right to cast 10% or
more of the votes in the election of directors or other governing body of any other person. A
beneficial owner may rely in determining the amount of voting securities of any person
outstanding upon information set forth in that person's most recent quarterly or annual report
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act unless the
beneficial owner knows or has reason to believe that the information contained in the quarterly
or annual report is inaccurate. Two or more domestic mutual insurance companies that have
restricted their licensed territories to the State are not considered subject to this section merely
because those insurance companies commonly share facilities, incurred expenses or personnel
services or otherwise utilize cost allocations based on generally accepted accounting principles
including pro rata sharing of assumed risks. A person may have more than one controlling
person, even if those controlling persons are not acting in concert.

(2) Notwithstanding the presumption of control contained in subparagraph (1), the
superintendent, upon application of the insurance company, may determine that the insurer is
not controlled by the person presumed to control it. In addition, the superintendent, after notice
and an opportunity to be heard, may determine, notwithstanding the absence of the presumption
in subparagraph (1), that a person does control an insurance company or companies.

(3) The presumption of control contained in subparagraph (1) does not apply to a securities
broker-dealer holding, in the usual and customary broker's function, less than 20% of the voting
securities of another person. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §4 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A,
§34 (AFF).]

B-1. Exchange Act. "Exchange Act" means the federal Securities Act of 1933, 15 United States
Code, Chapter 2-A, Subchapter 1 and the federal Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15 United States
Code, Chapter 2-B. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §5 (RPR); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

B-2. Enterprise risk. "Enterprise risk" means an activity, circumstance, event or series of events
involving one or more affiliates of an insurer that, if not remedied promptly, is likely to have a
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material adverse effect upon the financial condition or liquidity of the insurer, or of its insurance
holding company system as a whole, including, but not limited to, anything that would cause or
exacerbate a risk-based capital event as described in sections 6453 to 6456 or would cause the
insurer to be in unsound or hazardous financial condition as determined by the superintendent. [PL
2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §6 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

B-3. "Groupwide supervisor" means the regulatory official who is determined or acknowledged
by the superintendent under subsection 7-C to have the authority to engage in conducting and
coordinating groupwide supervision activities over an internationally active insurance group or
other insurance group that has requested groupwide supervision. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §2
(NEW).]

B-4. “Group capital calculation” means a method for insurance groups to assess the financial
condition of the group, including noninsurance entities within the group, in order to identify and
quantify potential risks. [PL 2021, c. 521, §5 (NEW).]

B-5. “Group capital calculation instructions” means the group capital calculation instructions as
adopted by the NAIC and as amended by the NAIC from time to time in accordance with the
procedures adopted by the NAIC. [PL 2021, c. 521, §6 (NEW).]

C. Insurance holding company system. "Insurance holding company system" shall consist of 2 or
more affiliated persons, one or more of whom is an insurer. [PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (RPR).]

D. Insurer. "Insurer" has the same meaning as in section 4 and includes a fraternal benefit society
required to be licensed under section 4124 or 4125. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §7 (AMD); PL
2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

D-1. [PL 1993, c. 313, §7 (RP).]
D-2. "Net gain from operations" means:

(1) For life insurers, the net income or loss after dividends to policyholders and federal income
taxes but before the inclusion of net realized capital gains or losses; and

(2) For nonlife insurers, the net income or loss after dividends to policyholders and federal
income taxes and net realized capital gains or losses. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §3 (AMD).]

D-3. Own risk and solvency assessment or ORSA. "Own risk and solvency assessment" or
"ORSA" means a confidential internal assessment that is conducted by an insurer or insurance
holding company system of the material and relevant risks associated with its current business plan
and the sufficiency of its capital resources to support those risks and that is appropriate to the nature,
scale and complexity of the operations of the insurer or insurance holding company system. [PL

2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §8 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

D-4. ORSA guidance manual. "ORSA guidance manual" means the NAIC Own Risk and
Solvency Assessment (ORSA) Guidance Manual, as amended from time to time. A change in the
ORSA guidance manual is effective with regard to this State on January 1st following the calendar

year in which the change has been adopted by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §8 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

D-5. ORSA summary report. "ORSA summary report" means a confidential high-level summary
of an insurer's or insurance holding company system's own risk and solvency assessment and
includes a combination of separate reports that collectively meet the requirements of the ORSA
guidance manual. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §8 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

D-6. "Internationally active insurance group" means an insurance holding company system that
meets the following criteria:

(1) The group has premiums written in at least 3 countries;
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(2) The percentage of gross premiums written outside the United States is at least 10% of the
insurance holding company system's total gross written premiums; and

(3) Based on a 3-year rolling average, the total assets of the insurance holding company system
are at least $50,000,000,000 or the total gross written premiums of the insurance holding
company system are at least $10,000,000,000. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §4 (NEW).]

D-7. "Liquidity stress test" means a method for insurance groups to assess the potential effects of
liquidity risk to the insurer and to the financial markets. [PL 2021, c. 521, §7 (NEW).]

D-8. “NAIC Liquidity Stress Test Framework™ means the NAIC publication that includes the
applicable scope criteria and liquidity stress test instructions and reporting templates, as adopted

by the NAIC and amended from time to time in accordance with the procedures adopted by the
NAIC. [PL 2021, c. 521, §8 (NEW).]

E. Person. "Person" shall mean an individual, a corporation, a corporation which, pursuant to Title
24, chapter 19, maintains and operates nonprofit hospital service plans, nonprofit medical service
plans or nonprofit health care plans or any combination thereof, a partnership, an association, a
joint stock company, a business trust, an unincorporated organization or any similar entity, or any
combination of the foregoing acting in concert. [PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (RPR).]

E-1. “Scope criteria” means the designated exposure bases and minimum magnitudes, as detailed
in the NAIC Liquidity Stress Test Framework, used to establish a preliminary list of insurers that
are presumptively within the scope of the NAIC Liquidity Stress Test Framework. [PL 2021, c.
521, §9 (NEW).]

F. "Subsidiary" of a specified person means an affiliate controlled by that person directly or
through one or more intermediaries. [PL 2001, c. 72, §4 (AMD).]

G. "Surplus regarding policyholders" means admitted assets less all liabilities. [PL 1993, c. 313,
§9 (NEW).]

H. "Unassigned funds" means the undistributed and unappropriated amount of surplus remaining
on the balance sheet date as the result of all operations of an insurance company from its
commencement of business. [PL 1993, c. 313, §9 (NEW).]

I. "Voting security" means any security with voting rights or any security convertible into or
evidencing a right to acquire a security with voting rights. [PL 1999, c. 113, §10 (NEW).]

[PL 2021, c. 521, §§5-9 (AMD).]

3. Subsidiaries of insurers; investments to acquire interest. This subsection pertains to insurers

and their subsidiaries and affiliates.

A. Any domestic insurer may invest in or otherwise acquire one or more subsidiaries as authorized
in section 1115 or section 1157. [PL 1987, c. 399, §1 (AMD).]

A-1. A domestic insurer shall notify the superintendent in writing within 30 days after any
investment by the insurer or any of its affiliates in any one corporation if the insurer has invested
in that corporation and the total investment in that corporation by the insurance holding company
system exceeds 10% of the corporation's voting securities. [PL 1991, c. 828, §4 (AMD).]

B. If an insurer ceases to control a subsidiary, it shall dispose of any investment therein made
pursuant to this section within 3 years from the time of the cessation of control or within such
further time as the superintendent may prescribe, unless at any time after the investment was made,
the investment met the requirements for investment under any other section of this Title and the
insurer has notified the superintendent thereof. [PL 1991, c. 828, §4 (AMD).]

[PL 1991, c. 828, §4 (AMD).]

4. Tender offers.
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[PL 1989, c. 385, §4 (RP).]
4-A. Tender offers.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §9 (RP); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]
4-B. Application for approval.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §10 (RP); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

4-C. Acquisitions; tender offers; divestitures. The following provisions apply to a transaction
or proposed transaction that results or might result in the change of direct or indirect control of a
domestic insurer.

A. Except as provided in paragraph B, a person other than the issuer may not make a tender offer
for, or a request or invitation for tenders of, or an agreement to exchange securities for, or otherwise
acquire any voting security, or any security convertible into a voting security, of a domestic insurer
or of any person controlling a domestic insurer if, as a result of the consummation thereof, the
person making the tender offer, request or agreement would, directly or indirectly, acquire actual
or presumptive control of the insurer or controlling person, and a person may not enter into an
agreement to merge with or otherwise acquire actual or presumptive control of a domestic insurer
or its controlling person, unless:

(1) The person has filed with the superintendent and has sent the domestic insurer an
application containing the information required by paragraph C;

(2) The offer, request, invitation, agreement or acquisition has been approved by the
superintendent in the manner prescribed in subsection 7; and

(3) Ten days has elapsed from the date of approval by the superintendent and no injunction or
other court order precludes consummation of the offer, request, invitation, agreement or

acquisition. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §11 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

B. A controlling person of a domestic insurer seeking to divest its controlling interest in the
domestic insurer in any manner, including any partial divestiture that would cause that person to
cease to be a controlling person, shall file with the superintendent, with a copy to the insurer,
confidential notice of its proposed divestiture at least 30 days before the cessation of control, unless
the divestiture transaction consists of the transfer of the divesting person's interest to one or more
acquiring persons, all of whom have reported their respective acquisitions pursuant to paragraph
A. Unless the superintendent grants an exemption under paragraph D, the divesting person shall
file an application substantially similar to the application required under paragraph C, with such
modifications as the superintendent determines to be appropriate based on the nature of the
transaction. The superintendent shall decide whether to approve the application using the criteria
in subsection 7, paragraph A and may hold a public hearing if the superintendent determines that a
hearing is in the interests of policyholders or the public. If 20 days has elapsed after the
superintendent's receipt of a notice filed under this paragraph and the superintendent has not
disapproved the proposed divestiture or postponed its effective date pending further review, the
superintendent is deemed to have granted an exemption under paragraph D, subparagraph (2). [PL
2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §11 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

C. An application required by paragraph A must contain the following information as applicable,
made under oath or affirmation, except that if the proposed transaction is subject to regulation under
the Exchange Act or Title 32, chapter 135, the superintendent may accept the relevant documents
filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission or the Department of
Professional and Financial Regulation, Office of Securities in lieu of some or all of the documents
required by this paragraph:
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(1) The name and address of each person by whom or on whose behalf the merger or other
acquisition of control is to be effected and:

(a) If the person acquiring control is an individual, the person's principal occupation and
all offices and positions held during the past 5 years and any convictions for crimes other
than minor traffic violations; and

(b) Ifthe person acquiring control is not an individual, a report of the nature of its business
operations during the past 5 years or for a lesser period the person and any predecessors
have been in existence; an informative description of the business intended to be done by
the person and the person's subsidiaries; and a list of all individuals who are or who have
been selected to become directors or executive officers of the person or who perform or
will perform functions appropriate to such positions. The list must include the information
required by division (a) for each individual listed;

(2) The source, nature and amount of the consideration used or to be used in effecting the
merger or other acquisition of control, a description of any transaction through which funds
were or are to be obtained for any such purpose, including any pledge of the insurer's stock or
the stock of any of its subsidiaries or controlling affiliates, and the identity of persons furnishing
consideration. If a source of consideration is a loan made in the lender's ordinary course of
business, the identity of the lender is confidential if the person filing the application so requests;

(3) Fully audited financial information as to the earnings and financial condition of each
acquiring person for the preceding 5 fiscal years, or for a lesser period if the acquiring person
and any predecessors have been in existence for less than 5 years, and similar unaudited
information as of a date not earlier than 90 days before the filing of the application;

(4) Any plans or proposals that each acquiring person may have to liquidate the insurer, to sell
its assets or merge or consolidate it with any person or to make any other material change in its
business or corporate structure or management;

(5) The number of shares of any security referred to in paragraph A that each acquiring person
proposes to acquire, the terms of the offer, request, invitation, agreement or acquisition referred
to in paragraph A and a statement as to the method by which the fairness of the proposal was
arrived at;

(6) The amount of each class of any security referred to in paragraph A that is beneficially
owned or concerning which there is a right to acquire beneficial ownership by each acquiring
person;

(7) A full description of any contracts, arrangements or understandings with respect to any
security referred to in paragraph A in which any acquiring person is involved, including but
not limited to transfer of any of the securities, joint ventures, loan or option arrangements, puts
or calls, guarantees of loans, guarantees against loss or guarantees of profits, division of losses
or profits or the giving or withholding of proxies. The description must identify the persons
with whom the contracts, arrangements or understandings have been entered into;

(8) A description of the purchase by any acquiring person of any security referred to in
paragraph A during the 12 calendar months preceding the filing of the application, including
the dates of purchase, names of the purchasers and consideration paid or agreed to be paid;

(9) A description of any recommendations to purchase any security referred to in paragraph A
made during the 12 calendar months preceding the filing of the application by any acquiring
person or by anyone based upon interviews with or at the suggestion of the acquiring person;
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(10) Copies of all tender offers for, requests or invitations for tenders of, exchange offers for
and agreements to acquire or exchange any securities referred to in paragraph A and copies of
any additional related soliciting material that has been distributed;

(11) The terms of any agreement, contract or understanding made or proposed to be made with
any broker-dealer as to solicitation of securities referred to in paragraph A for tender and the
amount of any fees, commissions or other compensation to be paid to broker-dealers with
regard to the solicitation of securities referred to in paragraph A;

(12) An agreement by the person required to file the application to provide the annual
enterprise risk report required by subsection 8, paragraph B-1, subparagraph (1) for as long as
control by the person exists;

(13) An acknowledgement by the person required to file the application that the person and all
subsidiaries within its control in the insurance holding company system will provide
information to the superintendent upon request as necessary to evaluate enterprise risk to the
Insurer;

(14) A statement as to whether or not the proposed transaction will result in an increase in
market share in this State in any line of insurance as specified in the annual statement required
to be filed under section 423 for one or more insurers with combined market share greater than
5% and, if so, such further information on the competitive impact of the proposed transaction
as the superintendent requires by rule or order; and

(15) Such additional information as the superintendent may prescribe by rule or order. [PL
2021, c. 521, §10 (AMD).]

D. The superintendent may exempt a person otherwise subject to the requirements of this
subsection and subsection 7 from some or all of those requirements if the person demonstrates to
the satisfaction of the superintendent that an exemption will not be detrimental to the interests of
policyholders in the State or the public and that the transaction satisfies at least one of the following
criteria:

(1) The interests of the State in regulating the transaction are minimal relative to the interests
of other jurisdictions or are minimal relative to the impact of the transaction as a whole;

(2) The person proposes a divestiture of control under paragraph B and the superintendent
determines that the prior approval process is not necessary in the circumstances of the
transaction;

(3) A party proposing to acquire presumed control submits a disclaimer fully disclosing all
material relationships and bases for affiliation with the insurer and demonstrating to the
satisfaction of the superintendent that the person will not be acquiring actual control. As a
condition of granting an exemption under this subparagraph, the superintendent may require
the person to agree to reasonable restrictions on the exercise of rights or powers that might
otherwise tend to result in control,

(4) The superintendent elects to participate in a consolidated approval proceeding conducted
under the laws of one or more other states pursuant to subsection 7-A, paragraph E; and

(5) The transaction involves the control of a person that is not primarily engaged in the business
of insurance, directly or through its affiliates, and there will be no material impact on the
management or operations of a domestic insurer.

A person requesting an exemption under this paragraph must agree to provide additional
information if needed by the superintendent and to postpone the effective date of the transaction if
ordered by the superintendent while the request for exemption is pending. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt.
A, §11 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]
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E. A broker-dealer that is exempt from the requirements of this section pursuant to subsection 2,
paragraph B, subparagraph (3) shall disclose to the superintendent the identity of any person, or
group of persons the broker-dealer knows or reasonably believes to be acting in concert, on whose
behalf the broker-dealer knows or reasonably believes that the broker-dealer holds 5% or more of
the voting securities of a domestic insurer or of any entity the broker-dealer knows or reasonably
believes to be a controlling person of a domestic insurer. A broker-dealer shall disclose to the
superintendent on request the beneficial owners of any securities held by the broker-dealer of any
entity that is, or that the superintendent believes might be or might become, a member of the
insurance holding company system of an insurer subject to registration under subsection 8. [PL
2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §11 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]
[PL 2021, c. 521, §10 (AMD).]

5. Tender offer material. All requests or invitations for tenders or advertisements making a tender
offer or requesting or inviting tenders of such voting securities for control of a domestic insurer or its
controlling person made by or on behalf of any such person must contain any information specified in
subsection 4-C as the superintendent may prescribe and must be filed with the superintendent at the
time that material is first published or sent or given to security holders. Copies of any additional material
soliciting or requesting such tender offers subsequent to the initial solicitation or request must contain
the information that the superintendent may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest
or for the protection of policyholders and must be filed with the superintendent at the time copies of
that material are first published or sent or given to security holders.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §12 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

6. Information as to applicant. If a person required to file an application under subsection 4-C
is a partnership, limited partnership, syndicate or other group, the superintendent may require that the
information called for by subsection 4-C must be given with respect to each partner of the partnership
or limited partnership, each member of the syndicate or group and each person who controls any such
partner or member. If a person required to file an application under subsection 4-C is a corporation,
the superintendent may require that the information called for by subsection 4-C must be given with
respect to the corporation and each officer and director thereof and each person who is directly or
indirectly the beneficial owner of more than 10% of the outstanding securities of the corporation.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §13 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

7. Approval, disapproval of proposed change of control.

A. The superintendent shall hold a hearing in accordance with the procedures set forth in section
231 and Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 4, within 30 days after the application required by
subsection 4-C has been filed with the superintendent. The superintendent shall make a
determination within 30 days after the conclusion of that hearing. The superintendent shall approve
any purchase, exchange, merger or other change of control referred to in subsection 4-C unless the
superintendent finds that:

(1) After the change of control, the domestic insurer could not satisfy the requirements for the
issuance of a certificate of authority according to requirements in force at the time of the
issuance or last renewal or continuation of its certificate of authority to do the insurance
business that it intends to transact in this State;

(2) The effect of the purchases, exchanges, merger of a controlling person of the insurer or
other changes of control may be substantially to lessen competition in insurance in this State
or tend to create a monopoly in this State or would violate the laws of this State or of the United
States relating to monopolies or restraints of trade;

(3) The financial condition of an acquiring person would jeopardize the financial stability of
the insurer or prejudice the interest of its policyholders;
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(4) The plans or proposals that the acquiring or divesting person has to liquidate the insurer,
to sell its assets or to merge it with any person, or to make any other major change in its business
or corporate structure or management, are unfair or prejudicial to policyholders;

(5) The competence, experience and integrity of those persons who would control the operation
of the insurer indicate that it would not be in the interest of policyholders or the public to permit
them to do so;

(6) Any merger of a domestic insurer does not comply with section 3474; or

(7) The change of control would tend to affect adversely the contractual obligations of the
domestic insurer or its ability and tendency to render service in the future to its policyholders
and the public. [PL 2021, c. 16, §3 (AMD).]

B. Paragraph A, subparagraphs (3) to (7) do not apply to any change of control if and to the extent
that the superintendent, by rule or by order, exempts the change of control from the provisions of
those subparagraphs as not included within the purpose of this subsection. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt.
A, §14 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

C. Merger, consolidation or bulk reinsurance as to a domestic insurer may be effectuated only
pursuant to the applicable provisions of chapter 47, subchapter 4 and sections 3875, 4108 and 4109,
as related to organization and powers of insurers. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §14 (AMD); PL 2013,
c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

D. Violation.

(1) Failure to file the application required under subsection 4-C constitutes a violation of this
section.

(2) Effectuation of or any attempt to effectuate an acquisition of control of, divestiture of
control of or merger with a domestic insurer earlier than 30 days after the filing of the
application required by subsection 4-C, before the superintendent's decision if a hearing is held
or after disapproval by the superintendent of the acquisition, divestiture or merger, constitutes
a violation of this section. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §14 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A,
§34 (AFF).]

2021, c. 16, §3 (AMD).]

7-A. Consolidated proceedings. If a proposed change of control requires, or is part of a series of

related transactions that require, the approval of the insurance regulators of more than one state, a
person filing an application under subsection 4-C with respect to the change of control may file a request
for a consolidated approval proceeding with the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.

A. The applicant shall file a copy of the application made under subsection 4-C with the National

Association of Insurance Commissioners within 5 days after making the request for a consolidated
approval proceeding. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §15 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

B. Within 10 days after receiving notice from the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners of a request for a consolidated approval proceeding, the superintendent shall issue
an order, with notice to the applicant and to the National Association of Insurance Commissioners,
specifying whether the superintendent elects to participate in the consolidated proceeding or to opt
out of the consolidated proceeding. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §15 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt.
A, §34 (AFF).]

C. If the superintendent opts out of the consolidated approval proceeding pursuant to paragraph B,
the superintendent shall hold a public hearing under subsection 7 unless the superintendent grants
an exemption under subsection 4-C, paragraph D. Opting out of the consolidated proceeding does
not preclude or limit the superintendent’s authority to coordinate a proceeding conducted under
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subsection 7 with the consolidated proceeding or with other parallel proceedings in other states.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §15 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF) ]

D. With the agreement of the other participating insurance regulators, the superintendent may
initiate a consolidated approval proceeding under this paragraph to render decisions on all
applications within the scope of the order of consolidation issued by the superintendent. A
consolidated approval proceeding convened under this paragraph is a public adjudicatory
proceeding. Except as provided in this paragraph, the proceeding must be conducted in the same
manner as a proceeding under subsection 7.

(1) A person who would have the right to participate in a proceeding on any of the consolidated
applications held under subsection 7 or substantially similar laws of other states has the right
to participate in the proceeding.

(2) The chief insurance regulator of a participating state has the right to participate in making
the decision or in designating a decision-making panel.

(3) The proceeding is public to the same extent as a proceeding conducted under subsection 7,
except that deliberations of a decision-making panel are not public proceedings and
communications in the course of those deliberations among panel members and their advisers,
other than the decision itself, are not public records.

(4) The proceeding may be held in any state with a significant connection to the subject
transactions or in a nearby location in an adjacent state. Sessions may be held in different
states. Provision must be made for parties, witnesses, insurance regulators and members of the
public to attend and participate in the proceeding by telecommunication.

(5) The superintendent, decision-making panel or presiding officer may vary the applicable
procedural requirements under this Title and Title 5 to the extent the superintendent, panel or
presiding officer determines to be reasonably necessary for the fair and effective administration
of a consolidated multistate proceeding.

(6) The decision is subject to judicial review in the same manner as a final agency action of
the superintendent. [PL 2021, c. 16, §4 (AMD).]

E. The superintendent may participate, including serving as a decision maker or member of a
decision-making panel, in a consolidated approval proceeding conducted under the laws of one or
more other states if the consolidated proceeding provides for a public hearing with substantially
similar rights of participation and judicial review as a proceeding conducted pursuant to paragraph
D. Ifthe superintendent elects under this paragraph to participate in a consolidated proceeding that
is conducted under the laws of one or more other states, the application is exempt from further
review under this section pursuant to subsection 4-C, paragraph D, subparagraph (4) and the
consolidated proceeding, notwithstanding the superintendent's participation, is not subject to any
provisions of the law of this State governing adjudicatory proceedings, judicial review, public
records or public meetings. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §15 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34
(AFF).]

[PL 2021, c. 16, §4 (AMD).]

7-B. Supervisory colleges. In order to assess the business strategy, financial position, legal and

regulatory position, risk exposure including enterprise risk, risk management and governance processes
of a domestic insurer that is part of an insurance holding company system with international operations,
the superintendent may participate in a supervisory college with other regulators charged with
supervision of the insurer or its affiliates, including other state, federal and international regulatory
agencies. A supervisory college may be convened as either a temporary or permanent forum for
communication and cooperation among the regulators charged with the supervision of the insurer or its
affiliates.
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A. The superintendent's powers with respect to supervisory colleges include, but are not limited
to:

(1) Initiating the establishment of a supervisory college or participating in a supervisory
college initiated by one or more other regulators;

(2) Entering into agreements providing the basis for cooperation between the superintendent
and the other participating regulators and for the activities of the supervisory college, including
but not limited to agreements for sharing confidential information under section 216,
subsection 5;

(3) Obtaining and providing assistance in examinations conducted under subsection 1-A or
under the examination authority of other participating jurisdictions;

(4) Clarifying the membership and participation of other regulators in the supervisory college;

(5) Clarifying the functions of the supervisory college and the role of other regulators,
including the designation of the superintendent or another member of the supervisory college
as a group-wide supervisor;

(6) Coordinating the ongoing activities of the supervisory college, including planning
meetings, supervisory activities and processes for information sharing; and

(7) Establishing a crisis management plan. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §15 (NEW); PL 2013,
c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

B. A domestic insurer whose activities are subject to this subsection is liable for and shall pay the
reasonable expenses of the superintendent's participation in a supervisory college, including
reasonable travel expenses. The superintendent may establish a regular assessment to the insurer
for the payment of these expenses. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §15 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt.
A, §34 (AFF).]

C. This section may not be construed to delegate to a supervisory college the authority of the
superintendent to regulate or supervise an insurer or its affiliates within this State. [PL 2013, c.
238, Pt. A, §15 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §15 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

7-C. Groupwide supervision. This subsection governs groupwide supervision.

A. The superintendent is authorized to act as the groupwide supervisor in accordance with the
provisions of this subsection for any internationally active insurance group, or any other insurance
holding company system that has requested the identification of a groupwide supervisor pursuant
to this subsection, or to acknowledge another regulatory official as the groupwide supervisor if the
insurance group:

(1) Does not have substantial insurance operations in the United States;
(2) Has substantial insurance operations in the United States, but not in this State; or

(3) Has substantial insurance operations in the United States and this State, but the
superintendent has determined pursuant to the factors set forth in paragraphs B and G that the
other regulatory official is the appropriate groupwide supervisor. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §6
(NEW).]

B. In cooperation with other state, federal and international regulatory agencies, and in consultation
with the insurance group, the superintendent shall identify a single groupwide supervisor for each
internationally active insurance group that includes an insurer registered under subsection 8 and
has the discretion to identify a single groupwide supervisor for any other insurance holding
company system that has requested that the superintendent identify a groupwide supervisor. The
superintendent may determine that the superintendent is the appropriate groupwide supervisor for
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an insurance group that conducts substantial insurance operations concentrated in this State or may
acknowledge that a regulatory official from another jurisdiction is the appropriate groupwide
supervisor for the insurance group. The superintendent shall consider the following factors when
making a determination or acknowledgment under this paragraph and shall reconsider that
determination or acknowledgment if the superintendent finds that there has been a material change
in the following factors:

(1) The place of domicile of the insurers within the insurance group that hold the largest share
of the group's written premiums, assets or liabilities;

(2) The place of domicile of the top-tiered insurer or insurers in the insurance holding company
system of the insurance group;

(3) The location of the executive offices or largest operational offices of the insurance group;

(4) The recommendation made by a regulatory official who is a candidate for designation under
the criteria in this paragraph but has notified the superintendent that a different regulatory
official would be a more appropriate groupwide supervisor;

(5) Whether another regulatory official is acting or is seeking to act as the groupwide
supervisor under a regulatory system that the superintendent determines to be:

(a) Substantially similar to the system of regulation provided under the laws of this State;
or

(b) Otherwise sufficient in terms of providing for groupwide supervision, enterprise risk
analysis and cooperation with other regulatory officials; and

(6) Whether another regulatory official acting or seeking to act as the groupwide supervisor
provides the superintendent with reasonably reciprocal recognition and cooperation. [PL
2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §6 (NEW).]

C. If another regulatory official is acting as the groupwide supervisor of an insurance group subject
to groupwide supervision under this subsection, the superintendent shall acknowledge that
regulatory official as the groupwide supervisor and may not consider designating the
superintendent as the groupwide supervisor under paragraph B unless there is a material change in
the insurance group that results in:

(1) The insurance group's insurers domiciled in this State holding the largest share of the
group's premiums, assets or liabilities; or

(2) This State being the place of domicile of the top-tiered insurer or insurers in the insurance
holding company system of the insurance group. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §6 (NEW).]

D. If more than one regulatory official is acting as the groupwide supervisor of an insurance group,
the superintendent is authorized to cooperate with any of them under paragraph G. [PL 2017, c.
169, Pt. B, §6 (NEW).]

E. Pursuant to subsection 1-A, the superintendent is authorized to collect from any insurer
registered pursuant to subsection 8 all information necessary to determine whether the
superintendent should act as the groupwide supervisor of an insurance group or whether the
superintendent should acknowledge another regulatory official to act as the groupwide supervisor.
Before issuing a determination that an insurance group is subject to groupwide supervision by the
superintendent, the superintendent shall notify the insurer registered pursuant to subsection 8 and
the ultimate controlling person within the insurance group. The insurance group has no less than
30 days to provide the superintendent with additional information pertinent to the pending
determination. The superintendent shall publish on the bureau's publicly accessible website the
identity of all insurance groups that the superintendent has determined are subject to groupwide
supervision by the superintendent. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §6 (NEW).]
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F. If the superintendent is the groupwide supervisor for an insurance group, the superintendent is
authorized to engage in any of the following groupwide supervision activities:

G.

(1) Assess the enterprise risks within the insurance group to ensure that:

(a) The material financial condition and liquidity risks to the members of the insurance
group that are engaged in the business of insurance are identified by management; and

(b) Reasonable and effective mitigation measures are in place;

(2) Request, from any member of the insurance group, information necessary and appropriate
to assess enterprise risk, including, but not limited to, information about the members of the
insurance group regarding:

(a) Governance, risk assessment and management;
(b) Capital adequacy; and
(c) Material intercompany transactions;

(3) Coordinate and, through the authority of the regulatory officials of the jurisdictions where
members of the insurance group are domiciled, compel development and implementation of
reasonable measures designed to ensure that the insurance group is able to promptly recognize
and mitigate enterprise risks to members of the insurance group that are engaged in the business
of insurance;

(4) Communicate with other state, federal and international agencies that regulate members of
the insurance group and share relevant information subject to the confidentiality provisions of
subsection 13-A, through supervisory colleges as set forth in subsection 7-B or otherwise;

(5) Enter into agreements with or obtain documentation from any insurer registered under
subsection 8, any member of the insurance group and any other state, federal and international
regulatory agencies for members of the insurance group, providing the basis for or otherwise
clarifying the superintendent's role as groupwide supervisor, including provisions for resolving
disputes with other regulatory officials. Such agreements or documentation may not serve as
evidence in any proceeding that any insurer or person within an insurance holding company
system not domiciled or incorporated in this State is doing business in this State or is otherwise
subject to jurisdiction in this State; and

(6) Other groupwide supervision activities, consistent with the authorities and purposes set out
in subparagraphs (1) to (5), as considered necessary by the superintendent. [PL 2017, c. 169,
Pt. B, §6 (NEW).]

If the superintendent acknowledges that another regulatory official from a jurisdiction that is

not accredited by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners is the groupwide
supervisor, the superintendent is authorized to cooperate reasonably, through supervisory colleges
or otherwise, with groupwide supervision undertaken by the groupwide supervisor, as long as:

H.

(1) The superintendent's cooperation is in compliance with the laws of this State; and

(2) The regulatory official acknowledged as the groupwide supervisor also recognizes and
cooperates with the superintendent's activities as a groupwide supervisor for other insurance
groups as applicable. When such recognition and cooperation is not reasonably reciprocal, the

superintendent is authorized to refuse recognition and cooperation. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B,
§6 (NEW).]

The superintendent is authorized to enter into agreements with or obtain documentation from

any insurer registered under subsection 8, any affiliate of the insurer and other state, federal and
international regulatory agencies for members of the insurance group in order to provide the basis
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for or otherwise clarify a regulatory official's role as groupwide supervisor. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt.
B, §6 (NEW).]

I. The superintendent may adopt rules necessary for the administration of this subsection. Rules
adopted pursuant to this paragraph are routine technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375,
subchapter 2-A. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §6 (NEW).]

J. A registered insurer subject to this subsection is liable for and shall pay the reasonable expenses
of the superintendent's participation in the administration of this subsection, including the
engagement of attorneys, actuaries and any other professionals and all reasonable travel expenses.

[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §6 (NEW).]

[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §6 (NEW).]

8. Registration of holding company system insurers.

A. An insurer that is authorized to do business in this State and that is a member of an insurance
holding company system shall register with the superintendent, except that these requirements do
not apply to a foreign insurer domiciled in a jurisdiction that in the opinion of the superintendent
has adopted by statute or regulation disclosure statements and standards substantially similar to
those contained in this section. An insurer domiciled in a jurisdiction that has not adopted by statute
or regulation disclosure requirements and standards substantially similar to those contained in this
section may be treated as a domestic insurer for purposes of this section. Each insurer that is subject
to registration under this subsection shall register within 15 days after it becomes subject to
registration, and annually thereafter by May 1st, unless the superintendent, for good cause shown,
extends the time for registration and then an insurer shall register within that extended time. This
section does not prohibit the superintendent from requesting any authorized insurer that is a
member of an insurance holding company system and not subject to registration under this section
to provide a copy of the registration statement or other information filed by such insurer with the
insurance regulatory authority of its state of domicile. Upon request of the insurer or of the
insurance regulatory authority of another jurisdiction in which the insurer is authorized to transact
insurance, the superintendent at the insurer's expense shall furnish a copy of the registration
statement or other information filed by a domestic insurer with the superintendent pursuant to this
section; [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §16 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

B. An insurer subject to registration shall file a registration statement with the superintendent on a
form and in a format prescribed by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners. The
registration statement must contain current information about:

(1) The capital structure, general financial condition, ownership and management of the insurer
and of any person controlling the insurer;

(1-A) The identity and relationship of every member of the insurance holding company system;
(2) The following transactions currently outstanding between the insurer and its affiliates:

(a) Loans and other investments, and purchases, sales or exchanges of securities of the
affiliate by the insurer or of the insurer by its affiliates;

(b) Purchases, sales or exchanges of assets;
(c) Transactions not in the ordinary course of business;

(d) Guarantees or undertakings for the benefit of an affiliate that result in an actual
contingent exposure of the insurer's assets to liability, other than insurance contracts
entered into in the ordinary course of the insurer's business;

(e) All management and service contracts and all cost-sharing arrangements, other than
cost allocation arrangements based upon generally accepted accounting principles;
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(f) Reinsurance agreements;
(g) Dividends and other distributions to shareholders; and
(h) Consolidated tax allocation agreements;

(2-A) Any pledge of the insurer's stock, including stock of any subsidiary or controlling
affiliate, for a loan made to any member of the insurance holding company system;

(2-B) If requested by the superintendent, financial statements of or within the insurance
holding company system, including all affiliates. The required financial statements may
include but are not limited to annual audited financial statements filed with the United States
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Exchange Act. An insurer required to
file financial statements pursuant to this subparagraph may satisfy the request by providing the
superintendent with the most recently filed parent corporation financial statements that have
been filed with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission;

(3) Other matters concerning transactions between the insurer and any affiliate as may be
required by the superintendent; and

(4) Any other information required by the superintendent by rule; [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A,
§17 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

B-1. The controlling person with ultimate control of an insurer subject to registration shall file an
annual enterprise risk report in accordance with subparagraph (1) and, if applicable, shall file any
additional reports required by this paragraph. The reports must be filed with the lead state regulator
of the insurance holding company system as determined by the procedures within the NAIC
Financial Analysis Handbook or successor publication.

(1) The enterprise risk report must be appropriate to the nature, scale and complexity of the
operations of the insurance holding company system and must, to the best of the controlling
person’s knowledge and belief, identify the material risks within the insurance holding
company system, if any, that could pose enterprise risk to the insurer.

(2) Except as otherwise provided in this subparagraph, the ultimate controlling person of an
insurer subject to registration shall file an annual group capital calculation concurrently with
the registration required by paragraph A. The report must be completed as directed by the lead
state regulator in accordance with the group capital calculation instructions, which may permit
the lead state regulator to allow a controlling person that is not the ultimate controlling person
to file the group capital calculation.

(a) An insurance holding company is exempt from filing the group capital calculation if it
has only one insurer within its holding company structure and that insurer is not licensed
outside this State to transact insurance, does not write business outside this State and does
not assume reinsurance from any other insurer.

(b) An insurance holding company is exempt from filing the group capital calculation if it
is required to perform a group capital calculation specified by the Board of Governors of
the Federal Reserve System and the lead state regulator has obtained the current group
capital calculation from the board of governors. If this State is the insurance holding
company system’s lead state, the superintendent shall request the calculation from the
board of governors under the terms of information sharing agreements in effect.

(c) An insurance holding company is exempt from filing the group capital calculation if
its groupwide supervisor is located within a non-United States jurisdiction that the
superintendent has designated as a reciprocal jurisdiction pursuant to section 731-B,
subsection 1, paragraph B-3, subparagraph (1), division (b) and that recognizes the United
States system of group supervision and group capital regulation.
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(d) An insurance holding company is exempt from filing the group capital calculation if
its groupwide supervisor is located in a non-United States jurisdiction and:

(1) The lead state regulator meets the requirements for accreditation under the NAIC
financial standards and accreditation program and the insurance holding company
system provides information to the lead state regulator, either directly or indirectly
through the groupwide supervisor, that the lead state regulator has determined to be
satisfactory to allow the lead state to comply with the NAIC group supervision
approach, as detailed in the NAIC Financial Analysis Handbook or successor
publication; and

(ii) The groupwide supervisor recognizes and accepts the group capital calculation as
the worldwide group capital assessment for United States insurance groups that operate
in that non-United States jurisdiction, consistent with criteria specified by the
superintendent by rule.

(e) Notwithstanding divisions (c) and (d), a non-United States-based insurance holding
company system shall file a group capital calculation limited to its United States operations
if its lead state regulator determines, after any necessary consultation with other supervisors
or officials, that requiring a United States group capital calculation is appropriate for
prudential oversight and solvency monitoring purposes or for ensuring the competitiveness
of the insurance marketplace.

(f) If this State is an insurance holding company system’s lead state, the superintendent
may exempt the ultimate controlling person from filing an annual group capital calculation
or may accept a limited group capital filing or report in accordance with criteria specified
by the superintendent by rule. An exemption or modification granted under a substantially
similar law of another jurisdiction that is the lead state of an insurance holding company
system that includes a domestic insurer applies to a filing otherwise required by this
subparagraph.

(g) If the lead state regulator determines that an insurance holding company system no
longer meets one or more of the requirements for an exemption from filing the group capital
calculation under this subparagraph, the insurance holding company system shall file the
group capital calculation at the next annual filing date unless given an extension by the
lead state regulator based on reasonable grounds shown.

(3) The ultimate controlling person of an insurer subject to registration shall file the results of
a liquidity stress test for each data year for which the insurer’s insurance holding company
system is within the scope of that year’s NAIC Liquidity Stress Test Framework, as determined
by the lead state regulator.

(a) Ifthis State is the lead state, the determination that an insurer is within scope or out of
scope must be based on whether the insurer or its insurance holding company system meets
at least one threshold in the applicable scope criteria, unless the superintendent determines,
in consultation with the NAIC Financial Stability Task Force or its successor organization,
that there is good cause to exclude an insurer or insurance holding company system that
meets one or more thresholds or to include an insurer or insurance holding company system
that does not meet any of the thresholds. In making that determination, the superintendent
shall consider the goal of providing a stable experience base and avoiding insurers moving
in and out of scope frequently.

(b) A liquidity stress test under this subparagraph must be performed, and its results must
be filed, in accordance with the NAIC Liquidity Stress Test Framework’s instructions and
reporting templates for that data year.

34 |

Generated

Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE 10.30.2023



MRS Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE

(c) For the purposes of this subparagraph, any change to the NAIC Liquidity Stress Test
Framework, including the data to be used in applying the scope criteria, is effective on
January 1st of the year following the calendar year when the change is adopted by the
NAIC. [PL 2021, c. 521, §11 (AMD).]

B-2. An insurer subject to registration shall file statements confirming that the insurer's board of
directors oversees corporate governance and internal controls and that the insurer's officers or
senior management have approved and implemented and continue to maintain and monitor
corporate governance and internal control procedures; [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §18 (NEW); PL
2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

B-3. A domestic insurer that is subject to registration, and has annual premium of $500,000,000
or more or is a member of an insurance holding company system with annual premium of
$1,000,000,000 or more, shall conduct an own risk and solvency assessment in accordance with
the requirements of this paragraph and the ORSA guidance manual at least annually, and also at
any time when there are significant changes to the risk profile of the insurer or its insurance holding
company system, except as otherwise provided in subparagraph (1). For purposes of this paragraph,
"premium" means direct written and unaffiliated assumed premium, including international direct
and assumed premium but excluding premiums reinsured with the Federal Crop Insurance
Corporation within the United States Department of Agriculture, Risk Management Agency and
with the National Flood Insurance Program within the United States Department of Homeland
Security, Federal Emergency Management Agency.

(1) This paragraph does not apply if:

(a) The insurer is an agency, authority or instrumentality of the United States, its
possessions and territories, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the District of Columbia or
a state or political subdivision of a state;

(b) The insurer and its insurance holding company system did not meet either of the
minimum premium criteria of this paragraph in the financial statements immediately
preceding their most recent financial statements and the superintendent has not required
compliance with this paragraph under subparagraph (2); or

(c) The superintendent has granted a waiver from the requirements of this paragraph based
upon unique circumstances. In deciding whether to grant a waiver, the superintendent may
consider the type and volume of business written by the insurer, the ownership and
organizational structure of the insurer and its insurance holding company system and any
other factor the superintendent considers relevant to the insurer or the insurer's insurance
holding company system. If the insurer's insurance holding company system includes
insurers domiciled in more than one state, the superintendent shall coordinate with the lead
regulator and with other domiciliary regulators in considering whether to grant the insurer's
request for a waiver.

(2) The superintendent may require an insurer that does not meet either of the minimum
premium criteria of this paragraph to comply with the requirements of this paragraph if:

(a) The superintendent determines that the insurer should be subject to this paragraph due
to unique circumstances, including, but not limited to, the type and volume of business
written by the insurer, the ownership and organizational structure of the insurer and its
insurance holding company system, federal agency requests and international supervisor
requests;

(b) The insurer is subject to a corrective order or required to adopt a risk-based capital plan
under sections 6453 to 6456;

Generated
10.30.2023

Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE | 35



MRS Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE

(c) The superintendent has determined in accordance with rules adopted by the
superintendent that the insurer is in hazardous financial condition; or

(d) The superintendent has determined that the insurer otherwise exhibits qualities of a
troubled insurer.

(3) If an insurer's insurance holding company system has annual premium of $1,000,000,000
or more, the assessment and reporting required by this paragraph must be conducted for each
insurer within the insurance holding company system, either on a systemwide basis or
separately for insurers or combinations of insurers within the insurance holding company
system.

(4) An insurer subject to this paragraph shall maintain a risk management framework to assist
the insurer with identifying, assessing, monitoring, managing and reporting on its material and
relevant risks. An insurer may satisfy this requirement by participating in an applicable risk
management framework maintained by the insurance holding company system of which the
insurer is a member.

(5) An insurer subject to this paragraph shall prepare and submit regular ORSA summary
reports that satisfy the requirements of this subparagraph and shall provide additional
information to the superintendent upon request.

(a) Beginning no later than 2015, the ORSA summary report must be prepared at least
annually, on a timetable consistent with the insurer's internal strategic planning processes,
and submitted to the lead regulator of the insurer's insurance holding company system, as
determined by the procedures within the NAIC Financial Analysis Handbook or successor
publication. If the superintendent is not the lead regulator, the insurer shall submit the
insurer's or insurance holding company system's most recent ORSA summary report to the
superintendent on request.

(b) The ORSA summary report must be prepared consistent with the ORSA guidance
manual. Documentation and supporting information must be maintained and made
available upon examination by or upon request of the superintendent.

(c) The insurer's or insurance holding company system's chief risk officer, or other
executive having responsibility for the oversight of the insurer's enterprise risk
management process, shall sign the ORSA summary report attesting to the best of the
signer's belief and knowledge that the insurer applies the enterprise risk management
process described in the ORSA summary report and that a copy of the report has been
provided to the insurer's board of directors or the appropriate committee of the board.

(d) An insurer may comply with this paragraph by providing the most recent ORSA
summary report and a report or reports that are substantially similar to the ORSA summary
report that are provided by the insurer or another member of its insurance holding company
system to the insurance commissioner of another state or to an insurance supervisor or
regulator of a foreign jurisdiction if that report provides information that is comparable to
the information described in the ORSA guidance manual. Any report in a language other
than English must be accompanied by an English translation.

(6) The superintendent's review of the ORSA summary report, and any additional requests for
information, must be consistent with accepted regulatory procedures for the analysis and
examination of multistate or global insurers and insurance groups. [PL 2021, c. 521, §12
(AMD).]

C. An insurer does not need to disclose on the registration statement filed pursuant to this
subsection information that is not material to the purposes of this section. Sales, purchases,
exchanges, loans or extensions of credit or investments involving 1/2 of 1% or less of an insurer's
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admitted assets as of December 31st immediately preceding are not material for purposes of this
section, except:

(1) For purposes of the group capital calculation and liquidity stress test in accordance with
paragraph B-1, subparagraphs (2) and (3);

(2) When the instructions for a specific filing specify a different materiality threshold or
specify that no materiality threshold applies; or

(3) As the superintendent otherwise provides by rule or order. [PL 2021, c. 521, §13 (AMD).]

D. Each registered insurer shall keep current the information required to be disclosed in its
registration statement by reporting on forms provided by the superintendent all material changes or
additions on or before the 15th day of the month following that in which it learns of each such
change or addition; [PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (NEW).]

E. The superintendent shall terminate the registration of any insurer which demonstrates that it is
no longer a member of an insurance holding company system; [PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (NEW).]

F. Two or more affiliated insurers subject to registration hereunder may file a consolidated
registration statement or consolidated reports amending their respective consolidated statements or
their individual registration statements so long as such consolidated filings correctly reflect the
condition of and transactions between such persons; [PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (NEW).]

G. The superintendent may allow or require any insurer, which is authorized to do business in this
State and which is part of an insurance holding company system, to register on behalf of any
affiliated insurer which is required to register under paragraph A and to file all information and
material required to be filed under this section; [PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (NEW).]

H. This section shall not apply to any insurer, information or transaction if and to the extent that
the superintendent by rule, regulation or order shall exempt the same from the provisions of this
section as not comprehended within the purposes thereof; [PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (NEW).]

I. Any person may file with the superintendent a disclaimer of affiliation with any authorized
insurer. A disclaimer of affiliation may be filed by the insurer or any member of an insurance
holding company system. The disclaimer must fully disclose all material relationships and bases
for affiliation between the disclaiming person and the insurer as well as the bases for disclaiming
affiliation.

(1) An approved disclaimer relieves the disclaiming person of the duty to register under this
section.

(2) A disclaimer is deemed approved unless the superintendent, within 30 days after receipt of
a complete disclaimer, including any additional information required by the superintendent,
either disallows the disclaimer or notifies the disclaiming person that a hearing will be held on
the disclaimer.

(3) The superintendent may condition the approval of a disclaimer on terms and conditions
reasonably designed to ensure that the disclaiming person will not exercise actual control or
acquire the right to actual control over the insurer without triggering the prior approval process
under subsections 4-C and 7.

(4) Ifthe superintendent takes action on a disclaimer without hearing, including the imposition
of conditions not agreed to by the disclaiming person, an aggrieved person has the right to a
hearing.

(5) The superintendent may rescind the approval of a disclaimer, after notice and opportunity
for hearing, on the basis of new information or changed circumstances demonstrating the
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existence of control over the insurer. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §20 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238,
Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

[PL 2021, c. 521, §§11-13 (AMD).]

9. Transactions with affiliates; standards. Transactions by insurers subject to registration with

their affiliates are subject to the following standards.

A. The terms, including any charges or fees for services performed, must be fair and reasonable.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §5 (AMD).]

A-1. Agreements for management services and cost sharing must include any provisions required
by the superintendent by rule. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §7 (AMD).]

B. The books, accounts and records of each party must be so maintained as to disclose clearly and
accurately the nature and details of the transaction, including all accounting information necessary
to support the reasonableness of any charges or fees. [PL 1991, c. 828, §5 (AMD).]

C. The insurer's surplus to policyholders following any dividends or distributions to stockholder
affiliates must be reasonable in relation to the insurer's outstanding liabilities and adequate to its
financial needs. [PL 1991, c. 548, Pt. B, §3 (AMD).]

D. Expenses incurred and payment received must be allocated to the insurer in conformity with
customary insurance accounting practices consistently applied. [PL 1991, c. 828, §5 (NEW).]

D-1. If an insurer subject to this Title is determined by the superintendent to be in hazardous
financial condition as defined by rule or a condition that would be grounds for a delinquency
proceeding under chapter 57, the superintendent may require the insurer to secure and maintain
either a deposit, held by the Treasurer of State on behalf of the superintendent, or a bond, as
determined by the insurer at the insurer’s discretion, for the protection of the insurer for the duration
of a contract or agreement or the duration of the condition for which the superintendent required
the deposit or the bond. In determining whether a deposit or a bond is required, the superintendent
shall consider whether concerns exist with respect to the affiliated person’s ability to fulfill all of
its contracts or agreements if the insurer were to be put into liquidation. If the insurer is determined
to be in hazardous financial condition or in a condition that would be grounds for a delinquency
proceeding, and a deposit or bond is required, the superintendent has discretion to determine the
amount of the deposit or bond, not to exceed the aggregate value in any one year of all contracts or
agreements secured by the deposit or bond, and whether the deposit or bond should be required for

a single contract, multiple contracts or a contract with a specific person. [PL 2021, c. 521, §14
(NEW).]

D-2. All records and data of the insurer held by an affiliate are and remain the property of the
insurer, must be subject to control of the insurer, must be identifiable and must be segregated or
readily capable of segregation, at no additional cost to the insurer, from all other persons’ records
and data. This includes all records and data that are otherwise the property of the insurer, in
whatever form maintained, including, but not limited to, claims and claim files, policyholder lists,
application files, litigation files, premium records, rate books, underwriting manuals, personnel
records, financial records and similar records within the possession, custody or control of the
affiliate. At the request of the insurer or its receiver, the affiliate shall allow the insurer or receiver
to obtain a complete set of all records of any type that pertain to the insurer’s business and obtain
access to the electronic operating systems on which the data is maintained or software that runs
those systems either through assumption of licensing agreements or otherwise and shall restrict the
use of the data by the affiliate if it is not operating the insurer’s business. The affiliate shall provide
a waiver of any landlord lien or other encumbrance to give the insurer access to all records and data
in the event of the affiliate’s default under a lease or other agreement. [PL 2021, c. 521, §15
(NEW).]
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D-3. Premiums or other funds belonging to the insurer that are collected by or held by an affiliate
are the exclusive property of the insurer and are subject to the control of the insurer. Any offset in
the event that an insurer is placed into receivership is subject to section 4381. [PL 2021, c. 521,
§16 (NEW).]

E. A domestic insurer shall notify the superintendent in writing at least 30 days in advance, unless
the superintendent authorizes a shorter period, before entering into or materially amending or
modifying any of the following kinds of transactions with any member of its holding company
system:

(1) Sales, purchases, exchanges, loans or extensions of credit, guarantees or investments that
are equal to or exceed:

(a) With respect to nonlife insurers, the lesser of 3% of the insurer's admitted assets as of
December 31st of the preceding year and 25% of surplus to policyholders;

(b) With respect to life insurers, 3% of the insurer's admitted assets as of December 31st
of the preceding year; or

(c) With respect to nonprofit hospital and medical service organizations and their 100%
controlled affiliates that operate as monoline health insurers or health maintenance
organizations, the lesser of 5% of the entity's admitted assets as of December 31st of the
preceding year and 25% of surplus to policyholders;

(2) Loans or extensions of credit to any person who is not an affiliate, if the insurer makes the
loan or extension of credit with the agreement or understanding that the proceeds in whole or
in substantial part are to be used to make loans or extensions of credit to, purchase assets of or
make investments in any affiliate of the insurer if the loan, extension of credit, purchase or
investment is equal to or exceeds:

(a) With respect to nonlife insurers, the lesser of 3% of the insurer's admitted assets as of
December 31st of the preceding year and 25% of surplus to policyholders;

(b) With respect to life insurers, 3% of the insurer's admitted assets as of December 31st
of the preceding year; or

(c) With respect to nonprofit hospital and medical service organizations and their 100%
controlled affiliates that operate as monoline health insurers or health maintenance
organizations, the lesser of 5% of the entity's admitted assets as of December 31st of the
preceding year and 25% of surplus to policyholders;

(3) All reinsurance pooling agreements, and all reinsurance agreements in which the
reinsurance premium or a change in the insurer's liabilities, or the projected reinsurance
premium or a projected change in the insurer's liabilities in any of the next 3 years, equals or
exceeds 5% of the insurer's surplus to policyholders, as of December 31st of the preceding
year, including those agreements that may require as consideration the transfer of assets from
an insurer to a nonaffiliate if an agreement or understanding exists between the insurer and
nonaffiliate that any portion of the assets will be transferred to one or more affiliates of the
insurer;

(4) All management agreements, cost-sharing arrangements, tax allocation agreements, service
contracts and guaranties, with the exception of guaranties that are quantifiable in amount and
do not exceed, in the aggregate, the lesser of 0.5% of admitted assets and 10% of surplus as
regards policyholders as of December 31st of the preceding year;

(5) Any transactions that are part of a plan or series of like transactions with persons within
the holding company system if the transactions when aggregated over any 12-month period
exceed the reporting thresholds of this paragraph. If the superintendent determines that those
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separate transactions were entered into for the purpose of avoiding regulatory review by
circumventing statutory reporting requirements, that determination is a sufficient basis for
disapproving the transactions under this subsection; and

(6) Any other material transactions specified by rule that the superintendent has determined
may adversely affect the interests of the insurer's policyholders.

A notice of amendment or modification of a transaction must include the reasons for the change
and the financial impact on the domestic insurer. The insurer shall notify the superintendent within
30 days after terminating an agreement previously reported under this paragraph.

The superintendent shall disapprove a transaction that is subject to this paragraph if the transaction
violates the standards of this section or other applicable law or adversely affects the interests of
policyholders. The superintendent's failure to make a determination on a proposed transaction
within 30 days after it has been submitted for review has the effect of an approval, unless the
superintendent has issued a notice of adjudicatory hearing on the proposal in accordance with
section 230. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §8 (AMD).]

Any violation of this subsection, in addition to the penalties contained in subsection 14, renders the
transactions voidable at the initiative of the superintendent or otherwise under applicable law. The
superintendent's approval of a transaction in accordance with this section, whether actual or by
acquiescence, may not override any applicable law and does not operate to authorize any transaction
that would be contrary to law if it involved an insurer not a member of the same holding company
system.

[PL 2021, c. 521, §§14-16 (AMD).]

10. Insurer's surplus; adequacy factors. For the purposes of this section, in determining whether

an insurer's surplus to policyholders is reasonable in relation to the insurer's outstanding liabilities and
adequate to its financial needs, the following factors, among others, may be considered:

A. The size of the insurer as measured by its assets, capital and surplus, reserves, premium writings,
insurance in force and other appropriate criteria; [PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (NEW).]

B. The extent to which the insurer's business is diversified among the several lines of insurance;
[PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (NEW).]

C. The number and size of the risks insured in each line of business; [PL 1975, c. 356, §1
(NEW).]

D. The extent of the geographical dispersion of the insurer's insured risks; [PL 1975, c. 356, §1
(NEW).]

E. The nature and extent of the insurer's reinsurance program; [PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (NEW).]
F. The quality, diversification and liquidity of the insurer's investment portfolio; [PL 1975, c.
356, §1 (NEW).]

G. The recent past and projected future trend in the size of the insurer's surplus as regards
policyholders; [PL 1993, c. 313, §10 (AMD).]

H. The quality and liquidity of investments in subsidiaries or affiliates. The department may
discount any such investment or treat any investment as a nonadmitted asset for purposes of
determining the adequacy of surplus as regards policyholders whenever the investment so warrants;
[PL 1993, c. 313, §10 (AMD).]

I. The adequacy of the insurer's reserves; [PL 1993, c. 313, §10 (AMD).]

J. The surplus as regards policyholders maintained by other comparable insurers in respect of the
factors set out in this subsection; and [PL 1993, c. 313, §10 (AMD).]
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[PL

[PL

[PL

[PL

K. The quality of the company's earnings and the extent to which the reported earnings include
extraordinary items. [PL 1993, c. 313, §10 (NEW).]
2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §22 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

11. Dividends and distributions.
1993, c. 313, §11 (RP).]

11-A. Extraordinary dividends.
2009, c. 511, Pt. A, §3 (RP).]

11-B. All other dividends and distributions.
2009, c. 511, Pt. A, §4 (RP).]

11-C. Dividends and distributions. The superintendent shall review all dividends and

distributions declared or paid by any insurer registered under subsection 8 at least annually.

[PL

A. An insurer shall notify the superintendent within 5 days after the declaration of any dividend or
distribution. If the dividend or distribution is not disapproved pursuant to paragraph B and is not
an extraordinary dividend as defined in paragraph C, the insurer may pay the dividend or
distribution once the superintendent has approved the payment or 10 days have elapsed after the
superintendent’s receipt of notice. [PL 2009, c. 511, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

B. The superintendent shall issue an order restricting or disallowing the payment of dividends and
distributions if the superintendent determines that the insurer's surplus would not be reasonable in
relation to the insurance company's outstanding liabilities, that the insurer's surplus would be
inadequate to that company's financial needs, that the insurer's financial condition would constitute
a condition hazardous to policyholders, claimants or the public or that a violation of subsection 4-C
prevents the superintendent from sufficiently understanding the enterprise risk to the insurer posed
by its affiliates or by its insurance holding company system. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §23 (AMD);
PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

C. An extraordinary dividend may not be paid until affirmatively approved by the superintendent
or until at least 60 days after the superintendent has received a request to pay an extraordinary
dividend.

(1) For purposes of this subsection, "extraordinary dividend" means any dividend or
distribution, other than a pro rata distribution of a class of the insurer’s own securities, that:

(a) When aggregated with all other dividends and distributions paid or proposed to be paid
by the insurer less than a full year before the payment date, exceeds the greater of 10% of
the insurer's surplus to policyholders as of December 31st of the preceding year and the net
gain from operations for the preceding calendar year;

(b) Is declared within 5 years after any acquisition of control of a domestic insurer or of
any person controlling that insurer, unless it has been approved by a number of continuing
directors equal to a majority of the directors in office immediately preceding that
acquisition of control; or

(c) Is not paid entirely from unassigned funds. For purposes of this division, 50% of the
net of unrealized capital gains and unrealized capital losses, reduced, but not to less than
zero, by that portion of the asset valuation reserve attributable to equity investments, must
be excluded from the calculation of unassigned funds.

(2) An insurer may declare an extraordinary dividend on a conditional basis, subject to the
superintendent’s approval. A declaration pursuant to this subparagraph does not confer any
rights upon stockholders until the superintendent has approved the payment or the 60-day
review period has elapsed. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §9 (AMD).]

2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §9 (AMD).]
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12. Verification of information.
[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §24 (RP); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

13. Confidential communications.
[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §25 (RP); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

13-A. Confidential information. This section applies to holding company information that is in
the possession or control of the superintendent or that is in the possession or control of the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners as a result of a filing under this section or as a result of
information sharing by the superintendent as authorized by this section.

A. For purposes of this subsection, "holding company information" means any of the following
documents, materials and other information if the document, material or other information has not
specifically and expressly been designated as a public record by other applicable law:

(1) Information obtained by the superintendent pursuant to an examination or investigation
pursuant to subsection 1-A to the same extent as the information would have been confidential
if obtained in an examination or investigation conducted under section 220 or 221;

(2) A registration statement or report filed under subsection 8, including all supporting
information;

(2-A) Any group capital calculation or liquidity stress test, including all supporting
information, conducted under the authority of a non-United States financial supervisor or the
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System;

(3) A report filed under subsection 9, including all supporting information;

(4) A notice of proposed divestiture filed under subsection 4-C, paragraph B, until the
divestiture transaction has occurred;

(5) A disclosure of the beneficial owner of securities made by a broker-dealer pursuant to
subsection 4-C, paragraph E;

(6) The identity of a lender that is to finance a proposed transaction if declared confidential
under subsection 4-C, paragraph C, subparagraph (2);

(7) Information filed in support of any required attestation of risk management or internal
controls under subsection 4-C, paragraph C, subparagraph (12) or (13);

(8) A competitive impact statement filed under subsection 4-C, paragraph C, subparagraph
(14), including all supporting information;

(8-A) Groupwide supervision information reported or provided to the superintendent under
subsection 7-C;

(9) Information obtained under an information-sharing agreement entered into pursuant to this
section to the extent that it is protected by the confidentiality provisions of the agreement;

(10) Information obtained pursuant to this section from a jurisdiction other than this State to
the extent that it is confidential under the laws of the jurisdiction in which it is normally
maintained; and

(11) Information obtained under this section to the extent that it is confidential under other
applicable law, including, but not limited to, section 216, section 225 and Title 1, section 402,
subsection 3. [PL 2021, c. 521, §17 (AMD).]

B. Except as otherwise provided by paragraphs D and E or specifically and expressly provided by
other applicable law, holding company information is confidential, is not a public record, is not
subject to a subpoena, is not subject to discovery or admissible as evidence in any private civil
action and may not be made public by the superintendent without prior written consent of the
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relevant insurer. The privilege provided under this paragraph does not supersede any other
applicable privilege or confidentiality protection, nor does disclosure of confidential holding
company information to the superintendent constitute a waiver of any such privilege or protection.
Neither the superintendent nor any person who received holding company information from or
under the authority of the superintendent under this section may be permitted or required to testify
in any private civil action concerning holding company information that is confidential under this

subsection. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §26 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

C. The superintendent may share holding company information that is confidential under this
subsection only in accordance with the requirements of section 216, subsection 5 and the following
additional requirements.

(1) The recipient of the information must agree in writing to maintain the same level of
confidentiality as is available under Maine law. This requirement may be satisfied through a
multilateral confidentiality agreement to which both the superintendent and the recipient are
parties.

(2) The superintendent may not share confidential holding company information with or
through the National Association of Insurance Commissioners except in accordance with an
information-sharing agreement entered into in accordance with section 216, subsection 5,
paragraph C.

(3) If the recipient of the information is in the United States, the recipient's state must have
statutes or rules that expressly protect holding company information at a level at least
equivalent to the protections provided by this subsection and section 216, subsection 5.

(4) ORSA-related information subject to subsection 8, paragraph B-3 may, with the written
consent of the insurer, be shared with a person under contract with the superintendent pursuant
to section 208. In addition, any agreement for sharing ORSA-related information with the
person under the contract with the superintendent or with the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners must further provide that:

(a) The recipient of the information agrees in writing to maintain the confidentiality and
privileged status of the ORSA-related information and has verified in writing the legal
authority to maintain confidentiality; and

(b) Any preauthorization granted under the agreement for further sharing of information
provided by the superintendent must be limited to only the domiciliary regulators of other
insurers in the same insurance holding company system.

(5) If the superintendent authorizes a contractor to have access to liquidity stress test
information provided pursuant to subsection 8, paragraph B-1, subparagraph (3), the
superintendent shall disclose the identity of the contractor to the applicable insurers. [PL 2021,
c. 521, §§18, 19 (AMD).]

D. This subsection does not prohibit the superintendent from using holding company information
in the furtherance of any regulatory or legal action brought as a part of the superintendent's official

duties. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §26 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF)]

E. Unless otherwise provided by applicable law, the superintendent may, after giving notice and
opportunity for hearing to the insurer and any affiliates, controlling person or other persons that
would be affected, order one or more items of holding company information, other than ORSA-
related information, to be made a public record in its entirety or in redacted form if the
superintendent determines that public disclosure will be in the interest of policyholders,
shareholders or the public. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §26 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34
(AFF).]
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F. Except as otherwise required under this section, directly or indirectly publicly disseminating a
statement in print or electronically regarding a group capital calculation required under subsection
8, paragraph B-1, subparagraph (2) or its resulting group capital ratio, a liquidity stress test required
under subsection 8, paragraph B-1, subparagraph (3) or its results or supporting disclosures of any
insurer or any insurance group or of any component derived in the calculation by any insurer,
producer or other person engaged in any manner in the insurance business is prohibited. The insurer
may publish in a written publication an announcement the sole purpose of which is to rebut any
materially false statement or inappropriate comparison if the materially false statement or
inappropriate comparison relating to a group capital calculation, group capital ratio, liquidity stress
test or test results or supporting disclosures is published in any written publication and the insurer
is able to demonstrate to the superintendent with substantial proof the falsity of that statement or
the inappropriateness, as the case may be. [PL 2021, c. 521, §20 (NEW).]

G. A group capital calculation required under subsection 8, paragraph B-1, subparagraph (2) or its
resulting group capital ratio or a liquidity stress test required under subsection 8, paragraph B-1,
subparagraph (3) or its results and supporting disclosures is not a means to rank any insurers or
insurance holding company systems. [PL 2021, c. 521, §21 (NEW).]

[PL 2021, c. 521, §§17-21 (AMD).]

14. Penalties.

A. Any person who willfully violates any of the provisions of this section, or the rules and
regulations promulgated by the superintendent under authority thereof, or any person who willfully,
in a filing pursuant to subsection 4-C or a registration pursuant to subsection 8, paragraph B, makes
any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state any material fact required to be stated
therein or necessary to make the statements therein not misleading, must upon conviction be fined
not more than $1,000 or imprisoned not more than 3 years, or both; [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §27
(AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

B. Any person who is found, after notice and opportunity to be heard, to have willfully violated
any of the provisions of this section or any rule or regulations promulgated by the superintendent
under the authority thereof, shall, in addition to any other penalty provided by law, forfeit to this
State the sum of $50 for a first violation and an additional sum of $25 for each day such violation
shall continue; [PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (NEW).]

C. In addition to other remedies and penalties provided in this section or otherwise available under
the laws of this State, any violation of this section is hereby declared to be an unfair method of
competition or an unfair or deceptive act and practice in the business of insurance subject to the
provisions of chapter 23 and in addition, the superintendent may, after notice and hearing:

(1) Refuse to issue, refuse to renew or reissue, revoke or suspend for a period not exceeding
one year any license or certificate of authority issued or to be issued to any person found to
have violated any of the provisions of this section;

(2) After notice and hearing impose by order and administrative forfeiture upon such person,
enforceable by such revocation, suspension or refusal to issue, renew or reissue of any such
license or licenses or otherwise pursuant to the law of this State, in an amount not to exceed
$100 for each such violation and for each day's continuance thereof;

(3) Proceed in a court of competent jurisdiction within or without this State against such
person, if an insurer, upon the applicable grounds provided for the rehabilitation,
conservatorship or liquidation of an insurer or for an injunction to prevent a violation of this
section or to reverse or hold invalid any transaction made in violation of this section;

(4) Issue such administrative orders to require compliance with this section, including the filing
of evidence of compliance and periodic reporting as to such compliance, enforceable by such
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[PL

revocation, suspension or refusal to issue, renew or reissue of any such license or licenses or
otherwise pursuant to the laws of this State; or

(5) Any or all of the foregoing. [PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (NEW).]
2007, c. 466, Pt. D, §3 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §27 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A,

§34 (AFF).]

[PL

14-A. Recovery.

A. If an order for liquidation or rehabilitation of a domestic insurer has been entered, the receiver
appointed under that order has the right to recover on behalf of the insurer:

(1) From any parent corporation or holding company or person or affiliate who otherwise
controlled the insurer, the amount of any distributions other than distributions of shares of the
same class of stock paid by the insurer on its capital stock; or

(2) Any payment in the form of a bonus, termination settlement or extraordinary lump-sum
salary adjustment made by the insurer or by any subsidiary of that insurer to a director, officer
or employee when the distribution or payment pursuant to this subparagraph or subparagraph
(1) is made at any time during the one year preceding the petition for liquidation, conservation
or rehabilitation, subject to the limitations of paragraphs B, C and D. [PL 1993, c. 313, §13
(NEW).]

B. Such a distribution is not recoverable if the parent corporation or affiliate shows that when paid
the distribution was lawful and reasonable and that the insurer did not know and could not
reasonably have known that the distribution could adversely affect the ability of the insurer to fulfill
its contractual obligations. [PL 1993, c. 313, §13 (NEW).]

C. Any person who was a parent corporation or holding company or a person who otherwise
controlled the insurer or affiliate at the time distributions were paid is liable up to the amount of
distributions or payments under paragraph A that the person received. Any person who otherwise
controlled the insurer at the time the distributions were declared is liable up to the amount of the
distributions the person would have received if that person had been paid immediately. If2 or more
persons are liable for the same distributions, those persons are jointly and severally liable. [PL

1993, c. 313, §13 (NEW).]

D. The maximum amount recoverable under this subsection is the amount needed in excess of all
other available assets of the impaired or insolvent insurer to pay the contractual obligations of the
impaired or insolvent insurer and to reimburse any guaranty funds. [PL 1993, c. 313, §13
(NEW).]

E. To the extent that any person liable under paragraph C is insolvent or fails to pay claims due
pursuant to paragraph C, its parent corporation or holding company or person who otherwise
controlled it at the time the distribution was paid, is jointly and severally liable for any resulting
deficiency in the amount recovered from the parent corporation or holding company or person who
otherwise controlled it. [PL 1993, c. 313, §13 (NEW).]

1993, c. 313, §13 (NEW).]

14-B. Supervision, seizure, conservatorship or receivership proceedings. This subsection

governs an affiliate's obligations under supervision, seizure, conservatorship or receivership
proceedings against an insurer.

A. An affiliate that is party to an agreement or contract with a domestic insurer that is subject to
subsection 9, paragraph E, subparagraph (4) is subject to the jurisdiction of a supervision, seizure,
conservatorship or receivership proceeding against the insurer and to the authority of a supervisor,
rehabilitator or liquidator for the insurer appointed pursuant to chapter 57 for the purpose of
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interpreting, enforcing and overseeing the affiliate’s obligations under the agreement or contract to
perform services for the insurer that are:

(1) An integral part of the insurer’s operations, including, but not limited to, management,
administrative, accounting, data processing, marketing, underwriting, claims handling and
investment functions and any other similar functions; or

(2) Essential to the insurer’s ability to fulfill its obligations under insurance policies. [PL
2021, c. 521, §22 (NEW).]

B. The superintendent may require that an agreement or contract subject to subsection 9, paragraph
E, subparagraph (4) for the provision of services described in paragraph A, subparagraph (1) or (2)
specify that the affiliate consents to jurisdiction as set forth in this subsection. [PL 2021, c. 521,
§22 (NEW).]

[PL 2021, c. 521, §22 (NEW).]

15. Additional powers. The powers, remedies, procedures and penalties provided in this section
shall be in addition to, and not in limitation of, any other powers, remedies, procedures and penalties
otherwise provided by law.

[PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (NEW).]

16. Separability of provisions. If any provision of this section or the application thereof to any
person or circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity shall not affect other provisions or applications of
this section which can be given effect without the invalid provision or application, and for this purpose
the provisions of this section are separable.

[PL 1975, c. 356, §1 (NEW).]

17. Jurisdiction of courts; service of process. Any person obtaining or attempting to obtain
control of a domestic insurer is subject to the jurisdiction of the courts of this State and to service of
process in the manner provided in this Title. Unless a valid appointment of an agent for service of
process is on file with the superintendent pursuant to another provision of this Title, the person is
deemed to have appointed the superintendent as agent for service of process, and service may be made
in the same manner as provided in section 2105.

[PL 1999, c. 113, §14 (AMD).]

18. Rules. The superintendent may adopt reasonable rules to carry out provisions of this section.
Rules adopted pursuant to this subsection are routine technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375,
subchapter 2-A.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §28 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

19. Supplemental to existing provisions. This section, as to insurance holding company systems,
supplements in particular those provisions contained in sections 407, subsection 2; 410, subsection 1,
paragraph B; 413; 423-C; 425; 1115; 1136; 3414; 3474; 3475; 3476; 3483; 3875 and 4407; and the
provisions of this section are deemed to supersede or modify any such provisions or any other
provisions of this Title to the extent inconsistent therewith.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §29 (AMD); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]
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§223. Conduct of examination; access to records; correction

1. Whenever the superintendent determines to examine the affairs of any person, the
superintendent shall designate one or more examiners and instruct them as to the scope of the
examination. The superintendent may designate a bureau employee or may designate an examiner
outside the bureau who has been retained pursuant to section 208. Examiners may be attorneys,
appraisers, independent actuaries, independent certified public accountants or other professionals and
specialists with skills relevant to the examination. The examiner shall, upon demand, exhibit the
examiner's official credentials to the person under examination.

A. An examiner may not be designated by the superintendent if the examiner directly or indirectly
has a conflict of interest or is affiliated with the management of or owns a pecuniary interest in any
person subject to examination under sections 221 and 222. This section may not be construed to
preclude automatically an examiner from being:

(1) A policyholder or claimant under an insurance policy;

(2) A grantor of a mortgage or similar instrument on the examiner's residence to a regulated
entity if done under customary terms and in the ordinary course of business;

(3) An investment owner in shares of regulated diversified investment companies; or

(4) A settlor or beneficiary of a "blind trust” into which any otherwise impermissible holdings
have been placed. [PL 1991, c. 828, §7 (NEW).]
[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §11 (AMD).]

2. The superintendent shall conduct each examination in an expeditious, fair and impartial manner,
consistent with current guidelines and procedures adopted from time to time by the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners and published in its Financial Condition Examiners

Handbook or Market Regulation Handbook, as applicable, or their successor publications.
[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §12 (AMD).]

3. Upon any such examination, the superintendent, or the examiner if specifically so authorized
in writing by the superintendent, shall have power to administer oaths, and to examine under oath any
individual as to any matter relevant to the affairs under examination or relevant to the examination.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

4. Every person being examined, its officers, attorneys, employees, agents and representatives
shall make freely available to the superintendent or designated examiners the accounts, records,
documents, files, information, assets and matters of that person in that person's possession or control
relating to the subject of the examination and shall facilitate the examination. The refusal of any insurer
to submit to examination is grounds for revocation or refusal of a license or renewal license.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §8 (AMD)]

5. Ifthe superintendent or examiner finds any accounts or records to be inadequate, or inadequately
kept or posted, the superintendent may employ experts to reconstruct, rewrite, post or balance them at
the expense of the person being examined, if such person has failed to maintain, complete or correct
such records or accounting after the superintendent or examiner has given such person written notice
and a reasonable opportunity to do so.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §166 (COR).]

6. Neither the superintendent nor any examiner shall remove any record, account, document, file
or other property of the person being examined from the offices or place of such person, except with
the written consent of such person in advance of such removal or pursuant to an order of court duly
obtained. This provision shall not be deemed to affect the making and removal of copies or abstracts of
any such record, account, document, or file.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD)]
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7. Any individual who refuses without just cause to be examined under oath or who willfully
obstructs or interferes with the examiners in the exercise of their authority pursuant to this section shall,
upon conviction thereof, be subject to a fine of not more than $2,500 or imprisonment for less than a
year, or by both.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 828, §§7,8 (AMD). PL
1993, c. 313, §14 (AMD). PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. B, §§11, 12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §166
(COR).

§224. Appraisal of asset

1. Ifthe superintendent considers it necessary to value any asset involved in such an examination,
the superintendent may appoint one or more competent disinterested persons as appraisers with
authority to appraise the real property of an insurer or any real property on which it holds security.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §9 (AMD).]

2.  Any such appraisal shall be expeditiously made, and a copy thereof furnished to the
superintendent and to the person being examined.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

3. The reasonable expense of the appraisal shall be borne by the person being examined.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 828, §9 (AMD).
§225. Examination report; contents; prima facie evidence in certain proceedings

1. Upon completion of an examination, the examiner in charge shall make a true report thereof
which shall comprise only facts appearing upon the books, records or other documents of the person
examined, or from an appraisal of assets, or as ascertained from the sworn testimony of its officers or
agents or other individuals examined concerning its affairs, and such conclusions and recommendations
as may reasonably be warranted from such facts. The report of examination shall be verified by the

oath of the examiner in charge thereof.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

2. Such a report of examination of an insurer so verified shall be prima facie evidence in any
delinquency proceeding against the insurer, its officers, employees or agents upon the facts stated
therein, and whether or not the report has then been filed in the bureau as provided in section 226.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD)]

3. All working papers, recorded information, documents and copies of any of these media
produced by, obtained by or disclosed to the superintendent or any other person in the course of an
examination made under this chapter are confidential, are not subject to subpoena and may not be made
public by the superintendent or any other person, except to the extent provided in sections 226 and 227.
Access may be granted to the National Association of Insurance Commissioners. Any parties granted
access must agree in writing prior to receiving the information to provide the information with the same
confidential treatment as required by this section unless prior written consent of the insurer to which

the information pertains has been obtained.
[PL 2011, c. 320, Pt. A, §3 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 828, §10 (AMD). PL
2011, c. 320, Pt. A, §3 (AMD).
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§226. Examination reports; distribution, hearing; as evidence

1. Within 60 days after completion of the examination, the superintendent shall deliver a copy of
the verified examination report to the person examined, together with a notice affording that person 20
days or an additional reasonable period as the superintendent for good cause may allow, within which
to review the report and recommend changes to the report.
[PL 1999, c. 113, §15 (AMD).]

2. If requested by the person examined, within the period allowed under subsection 1, or if
determined advisable by the superintendent without such request, the superintendent shall hold a
hearing relative to the report and may not file the report in the bureau until after the hearing and the
superintendent's order on the report; except that the superintendent may furnish a copy of the report to
the Governor, Attorney General or Treasurer of State pending final decision and, if the copies are so
furnished, they are confidential until the other requirements of this section with regard to examination
reports have been satisfied. In lieu of convening a hearing, the superintendent may reopen the
examination or, if supported by the information obtained, may adopt some or all of the modifications
proposed by the person examined.

[PL 2011, c. 320, Pt. A, §4 (AMD).]

3. Ifno such hearing has been requested or held, the examination report, with such modifications,
if any, thereof as the superintendent deems proper, shall be accepted by the superintendent and filed in
the bureau upon expiration of the review period provided for in subsection 1. The report shall in any
event be so accepted and filed within 6 months after final hearing thereon.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD)]

4. The superintendent shall forward to the person examined a copy of the examination report as
filed, together with any recommendations or statements relating thereto that the superintendent
considers proper.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §167 (COR).]

5. If the report is as to examination of a domestic insurer, a copy of the report, or a summary
thereof approved by the superintendent, when filed in the bureau, together with the recommendations
or statements of the superintendent or the superintendent's examiner, must be presented by the insurer's
chief executive officer to the insurer's board of directors or similar governing body at a meeting thereof
that must be held within 30 days next following receipt of the report in final form by the insurer. A
copy of the report must also be furnished by the secretary of the insurer, if incorporated, or by the
attorney-in-fact, if a reciprocal insurer, to each member of the insurer's board of directors or board of
governors, if a reciprocal insurer, and the certificate of the secretary or attorney-in-fact that a copy of
the examination report has been so furnished must be deemed to constitute knowledge of the contents

of the report by each such member.
[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §168 (COR).]

6. The report when so filed in the bureau is admissible in evidence in any action or proceeding
brought by the superintendent against the person examined, or against its officers, employees or agents.
In any such action or proceeding, the superintendent or the superintendent's examiners may at any time
testify and offer proper evidence as to information secured or matters discovered during the course of
an examination, whether or not a written report of the examination has been either made, furnished or
filed in the bureau.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §169 (COR).]

7. The Maine Insurance Code does not prevent and may not be construed to prohibit the
superintendent from disclosing the content of an examination report, preliminary examination report or
the results, or any matter related to a report or results, to the Bureau of Insurance of this State or the
insurance department of any other state or country, or to law enforcement officials of this State, any
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other state agency or the federal government at any time. Any such disclosure must be subject to a
protective order of confidentiality issued by the superintendent.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §11 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 425, §1 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1991,
c. 828, §11 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 113, §15 (AMD). PL 2011, c. 320, Pt. A, §4 (AMD). RR 2021,
c. 1, Pt. B, §§167-169 (COR).

§227. Examination report

The report of examination of those persons, partnerships, corporations or other business
associations that are subject to examination by the superintendent as provided for in sections 221 and
222 must, upon satisfaction of the requirements of section 226 and so long as no court of competent
jurisdiction has stayed its publication, be filed in the bureau as a public record, except that any
information relating to an individual insured or individual applicant for insurance is confidential. [PL

2011, c. 320, Pt. A, §5 (AMD).]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 425, §2 (RPR). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1991,
c. 828, §12 (AMD). PL 2011, c. 320, Pt. A, §5 (AMD).

§228. Examination expense

1. The expense of examination of an insurer or of any person regulated under section 222, must
be borne by the person examined. Such expense may include only the reasonable and proper hotel and
travel expenses of the superintendent and the superintendent's examiners and assistants, including
expert assistance, and examiners furnished for the purpose by other states in which the insurer is
authorized to transact insurance, reasonable compensation as to such examiners and assistants and
incidental expenses as necessarily incurred in the examination. As to expense and compensation,
involved in any such examination the superintendent may give due consideration to scales and
limitations recommended by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners and outlined in the
examination manual sponsored by that association.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §170 (COR).]

2. Such person examined shall promptly pay to the superintendent the expenses of the examination
upon presentation by the superintendent of a reasonably detailed written statement thereof. Any insurer
with total admitted assets as of the end of the preceding calendar year of $50,000,000 or greater must
comply with this section in satisfaction of the examination assessment.

[PL 1997, c. 660, Pt. B, §1 (AMD).]

3. Except that in lieu of payment of examination expense as above required, a domestic insurer
with total admitted assets of less than $50,000,000 has the right, at its option, of making an annual
payment to the superintendent of an examination expense allotment in an amount equal to .001 of its
total admitted assets as of the end of the preceding calendar year, which must be made on March 1st
with the filing of the insurer's annual statement with the superintendent; or, if the insurer's admitted
assets exceed $10,000,000, but do not exceed $50,000,000, the insurer has the right, at its further option,
to pay to the superintendent with respect to any examination the lesser of:

A. The expense of the examination as determined pursuant to subsections 1 and 2 above; or [PL
1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

B. An annual amount equal to .001 of the first $10,000,000 of the insurer's admitted assets plus
.0002 of the remainder of such assets, limited, however, to insurers whose admitted assets do not
exceed $25,000,000 as such assets are shown by the insurer's financial statement filed with the
superintendent for the year-end next preceding the commencement of the examination, such

Generated
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payment to be made on March Ist with the filing of the insurer's annual statement with the
superintendent; or [PL 1997, c. 660, Pt. B, §2 (AMD).]

C. If the admitted assets of the insurer exceed $25,000,000, but do not exceed $50,000,000, an
annual payment of an examination expense allotment of an amount equal to .001 of the first
$10,000,000 of the insurer's admitted assets, plus .0002 of the next $15,000,000 of such assets, plus
.000175 of the remainder of such assets as are shown by the insurer's financial statement filed with
the superintendent for the preceding calendar year. The payment must be made on March 1st with
the filing of the insurer's annual statement with the superintendent. [PL 1997, c. 660, Pt. B, §2
(AMD).]
[PL 1997, c. 660, Pt. B, §2 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §3 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 394 (AMD). PL 1973, c.
585, §12 (AMD). PL 1975, c. 356, §2 (AMD). PL 1975, c. 467 (AMD). PL 1997, c. 660, §§B1,2
(AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §170 (COR).

§229. Administrative procedures; hearings in general

1. The superintendent may hold a hearing without request of others for any purpose within the
scope of this Title.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

2. The superintendent shall hold a hearing:
A. If required by any provision of this Title, or [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

B. Upon written application for a hearing by a person aggrieved by any act or impending act, or
by any report or order of the superintendent, other than an order for the holding of a hearing, or
order on a hearing, or pursuant to such order, of which hearing such person had notice. [PL 1987,
c. 220, §1 (AMD).]

[PL 1987, c. 220, §1 (AMD).]

3. Any such application must be filed with the superintendent within 30 days after such person
knew or reasonably should have known of such act, impending act, failure, report or order, unless a
different period is provided for by other applicable law, and in which case such other law shall govern.
The application shall briefly state the respects in which the applicant is so aggrieved, together with the
ground to be relied upon for the relief to be demanded at the hearing. The superintendent may require
that the application be signed and sworn to.

[PL 1987, c. 220, §2 (AMD).]

4. If the superintendent finds that the application is timely and made in good faith, that the
applicant would be so aggrieved if the applicant's grounds are established and that such grounds
otherwise justify the hearing, the superintendent shall hold the hearing within 30 days after filing of the
application, or within 30 days after the application has been sworn to, whichever is the later date, unless
in either case the hearing is postponed by mutual consent. The hearing must be held in conformity with
the provisions contained in the Maine Administrative Procedure Act.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §171 (COR).]

5. Failure to hold the hearing upon application therefor of a person entitled thereto as provided
shall constitute a denial of the relief sought, and shall be the equivalent of a final order of the
superintendent on hearing for the purpose of an appeal under section 236.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

6. Pending the hearing and decision thereon, the superintendent may suspend or postpone the
effective date of the superintendent's previous action.
[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §172 (COR).]
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SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1977, c. 694, §389 (AMD). PL
1987, c. 220, §§1,2 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §§171, 172 (COR).

§230. Notice of hearing

1. Notice of hearing shall be given in conformity with the Maine Administrative Procedure Act,
Title 5, chapter 375.
[PL 1981, c. 501, §38 (RPR).]

2. Except when a different period is expressly provided by the Maine Administrative Procedure
Act, Title 5, chapter 375, or by this Title, the superintendent shall give written notice of hearing not
less than 14 days in advance. Notice of hearing may be waived and the hearing held at a time mutually
fixed by the superintendent and the parties.

[PL 1981, c. 501, §38 (RPR).]

3.
[PL 1981, c. 501, §38 (RP).]

4.
[PL 1981, c. 501, §38 (RP).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1977, c. 694, §§390-392 (AMD).
PL 1981, c. 501, §38 (RPR).

§231. Conduct of hearing

1. The superintendent may hold a hearing in Augusta or any other place of convenience to parties
and witnesses, as the superintendent determines. The superintendent or the superintendent's designee
shall preside at the hearing and shall expedite the hearing and all procedures involved therein.
Adjudicatory hearings shall be governed by the Maine Administrative Procedure Act, Title 5, chapter
375, subchapter 1V.

[PL 1989, c. 269, §6 (AMD).]

2.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §6 (RP).]

3.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §6 (RP).]

4.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §6 (RP).]

5. The hearing shall be public, unless the superintendent or hearing officer determines that a
private hearing would be in the public interest, in which case the hearing shall be private, subject to
Title 1, section 405, subsection 6.

[PL 1989, c. 269, §6 (AMD).]

6.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §6 (RP).]

7. The validity of any hearing held in accordance with the notice thereof, or waiver of notice, shall
not be affected by the failure of any person to attend or remain in attendance.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1977, c. 694, §§393-395 (AMD).
PL 1989, c. 269, §6 (AMD).
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§232. Witnesses and documentary evidence

1. As to the subject of any examination, investigation or hearing being conducted by the
superintendent, the superintendent may subpoena witnesses and administer oaths or affirmations and
examine any individual under oath, or take depositions; and by subpoena duces tecum may require the
production of documentary and other evidence. Any delegation by the superintendent of power of
subpoena shall be in writing. The procedures of Title 5, section 9060, subsection 1, shall also apply to

the issuance of subpoenas.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §7 (AMD).]

2. Every person subpoenaed to appear at any such hearing, examination or investigation shall obey
the subpoena, testify truthfully, behave with decorum and in no way obstruct the proceeding or purpose
thereof.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §173 (COR).]

3. Witnesses shall be entitled to the same fees and allowances as witnesses in Superior Court;
except that no insurer, agent, broker or other person subject to this Title who is a subject of such
proceeding, and no officer, director or employee of any of the foregoing, shall be entitled to witness or
mileage fees. No person shall be excused from attending and testifying in obedience to a subpoena on
the ground that the proper witness fee was not tendered or paid, unless the witness shall have demanded
such payment as a condition precedent to attending the hearing, examination or investigation and unless
such demand shall not have been complied with.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

4. Any individual knowingly testifying falsely under oath or making a false affirmation, as to any
matter material to any such examination, investigation or hearing, shall upon conviction thereof be
guilty of perjury.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 269, §7 (AMD). RR
2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §173 (COR).

§233. Witnesses; disciplinary proceedings

1. If any individual without reasonable cause fails to appear when summoned as a witness, or
refuses to answer a lawful and pertinent question, or refuses to produce documentary evidence when
directed to do so by the superintendent, or behaves in a disrespectful or disorderly manner at the inquiry,
or obstructs the proceedings by any means, whether or not in the presence of the superintendent or the
superintendent's designee, the individual is guilty of contempt and may be dealt with as provided in
subsection 2.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §174 (COR).]

2. The superintendent or the superintendent's designee, as the case may be, may file a complaint
in the Superior Court, setting forth under oath the facts constituting the contempt and requesting an
order returnable in not less than 2 nor more than 5 days, directing the alleged contemner to show cause
before the court why the alleged contemner should not be punished for contempt. Upon the return of
such order, the court shall examine the alleged contemner under oath and the alleged contemner has an
opportunity to be heard. If the court determines that the respondent has committed any alleged
contempt, the court shall punish the offender as if the contempt had occurred in an action arising in or
pending in such court.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §174 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §174 (COR).
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§234. Witnesses; immunity from prosecution

If any individual asks to be excused from testifying or from producing evidence of any kind in
connection with any examination, hearing or investigation being conducted by the superintendent on
the ground that the testimony or evidence required of that individual may tend to incriminate the
individual or subject the individual to a penalty or forfeiture, and the Attorney General directs that
individual to give testimony or produce evidence, the individual must comply with the directive. No
testimony or other evidence so compelled, or any information directly or indirectly derived from that
testimony or other evidence, may be used against the offering individual in any criminal, juvenile or
civil violation proceeding, except that the testimony or other evidence may be used in a prosecution for
perjury, false swearing, contempt or otherwise failing to comply with the directive to testify or produce
evidence, or in a proceeding in which the individual has waived the immunity or privilege. [PL 1989,
c. 269, §8 (NEW).]

1.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §8 (RP).]

2.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §8 (RP).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 269, §8 (RPR).
§235. Order on hearing

1. In the conduct of hearings under this Title and making the superintendent's order thereon, the
superintendent shall act in a quasi-judicial capacity.
[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §175 (COR).]

2. Within 30 days after termination of a hearing, or of any rehearing thereof or reargument thereon,
or within such other period as may be specified in this Title as to particular proceedings, or within such
further reasonable period as the superintendent for good cause may require, the superintendent shall
make the superintendent's order on hearing covering matters involved in such hearing, and give a copy
of the order to each party to the hearing in the same manner as notice of the hearing was given to such
party; except that as to hearings held with respect to merger, consolidation, bulk reinsurance,
conversion, affiliation or change of control of a domestic insurer as provided in chapter 47 when notice
of the hearing was given to all stockholders and policyholders of an insurer involved, the superintendent
is required to give a copy of the order on hearing to the corporation and insurer parties, to intervening
parties, to a reasonable number of such stockholders or policyholders as representative of the class, and
to other parties only upon written request of such parties.

[RR 2021, c. 2, Pt. A, §66 (COR).]

3. The order must contain:

A. A concise statement of facts found by the superintendent upon the evidence adduced at the
hearing; [PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

B. A concise statement of the superintendent's conclusions from the facts so found; [PL 1973, c.
585, §12 (AMD).]

C. The superintendent's order, and the effective date of the order; [RR 2009, c. 2, §64 (COR).]
D. Citation of the provisions of this Title upon which the order is based; but failure to so designate

a particular provision does not deprive the superintendent of the right thereafter to rely thereon; and
[RR 2009, c. 2, §64 (COR).]

Generated
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E. Notice of the party's right to appeal or review of the order, of the action required for appeal and
of the time within which the action must be taken in order to exercise the right. [RR 2009, c. 2,
§64 (COR).]

[RR 2009, c. 2, §64 (COR).]

4. The order may affirm, modify or rescind action theretofore taken or may constitute taking of
new action within the scope of the notice of the hearing.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1977, c. 694, §396 (AMD). RR
2009, c. 2, §64 (COR). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §§175, 176 (COR). RR 2021, c. 2, Pt. A, §66
(COR).

§236. Appeal from the superintendent

1. In general, judicial review of actions taken by the superintendent or the superintendent's
representatives must occur in conformity with the provisions set forth in the Maine Administrative
Procedure Act, Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 7.

[RR 2009, c. 2, §65 (COR).]

2. An appeal from the superintendent shall be taken only from an order on hearing, or as to a
matter on which the superintendent has failed to hold a hearing after application thereof under section
229, or regarding a matter as to which the superintendent has failed to issue an order after hearing as
required by section 235.

[PL 1977, c. 694, §397 (RPR).]

3. Any person who was a party to the hearing may appeal from an order of the superintendent
within 30 days after receipt of notice. Any person not a party to the hearing whose interests are
substantially and directly affected and who is aggrieved by an order of the superintendent may appeal
within 40 days from the date the decision was rendered. If the appeal is taken from the superintendent's
failure or refusal to act, the petition for review shall be filed within 6 months of the expiration of the

time within which the action should reasonably have occurred.
[PL 1977, c. 694, §397 (RPR).]

4.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §9 (RP).]

5.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §9 (RP).]

6.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §9 (RP).]

7.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §9 (RP).]

8.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §9 (RP).]

9.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §9 (RP).]

10.
[PL 1989, c. 269, §9 (RP).]

SECTION HISTORY
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PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §4 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1977,
c. 694, §397 (RPR). PL 1989, c. 269, §§9,10 (AMD). RR 2009, c. 2, §65 (COR).

§237. Assessment for expense of maintaining the Bureau of Insurance

The expense of maintaining the Bureau of Insurance must be assessed annually by the
Superintendent of Insurance against all insurers and health maintenance organizations licensed to do
business in this State in proportion to their respective direct gross premium written on business in this
State during the year ending December 31st immediately preceding the fiscal year for which assessment
is made. The annual assessment upon all insurers must be applied to the budget of the bureau for the
fiscal year commencing July 1st. For any biennial period, total assessment must be in an amount not
exceeding .002 of total direct premiums written. When the superintendent calculates the amount of the
annual assessment, the superintendent must consider, among other factors, the staffing level required
to administer the responsibilities of the bureau. [PL 1997, c. 79, §2 (AMD).]

1. Expense of examination. The expense of examination of an insurer or of any person regulated
by section 222 continues to be borne by the person examined. The expense of examination consistent
with section 228 may not be considered when determining the assessment for maintaining the Bureau
of Insurance.

[PL 1997, c. 79, §2 (AMD)]

2. Direct gross premium. Based on the annual statement filed by each insurer pursuant to section
423 or health maintenance organization pursuant to section 4208, the superintendent shall ascertain the
amount of direct gross premium it received in that year. For the purpose of this section only, "direct
gross premiums" means and includes policy, membership, annuity considerations and other fees, policy
dividends applied in payment for insurance and other considerations for insurance received by insurers
or health maintenance organizations, on account of policies or contracts covering subjects of insurance,
or risks located, resident or to be performed in this State, after deducting return premiums or dividends
actually returned or credited to policyholders.

[PL 1997, c. 79, §2 (AMD).]

3. Minimum assessment. In any year in which an insurer or health maintenance organization has
no direct gross premium writings in this State, or in which direct gross premium written is not sufficient
to produce at the rate prescribed an amount equal to or in excess of $100, the minimum assessment
payable by any insurer or health maintenance organization is $100.

[PL 1997, c. 79, §2 (AMD).]

4. Notification of assessment. On or before July 1st of each year, the superintendent shall forward
to each insurer or health maintenance organization an itemized bill of the amount due for the annual
assessment, the amount due for filing of the annual statement pursuant to sections 423 and 601 and the
amount due for the certificate of authority annual continuation fee pursuant to section 601. When an
extension of the time of filing an annual statement is granted for good cause by the superintendent
pursuant to section 423, subsection 1, or section 4208, the insurer or health maintenance organization
must be assessed a provisional amount of $100. Upon receipt of the insurer's or health maintenance
organization's annual statement, the provisional assessment must be adjusted to effect a final
assessment for the fiscal year at the same rate utilized by the superintendent and levied upon all insurers
by the general assessment of July Ist.

[PL 1997, c. 79, §2 (AMD).]

5. Time of payment. Time of payment for the annual assessment, the annual statement filing fee
and the annual continuation fee must be made on or before August 10th.
[PL 1995, c. 544, §1 (AMD).]

6. Revocation or suspension. If the annual assessment, annual statement filing fee or annual
continuation fee is not paid to the superintendent on or before the prescribed date, the license or
certificate of authority of an insurer or health maintenance organization to transact business in this State
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may be revoked or suspended by the superintendent after a hearing or upon waiver of hearing by the
insurer or health maintenance organization until the annual assessment, annual statement filing fee and
annual continuation fee is paid. A reinstatement of certificate of authority may not be made prior to
payment of the balance of the annual assessment, annual statement filing fee or continuation fee.

[PL 1997, c. 79, §2 (AMD)]

7. Recalculation of assessment. Immediately following the close of the fiscal year ending June
30, 1987, and at the close of each 2nd succeeding fiscal year, the superintendent shall recalculate the
assessment made against each party assessed after giving recognition to actual expenditures of the
bureau during the preceding biennial period. On or before October 1st, the superintendent shall render
to each party assessed a statement showing the difference between their respective recalculated
assessment and the amount they had paid with respect to the preceding biennium. Any overpayment
of annual assessment resulting from complying with the requirements of this section must be refunded
or, at the option of the assessed party, applied as a credit against the assessment for the succeeding
fiscal year. Any overpayment of $100 or less must be applied as a credit against the assessment for the
succeeding fiscal year.
[PL 1997, c. 79, §2 (AMD).]

8. Deposit with Treasurer of State. The superintendent shall deposit all payments made pursuant
to this section with the Treasurer of State. The money must be used for the sole purpose of paying the

expenses of the Bureau of Insurance.
[PL 1997, c. 79, §2 (AMD).]

9. Exclusions. This section does not apply to fraternal benefit societies, as defined in section 4101;
assessment mutual insurance companies, as defined in section 3603; and joint underwriting
associations, subject to section 2322-A.

[RR 2021, c. 2, Pt. A, §67 (COR).]

10. Applicability. This section applies with respect to insurers for fiscal years commencing on or
after July 1, 1986 and to health maintenance organizations for fiscal years commencing on or after July
1, 1997.

[PL 1997, c. 79, §2 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1985, c. 446, §2 (NEW). PL 1991, c. 334, §§3,4 (AMD). PL 1993, c. 313, §15 (AMD). PL
1995, c. 544, §§1,2 (AMD). PL 1997, c. 79, §2 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 2, Pt. A, §67 (COR).

CHAPTER 5
AUTHORIZATION OF INSURERS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS
SUBCHAPTER 1
AUTHORIZATION OF INSURERS AND GENERAL REQUIREMENTS

§400. "Stock" insurer defined

A "stock" insurer is an incorporated insurer with its capital divided into shares and owned by its
stockholders. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§401. "Mutual" insurer defined
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A "mutual" insurer is an incorporated insurer without permanent capital stock, and the governing
body of which is elected by its policyholders or those policyholders specified in its charter, or by any
reasonable combination of its policyholders, guaranty fund stockholders, or guaranty fund certificate
holders, or by other reasonable method. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§402. "Reciprocal"; "Lloyd's" insurer defined

1. Reciprocal insurer. A "reciprocal" insurer is an unincorporated aggregation of subscribers
operating individually and collectively through an attorney-in-fact common to all such persons to
provide reciprocal insurance among themselves. Any public self-funded pool operating under Title 30,
chapter 203-B is not an insurance company or insurer under the laws of this State. The development,
administration and provision of a public self-funded pool's programs and coverages do not constitute
doing an insurance business.

[PL 1985, c. 713, §4 (AMD).]

2. Lloyd's insurer. A "Lloyd's" insurer is an unincorporated but formally organized association
of individual underwriters, any one or more of whom underwrite and thereby assume as insurer such
portion of the risk insured by them as shall be set forth in the contract of insurance issued by such an
insurer.

[PL 1969, c. 177, §5 (RPR).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §5 (RPR). PL 1985, c. 713, §4 (AMD).
§403. "Charter" defined

Except where context requires otherwise, "charter" means certificate of organization, certificate of
incorporation, articles of incorporation, articles of agreement, articles of association, corporate charter
granted by legislative act, or other basic constituent document of a corporation, or of a Lloyd's insurer,
or the power of attorney of the attorney-in-fact of a reciprocal insurer. [PL 1969, c. 177, §6 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §6 (AMD).
§404. Certificate of authority required; enforcement; penalty

1. No person shall act as an insurer and no insurer shall transact insurance in this State by mail or
otherwise, unless as authorized by a certificate of authority issued by the superintendent pursuant to
this Title and then in full force and effect, except as to such transactions as are expressly otherwise
provided in this Title.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

2. No insurer formed under the laws of this State, and no foreign insurer from offices or by
personnel or facilities located in this State, shall solicit insurance applications or otherwise transact
insurance in another state or country unless it holds a subsisting certificate of authority granted to it by

the superintendent authorizing it to transact the same kind or kinds of insurance in this State.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

3. The superintendent shall enforce this section through any and all available and lawful means,
including, but not limited to, the enjoining of any violation or threatened violation.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD)]

4. Any insurer and any officer, director, agent, representative or employee of any insurer, who
willfully authorizes, negotiates, makes or issues any insurance contract in violation of this section, is
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upon conviction thereof subject to a fine not to exceed $5,000 or imprisonment for not over 2 years, or
to both.
[RR 2013, c. 2, §36 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2013, c. 2, §36 (COR).
§405. Exceptions to certificate of authority requirement

A certificate of authority shall not be required of an insurer with respect to any of the following:
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

1. Investigation, settlement or litigation of claims under its policies lawfully written in this State,
or liquidation of assets and liabilities of the insurer, other than collection of new premiums, all as
resulting from its former authorized operations in this State;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW)]

2. Except as provided in section 404, subsection 2, transactions thereunder subsequent to issuance
of a policy covering only subjects of insurance not resident, located or expressly to be performed in this
State at time of issuance, and lawfully solicited, written and delivered outside this State;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

3. Transactions pursuant to surplus lines coverages lawfully written under chapter 19;
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

4. Reinsurance, except as to domestic reinsurers;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

5. Transactions relative to its investments in this State;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

6. Any suit or action by the duly constituted receiver, rehabilitator or liquidator of the insurer, or
of the insurer's assignee or successor, under laws similar to those contained in chapter 57; or

[PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §1 (AMD).]

7. Transactions pursuant to individual health insurance covering residents of this State written by
a regional insurer or health maintenance organization, as defined in section 405-A, duly authorized or
qualified to transact individual health insurance in the state or country of its domicile if the
superintendent certifies that the regional insurer or health maintenance organization meets the
requirements of section 405-A.
[PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §§1, 2 (AMD).

§405-A. Certification of regional insurers or health maintenance organizations to transact
individual health insurance

1. Regional insurer or health maintenance organization defined. As used in this section,
"regional insurer or health maintenance organization" means an insurer or health maintenance
organization that holds a valid certificate of authority to transact individual health insurance in

Connecticut, Massachusetts, New Hampshire, Rhode Island or Vermont.
[PL 2013, c. 388, Pt. B, §1 (AMD).]

2. Certification of regional insurers or health maintenance organizations. A regional insurer
or health maintenance organization may not transact individual health insurance in this State by mail,
the Internet or otherwise unless the superintendent has issued a certification that the regional insurer or
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health maintenance organization has met the requirements of this subsection. The superintendent shall
issue a certification or deny certification within 30 days of a request.

A. A policy, contract or certificate of individual health insurance offered for sale in this State by a
regional insurer or health maintenance organization must comply with the applicable individual

health insurance laws in the state of domicile of that regional insurer and must be actively marketed
in that state. [PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

B. A regional insurer or health maintenance organization shall meet the requirements of section
4302 for reporting plan information with respect to individual health plans offered for sale in this
State and disclose to prospective enrollees how the health plans differ from individual health plans
offered by domestic insurers in a format approved by the superintendent. Health plan policies and
applications for coverage must contain the following disclosure statement or a substantially similar
statement on the face page of the policy or application in a type size of at least 14 points and font
that is easily readable by a person with average eyesight: "This policy is issued by a regional
insurer or health maintenance organization and is governed by the laws and rules of (regional
insurer's or health maintenance organization's state of domicile). This policy may not be subject to
all the insurance laws and rules of the State of Maine, including coverage of certain health care
services or benefits mandated by Maine law. Before purchasing this policy, you should carefully
review the terms and conditions of coverage under this policy, including any exclusions or
limitations of coverage." [PL 2013, c. 388, Pt. B, §2 (AMD).]

C. A regional insurer or health maintenance organization shall meet the requirements of section
4303, subsection 4 for grievance procedures with respect to health plans offered for sale in this

State. [PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

D. A regional insurer or health maintenance organization shall meet the requirements of chapter
56-A for provider network adequacy with respect to health plans offered for sale in this State. [PL
2011, ¢. 90, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

E. A regional insurer or health maintenance organization shall meet the requirements of chapter
33 with respect to rates for individual health plans offered for sale in this State. [PL 2011, c. 90,
Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

F. A regional insurer or health maintenance organization shall designate an agent for receiving
service of legal documents or process in the manner provided in this Title. [PL 2011, c. 90, Pt.
C, §3 (NEW).]

G. A regional insurer or health maintenance organization shall meet the requirements of this Title
with respect to allowing the superintendent access to records of the regional insurer or health
maintenance organization. [PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

[PL 2013, c. 388, Pt. B, §2 (AMD).]

3. Unfair trade practices. The provisions of chapter 23 apply to a regional insurer or health
maintenance organization permitted to transact individual health insurance under this section or section
405.

[PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

4. Taxes; assessments. A regional insurer or health maintenance organization transacting
individual health insurance in this State under this section is subject to applicable taxes or assessments
imposed on insurers transacting individual health insurance in this State pursuant to this Title and Title
36.

[PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

5. Compliance with court orders. A regional insurer or health maintenance organization
transacting individual health insurance in this State under this section shall comply with lawful orders
from courts of competent jurisdiction issued in a voluntary dissolution proceeding or in response to a
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petition for an injunction by the superintendent asserting that the regional insurer or health maintenance
organization is in a hazardous financial condition.
[PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

6. Exemption from other requirements. Except as expressly provided in this section, the
requirements of this Title do not apply to a regional insurer or health maintenance organization
permitted to transact individual health insurance under this section.

[PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

7. Agreement with insurance regulators in other state. The superintendent shall enter into a
memorandum of understanding or other agreement with the insurance department of the state of
domicile of a regional insurer or health maintenance organization permitted to transact individual health
insurance in this State under this section with respect to enforcement of the provisions of this section.
[PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

8. Sale of policies. An individual health insurance policy, contract or certificate may not be offered
for sale in this State pursuant to this section before January 1, 2014,
[PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §3 (NEW). PL 2013, c. 388, Pt. B, §§1, 2 (AMD).

§405-B. Domestic insurers or licensed health maintenance organization; individual health
insurance approved in other states

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Title, a domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance
organization authorized to transact individual health insurance in this State may offer for sale in this
State an individual health plan duly authorized for sale in Connecticut, Massachusetts, New Hampshire,
Rhode Island or Vermont by a parent or corporate affiliate of the domestic insurer or licensed health
maintenance organization if the following requirements are met. [PL 2013, c. 388, Pt. B, §3 (AMD).]

1. Certificate of authority from state of domicile. The parent or corporate affiliate of the
domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance organization must hold a valid certificate of authority

to transact individual health insurance in the state of domicile of the parent or corporate affiliate.
[PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §4 (NEW).]

2. Compliance with laws of state of domicile. A policy, contract or certificate of individual
health insurance offered for sale in this State by the domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance
organization must comply with the applicable individual health insurance laws in the state of domicile
of the parent or corporate affiliate and must be actively marketed in that state.

[PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §4 (NEW).]

3. Disclosure and reporting. The domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance organization
shall meet the requirements of section 4302 for reporting plan information with respect to individual
health plans offered for sale in this State and disclose to prospective enrollees how the individual health
plans of the parent or corporate affiliate differ from individual health plans offered by other domestic
insurers or licensed health maintenance organizations in a format approved by the superintendent.
Health plan policies and applications for coverage must contain the following disclosure statement or
a substantially similar statement on the face page of the policy or application in a type size of at least
14 points and font that is easily readable by a person with average eyesight: "This policy is issued by
a domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance organization but is governed by the laws and rules
of (state of domicile of parent or corporate affiliate of domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance
organization), which is the state of domicile of the parent or corporate affiliate of the domestic insurer
or licensed health maintenance organization. This policy may not be subject to all the insurance laws
and rules of the State of Maine, including coverage of certain health care services or benefits mandated
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by Maine law. Before purchasing this policy, you should carefully review the terms and conditions of
coverage under this policy, including any exclusions or limitations of coverage."
[PL 2013, c. 388, Pt. B, §4 (AMD).]

4. Grievance procedures. The domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance organization shall
meet the requirements of section 4303, subsection 4 for grievance procedures with respect to health
plans offered for sale in this State.

[PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §4 (NEW).]

5. Sale of policies. A domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance organization may not offer
an individual health plan for sale in this State pursuant to this section before January 1, 2014.
[PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §4 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §4 (NEW). PL 2013, c. 388, Pt. B, §§3, 4 (AMD).

§405-C. Domestic insurers or licensed health maintenance organizations; parity with regional
insurers

Notwithstanding any other provision of this Title, a domestic insurer or licensed health maintenance
organization authorized to transact individual health insurance in this State may offer for sale in this
State an individual health plan equivalent to any plan offered for sale in this State by a regional insurer
or health maintenance organization pursuant to section 405-A. An individual health plan may not be
offered for sale pursuant to this section before January 1, 2014. [PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §5 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. C, §5 (NEW).
§406. General eligibility for certificate of authority

To qualify for and hold authority to transact insurance in this State, an insurer must be otherwise
in compliance with this Title and with its charter powers, and must be an incorporated stock or mutual
insurer, or a reciprocal or Lloyd's insurer; of the same general type as may be formed as a domestic
insurer under this Title; except that: [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

1. No foreign insurer shall be authorized to transact insurance in this State unless as to insurance
written in this State it maintains reserve as required by chapter 11 (assets and liabilities); or which, if
other than a property or casualty insurer, transacts business anywhere in the United States on the
assessment plan, or stipulated premium plan, or any similar plan;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

2. No insurer shall be authorized to transact a kind of insurance in this State unless duly authorized
or qualified to transact such insurance in the state or country of its domicile;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

3. No insurer shall be authorized to transact in this State any kind of insurance which is not within
the definitions as set forth in chapter 9 (kinds of insurance);

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

4. No such authority shall be granted or continued as to any insurer while in arrears to the State
for fees, licenses, taxes, assessments, fines or penalties accrued on business previously transacted in
this State;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

5. A Lloyd's insurer shall be treated as a stock insurer for the purposes of this Title, with net assets
over all liabilities to be not less than the capital funds required of a foreign stock insurer transacting the
same kinds of insurance.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW)]
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SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§407. Same; ownership, management

1. No foreign insurer which is directly or indirectly owned or controlled in whole or substantial
part by any government or governmental agency, other than of the Government of the United States of
America, shall be authorized to transact insurance in Maine. Membership in a mutual insurer, or
subscribership in a reciprocal insurer, or ownership of stock of an insurer by the alien property custodian
or similar official of the United States, or ownership of stock or other security which does not have
voting rights with respect to the management of the insurer, or supervision of an insurer by public
authority, shall not be deemed to be an ownership or control of the insurer for the purposes of this
provision.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

2. The superintendent may not grant or continue authority to transact insurance in this State as to
any insurer or proposed insurer, any director, officer or other individual materially part of the
management of which is found by the superintendent after investigation or upon reliable information
to be incompetent, or dishonest, or untrustworthy, or of unfavorable business repute, or the managers
of which are so lacking in insurance company managerial experience in operations of the kind proposed
in this State as to make such operation, currently or prospectively, hazardous to, or contrary to the best
interests of, the insurance-buying or investing public of this State; or which the superintendent has good
reason to believe is affiliated directly or indirectly through ownership, control, management,
reinsurance transactions or other business relations, with any person or persons of unfavorable business
repute, or whose business operations in this State or elsewhere are or have been marked, to the injury
of insurers, stockholders, policyholders, creditors or the public, by illegality, or by manipulation of
assets, or of accounts, or of reinsurance or by bad faith.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §177 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §177 (COR).
§408. Name of insurer

1. No insurer shall be formed or authorized to transact insurance in this State which has or uses a

name which is the same as or deceptively similar to that of another insurer already so authorized.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

2. No life insurer shall be so authorized which has or uses a name deceptively similar to that of
another insurer, other than a predecessor in interest, authorized to transact insurance in this State within
the preceding 10 years, if life insurance policies originally issued by such other insurer are still
outstanding in this State.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

3. No insurer shall be formed or authorized to transact insurance which has or uses a name the
same as or deceptively similar to that of any foreign insurer not so authorized if such foreign insurer
has within the next preceding 12 months signified its intention to secure an incorporation in this State
under such name, or to do business as a foreign insurer in this State under such name, by filing notice
of such intention with the superintendent, unless the written consent to the use of such name or
deceptively similar name has been given by such foreign insurer.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

4. No insurer shall be so authorized which has or uses a name which tends to deceive or mislead

as to the type of organization of the insurer.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

0.30.2023 Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE | 63



MRS Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE

5. In case of conflict of names between 2 insurers, or a conflict otherwise prohibited under this
section, the superintendent may permit, or shall require as a condition to the issuance of an original
certificate of authority to an applicant insurer, the insurer to use in this State such supplementation or
modification of its name or such business name as may reasonably be necessary to avoid the conflict.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD)]

6. Except as provided in subsection 5, an insurer shall conduct its business in this State in its own
corporate, if incorporated, or proper, if a reciprocal, name.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).
§409. Insurance lines combinations

An insurer may be authorized to transact such kinds of insurance as it is qualified for under this
Title, except that a reciprocal insurer may not transact life insurance. Qualified insurers may transact
combinations of business as follows. [PL 1991, c. 385, §1 (AMD).]

1. Multiple lines insurer. A multiple lines insurer is authorized to transact more than one kind of
coverage if all kinds of coverage fall within the categories listed in sections 704 to 708.
[PL 1991, c. 385, §1 (NEW).]

2. All lines insurer. An all lines insurer is authorized to transact life insurance and one or more
of the kinds of coverage, other than health insurance, that may be transacted by a multiple lines insurer.
[PL 1991, c. 385, §1 (NEW).]

3. Life or health insurer. A life or health insurer is authorized to transact life insurance, life and
annuity insurance or health insurance as defined in sections 702 to 704-A. A life insurer, health insurer
or a life and health insurer does not become an all lines insurer merely by transacting specific lines of
casualty insurance that life or health insurers are expressly authorized by law to transact.

[PL 2007, c. 199, Pt. E, §1 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1991, c. 385, §1 (AMD). PL 2007, c. 199, Pt. E, §1 (AMD).
§410. Minimum paid-in capital and surplus requirements

1. To qualify for authority to transact any one kind of insurance, as defined in chapter 9, or
combination of kinds of insurance as shown below, an insurer must possess and thereafter maintain
unimpaired paid-in capital stock, if a stock insurer, or unimpaired basic surplus, if a foreign mutual or
a reciprocal insurer, and when first so authorized must possess initial free surplus, all in amounts not
less than as determined from the following table.

A health, life and health or multiple line (as described in section 409) insurer may qualify for a
certificate of authority to transact a legal services insurance business, as described in chapter 38, if it is
otherwise qualified therefor and possesses and thereafter maintains, in addition to the amounts
described in the following table, an additional amount of unimpaired paid-in capital stock, if a stock
insurer, or unimpaired basic surplus, if a foreign mutual or reciprocal insurer, of not less than $500,000.

An insurer may qualify for a certificate of authority to transact solely financial guaranty insurance as
defined in section 709-A, if it is otherwise qualified therefor and possesses and thereafter maintains
paid-in capital stock in the amount of $2,500,000 and initial free surplus in an amount of $47,500,000
or, if the insurer is a foreign mutual or reciprocal insurer, minimum required basic surplus in an amount
of $2,500,000 and initial free surplus in an amount of $47,500,000.
Stock Insurers Foreign mutual,
Reciprocal Insurers
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Kind or Kinds of Minimum Required Initial Free =~ Minimum Required  Initial Free
Insurance Capital Stock Surplus Basic Surplus Surplus
Life $1,500,000 $1,500,000 $1,500,000%* $1,500,000%*
Health 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Life and Health 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000%* 2,500,000%*
Casualty 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
Marine and 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
Transportation

Property 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
Surety 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000 1,500,000
Title 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000
Multiple line (as defined 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000 2,500,000
in section 409)

All Line (as defined in 5,000,000 5,000,000 5,000,000* 5,000,000*
section 409

* Does not apply as to a reciprocal insurer.
Except:

A. An insurer holding a valid certificate of authority to transact insurance in this State on January
1, 1970 may, if otherwise qualified therefor until January 1, 1989, continue to be so authorized
while possessing paid-in capital stock, if a stock insurer, or surplus, if a mutual or reciprocal insurer,
as required for such authority immediately prior to January 1, 1970. [PL 1991, c. 385, §2 (AMD).]

B. Prior to January 1, 1989, the superintendent may not authorize such an insurer to transact any
other kinds of insurance unless it complies with the requirements as to capital stock, if a stock
insurer, or basic surplus, if a mutual or reciprocal insurer, as applied to all kinds of insurance it
proposes to transact, as provided in the table contained in this paragraph.

A health, life and health or multiple line (as described in section 409) insurer may qualify for a
certificate of authority to transact a legal services insurance business, as described in chapter 38, if
it is otherwise qualified therefor and possesses and thereafter maintains, in addition to the amounts
described in the following table, an additional amount of unimpaired paid-in capital stock, if a stock
insurer, or unimpaired basic surplus, if a foreign mutual or reciprocal insurer, of not less than

$500,000.
Stock Insurers Foreign mutual,
Reciprocal Insurers
Kind or Kinds of Minimum Initial Free ~ Minimum Required  Initial Free
Insurance Required Capital Surplus Basic Surplus Surplus
Stock
Life $500,000 $1,000,000 $1,000,000*  $1,000,000*
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Health 250,000 250,000 250,000 250,000
Life and Health 500,000 1,000,000 1,000,000* 1,000,000*
Casualty 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000
Marine and 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000
Transportation

Property 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000
Surety 500,000 500,000 500,000 500,000
Title 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000
Multiple line (as 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000 1,000,000
defined in section 409)

All Line (as defined in 2,000,000 2,000,000 2,000,000%* 2,000,000%*
section 409

*Does not apply as to a reciprocal insurer. [PL 1991, c. 385, §2 (AMD).]

C. Until January 1, 1989, a domestic mutual insurer formed prior to January 1, 1968, and while
possessing surplus of not less than $200,000 may be authorized to transact, in addition to the types
of insurance it was transacting prior to July 24, 1984, any other additional kinds of insurance
authorized by its charter; subject to those minimum required basic surplus amounts applicable as
to foreign mutual insurers as contained in the table in paragraph B, if the insurer is to transact life
insurance together with any one or more of property, casualty, surety or marine and transportation
insurances. [PL 1987, c. 78, §1 (AMD).]

D. Domestic mutual insurers holding a certificate of authority upon January 1, 1989, if otherwise
qualified, and possessed of basic surplus in minimum required amounts as contained in the table in
this paragraph may continue to be so authorized, provided those insurers continue to possess and
maintain unimpaired basic surplus funds as determined in this paragraph and applicable to those
lines or kinds of insurance permitted by its certificate of authority immediately prior to January 1,
1989. Upon application by any such insurer and written approval by the superintendent, the
insurer's certificate of authority may be extended to permit the writing of other kinds or lines of
insurance if the insurer is qualified and possessed of basic surplus funds in amounts contained in
the table in this paragraph. A domestic mutual insurer holding a certificate of authority prior to
January 1, 1989, but which does not possess and maintain basic surplus in the minimum required
amounts contained in the table in this paragraph, may continue to be authorized to transact
insurance in this State and to write other kinds or lines of insurance, subject to the approval of the
superintendent, as long as it maintains 100% reinsurance and has no liabilities.

For the purposes of this paragraph, any assuming reinsurer must be a corporation which possesses
the ability to exercise control of the ceding insurer, must be an insurance company possessed of a
certificate of authority to transact the same kinds of insurance in this State as those assumed and
shall file a consolidated annual statement as required by section 423.

A health, life and health or multiple line (as described in section 409) insurer may qualify for a
certificate of authority to transact a legal services insurance business, as described in chapter 38, if
it is otherwise qualified therefor and possesses and thereafter maintains, in addition to the amounts
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described in the following table, an additional amount of unimpaired paid-in capital stock, if a stock
insurer, or unimpaired basic surplus, if a foreign mutual or reciprocal insurer, of not less than

$500,000.

Kind or Kinds of Insurance Domestic Mutual Insurers
Life $1,000,000
Health 500,000
Life and Health 1,250,000
Casualty 750,000
Marine and Transportation 1,000,000
Property 500,000
Surety 1,000,000
Title 350,000
Multiple Line (as defined in section 409) 1,250,000
All line (as defined in section 409) 2,500,000

E. An insurer that otherwise possesses funds as required under this subsection shall at all times
maintain policyholders' surplus, combined paid-in capital stock, if any, and surplus, reasonable in
amount, as determined by the superintendent, in relation to the kinds and amount of insurance it
has in force, or being written and retained by it, net of applicable reinsurance. In making any such
determination, the superintendent shall give due consideration to any applicable standards approved
or adopted by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners and to the desirability of

substantial uniformity as to such requirements among the respective states. [PL 1991, c. 385, §2
(AMD).]

F. A health maintenance organization as a division or line of business is subject to this paragraph.

(1) Aninsurer that operates a health maintenance organization as a division or a line of business
shall possess and maintain policyholder's surplus, including paid-in capital stock if any, as
otherwise required by this section and in addition shall meet the surplus requirements of section
4204-A.

(2) A nonprofit hospital or medical service organization that operates a health maintenance
organization as a division or as a line of business shall possess and maintain subscriber reserves
as defined in Title 24, section 2301, subsection 9-A, paragraph H, subparagraph (2) and in an
amount required by the superintendent and in addition shall meet the surplus requirements of
section 4204-A. [RR 2021, c. 2, Pt. A, §68 (COR).]

[RR 2021, c. 2, Pt. A, §68 (COR).]

2. Capital and surplus requirements are based upon all the kinds of insurance transacted by the
insurer in any and all areas in which it operates or proposes to operate, whether or not only a portion of
such kinds are to be transacted in this State.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

3. As to surplus required for authority to transact one or more kinds of insurance and thereafter to
be maintained, domestic mutual legal reserve insurers hereafter formed are governed by chapter 47.

[PL 1991, c. 385, §2 (AMD).]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §§7,8 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL
1973, c. 625, §134 (AMD). PL 1983, c. 709, §1 (AMD). PL 1987, c. 78, §§1,2 (AMD). PL 1987,
c. 707, §1 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 385, §2 (AMD). PL 1993, c. 702, §A7 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 2,
Pt. A, §68 (COR).

§411. Insuring combinations without additional capital funds
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Without additional paid-in capital stock or additional surplus, an authorized insurer may also be
authorized: [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

1. Ifalife insurer, to grant annuities;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

2. If a health insurer, to insure against congenital defects, as defined in section 707;
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

3. If a casualty insurer or multiple line insurer, to transact health insurance; except that this
provision does not apply to a domestic insurer authorized to transact casualty insurance only, pursuant
to section 410, subsection 1, paragraph A; or
[PL 1991, c. 385, §3 (AMD).]

4. To transact employee benefit excess insurance to the extent authorized pursuant to section 707,
subsection 3.
[PL 1991, c. 385, §4 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1991, c. 385, §§3,4 (AMD).
§412. Deposits

1. No insurance company other than a domestic real estate title insurance company or a domestic
mutual fire insurance company that is transacting only the business of fire, marine or glass on the
assessment plan may do so in this State unless it makes and maintains a deposit with the Superintendent
of Insurance, as security for all its policyholders, of securities that are determined eligible for deposit
under section 1253. The deposit must be maintained in a minimum actual market value that, exclusive
of interest, may never be less than $100,000. The deposit must be retained by the superintendent and
disposed of as directed by section 1263.

[PL 1999, c. 113, §16 (AMD).]

2. Any admitted foreign insurance company may file with the superintendent a certificate of the
insurance supervisory official of such other jurisdiction that the supervisory official holds in trust and
on deposit for benefit of all the policyholders of the company a deposit of not less than $100,000 in
such securities as are required or permitted to be deposited with that supervisory official by the laws of
that jurisdiction. These securities are to be of a character consistent with investment authority in such
jurisdiction. Such certificate must contain a statement by the supervisory official that the supervisory
official is satisfied that the actual market value of these securities is of minimum value of $100,000. A
deposit may not be required to be maintained in this State while such a deposit, if so certified, is retained
by the supervisory official.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §178 (COR).]

3. The superintendent shall receive and hold in trust deposits made under this section by any
domestic insurance company in compliance with the laws of this or any other state, to enable it to do
business in this or any other state, and in like manner shall hold deposits made by a foreign company
under the laws of this State. The company making such deposit shall be entitled to any investment
income thereon and with the superintendent's consent, if not inconsistent with the laws under which
such deposit was made, may exchange in whole or in part such securities comprising the deposit for
other approved securities of equal value.

[PL 1975, c. 77 (RPR).]

4. The superintendent shall not authorize an alien insurer to transact insurance in this State unless
it makes in this State through the superintendent and thereafter continuously maintains a deposit,
representing funds in excess of all the insurer's liabilities under insurance contracts in force in the
United States of America, of a fair market value in amount not less than the minimum paid-in capital
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stock required under this Title of a foreign stock insurer authorized to transact like kinds of insurance
in this State. The superintendent may require additional trusteed surplus funds in reasonable amount to
secure the interest of beneficiaries under policies insured by the alien insurer. In addition to the
foregoing trusteed surplus account, an alien insurer authorized pursuant to this Title shall establish and
maintain in one or more states of the United States a deposit or deposits of trust assets of a kind and
quality as generally required by this section. The value of the deposit or deposits shall be at least equal
to those obligations resulting from insurance in force in the United States. The deposit or deposits shall,
if located outside the State, be subject to administration standards comparable to those contained in this
Title. The deposit shall be held in trust for the exclusive benefit of the insurer's policyholders and
creditors in the United States of America.

A. In lieu of such a deposit made or maintained in this State, the superintendent shall accept the
certificate in proper form of the insurance supervisory official having general supervision of
insurers in any other state to the effect that a deposit of like quality and amount, or part thereof, by
such insurer is being maintained for like purposes in public custody or control pursuant to the laws
of such state. [PL 1975, c. 77 (NEW).]

[PL 1985, c. 330, §2 (AMD).]

5. All such deposits in this State are subject to the provisions of chapter 15 (Administration of
Deposits).
[PL 1975, c. 77 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1975, c. 77 (RPR). PL 1985, c.
330, §2 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 113, §16 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §178 (COR).

§413. Application for certificate of authority

To apply for an original certificate of authority an insurer shall file with the superintendent its
written application therefor on forms as prescribed and furnished by the superintendent, accompanied
by the applicable fees specified in section 601 (fee schedule), stating under the oath of the president or
vice-president or other chief officer and the secretary of the insurer, or of the attorney-in-fact, if a
reciprocal insurer, the insurer's name, location of its home office or principal office in the United States,
if an alien insurer, the kinds of insurance to be transacted, date of organization or incorporation, form
of organization, state or country of domicile, and such additional information as the superintendent may
reasonably require, together with the following documents, as applicable: [PL 1973, c. 585, §12
(AMD).]

1. Ifa corporation, or a Lloyd's, a copy of its charter, together with all amendments thereto, or as
restated and amended under the laws of its state or country of domicile, currently certified by the public

official with whom the originals are on file in such state or country;
[PL 1969, c. 177, §9 (AMD).]

2. If a domestic incorporated insurer or a mutual insurer, a copy of its bylaws, certified by the
insurer's corporate secretary;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW),]

3. If areciprocal insurer, a copy of the power of attorney of its attorney-in-fact, certified by the
attorney-in-fact; and if a domestic reciprocal insurer, the declaration provided for in section 3856;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

4. A complete copy of its financial statement as of not earlier than the December 31st next
preceding in form as customarily used in the United States by like insurers, sworn to by at least 2
executive officers of the insurer or certified by the public insurance supervisory official of the insurer's
state of domicile, or of entry into the United States, if an alien insurer;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]
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5.
[PL 1985, c. 330, §3 (RP).]

5-A. A copy of a current report of examination of the insurer certified by the public insurance
supervisory official of the insurer's state of domicile, or of entry into the United States, if an alien
insurer. For purposes of this requirement, a report of examination is deemed "current”" only if its date
of account is within 36 months of filing of the application, except that the superintendent may, in the
superintendent's discretion, accept a report of examination within a period reasonably proximate to 36
months from its date of account that is filed by the applicant promptly upon its receipt when issuance
of the report by the domiciliary regulator has been delayed for reasons beyond the control of the
applicant and that are unrelated to the applicant's financial condition or its compliance with applicable
laws;

[PL 1995, c. 570, §1 (AMD).]

6. Appointment of an agent pursuant to section 421 to receive service of legal process;
[PL 1997, c. 592, §10 (AMD).]

7. 1If a foreign or alien insurer, a certificate of the public insurance supervisory official of its state
or country of domicile showing that it is authorized or qualified for authority to transact in such state
or country the kinds of insurance proposed to be transacted in this State;

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

8. Ifan alien insurer, certificate as to deposit, if to be tendered pursuant to section 412, and a copy
of the trust deed pertaining to such deposit, certified by the trustee;
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

9. Ifalife or health insurer, a copy of the insurer's rate book and of each form of policy currently
proposed to be issued in this State, and of the form of application therefor; or
[PL 1993, c. 637, §1 (AMD).]

10. If an alien insurer, a copy of the appointment and authority of its United States manager,
certified by its officer having custody of its records.
[PL 1993, c. 637, §1 (AMD).]

11.
[PL 1993, c. 637, §2 (RP).]

12.
[PL 1993, c. 637, §2 (RP).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §9 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1985,
c. 330, §§3,4 (AMD). PL 1993, c. 637, §§1,2 (AMD). PL 1995, c. 570, §1 (AMD). PL 1997, c.
592, §10 (AMD).

§413-A. Alien insurer; port of entry

1. Port of entry. An alien insurer that has been authorized by the superintendent to use the State
as its port of entry for the transaction of business in the United States is considered a domestic insurer
to the extent provided in this section. An alien insurer that has been approved by another state to use
that state as its port of entry is considered to be domiciled in that state in the same manner, if there is a
valid reciprocity agreement between that state and this State or if the superintendent has determined

that the applicable laws of that state are substantially similar to this section and its implementing rules.
[PL 1999, c. 113, §17 (AMD).]

2. Rules. The superintendent shall adopt rules establishing the terms and conditions of port of
entry authorization, which include without limitation:
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A. The requirements an alien insurer must satisfy to qualify for port of entry authorization. These
requirements must include, at a minimum:

(1) Agreement to adhere to all laws applicable to domestic insurers;
(2) Maintenance of appropriate trust surplus or other adequate security within the State;
(3) Maintenance of records of all United States operations within the State; and

(4) Maintenance of a separate financial reporting system for United States operations; [PL
1995, c. 375, Pt. D, §1 (NEW).]

B. The procedures for obtaining, maintaining and terminating port of entry authorization; and [PL
1995, c. 375, Pt. D, §1 (NEW).]

C. Modifications of the provisions of this Title, and of the rules adopted by the superintendent that

apply to domestic insurers, as the superintendent determines necessary for the appropriate

regulation of alien insurers with port of entry authorization. [PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. D, §1 (NEW).]
[PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. D, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1995, c. 375, §D1 (NEW). PL 1999, c. 113, §17 (AMD).
§414. Issuance, refusal of authority, ownership of certificate

1. If upon completion of its application, the superintendent finds that the insurer has met the
requirements therefor under this Title, and that the insurer has furnished evidence satisfactory to the
superintendent that its methods of operation are not such as would render its proposed operation
hazardous to the public or its policyholders in this State, the superintendent shall issue to the insurer a
proper certificate of authority; otherwise, the superintendent shall issue an order refusing such
certificate.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §179 (COR).]

2. The certificate of authority, if issued, shall state the insurer's name, home office address, state
or country of organization, and the kinds of insurance the insurer is authorized to transact throughout
this State. At the insurer's request, the superintendent may issue a certificate of authority limited to

particular types of insurance or coverages within a kind of insurance as defined in chapter 9.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

3. Although issued and delivered to the insurer, the certificate of authority at all times shall be the
property of the State of Maine. Upon any expiration, suspension or termination thereof, the insurer shall
promptly deliver the certificate to the superintendent.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

4. Insurers required to file an annual statement must, as a condition to the issuance or continuance
of a certificate of authority, provide the National Association of Insurance Commissioners with all
information required for participation in the Insurance Regulatory Information System. This filing
must contain the insurer's current annual statement convention blank and, if requested by the
superintendent or the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, publicly available financial
reports of any affiliated insurers or other entities necessary for analyzing any insurer licensed in this
State. Each statement furnished by an insurer must be manually executed by those persons who are
required by section 423 to verify an annual statement utilizing the prescribed jurat. Any amendments
and addendums to the annual statement subsequently filed with the superintendent must also be filed
with the National Association of Insurance Commissioners. Insurers shall provide written certification
to the superintendent that they have complied with this subsection when they file their annual
statements. This subsection does not apply to any insurer doing business under chapter 51.
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In the absence of bad faith, fraud or intentional act, an officer or an employee of the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners may not be subject to civil liability for libel, slander or any
other cause of action in tort as a result of processing data or other information filed by insurers under
this subsection or distribution of reports prepared on the basis of that information to insurance
regulatory officials of any state that has subscribed to and used the Insurance Regulatory Information
System through the National Association of Insurance Commissioners. Information provided to the
superintendent that is held confidential by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners must
be held confidential by the superintendent unless that information is relevant to any hearing conducted
by the superintendent pursuant to section 229 or an order requiring disclosure is issued by the Superior
Court.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §13 (AMD).]

5. The superintendent may require insurers subject to this section to make available any
accountant's work papers created during an audit.

A. The superintendent may review the accountant's work papers upon timely notice to the insurer.
The superintendent may photocopy or otherwise record the contents of work papers during the
review. [PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. C, §3 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF).]

B. Any work papers or copies of work papers under the superintendent's custody or control are
confidential and are not subject to public inspection. [PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. C, §3 (NEW); PL
1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF).]

C. The work papers of an insurer's subsidiaries, parent or other corporate affiliates are deemed to
be the insurer's work papers to the extent that the work papers reference transactions between the
insurer and the subsidiary, parent or corporate affiliate and affect the insurer's final equity
determination. [PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. C, §3 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF).]

D. The insurer shall, as a condition of the accountant's engagement, require accountants:

(1) To retain any work papers prepared in connection with an audit of the insurer for at least 6
years after the close of a reporting period; and

(2) To provide the work papers, or a copy, to the insurer at the insurer's request. [PL 1989, c.
846, Pt. C, §3 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF).]

E. For purposes of this subsection, the term "work papers" includes, but is not limited to, schedules,
analyses, reconciliations, abstracts, memoranda, narratives, flow charts, copies of company records
or other documents prepared or obtained by the accountant and the accountant's employees in
conducting the examination of the insurer. [PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. C, §3 (NEW); PL 1989, c.
846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF).]

[PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. C, §3 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 846, §§A,C3,E4 (AMD).
PL 1991, c. 828, §13 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §179 (COR).

§415. Continuation of certificate of authority

1. A certificate of authority continues in force as long as the insurer is entitled under this Title and
until suspended or revoked by the superintendent or terminated at the insurer's request.

A. [PL 1995, c. 544, §3 (RP).]
B. [PL 1995, c. 544, §3 (RP).]

C. [PL 1995, c. 544, §3 (RP).]
[PL 1995, c. 544, §3 (AMD).]
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2.
[PL 1995, c. 544, §4 (RP).]

3. The superintendent may, upon the insurer's request made within 3 months after suspension,
reinstate a certificate of authority that the superintendent suspended due to the insurer's failure to pay
the annual fee upon payment by the insurer of the fee for reinstatement specified in section 601.
Otherwise the insurer may be granted another certificate of authority only after filing application
therefor and meeting all other requirements as for an original certificate of authority in this State.

[PL 1997, c. 592, §11 (AMD).]

4.
[PL 1997, c. 592, §11 (RP).]

5.
[PL 1997, c. 592, §11 (RP).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1975, c. 767, §§10,11 (AMD).
PL 1977, c. 222, §1 (AMD). PL 1977, c. 694, §398 (AMD). PL 1981, c. 501, §§39,40 (AMD).
PL 1995, c. 544, §§3,4 (AMD). PL 1997, c. 592, §11 (AMD).

§415-A. Termination of certificate of authority

An authorized insurer which elects to terminate its license authority in this State, in whole or in
part, shall submit a withdrawal plan designed to protect policyholders and claimants which is subject
to approval by the superintendent. The insurer shall submit its plan at least 60 days prior to its proposed
date of withdrawal. The plan shall include, but not be limited to, requirements and procedures for
meeting the insurer's existing contractual obligations, providing security in the event of a subsequent
insolvency and meeting any applicable statutory obligations. The plan shall also comply with any
further terms and conditions which are prescribed by rules adopted by the superintendent. In order to
protect the interest of the people of this State, the superintendent may require the insurer to make a
deposit of securities of a nature and type eligible under section 1253, to be held in trust by the treasurer
in the name of the superintendent. [PL 1985, c. 330, §5 (NEW).]

If an insurer's license authority is revoked, suspended or otherwise terminated in a manner other
than by its election, the superintendent shall issue an order which prescribes terms and conditions
related to the license termination which shall, to the extent practicable, conform to the requirements
governing withdrawal plans as prescribed by this section and rules promulgated under this section. In
the event that an insurer attempts to terminate its license authority in this State without filing a
withdrawal plan acceptable to the superintendent, the superintendent shall issue an order prescribing
the terms and conditions of the termination. Any order issued pursuant to this section, including an
order directing an insurer to produce relevant information, may be enforced as provided by section 214.
[PL 1985, c. 330, §5 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1985, c. 330, §5 (NEW).
§416. Petition for suspension or revocation of certificate of authority; mandatory grounds

1. Notwithstanding Title 4, chapter 5, and Title 5, section 10051, the superintendent shall refuse
to continue or shall suspend or revoke an insurer's certificate of authority:

A. If such action is required by any provision of this Title; [PL 1983, c. 419, §1 (AMD).]

B. If a foreign insurer and it no longer meets the requirements for a certificate of authority, on
account of deficiency of capital or surplus or otherwise; [PL 1983, c. 419, §1 (AMD).]
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C. If a domestic insurer and it has failed to cure an impairment of capital or surplus within the time
allowed therefor by the superintendent under this Title or is otherwise no longer qualified for the
certificate of authority; [PL 1983, c. 419, §1 (AMD).]

D. If the insurer's certificate of authority to transact insurance therein is suspended or revoked by
its state of domicile, or state of entry into the United States, if an alien insurer; or [PL 1969, c.
132, §1 (NEW).]

E. For failure of the insurer to pay taxes on its premiums as required by law. [PL 1969, c. 132,
§1 (NEW).]
[PL 1999, c. 547, Pt. B, §44 (AMD); PL 1999, c. 547, Pt. B, §80 (AFF).]

2. Except in case of insolvency or impairment of required capital or surplus, or suspension or
revocation by another state as referred to in subsection 1, paragraph D, the superintendent shall give
the insurer at least 20 days notice in advance of any such refusal, suspension or revocation under this
section and of the particulars of the reasons therefor. If the insurer requests a hearing thereon within
the 20 days, the request automatically stays the superintendent's proposed action until the
superintendent's order is made on that hearing. Hearings held pursuant to this subsection must be held
in conformity with Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 4.

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §180 (COR).]

3. If an action initiated by the superintendent to suspend or revoke an insurer's certificate of
authority is based on subsection 1, paragraphs B or C, a sworn statement of financial condition of the
insurer signed by an officer of the insurer which indicates that the insurer no longer meets the
requirements for a certificate of authority shall be prima facie proof that the requirements for a
certificate of authority are not met.

[PL 1983, c. 419, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1971, c. 544, §83 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL
1977, c. 694, §§399,400 (AMD). PL 1983, c. 419, §1 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 547, §B44 (AMD).
PL 1999, c. 547, §B80 (AFF). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §180 (COR).

§417. Suspension or revocation of certificate of authority; discretionary and special grounds

1. Notwithstanding Title 4, chapter 5 and Title 5, section 10051, the superintendent may refuse to
continue or may suspend or revoke an insurer's certificate of authority if the superintendent finds, after
a hearing thereon or upon waiver of hearing by the insurer, that the insurer has violated or failed to
comply with any lawful order of the superintendent, or has willfully violated or willfully failed to
comply with any lawful rule of the superintendent, or has violated any provision of this Title other than
those for violation of which suspension or revocation is mandatory.

[PL 1999, c. 547, Pt. B, §45 (AMD); PL 1999, c. 547, Pt. B, §80 (AFF).]

2. The superintendent shall suspend or revoke an insurer's certificate of authority on any of the
following grounds, if the superintendent finds after a hearing held in conformity with Title 5, chapter
375, subchapter 4 that the insurer:

A. Is in unsound condition, or is being fraudulently conducted, or is in such condition or using
such methods and practices in the conduct of its business as to render its further transaction of

insurance in this State currently or prospectively hazardous or injurious to policyholders or to the
public; [PL 1983, c. 419, §2 (AMD).]

B. With such frequency as to indicate its general business practice in this State, has without just
cause failed to pay, or delayed payment of, claims arising under its policies, whether the claim is
in favor of an insured or is in favor of a 3rd person; or, with like frequency, without just cause
compels insureds or claimants to accept less than the amount due them or to employ attorneys or
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to bring suit against the insurer or an insured to secure full payment or settlement of such claims;

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §181 (COR).]

C. Refuses to be examined, or if its directors, officers, employees or representatives refuse to
submit to examination relative to its affairs, or to produce its accounts, records and files for

examination by the superintendent when required, or refuse to perform any legal obligation relative
to the examination; or [PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

D. Has failed to pay any final judgment rendered against it in this State upon any policy, bond,
recognizance or undertaking as issued or guaranteed by it, within 30 days after the judgment
became final or within 30 days after dismissal of an appeal before final determination, whichever
date is the later. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §181 (COR).]

3. Notwithstanding Title 4, chapter 5 and Title 5, section 10051, the superintendent may, without
notice or a hearing thereon, immediately suspend the certificate of authority of any insurer as to which
proceedings for receivership, conservatorship, rehabilitation or other delinquency proceedings have
been commenced against the insurer in any state by the public official charged with supervising the
insurance industry in that state. Upon suspending a certificate of authority under this subsection, the
superintendent shall promptly schedule a hearing on the matter, to be held within 30 days of the
suspension. The superintendent shall make a determination within 30 days after the conclusion of that
hearing.

[PL 1999, c. 547, Pt. B, §45 (AMD); PL 1999, c. 547, Pt. B, §80 (AFF).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1977, c. 694, §§401-403 (AMD).
PL 1983, c. 419, §2 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 547, §B45 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 547, §B80 (AFF). RR
2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §181 (COR).

§418. Power to amend, modify or refuse to renew certificates of authority

Notwithstanding the authority of the District Court, the superintendent may amend, modify or
refuse to renew any insurer's certificate of authority for cause pursuant to procedures in conformity
with the Maine Administrative Procedure Act, Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter IV. [PL 1983, c. 419,
§3 (AMD); PL 1999, c. 547, Pt. B, §78 (AMD); PL 1999, c. 547, Pt. B, §80 (AFF).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §10 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL
1977, c. 694, §404 (RPR). PL 1983, c. 419, §3 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 547, §B78 (AMD). PL
1999, c. 547, §B80 (AFF).

§418-A. Order, notice of suspension or, revocation; publication; effect upon agents' authority

1. All suspensions or revocations of, or refusals to continue, an insurer's certificate of authority
shall be by the superintendent's order, given to the insurer by personal delivery or by certified or
registered mail, addressed to the insurer at its last address of record with the superintendent. Notice by
mail shall be deemed given when so mailed.

[PL 1983, c. 419, §4 (NEW).]

2. Upon issuance of the order, the superintendent shall forthwith give notice thereof to the insurer's
agents in this State of record in the bureau, and shall likewise suspend or revoke the authority of those
agents to represent the insurer.

[PL 1983, c. 419, §4 (NEW).]
SECTION HISTORY
PL 1983, c. 419, §4 (NEW).
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§419. Duration of suspension; insurer's obligation during suspension period; reinstatement

1. The suspension of an insurer's certificate of authority must be for such period as the
superintendent specifies in the order of suspension. During the suspension period, the superintendent
may rescind or shorten the suspension period by further order. The superintendent may reinstate the
insurer's certificate of authority upon written request of the insurer if the superintendent finds that the
causes of the suspension are no longer continuing and that the insurer is otherwise in compliance with
the requirements of this Title.

[PL 1995, c. 570, §2 (AMD).]

2. During the suspension period, the insurer shall not solicit or write any new business in this
State, but shall file its annual statement, pay fees, licenses and taxes as required under this Title, and
may service its business already in force in this State, as if the certificate of authority had continued in
full force.

[PL 1983, c. 419, §5 (AMD).]

3. Upon expiration of the suspension period, if within that period the certificate of authority has
not terminated, the insurer's certificate of authority shall reinstate unless the superintendent finds that
the causes of the suspension are continuing, or that the insurer is otherwise not in compliance with the
requirements of this Title.

[PL 1983, c. 419, §5 (AMD).]

4. Upon reinstatement of the insurer's certificate of authority, the authority of its agents in this
State to represent the insurer shall likewise reinstate. The superintendent shall promptly notify the

insurer and its agents in this State, of record in the bureau, of that reinstatement.
[PL 1983, c. 419, §5 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1977, c. 694, §§405,406 (AMD).
PL 1983, c. 419, §5 (AMD). PL 1995, c. 570, §2 (AMD).

§420. General corporation laws inapplicable to foreign insurers

The general corporation laws of this State shall not apply as to foreign insurers holding certificates
of authority to transact insurance in this State. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§421. Superintendent process agent for insurers

1. Before the superintendent authorizes it to transact insurance in this State, each insurer shall
appoint an agent to receive service of legal process issued against the insurer in this State. The insurer
shall file with the superintendent a copy of the appointment. The notice to the superintendent must be
accompanied by a copy of a resolution of the board of directors or like governing body of the insurer,
if an incorporated insurer, showing that those officers who executed the appointment were duly

authorized to do so on behalf of the insurer. The registered agent must consent to the appointment.
[PL 1997, c. 592, §12 (AMD).]

1-A.

[MRSA T. 24-A §421, sub-§1-A (RP).]
2.

[PL 1997, c. 457, §12 (RP).]

3. Service of process against a foreign or alien insurer may be made only by service thereof upon
the attorney appointed by the insurer.
[PL 1997, c. 457, §13 (AMD).]
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4. Service of such process against a domestic insurer may be made as provided hereunder, or in
any other manner provided by law.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

5. At the time of application for a certificate of authority the insurer shall file the appointment
with the superintendent, together with designation of the person to whom process against it served upon
the appointed agent is to be forwarded. The insurer may change such designation by a new filing.

[PL 1997, c. 592, §13 (AMD).]

6. A copy of such appointment, certified by the superintendent, shall be received in evidence in
all courts of this State.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

7. Any person or entity required by Title 24 or this Title to appoint an agent for service of process
who does not have a valid appointment on file with the superintendent or required by applicable law to
appoint the superintendent as agent for service of process is deemed to have appointed the
superintendent as agent for service of process, and process may be served within this State in the same
manner as provided in section 2105. This subsection does not relieve that person or entity from any
requirement to appoint an agent for service of process or from the applicable penalties for failure to
comply with that requirement.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. E, §1 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1997, c. 457, §§10-14 (AMD).
PL 1997, c. 592, §§12, 13 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 113, §18 (AMD). PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. E, §1
(AMD).

§422. Serving process

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1997, c. 457, §15 (RP).
§423. Annual statement

1. Each authorized insurer shall annually on or before March 1st, or within any reasonable
extension of time that the superintendent for good cause may have granted on or before such March
Ist, file with the superintendent a full and true statement of its financial condition, transactions and
affairs as of December 31st preceding. The statement must be on an annual statement blank of the
National Association of Insurance Commissioners, be prepared in accordance with the association's
annual statement instructions, and follow practices and procedures prescribed by the association's
accounting practices and procedures manual, with any useful or necessary modification or adaptation
thereof and as supplemented by additional information required by the superintendent. The statement
must be verified by the oath of the insurer's president or vice-president, and secretary or actuary as
applicable, or in the absence of the foregoing, by 2 other principal officers; or if a reciprocal insurer,
by the oath of the attorney-in-fact or its like officers if a corporation.

[PL 1993, c. 313, §16 (AMD).]

2. The statement of an alien insurer shall be verified by its United States manager or other officer
duly authorized, and shall relate only to the insurer's transactions and affairs in the United States unless
the superintendent requires otherwise. If the superintendent requires a statement as to such an insurer's
affairs throughout the world, the insurer shall file such statement with the superintendent as soon as
reasonably possible.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]
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3. The superintendent may refuse to continue, or may suspend or revoke, the certificate of authority
of any insurer failing to file its annual statement when due.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

4. Before August 10th, and at the same time the insurer makes payment for its annual assessment,
the insurer shall pay the fee for filing its annual statement as prescribed by section 601 (fee schedule).
[PL 1995, c. 544, §5 (AMD).]

5. The superintendent may adopt rules that prescribe accounting standards applicable to statements
filed pursuant to this section. These rules may permit or require any class or classes of insurers
domiciled or authorized to do business in this State to conform its financial presentations to the
standards of preparation prescribed in the accounting practices and procedures manual of the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §14 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 828, §14 (AMD). PL
1993, c. 313, §16 (AMD). PL 1995, c. 544, §5 (AMD).

§423-A. Interim financial reporting requirements

1. Quarterly statement. No later than the 15th day of the 2nd month following the close of any
calendar quarter, except the 4th quarter, an authorized insurer that is subject to the requirements of
section 423 shall file a quarterly statement of financial condition with the superintendent.

[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §4 (AMD).]

2. Form and content. The quarterly statement must be in the form prescribed by the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners and must be prepared in accordance with the association's
quarterly statement instructions.

[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §4 (AMD).]

3. Verification. The report must be verified by the oath of the insurer's president or vice-president,
and the secretary or actuary as applicable, or in the absence of the foregoing, by 2 other principal
officers; or if a reciprocal insurer, by the oath of the attorney-in-fact or its like officers if a corporation.

[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §4 (AMD).]

4. Supplemental reporting. Upon the superintendent's request, the insurer shall file periodic
reports of financial condition on a monthly basis, or at other intervals prescribed by the superintendent,
in such form and containing such information as the superintendent prescribes.

[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §4 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1985, c. 330, §6 (NEW). PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §4 (AMD).

§423-B. Periodic financial reports of insurer-controlled health maintenance organizations

An authorized insurer that controls and operates a health maintenance organization as a division or
line of business shall file on a continuing basis any additional periodic financial reports required by the
superintendent by rule. [PL 1993, c. 702, Pt. A, §8 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1993, c. 702, §A8 (NEW).
§423-C. Reports of material transactions

1. Report required. Every domestic insurer must file a report with the superintendent, on or
before the 15th day of each month, if it has engaged in a material investment or reinsurance transaction
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during the preceding month that has not already been separately reported to the superintendent or
submitted to the superintendent for prior review.
[PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. A, §1 (NEW).]

2. Material transactions defined. As used in this section, unless the context otherwise indicates,

the following terms have the following meanings.

"Material investment transaction" means an acquisition or disposition of an asset or the

aggregate of a series of related acquisitions or related dispositions during a 30-day period that is
nonrecurring, not in the ordinary course of business and involving more than 5% of the reporting
insurer's total admitted assets as reported in its most recent statutory statement filed with the
superintendent. Asset acquisitions and dispositions include without limitation a purchase, sale,
lease, exchange, merger, consolidation, succession, mortgage, hypothecation, assignment, whether
for the benefit of creditors or otherwise, abandonment or destruction. Asset acquisition does not
include the construction or development of real property for the use of the reporting insurer or the
acquisition of materials for such construction or development. [PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. A, §1
(NEW).]

B. "Material reinsurance transaction" means:

(1) A transaction involving property and casualty business, including accident and health
business written by a property and casualty insurer, that involves more than 50% of either the
insurer's total ceded written premium or the insurer's total ceded indemnity and loss adjustment
reserves;

(2) A transaction involving life, annuity or accident and health business that causes a change,
either positive or negative, in the current total reserve credit taken for all life, annuity and
accident and health business of more than 50% from the total reserve credit taken for such
business in the insurer's most recent annual statement. "Total reserve credit" includes reserve
credit taken for unearned premiums, reserve credit taken other than for unearned premiums and
amounts recoverable on paid and unpaid losses for all reinsurance ceded;

(3) Any transaction in which either:

(a) An authorized reinsurer representing more than 10% of the insurer's total reserve credit
for business ceded is replaced by one or more unauthorized reinsurers; or

(b) Previously established collateral requirements have been reduced or waived for one or
more unauthorized reinsurers representing collectively more than 10% of the insurer's total
reserve credit for business ceded; or

(4) Transactions otherwise falling within the scope of this paragraph do not need to be reported
if:

(a) Inthe case of a property and casualty insurer, the insurer's total ceded written premium
represents, on an annualized basis, less than 10% of its total written premium for direct and
assumed business;

(b) In the case of a life, annuity and accident and health insurer, the total reserve credit
taken for business ceded represents, on an annualized basis, less than 10% of the statutory
reserve requirement before any cession; or

(c) The transaction falls within the scope of a previously reported reinsurance agreement.
[RR 1995, c. 2, §51 (COR).]

[RR 1995, c. 2, §51 (COR).]

3. Reporting procedures. Reports for material investment transactions and material reinsurance

transactions must follow the following procedures.
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A. A report of a material investment transaction must include the following information:
(1) Date of the transaction;
(2) Manner of acquisition or disposition;
(3) Description of the assets involved;
(4) Nature and amount of the consideration given or received;
(5) Purpose of or reason for the transaction;
(6) Manner by which the amount of consideration was determined,;
(7) Gain or loss recognized or realized as a result of the transaction; and

(8) Name of the person from whom the assets were acquired or to whom they were disposed.
[PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. A, §1 (NEW).]

B. A report of a material reinsurance transaction must include the following information:

(1) Effective date of the nonrenewal, cancellation or revision of the reinsurance agreement
affected by the transaction;

(2) The description of the transaction with an identification of the initiator of the transaction;
(3) Purpose of or reason for the transaction; and

(4) If applicable, the identity of the replacement reinsurers. [PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. A, §1
(NEW).]

C. Material transactions must be reported on a nonconsolidated basis unless the insurer is part of
a consolidated group of insurers that uses a pooling arrangement of 100% reinsurance agreement
that affects the solvency and integrity of the insurer's reserves, and the insurer has ceded
substantially all of its direct and assumed business to the pool. An insurer is considered to have
ceded substantially all of its direct and assumed business to a pool if the insurer has less than
$1,000,000 total direct and assumed written premiums during a calendar year that are not subject
to a pooling arrangement and the net income of the business not subject to the pooling arrangement
represents less than 5% of the insurer's capital and surplus. [PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. A, §1 (NEW).]
[PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. A, §1 (NEW).]

4. Confidentiality. All reports obtained by or disclosed to the superintendent pursuant to this
section are confidential, are not subject to subpoena and may not be made public by the superintendent,
the National Association of Insurance Commissioners or any other person, except to insurance
departments of other states, without the prior written consent of the insurer to which it pertains. If the
superintendent, after giving the insurer that would be affected notice and an opportunity for hearing,
determines that publication is in the interest of policyholders, shareholders or the public, the
superintendent may publish all or any part of a report in the manner the superintendent determines to
be appropriate.

[PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. A, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
RR 1995, c. 2, §51 (COR). PL 1995, c. 375, §A1 (NEW).
§423-D. Annual report supplement

1. Annual report supplement required. Each health insurer and health maintenance organization
shall file an annual report supplement on or before March 1st of each year, or within any reasonable
extension of time that the superintendent for good cause may have granted on or before March 1st. The
superintendent shall adopt rules regarding specifications for the annual report supplement. The annual
report supplements must provide the public with general, understandable and comparable financial
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information relative to the in-state operations and results of authorized insurers and health maintenance
organizations. Such information must include, but is not limited to, medical claims expense,
administrative expense and underwriting gain for each line segment of the market in this State in which
the insurer participates. The annual report supplements must contain sufficient detail for the public to
understand the components of cost incurred by authorized health insurers and health maintenance
organizations as well as the annual cost trends of these carriers. The superintendent shall develop
standardized definitions of each reported measure. Rules adopted pursuant to this section are routine
technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A.

[PL 2003, c. 469, Pt. E, §2 (NEW).]

2. Exemption. If an insurer is engaged in the type of health insurance business identified as an
exception to the definition of health insurance in section 704, subsection 2 and is not engaged in health
insurance in this State as defined in that section, then the insurer is not subject to the requirements of
this section for the filing of annual report supplements.

[PL 2003, c. 469, Pt. E, §2 (NEW).]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 2003, c. 469, §E2 (NEW).
§423-E. Report to Legislature
(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 2007, c. 629, Pt. A, §2 (NEW). PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. B, §3 (RP). PL 2011, c. 90, Pt. B, §10
(AFF).

§423-F. Own risk and solvency assessment

1. General requirement. A domestic insurer that is not subject to registration under section 222,
subsection 8 shall comply with the requirements of section 222, subsection 8, paragraph B-3 if the
requirements of that paragraph would apply if the insurer were subject to registration. The
superintendent is considered the insurer's lead regulator for purposes of this section.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §30 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

2. Confidentiality. All documents prepared or filed pursuant to this section are confidential to the
same extent and subject to the same terms and procedures as if they were prepared or filed pursuant to
section 222, subsection 8, paragraph B-3.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §30 (NEW); PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §30 (NEW). PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. A, §34 (AFF).
§423-G. Corporate governance annual disclosure

1. Definitions. As used in this section, unless the context otherwise indicates, the following terms
have the following meanings.

A. "Corporate governance annual disclosure" or "CGAD" means a confidential report filed by an
insurer or insurance group pursuant to this section. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

B. "Domestic insurance carrier’ means an insurance company, health maintenance organization,
fraternal benefit society, nonprofit hospital or medical service organization or nonprofit health plan
domiciled in this State. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

C. "Insurance group" means the insurance carriers and affiliates included within a domestic

insurance carrier's insurance holding company system as defined in section 222, subsection 2,
paragraph C. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]
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D. "Lead state," with respect to an insurance group, means the state designated as the lead state for
the insurance group as determined by the procedures outlined in the most recent financial analysis
handbook adopted by the NAIC, except that if the designated lead state does not have a corporate
governance disclosure law substantially similar to this section, the superintendent shall designate
this State or another state with a substantially similar law as the lead state for purposes of this
section. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

E. [PL 2021, c. 521, §23 (RP)]

[PL 2021, c. 521, §23 (AMD).]

2. Disclosure requirement. This subsection governs corporate governance annual disclosure

filings.

A. A domestic insurance carrier shall file a corporate governance annual disclosure in accordance
with this subsection no later than June 1st of each calendar year. The carrier's insurance group may
file the CGAD on behalf of the carrier.

(1) If the CGAD is completed at the insurance group level, and this State is not the group's
lead state, the CGAD must be filed with the chief insurance regulator of the lead state in
accordance with the laws of the lead state, and a copy must be filed with the superintendent if
requested by the superintendent.

(2) Ifthe CGAD is completed at the legal entity level or if this State is the group's lead state,
the CGAD must be filed with the superintendent. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

B. The CGAD must contain the information described in subsection 3, paragraph B and must
include a signature of the domestic insurance carrier or insurance group's chief executive officer or
corporate secretary attesting to the best of that individual's belief and knowledge that the domestic
insurance carrier has implemented the corporate governance practices and that a copy of the CGAD
has been provided to the domestic insurance carrier's board of directors or the appropriate
committee thereof. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

C. A CGAD may provide information regarding corporate governance at the level of the group's
ultimate controlling parent or intermediate holding company, at the individual legal entity level or
at any combination of these levels depending upon how the domestic insurance carrier or insurance
group has structured its system of corporate governance. The domestic insurance carrier or
insurance group is encouraged to make the CGAD at the level:

(1) At which the domestic insurance carrier's or insurance group's risk appetite is determined;

(2) At which the earnings, capital, liquidity, operations and reputation of the domestic
insurance carrier are overseen collectively and at which the supervision of those factors is
coordinated and exercised; or

(3) At which legal liability for failure of general corporate governance duties is placed.

If the domestic insurance carrier or insurance group determines the level of reporting based on the
3 criteria under this paragraph, it shall indicate which of the criteria were used to determine the

level or levels of reporting and explain any subsequent changes in the level of reporting. [PL 2017,
c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

D. Ifthe CGAD is completed at the insurance group level, the lead state shall conduct the review
of the CGAD and any additional requests for information must be made through the lead state. [PL
2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

E. Domestic insurance carriers providing information substantially similar to the information
required by this section in other documents provided to the superintendent, including proxy
statements filed in conjunction with Form B requirements or other state or federal filings provided
to the bureau, may not be required to duplicate that information in the CGAD, but may only be
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required to cross-reference the document in which the information is included. [PL 2017, c. 169,
Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

3. Contents of corporate governance annual disclosure. This subsection governs the contents

of corporate governance annual disclosure filings.

[PL

A. The domestic insurance carrier or insurance group shall ensure that the CGAD contains the
material information necessary to permit the superintendent to gain an understanding of the
domestic insurance carrier's or insurance group's corporate governance structure, policies and
practices. The superintendent may require additional information that is determined to be material
and necessary to provide a clear understanding of the corporate governance policies, including the

reporting or information system or controls implementing those policies. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt.
A, §5 (NEW).]

B. The CGAD must be prepared consistent with rules adopted pursuant to subsection 6.
Documentation and supporting information must be maintained and made available upon
examination or upon request of the superintendent. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

C. The domestic insurance carrier or insurance group has discretion over its responses to the CGAD
inquiries, as long as those responses meet the requirements of this section. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt.
A, §5 (NEW).]

2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

4. Confidentiality. This subsection governs confidentiality in corporate governance annual

disclosure filings.

[PL

A. Documents, materials or other information in the possession or control of the bureau that are
obtained by, created by or disclosed to the superintendent or any other person under this section,
including the CGAD, are confidential and privileged, are not public records within the meaning of
the Freedom of Access Act, are not subject to subpoena, are not subject to discovery or admissible
in evidence in any private civil action and may not be made public without the prior written consent
of the domestic insurance carrier. Neither the superintendent nor any person who received
information from or under the authority of the superintendent under this section may be permitted
or required to testify in any private civil action concerning information that is confidential under
this subsection. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

B. This subsection does not prohibit the superintendent from using information that is confidential
under this subsection in the furtherance of any regulatory or legal action brought as a part of the
superintendent's official duties. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

C. The superintendent may share information that is confidential under this subsection only in
accordance with the requirements of section 216, subsection 5. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5
(NEW).]

D. The privilege provided by this subsection does not supersede any other applicable privilege or
confidentiality protection, nor does disclosure of confidential information to the superintendent
pursuant to this section constitute a waiver of any such privilege or protection. [PL 2017, c. 169,
Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

4-A. Sharing CGAD information with the NAIC. The superintendent may share confidential

information provided or obtained under this section with the NAIC only in accordance with a written
agreement that contains the provisions specified in section 216, subsection 5, paragraph C and the
following additional provisions:
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A. Procedures and protocols for sharing by the NAIC only with other state regulators from states
in which the insurance group has domiciled insurance carriers. The agreement must provide that
the recipient agrees to maintain the confidentiality and privileged status of the CGAD-related
documents, materials or other information and must document the NAIC’s legal authority to
maintain confidentiality; [PL 2021, c. 521, §24 (NEW).]

B. A provision requiring the NAIC to provide prompt notice to the superintendent, in addition to
the notice to the domestic insurance carrier or insurance group required by section 216, regarding
any subpoena, request for disclosure or request for production of the domestic insurance carrier’s
or insurance group’s CGAD-related information; and [PL 2021, c. 521, §24 (NEW).]

C. A provision expressly requiring the written consent of the domestic insurance carrier before any
information shared pursuant to this section may be made public. [PL 2021, c. 521, §24 (NEW).]
[PL 2021, c. 521, §24 (NEW).]

5. Independent consultants. This subsection governs independent consultants retained to review
corporate governance annual disclosure and compliance with this section.

A. The superintendent may retain, at the domestic insurance carrier's expense, independent
consultants as provided in section 208, including attorneys, actuaries, accountants and other experts
as may be reasonably necessary to assist the superintendent in reviewing the CGAD and related

information or the domestic insurance carrier's compliance with this section. [PL 2017, c. 169,
Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

B. Any persons retained under paragraph A are subject to the requirements of section 216,
subsection 5, paragraph B-1. [PL 2021, c. 521, §25 (AMD).]

C. The superintendent may not retain an independent consultant that has not verified to the
superintendent, with notice to the domestic insurance carrier, that it is free of a conflict of interest
and that it has internal procedures in place to monitor ongoing freedom from conflicts and to
comply with the confidentiality standards and requirements of this section. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt.
A, §5 (NEW).]

D. [PL 2021, c. 521, §25 (RP)]

E. The superintendent may share confidential information provided or obtained under this section
with an independent consultant only in accordance with a written agreement that makes compliance
with the confidentiality requirements of this section one of the consultant's duties as a state
contractor and includes all protections that the NAIC is required to provide in an agreement entered
into under subsection 4-A. [PL 2021, c. 521, §25 (AMD).]

[PL 2021, c. 521, §25 (AMD).]

6. Rules. The superintendent may adopt reasonable rules as necessary to implement this section.
Rules adopted pursuant to this subsection are routine technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375,
subchapter 2-A.

[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

7. Severability. If any provision of this section other than subsection 4, or the application thereof
to any person or circumstance, is determined to be invalid, that determination does not affect the
provisions or applications of this section that can be given effect without the invalid provision or
application, and to that end the provisions of this section with the exception of subsection 4 are
severable.

[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

8. Relationship to other laws. This section may not be construed to prescribe or impose corporate
governance standards and internal procedures beyond those required of business corporations under
Title 13-C. This section may not be construed to limit the superintendent's examination authority under
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sections 221 and 222 or the rights or obligations of 3rd parties in connection with examinations
conducted under those sections.
[PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. A, §5 (NEW). PL 2021, c. 521, §§23-25 (AMD).
§424. -- penalty for late or false statement

1. An insurer failing, without just cause beyond the reasonable control of the insurer, to file its
annual statement as required in section 423 shall forfeit to the State $25 for each day of delinquency,
to be collected if necessary, by civil action against the insurer in the District Court, Southern Kennebec
Division.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

2. Any director, officer, agent or employee of any insurer who subscribes to, makes or concurs in

making or publishing, any annual or other statement required by law, knowing the same to contain any

material statement that is false, commits a Class D crime.
[PL 1991, c. 797, §9 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1991, c. 797, §9 (AMD).
§425. Transactions with parent corporation, subsidiaries, and affiliates

1. No insurer shall engage directly or indirectly in any transaction or agreement with its parent
corporation, or with any subsidiary or affiliated person which shall result or tend to result in:

A. Substitution through any method of any asset of the insurer with an asset or assets of inferior
quality or lower fair market value; or [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

B. Deception as to the true operating results of the insurer; or [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]
C. Deception as to the true financial condition of the insurer; or [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

D. Allocation to the insurer of a proportion of the expense of combined facilities or operations
which is unfair and unfavorable to the insurer; or [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

E. Unfair, unnecessary or excessive charges against the insurer for services, or facilities, or supplies
or reinsurance; or [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

F. Unfair and inadequate charges by the insurer for reinsurance, services, facilities or supplies
furnished by the insurer to others; or [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

G. Payment by the insurer for services, facilities, supplies or reinsurance not reasonably needed
by the insurer. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

2. In all transactions between the insurer and its parent corporation, or involving the insurer and
any subsidiary or affiliated person, full recognition shall be given to the paramount duty and obligation

of the insurer to protect the interests of policyholders, both existing and future.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

3. For the purposes of this section a "subsidiary" is a person of which either the insurer or the
parent corporation, or both, holds practical control, and an "affiliated person" is a person controlled by
any combination of the insurer, the parent corporation, a subsidiary, or the principal stockholders or
officers or directors of any of the foregoing.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
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PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§425-A. Contract to participate in finance program

An authorized insurer may enter into a contract or arrangement with a financial institution for the
purpose of participating in a finance program with the financial institution. In this case, the financial
institution need not be licensed as a producer, as long as the purpose of the arrangement is to authorize
an insurer to direct or refer insureds, prospective insureds or other customers to the financial institution
for loans, or for the purpose of authorizing an insurer to facilitate arrangements for leases, loans or
credit applications with the financial institution. This section does not exempt persons from otherwise
complying with applicable state or federal laws relating to entering into such contracts. [PL 1997, c.
457, 8§16 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1997, c. 457, §16 (NEW).

§426. Resident agent; countersignature law
(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1989, c. 168, §2 (RP).
§427. -- exceptions

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §11 (AMD). PL 1979, c. 162 (AMD). PL 1985, c.
524, §§1-4 (AMD). PL 1987, c. 481, §1 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 168, §3 (RP).

§428. Retaliatory provision

1. When by or pursuant to the laws of any other state or foreign country or province any taxes,
licenses and other fees, in the aggregate, and any fines, penalties, deposit requirements or other material
requirements, obligations, prohibitions or restrictions are or would be imposed upon Maine insurers
doing business or that might seek to do business in such state, country or province, or upon the agents
or representatives of such insurers or upon brokers, which are in excess of such taxes, licenses and other
fees, in the aggregate, or which are in excess of the fines, penalties, deposit requirements or obligations,
prohibitions or restrictions directly imposed upon similar insurers, or upon the agents or representatives
of such insurers, or upon brokers, of such other state, country or province under the statutes of this
State, so long as such laws of such other state, country or province continue in force or are so applied,
the same taxes, licenses and other fees, in the aggregate, or fines, penalties or deposit requirements or
other material requirements, obligations, prohibitions or restrictions of whatever kind shall be imposed
by the superintendent upon the insurer, or upon the agents or representatives of such insurers, or upon
brokers, of such other state, country or province doing business or seeking to do business in Maine.
Any tax, license or other fee or other obligation imposed by any city, county, or other political
subdivision or agency of such other state, country or province on Maine insurers or their agents or
representatives or upon Maine brokers shall be deemed to be imposed by such state, country or province
within the meaning of this section.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

1-A. Notwithstanding subsection 1, this section does not apply to application fees, examination
fees, issuance fees, appointment fees, renewal fees and any other licensing fees associated with agent
licenses, broker licenses, consultant licenses, adjuster licenses, managing general agent registrations
and reinsurance intermediary licenses.

[PL 1993, c. 637, §3 (NEW).]
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2. This section shall not apply as to personal income taxes, or as to ad valorem taxes on real or
personal property, or as to special purpose obligations or assessments imposed by another state in
connection with particular kinds of insurance other than property insurance; except that deductions,
from premium taxes or other taxes otherwise payable, allowed on account of real estate or personal
property taxes paid shall be taken into consideration by the superintendent in determining the propriety
and extent of retaliatory action under this section.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

3. For the purposes of this section the domicile of an alien insurer, other than insurers formed
under the laws of Canada or a province thereof, shall be that state designated by the insurer in writing
filed with the superintendent at time of admission to this State or within 6 months after January 1, 1970,
whichever date is the later, and may be any one of the following states:

A. That in which the insurer was first authorized to transact insurance; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1
(NEW).]

B. That in which is located the insurer's principal place of business in the United States; or [PL
1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

C. That in which is held the largest deposit of trusteed assets of the insurer for the protection of its
policyholders in the United States. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

If the insurer makes no such designation, its domicile shall be deemed to be that state in which is located
its principal place of business in the United States.
[PL 1973, c. 625, §135 (AMD).]

4. The domicile of an insurer formed under the laws of Canada or a province thereof shall be that
province of Canada in which its head office is located.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 625, §135 (AMD). PL
1993, c. 637, §3 (AMD).

SUBCHAPTER 2
INSURANCE EMERGENCIES

§471. Proclamation by Governor

Whenever it appears to the Governor that the welfare of the State or any section thereof, or the
welfare and security of insurers under the supervision of the superintendent or their insureds or
beneficiaries require, the Governor may proclaim that an insurance emergency exists and this
subchapter shall thereupon become effective. [PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).
§472. Rules and regulations

During the period of any insurance emergency described in section 471, the superintendent has
power to make, amend or rescind such rules and regulations governing the business of any insurers as
the superintendent considers expedient in order to adopt and maintain sound methods of protecting the
interests of insurer, insureds, beneficiaries or the public. [RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §182 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY
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PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §182 (COR).
§473. Insurers regulated; suspended

During any insurance emergency period as described in sections 471 and 472, the superintendent
is empowered to suspend for such time or times as the superintendent may determine the transaction of
insurance functions of any authorized insurer, whether domestic or foreign, solvent or otherwise, and
to limit its insurance business in volume or character to such particular amounts or classifications and
for such time or times as the superintendent considers advisable. [RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §183 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §183 (COR).
§474. Payments deferred

During any insurance emergency period as described in sections 471 and 472, the superintendent
has authority to postpone or defer, by rules or orders made and issued by the superintendent, for such
time or times as the superintendent determines, the payment of any amount payable under the terms of
any policy of insurance, annuity or pure endowment contract, and the payment of judgments, notes,
drafts, checks, bills of exchange or other forms of payment of claims due from insurers to any person,
firm or corporation, whether such claim is liquidated or unliquidated, due or to become due at a day
certain, and defer the payment of premiums on policies affected by such postponements or suspensions
and may direct payment in full or in part whenever in the superintendent's discretion such payment may
be safely consummated. [RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §184 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §184 (COR).
§475. "Insurer" defined

The words "insurer" or "insurers" as used in this subchapter shall include corporations,

interinsurers, associations, societies and orders as well as partnerships and individual agents
representing such organizations. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§476. Personal responsibility of the superintendent limited

The superintendent shall not be held legally responsible for any act or failure to act in the premises
when such act or failure to act shall have been shown to be the result of good faith. [PL 1973, c. 585,
§12 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).
§477. Duration at will of Governor

The authority and power given the superintendent under this subchapter shall terminate and be of

no effect when the Governor proclaims that any insurance emergency has ceased to exist. [PL 1973,
c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).
§478. Jurisdiction of courts

During any emergency insurance period as described in sections 471 and 472, the superintendent
is authorized to issue such directions, rules or orders as in the superintendent's discretion the
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circumstances may warrant, and any Justice of the Supreme Judicial or Superior Courts has full
jurisdiction to enforce this chapter by appropriate decrees. [RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §185 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §185 (COR).
§479. Penalties

Any violation of any order issued by virtue of this subchapter or any rule or regulatory provision
made by the superintendent pursuant thereto shall be punishable by a fine of not more than $1,000 or
by imprisonment for less than one year, or by both. [PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).

CHAPTER 7
FEES AND TAXES

§601. Fee schedule

The superintendent shall collect, and persons so served shall pay to the superintendent, the fees and
miscellaneous charges as set forth in this section. The superintendent may adopt rules establishing the
fees and charges in different amounts from those specified under this section, except that the amount
of any such fee or charge may not exceed the cap established in this section. In the absence of such
rules, the maximum amounts set forth in this section apply. Rules adopted pursuant to this section are
routine technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A. [PL 2003, c. 203, §1
(AMD).]

1. Certificate of authority. Insurer's certificate of authority fees may not exceed:

A. For filing application for initial certificate of authority, including all documents submitted as
part of the application. If an applicant requests deferral and new data filings respecting the
application are required, a fee in equal amount is required upon the filing of the new information
$1,000. [PL 1991, c. 334, §5 (AMD).]

B. Issuance, and each annual continuation $100; and [PL 1995, c. 544, §6 (AMD).]

C. Reinstatement, under section 415 $350; [PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

2. Charter documents, other than those filed with application for certificate of authority. The
fee: for filing by an insurer for a reservation of a name; in addition to any other fee, a late filing of any
information required to be filed by a licensee; registration of a branch location; and filing any
amendment to certificate of organization, articles or certificate of incorporation, charter, bylaws, power
of attorney, as to reciprocal insurers, and other constitutent documents of the insurer may not exceed
$25;

[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

3. Annual statement. Filing annual statement of insurer, payable annually may not exceed
$100;
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

4. Process.
[PL 1997, c. 592, §15 (RP).]

5. Producers. Producers' license and appointment fees may not exceed:
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A. Tssuance fee for original resident producer license, including limited license ~ $30; [PL 1997,
c. 457, §18 (AMD); PL 1997, c. 457, §55 (AFF).]

B. Appointment of resident producer, each insurer, health maintenance organization, fraternal
benefit society, nonprofit hospital or medical service organization, viatical settlement provider or
risk retention group $30;

Biennial fee for appointment, each insurer, health maintenance organization, fraternal benefit
society, nonprofit hospital or medical service organization, viatical settlement provider or risk
retention group $30; [PL 1997, c. 592, §16 (AMD).]

C. Temporary license issuance fee $50; [PL 1993, c. 637, §4 (AMD).]
D. [PL 1997, c. 457, §18 (RP); PL 1997, c. 457, §55 (AFF).]

E. Issuance fee for original nonresident producer license or for a nonresident producer acting
pursuant to a national nonresident producer license issued through the National Association of
Registered Agents and Brokers $70;

Appointment of such producer, each insurer, health maintenance organization, fraternal benefit
society, nonprofit hospital or medical service organization, viatical settlement provider or risk
retention group $70;

Biennial fee for appointment, each insurer, health maintenance organization, fraternal benefit
society, nonprofit hospital or medical service organization, viatical settlement provider or risk
retention group $70; [PL 2017, c. 115, §2 (AMD).]

F. Issuance fee for resident agency license, $30;
Biennial fee, $30;

Biennial fee for appointment, each insurer, health maintenance organization, fraternal benefit
society, nonprofit hospital or medical service organization, viatical settlement provider or risk
retention group, $30; and [PL 2011, c. 238, Pt. H, §1 (AMD).]

G. TIssuance fee for nonresident agency license, $70;
Biennial fee, $70;

Biennial fee for appointment, each insurer, health maintenance organization, fraternal benefit
society, nonprofit hospital or medical service organization, viatical settlement provider or risk
retention group, $70. [PL 2011, c. 238, Pt. H, §2 (AMD).]

H. [PL 2011, c. 238, Pt. H, §3 (RP)]
[PL 2017, c. 115, §2 (AMD).]

6. Brokers.
[PL 1997, c. 457, §19 (RP); PL 1997, c. 457, §55 (AFF).]

7. Consultants. Consultant license fees may not exceed:

A. Issuance fee for original resident consultant license $50;
Biennial fee $50; [PL 1997, c. 592, §17 (AMD).]

B. Issuance fee for original nonresident consultant license $100;
Biennial fee $100; [PL 1997, c. 592, §17 (AMD).]

C. Issuance fee for resident consultant agency license $50;
Biennial fee $50; and [PL 1997, c. 592, §17 (AMD).]

D. Issuance fee for nonresident consultant agency license $100;
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Biennial fee  $100. [PL 1997, c. 592, §17 (AMD).]
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

8. Adjusters. Adjuster license fees may not exceed:

A. Issuance fee for original resident adjuster license $30;
Biennial fee $30; [PL 1997, c. 592, §18 (AMD).]

B. Issuance fee for original nonresident adjuster license $60;
Biennial fee $60; [PL 1997, c. 592, §18 (AMD).]

C. Temporary license $50; [PL 1993, c. 637, §8 (AMD).]
D. Issuance fee for resident adjuster agency license $30;
Biennial fee $30; and [PL 1997, c. 592, §18 (AMD).]

E. Issuance fee for nonresident adjuster agency license $60;

Biennial fee $60. [PL 1997, c. 592, §18 (AMD).]
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

9. Examination.

[PL 1993, c. 221, §1 (RP).]
9-A. Application. Application for license fees may not exceed:
A. Application filing fee, other than consultants $15;and [PL 1993, c. 221, §2 (NEW).]

B. Consultant application filing fee $25. [PL 1993, c. 221, §2 (NEW).]
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

10. Vending machines. Insurance vending machines fees may not exceed:
Issuance fee for license, each machine $100; and

Biennial continuation of license, each machine $100.
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

11. Rating organizations and advisory organizations. Rating organizations and advisory
organizations fees may not exceed:

Original license issuance fee $200; and

Biennial continuation of license $200.
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

12. Road or tourist service.
[PL 1997, c. 457, §20 (RP).]

13. Copies of certificates. Certified copy of insurer certificate of authority or other license issued
under this Title may not exceed $10.
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

14. Copies of other documents. Copies of other documents on file in the bureau: reasonable
charge as fixed by the superintendent; and for certifying and fixing official seal may not exceed
$10.

[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

15.
[PL 1975, c. 767, §15 (RP).]

16. Self-insurance authorization. Fees applicable to each self-insurer, individual or group,
seeking authorization or authorized to operate a workers' compensation self-insurance plan, and each
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self-insurance reinsurance account and each protected cell of a self-insurance reinsurance account, may
not exceed:

A. For filing application for initial authorization, including all documents submitted as part of the
application, $1,000; [PL 2009, c. 232, §1 (AMD).]

A-1. For filing application for authority to self-insure under Title 39-A, section 403, subsection
16, including all documents submitted as part of the application, $500; [PL 2009, c. 232, §1
(AMD).]

B. For authorization and each annual continuation, $300; and [PL 2009, c. 232, §1 (AMD).]
C. For filing a yearly report of a self-insurer, $100. [PL 2009, c. 232, §1 (AMD).]

If a self-insurer terminates the plan or otherwise does not continue to self-insure, the fee applicable to
filing of yearly reports must apply to that period in which the making of these reports is mandated.
[PL 2009, c. 232, §1 (AMD).]

17. Rules, rates and forms filings. Rate filings, rating rules filings, insurance policy, forms,
riders, endorsements and certificate filings may not exceed $20.

[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]
18. Third-party administrators. Third-party administrators license fees may not exceed:
A. Original issuance fee $100; and [PL 1993, c. 637, §12 (AMD).]

B. Annual renewal fee ~ $100. [PL 1993, c. 637, §12 (AMD).]
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

19. Purchasing group registrations. Purchasing group registration fees may not exceed:
A. Original issuance fee $100; and [PL 1993, c. 637, §13 (AMD).]

B. Annual renewal fee $100. [PL 1993, c. 637, §13 (AMD).]
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

20. Preferred provider arrangement administrator. Preferred provider arrangement
administrator fees may not exceed:

A. Original registration issuance fee $100; and [PL 1993, c. 637, §13 (AMD).]

B. Annual renewal fee $100. [PL 1993, c. 637, §13 (AMD).]
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

21. Reinsurance intermediary. Reinsurance intermediary issuance fees and renewal fees may
not exceed:

A. Original license issuance fee $50; and [PL 1993, c. 637, §14 (RPR).]

B. Annual continuation $50. [PL 1997, c. 457, §21 (AMD).]
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

22. Managing general agents. Managing general agents fees may not exceed:
A. Original registration fee $100; and [PL 1993, c. 221, §4 (NEW).]

B. Annual continuation of registration fee $100. [PL 1993, c. 221, §4 (NEW).]
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

23. Continuing education vendors and courses. Filing fees for continuing education courses
and vendors may not exceed:

A. Filing fee for each continuing education vendor $100; [PL 1993, c. 637, §15 (NEW).]
B. Biennial continuation of approval $100; and [PL 1993, c. 637, §15 (NEW).]
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C. Filing fee for original approval of each continuing education course $20. [PL 1993, c.
637, §15 (NEW).]
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]
24. Multiple-employer welfare arrangements. Applications for authorization may not exceed
$500.
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

25. Transferees of structured settlement payment rights. Transferees of structured settlement
payment rights registration fees may not exceed:

A. Original issuance fee $100; and [PL 1999, c. 268, §1 (NEW).]

B. Annual renewal fee  $100. [PL 1999, c. 268, §1 (NEW)]
[PL 2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD).]

26. Accredited reinsurers. Application fees for accreditation of reinsurers may not exceed $500.
[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. B, §1 (AMD).]

26-A. Certified reinsurers. Application fees for certification of reinsurers may not exceed
$1,000.
[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. B, §2 (NEW).]

27. Viatical or life settlement provider. Settlement provider license issuance fees and renewal
fees may not exceed:

A. Original license issuance fee $400; and [PL 2003, c. 636, §1 (NEW).]

B. Annual renewal fee $400. [RR 2003, c. 2, §85 (COR).]
[RR 2003, c. 2, §85 (COR).]

28. Pharmacy benefits manager.

[PL 2019, c. 469, §3 (RP); PL 2019, c. 469, §9 (AFF).]
28-A. Pharmacy benefits manager. Pharmacy benefits manager licensing fees may not exceed:
A. Original issuance fee, $100; and [PL 2019, c. 469, §4 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 469, §9 (AFF).]

B. Renewal fee, $100. [PL 2019, c. 469, §4 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 469, §9 (AFF).]
[PL 2019, c. 469, §4 (NEW); PL 2019, c. 469, §9 (AFF) ]

29. Portable electronic device insurance vendor. Portable electronic device insurance vendor
licensing fees may not exceed:

A. Original license issuance fee, $1,000; and [PL 2011, c. 297, §1 (NEW).]

B. Annual renewal fee, $500. [PL 2011, c. 297, §1 (NEW).]
[PL 2011, c. 297, §1 (NEW).]

REVISOR'S NOTE: (Subsection 29 as enacted by PL 2011, c. 345, §3 and affected by §7 is
REALLOCATED TO TITLE 24-A, SECTION 601, SUBSECTION 30)

30. (REALLOCATED FROM T. 24-A, §601, sub-§29) Service contract providers and
administrators. Service contract provider or administrator annual registration fees may not exceed
$200.

[RR 2011, c. 1, §37 (RAL).]

31. Supervising travel insurance producer. Supervising travel insurance producer licensing fees
may not exceed:

A. Original license issuance fee, $500; and [PL 2015, c. 133, §1 (NEW).]
B. Annual renewal fee, $300. [PL 2015, c. 133, §1 (NEW).]

0.30.2023 Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE | 93



MRS Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE

[PL 2015, c. 133, §1 (NEW).]
32. Surplus lines. Surplus lines authority fees may not exceed:

A. Tssuance fee for surplus lines authority, $150. [PL 2019, c. 382, §1 (NEW).]
[PL 2019, c. 382, §1 (NEW).]

33. Self-storage insurance provider. Self-storage insurance provider fees may not exceed:

A. Issuance of license for self-storage insurance provider, $100; and [PL 2021, c. 218, §1
(NEW).]

B. Annual renewal fee, $50. [PL 2021, c. 218, §1 (NEW).]
[PL 2021, c. 218, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1971, c. 435, §1 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 150, §1 (AMD). PL 1973,
c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 726, §§1-6 (AMD). PL 1975, c. 767, §§12-15 (AMD). PL 1977,
c. 222, §2 (AMD). PL 1979, c. 658, §1 (AMD). PL 1981, c. 225, §§1-4 (AMD). PL 1981, c. 501,
§41 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 435, §1 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 846, §§D1,E4 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 334,
§5 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 828, §15 (AMD). PL 1993, c. 153, §§1-8 (AMD). PL 1993, c. 221, §§1-4
(AMD). PL 1993, c. 637, §§4-15 (AMD). PL 1995, c. 544, §6 (AMD). PL 1995, c. 594, §1
(AMD). PL 1995, c. 618, §1 (AMD). PL 1997, c. 457, §§17-21 (AMD). PL 1997, c. 457, §55
(AFF). PL 1997, c. 592, §§14-18 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 268, §1 (AMD). PL 1999, c. 609, §1
(AMD). PL 2001, c. 47, §1 (AMD). RR 2003, c. 1, §20 (COR). RR 2003, c. 2, §85 (COR). PL
2003, c. 203, §1 (AMD). PL 2003, c. 636, §1 (AMD). PL 2009, c. 232, §1 (AMD). PL 2009, c.
581, §3 (AMD). RR 2011, c. 1, §37 (COR). PL 2011, c. 238, Pt. H, §§1-3 (AMD). PL 2011, c.
297, §1 (AMD). PL 2011, c. 345, §3 (AMD). PL 2011, c. 345, §7 (AFF). PL 2013, c. 238, Pt.
B, §§1, 2 (AMD). PL 2015, c. 133, §1 (AMD). PL 2017, c. 115, §2 (AMD). PL 2019, c. 382, §1
(AMD). PL 2019, c. 469, §§3, 4 (AMD). PL 2019, c. 469, §9 (AFF). PL 2021, c. 218, §1 (AMD).

§602. Tax on premiums and annuity considerations

As to returns and taxes on premiums and annuity considerations refer to Title 36, chapter 357. [PL

1989, c. 502, Pt. A, §92 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1989, c. 502, §A92 (AMD).
§603. Record, remittance of fees

The superintendent shall keep a correct account of all fees and moneys received by the
superintendent by virtue of the superintendent's office, and shall pay the same over to the Treasurer of
State forthwith. [RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §186 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §186 (COR).
§604. Insurance Regulatory Fund

1. There is created in the State Treasury a dedicated account to be designated the "Insurance
Regulatory Fund," the funds of which are hereby appropriated for the partial support and maintenance
of the Insurance Bureau.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]
2. The Treasurer of State shall credit the following funds to the Insurance Regulatory Fund:

A. The balance, if any, remaining on January 1, 1970 of funds allocated to the bureau pursuant to
Title 24, section 372; [PL 1973, c. 625, §136 (AMD).]
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B. Fees, licenses and other charges collected and remitted by the superintendent under section 601
(fee schedule), or as increased pursuant to section 428 (retaliatory provision); [PL 1985, c. 446,
§3 (AMD).]

C. [PL 1997, c. 457, §22 (RP).]

D. Amounts assessed by the superintendent under Title 24, section 2332; [PL 1985, c. 446, §3
(AMD).]

E. Amounts assessed by the superintendent under section 237; [PL 1985, c. 446, §3 (NEW).]

F. Amounts assessed by the superintendent under Title 39-A, section 409; and [PL 1991, c. 885,
Pt. E, §24 (AMD); PL 1991, c. 885, Pt. E, §47 (AFF).]

G. Such other amounts as may be expressly required by law to be so credited. [PL 1985, c. 446,
§3 (NEW).]
[PL 2001, c. 559, §1 (AMD); PL 2001, c. 559, §2 (AFF).]

3. Expenditures by the bureau from the Insurance Regulatory Fund shall be subject to budget
control in the same manner as applies to departments of State in general.
[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §§12,13 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).
PL 1973, c. 625, §136 (AMD). PL 1985, c. 446, §3 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 885, §E24 (AMD). PL
1991, c. 885, §E47 (AFF). PL 1997, c. 457, §22 (AMD). PL 2001, c. 559, §Z1 (AMD). PL 2001,
c. 559, §22 (AFF).

§605. In lieu, pre-emption provision

1. Payment by the insurer of the taxes as required by Title 25, section 2399 and Title 36, chapter
357 is in lieu of all taxes imposed by the State upon the insurer, or any subsidiary referred to in section
1157, subsection 5, paragraph B, subparagraph (1), upon premiums or upon income, and of any
franchise, privilege or other taxes measured by income of the insurer or the subsidiary.

[PL 1993, c. 502, §1 (AMD); PL 1993, c. 502, §5 (AFF).]

2. The State preempts the field of regulating, or of imposing excise, privilege, franchise, income,
license, permit, registration and similar taxes, licenses and fees upon, insurers, any subsidiary referred
to in section 1157, subsection 5, paragraph B, subparagraph (1), their general agents, agents and other
representatives as such; and on the intangible property of insurers, any subsidiary referred to in section
1157, subsection 5, paragraph B, subparagraph (1) or such representatives; and all political subdivisions
or agencies in this State are prohibited from regulating insurers, any subsidiary referred to in section
1157, subsection 5, paragraph B, subparagraph (1) or their general agents, agents and other
representatives as such, and from imposing upon them any such tax, license or fee. This provision does
not prohibit the imposition by political subdivisions of taxes upon real and tangible personal property.
[PL 1993, c. 502, §2 (AMD); PL 1993, c. 502, §5 (AFF).]

3. This section shall not be modified or repealed by any law of general application hereafter
enacted, unless expressly referred to or expressly repealed therein.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §14 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 502, §A93 (AMD). PL
1993, c. 502, §§1,2 (AMD). PL 1993, c. 502, §5 (AFF).

CHAPTER 9
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KINDS OF INSURANCE; LIMITS OF RISK; REINSURANCE
SUBCHAPTER 1
KINDS OF INSURANCE

§701. Definitions not mutually exclusive

It is intended that certain insurance coverages may come within the definitions of 2 or more kinds
of insurance as defined in this chapter, and the inclusion of such coverage within one definition shall
not exclude it as to any other kind of insurance within the definition of which such coverage is likewise
reasonably includable. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§702. "Life insurance" defined

Life insurance is insurance on human lives. The transaction of life insurance includes also the
granting endowment benefits, additional benefits in event of death or dismemberment by accident or
accidental means, additional benefits in event of the insured's disability, and optional modes of
settlement of proceeds of life insurance. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§703. "Annuity" defined

For the purposes of this Title, an "annuity" is a contract under which obligations are assumed with
respect to periodic payments for a specific term or terms or where the making or continuance of all or
of some of the payments, or the amount of a payment, is dependent upon the continuance of human
life, except payments made pursuant to optional modes of settlement under the authority of section 702.
A contract that includes extra benefits of the kinds defined in sections 702 and 704 is deemed to be an
annuity, if the extra benefits constitute a subsidiary or incidental part of the entire contract. A charitable
gift annuity agreement, as defined in section 703-A, is not insurance. [PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. C, §2
(AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1995, c. 375, §C2 (AMD).
§703-A. Charitable gift annuity agreement

1. Charitable gift annuity agreement defined. For the purposes of this Title, a "charitable gift
annuity agreement" is a written contract in which a qualified organization receives money or other
property conditioned upon the organization's agreement to pay an annuity to one or more individuals;
as long as, with respect to the organization, the annuity meets the requirements for exclusion from the
definition of "acquisition indebtedness" under the Internal Revenue Code, Section 514(c)(5) or a
successor provision.

[PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. C, §3 (NEW) ]

2. Qualified organization defined. For the purposes of this Title, a "qualified organization" is an
organization that is privately and specially established as an instrumentality of the State for a nonprofit
purpose or an organization that meets the following requirements.

A. The organization is a nonprofit organization that is either:

(1) An organization to which the Maine Nonprofit Corporation Act applies; or
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(2) Organized under the laws of a jurisdiction within the United States and qualified as a
foreign corporation pursuant to Title 13-B, chapter 12. [PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

B. The organization qualifies as a tax-exempt organization under the Internal Revenue Code,
Section 501(¢)(3) or a successor provision. [PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

C. The organization:
(1) Has been operating continuously for 5 or more years;
(2) Is a parent or subsidiary of a qualified organization; or

(3) Is the successor to an organization that meets the requirements of paragraphs A and B and
both organizations together have operated continuously for 5 or more years. [PL 1995, c. 375,
Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

[PL 1995, c. 375, Pt. C, §3 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1995, c. 375, §C3 (NEW).
§704. "Health insurance" defined

1. Health insurance. For purposes of this Title, except as provided in subsection 2 and subsection
3, "health insurance" means insurance of human beings against bodily injury, disablement or death by
accident or accidental means, or the expense thereof, or against disablement or expense resulting from
sickness, and every insurance appertaining thereto, including provision for the mental and emotional
welfare of human beings by defraying the costs of legal services only to the extent provided for in
chapter 38.
[PL 2011, c. 192, §1 (AMD).]

2. Exceptions. As used in this Title and Title 24 in any law enacted after the effective date of this
subsection that mandates medical benefits or coverage in individual or group health insurance policies
under chapter 33 or chapter 35 for certain specific health services or diseases or certain providers of
health care services or that mandates rights and obligations under chapter 56-A, unless the context
otherwise indicates, the use of "health insurance" and related terms such as "accident and health
insurance," "accident and sickness insurance,” "carrier," "health," "health benefit plan," "health care,"
"health insurer" or "insurer" does not include, unless specifically provided otherwise in the law, the
following types of insurance or any combination of those types of insurance: accidental injury, specified
disease, hospital indemnity, dental, vision, disability income, long-term care, Medicare supplement or
other limited benefit health insurance.

[PL 2001, c. 79, §1 (NEW).]

3. Health care sharing ministry. As used in this Title and Title 24, the use of "health insurance"
and related terms such as "accident and health insurance," "accident and sickness insurance," "carrier,"
"health," "health benefit plan," "health care," "health insurer" or "insurer" does not include, unless
specifically provided otherwise in the law, a health care sharing ministry, and a health care sharing
ministry may not be considered to be engaged in the business of insurance for the purposes of this Title.
For the purposes of this section, "health care sharing ministry" means a faith-based, nonprofit
organization that is exempt from taxation under the federal Internal Revenue Code and that:

A. Has been in existence continuously since December 31, 1999 and has facilitated the sharing of
medical expenses of participants without interruption since December 31, 1999; [PL 2011, c. 192,
§2 (NEW).]

B. Limits participation in the health care sharing ministry to individuals who have a particular
religious affiliation; [PL 2011, c. 192, §2 (NEW).]
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C. Acts as a facilitator among participants who have financial and medical needs and matches
those participants with other participants with the present ability to assist those with financial and
medical needs in accordance with criteria established by the health care sharing ministry; [PL
2011, c. 192, §2 (NEW).]

D. Provides for the financial and medical needs of a participant through monetary contributions
from one participant to another; [PL 2011, c. 192, §2 (NEW).]

E. Provides amounts that participants may contribute without any assumption of risk or promise
to pay among the participants and requires no assumption of risk or promise to pay by the health
care sharing ministry to the participants; [PL 2011, c. 192, §2 (NEW).]

F. Provides a written monthly statement to all participants that lists the total dollar amount of
qualified needs submitted to the health care sharing ministry, as well as the amount actually
published or assigned to participants for their contribution; [PL 2011, c. 192, §2 (NEW).]

G. Conducts an annual audit that is performed by an independent certified public accountant in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and that is made available to the public
upon request; and [PL 2011, c. 192, §2 (NEW).]

H. Provides a written disclaimer on or accompanying all applications and guideline materials
distributed by or on behalf of the organization that reads in substance: "Notice: The organization
facilitating the sharing of medical expenses is not an insurance company and neither its guidelines
nor plan of operation is an insurance policy. Whether anyone chooses to assist you with your
medical bills will be totally voluntary because no other participant will be compelled by law to
contribute toward your medical bills. Participation in the organization or a subscription to any of
its documents should never be considered to be insurance. Regardless of whether you receive
payment for medical expenses or whether this organization continues to operate, you are always
personally responsible for the payment of your own medical bills." [PL 2011, c. 192, §2 (NEW).]
[PL 2011, c. 192, §2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1983, c. 801, §1 (AMD). PL 2001, c. 79, §1 (RPR). PL 2011,
c. 192, §§1, 2 (AMD).

§704-A. Health maintenance organization

For purposes of this Title, "health maintenance organization" is defined in section 4202-A,
subsection 10. [PL 1993, c. 702, Pt. A, §9 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1993, c. 702, §A9 (NEW).
§705. "Property insurance'" defined

Property insurance is insurance on real or personal property of every kind and of every interest
therein against loss or damage from any and all hazard or cause, and against loss consequential upon
such loss or damage, other than noncontractual legal liability for any such loss or damage. Property
insurance does not include title insurance, as defined in section 709. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).
§706. "Bonds" defined
The definition of "bonds" includes: [PL 1995, c. 329, §4 (AMD).]

1. Fidelity insurance, which is insurance guaranteeing the honesty of persons holding positions of
public or private trust;
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[PL 1995, c. 329, §4 (AMD).]

2. Surety insurance guaranteeing the performance of contracts, other than insurance policies, and
guaranteeing and executing bonds, undertakings and contracts of suretyship; and
[PL 1995, c. 329, §4 (AMD).]

3. Insurance indemnifying banks, bankers, brokers, financial or moneyed corporations or
associations against loss, resulting from any cause, of bills of exchange, notes, bonds, securities,
evidences of debt, deeds, mortgages, warehouse receipts or other valuable papers, documents, money,
precious metals and articles made therefrom, jewelry, watches, gems, precious and semiprecious stones,
including any loss while the same are being transported in armored motor vehicles, or by messenger,
but not including any other risks of transportation or navigation; also insurance against loss or damage
to such an insured's premises or to the insured's furnishings, fixtures, equipment, safes and vaults
therein, caused by burglary, robbery, theft, vandalism or malicious mischief, or any attempt thereat.
[RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §187 (COR).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1995, c. 329, §4 (AMD). RR 2021, c. 1, Pt. B, §187 (COR).
§707. "Casualty insurance' defined

1. Casualty insurance includes:

A. Vehicle insurance. Insurance against loss of or damage to any land vehicle or aircraft or any
draft or riding animal or to property while contained therein or thereon or being loaded or unloaded
therein or therefrom, from any hazard or cause, and against any loss, liability or expense resulting
from or incidental to ownership, maintenance or use of any such vehicle, aircraft or animal; together
with insurance against accidental injury to individuals, irrespective of legal liability of the insured,
including the named insured, while in, entering, alighting from, adjusting, repairing, cranking or
caused by being struck by a vehicle, aircraft or draft or riding animal, if such insurance is issued as
an incidental part of insurance on the vehicle, aircraft or draft or riding animal; [PL 1969, c. 132,

§1 (NEW).]

B. Liability insurance. Insurance against legal liability for the death, injury or disability of any
human being, or for damage to property; and provision of medical, hospital, surgical, disability
benefits to injured persons and funeral and death benefits to dependents, beneficiaries or personal
representatives of persons killed, irrespective of legal liability of the insured, when issued as an
incidental coverage with or supplemental to liability insurance; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

C. Workers' compensation and employer's liability. Insurance, written on a primary basis, of the
obligations accepted by, imposed upon or assumed by employers under law for death, disablement
or injury of employees; [PL 1991, c. 872, §1 (AMD).]

C-1. Employee benefit excess insurance. Insurance, protecting an employer against higher than
expected obligations under an employee benefit plan, at retention levels that do not have the effect
of making the plan an insured plan. Reinsurance provided to employers that self-insure their
workers' compensation exposures pursuant to Title 39-A, section 403 does not constitute employee
benefit excess insurance. The transaction of employee benefit excess insurance does not constitute
the conduct of the business of reinsurance; [PL 2007, c. 466, Pt. D, §4 (AMD).]

D. Burglary and theft. Insurance against loss or damage by burglary, theft, larceny, robbery,
forgery, fraud, vandalism, malicious mischief, confiscation or wrongful conversion, disposal or
concealment, or from any attempt at any of the foregoing; including supplemental coverage for
medical, hospital, surgical and funeral expense incurred by the named insured or any other person
as a result of bodily injury during the commission of a burglary, robbery or theft by another; also
insurance against loss of or damage to moneys, coins, bullion, securities, notes, drafts, acceptances
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or any other valuable papers and documents, resulting from any cause; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1
(NEW).]

E. Personal property floater. Insurance upon personal effects against loss or damage from any
cause; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

F. Glass. Insurance against loss or damage to glass, including its lettering, ornamentation and
fittings; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

G. Boiler and machinery. Insurance against any liability and loss or damage to property or interest
resulting from accidents to or explosions of boilers, pipes, pressure containers, machinery or
apparatus, and to make inspection of and issue certificates of inspection upon boilers, machinery
and apparatus of any kind, whether or not insured; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

H. Leakage and fire extinguishing equipment. Insurance against loss or damage to any property or
interest caused by the breakage or leakage of sprinklers, hoses, pumps and other fire extinguishing
equipment or apparatus, water pipes or containers, or by water entering through leaks or openings
in buildings, and insurance against loss or damage to such sprinklers, hoses, pumps and other fire
extinguishing equipment or apparatus; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

I. Credit. Insurance against loss or damage resulting from failure of debtors to pay their obligations
to the insured; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

J. Malpractice. Insurance against legal liability of the insured, and against loss, damage or expense
incidental to a claim of such liability, and including medical hospital, surgical and funeral benefits
to injured persons, irrespective of legal liability of the insured, arising out of the death, injury or
disablement of any person, or arising out of damage to the economic interest of any person, as the
result of negligence in rendering expert, fiduciary or professional service; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1
(NEW).]

K. Elevator. Insurance against loss of or damage to any property of the insured, resulting from the
ownership, maintenance or use of elevators, except loss or damage by fire, and to make inspection
of and issue certificates of inspection upon elevators; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

L. Congenital defects. Insurance against congenital defects in human beings; [PL 1969, c. 132,
§1 (NEW).]

M. Livestock. Insurance against loss or damage to livestock, and services of a veterinary for such
animals; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

N. Entertainments. Insurance indemnifying the producer of any motion picture, television, radio,
theatrical, sport, spectacle, entertainment or similar production, event or exhibition against loss
from interruption, postponement or cancellation thereof due to death, accidental injury or sickness
of performers, participants, directors or other principals; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

N-1. Involuntary unemployment. Insurance against the loss of income due to a permanent or
temporary job loss or job change. Involuntary unemployment insurance may include labor dispute
coverage. Governmental benefit programs are not considered involuntary unemployment
insurance for purposes of this Title; and [PL 2001, c. 138, §2 (NEW).]

O. Miscellaneous. Insurance against any other kind of loss, damage or liability properly a subject
of insurance and not within any other kind of insurance as defined in this subchapter, if such
insurance is not disapproved by the superintendent as being contrary to law or public policy. [PL
1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

[PL 2007, c. 466, Pt. D, §4 (AMD).]

2. Provision of medical, hospital, surgical and funeral benefits, and of coverage against accidental
death or injury, as incidental to and part of other insurance as stated under subsection 1, paragraphs A
(vehicle), B (liability), D (burglary), G (boiler and machinery), J (malpractice) and K (elevator) shall
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for all purposes be deemed to be the same kind of insurance to which it is so incidental, and shall not
be subject to provisions of this Title applicable to life and health insurances.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

3. An insurer other than a casualty insurer may transact employee benefit excess insurance only
if that insurer is authorized to insure the class of risk assumed by the underlying benefit plan. Employee
benefit excess insurance, even if written by a life or health insurer, is not subject to chapters 29 and 31
to 37, except to the extent that particular provisions are made expressly applicable by rule or law. No
later than July 1, 1997, the superintendent shall by rule set standards distinguishing excess insurance
from basic insurance. In developing these standards, the superintendent may consider the analysis
supporting the recommendations of the National Association of Insurance Commissioners.

[PL 1995, c. 673, Pt. B, §2 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 385, §§5-7 (AMD). PL
1991, c. 872, §§1,2 (AMD). PL 1995, c. 375, §C4 (AMD). PL 1995, c. 673, §B2 (AMD). PL
2001, c. 138, §2 (AMD). PL 2007, c. 466, Pt. D, §4 (AMD).

§708. Marine and transportation, '""wet marine" insurance defined
1. "Marine and transportation insurance" includes:
A. Insurance against any kinds of loss or damage to:

(1) Vessels, craft, aircraft, cars, automobiles and vehicles of every kind, as well as all goods,
freights, cargoes, merchandise, effects, disbursements, profits, moneys, bullion, precious
stones, securities, choses in action, evidences of debt, valuable papers, bottomry and
respondentia interests and all other kinds of property and interests therein, in respect to,
appertaining to, or in connection with any and all risks or perils of navigation, transit or
transportation, including war risks, on or under any seas or other waters, on land or in the air,
or while being assembled, packed, crated, baled, compressed or similarly prepared for shipment
or while awaiting the same or during any delays, storage, transshipment, or reshipment incident
thereto, including marine builder's risks and all personal property floater risks, and

(2) Person or to property in connection with or appertaining to a marine, inland marine, transit
or transportation insurance, including liability for loss of or damage to either, arising out of or
in connection with the construction, repair, operation, maintenance or use of the subject matter
of such insurance, but not including life insurance or surety bonds nor insurance against loss
by reason of bodily injury to the person arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of
automobiles, and

(3) Precious stones, jewels, jewelry, gold, silver and other precious metals, whether used in
business or trade or otherwise and whether the same be in course of transportation or otherwise;
and

(4) Bridges, tunnels and other instrumentalities of transportation and communication,
excluding buildings, their furniture and furnishings, fixed contents and supplies held in storage,
unless fire, tornado, sprinkler leakage, hail, explosion, earthquake, riot or civil commotion are
the only hazards to be covered; piers, wharves, docks and slips, excluding the risks of fire,
tornado, sprinkler leakage, hail, explosion, earthquake, riot or civil commotion; other aids to
navigation and transportation, including dry docks and marine railways, against all risks; [PL
1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

B. "Marine protection and indemnity insurance," meaning insurance against, or against legal
liability of the insured for, loss, damage or expense arising out of, or incident to, the ownership,
operation, chartering, maintenance, use, repair or construction of any vessel, craft or instrumentality
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in use in ocean or inland waterways, including liability of the insured for personal injury, illness or
death or for loss of or damage to the property of another person; and [PL 2021, c. 354, §1 (AMD).]

C. Travel insurance as described in section 1420-F, subsection 1, paragraph H. [PL 2021, c. 354,
§2 (NEW).]
[PL 2021, c. 354, §§1, 2 (AMD).]

2. For the purposes of this Title, "wet marine and transportation” insurance is that part of "marine
and transportation" insurance which includes only:

A. Insurance upon vessels, crafts, hulls and of interests therein or with relation thereto; [PL 1969,

c. 132, §1 (NEW)]

B. Insurance of marine builders' risks, marine war risks and contracts of marine protection and
indemnity insurance; [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

C. Insurance of freights and disbursements pertaining to a subject of insurance coming within this
definition; and [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

D. Insurance of personal property and interests therein, in course of exportation from or
importation into any country, or in course of transportation coastwise or on inland waters, including
transportation by land, water or air from point of origin to final destination, in respect to,
appertaining to or in connection with, any and all risks or perils of navigation, transit or
transportation, and while being prepared for and while awaiting shipment, and during any delays,
storage, transshipment or reshipment incident thereto. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 2021, c. 354, §§1, 2 (AMD).
§709. "Title insurance" defined

Title insurance is insurance of owners of property or others having an interest therein, or liens or
encumbrances thereon, against loss by encumbrance, or defective titles, or invalidity, or adverse claim

to title. [PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).

§709-A. Financial guaranty insurance defined

The term "financial guaranty insurance" includes any insurance under which loss is payable upon
proof of occurrence of any of the following events to the damage of an insured claimant or obligee:
[PL 1987, c. 707, §2 (NEW).]

1. Failure of any obligor or obligors on any debt instrument or other monetary obligation, including
common or preferred stock, to pay when due the principal, interest, dividend or purchase price of the
instrument or obligation, whether the failure is the result of a financial default or insolvency and
whether or not the obligation is incurred directly or as guarantor by, or on behalf of, another obligor
which has also defaulted;

[PL 1987, c. 707, §2 (NEW).]

2. Changes in the level of interest rates,whether short term or long term, or in the difference
between interest rates existing in various markets;

[PL 1987, c. 707, §2 (NEW)]

3. Changes in the rate of exchange of currency, or from the inconvertibility of one currency into
another for any reason; or

[PL 1987, c. 707, §2 (NEW)]
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4. Changes in the value of specific assets, including the residual value of property at the
termination of a lease.
[PL 1987, c. 707, §2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1987, c. 707, §2 (NEW).

§710. "Multiple line" insurers

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1991, c. 385, §8 (RP).

SUBCHAPTER 2
LIMITS OF RISK

§721. Limits of risk

1. No insurer shall retain any risk on any one subject of insurance, whether located or to be
performed in this State or elsewhere, in an amount exceeding 10% of its surplus to policyholders.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

2. A '"subject of insurance" for the purposes of this section, as to insurance against fire and hazards
other than windstorm, earthquake and other catastrophic hazards, includes all properties insured by the
same insurer which are customarily considered by underwriters to be subject to loss or damage from
the same fire or the same occurrence of any other hazard insured against.

[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

3. Reinsurance ceded as authorized by subchapter 3 must be deducted in determining risk retained.
As to surety risks, deduction must be made of the amount assumed by any authorized cosurety and the
value of any security deposited, pledged or held subject to the surety's consent and for the surety's
protection.
[PL 2023, c. 405, Pt. A, §83 (AMD).]

4. As to alien insurers, this section shall relate only to risks and surplus to policyholders of the

insurer's United States branch.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

5. "Surplus to policyholders" for the purposes of this section, in addition to the insurer's capital
and surplus, shall be deemed to include any voluntary reserves which are not required pursuant to law,
and shall be determined from the last sworn statement of the insurer on file with the superintendent, or
by the last report of examination of the insurer, whichever is the more recent at time of assumption of
risk.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

6. This section shall not apply to life or health insurance, annuities, title insurance, insurance of
wet marine and transportation risks, workers' compensation insurance, employers' liability coverages,
nor to any policy or type of coverage as to which the maximum possible loss to the insurer is not readily
ascertainable on issuance of the policy.

[PL 1987, c. 769, Pt. A, §89 (AMD).]

7. Limits of risk as to newly formed domestic mutual insurers shall be as provided in section 3352.
[PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

0.30.2023 Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE | 103



MRS Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1987, c. 769, §A89 (AMD). PL
2023, c. 405, Pt. A, §83 (AMD).

SUBCHAPTER 3
REINSURANCE

§731. Reinsurance
(REPEALED)
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §15 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL
1985, c. 330, §§7-9 (AMD). PL 1989, c. 846, §§E1,4 (RP).

§731-A. Acceptance of reinsurance

An insurer may accept reinsurance only of such kinds of risks, and retain risk thereon within such
limits, as the insurer is otherwise authorized to insure. [PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §2 (NEW); PL 1989,
c. 846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1989, c. 846, §§E2,4 (NEW).
§731-B. Credit for reinsurance

1. Except to the extent that the liabilities ceded are secured in accordance with subsection 3, credit
for reinsurance is allowed a domestic ceding insurer as either an asset or a deduction from liability on
account of reinsurance ceded only when the reinsurance is ceded to a solvent assuming insurer that:

A. Is licensed to transact insurance or reinsurance in this State, provided the assuming insurer
maintains surplus as regards policyholders in an amount not less than the sum of paid-in capital
stock, if any, and surplus as otherwise required for a certificate of authority for the kinds and
amount of insurance and assumed reinsurance the insurer has in force net of any applicable ceded
reinsurance. If the assuming insurer is licensed as a special purpose reinsurance vehicle pursuant
to section 782 and maintains capital and surplus in accordance with the requirements of section
787, credit for reinsurance under a special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract, as defined in
section 781, subsection 15, is allowed only to the extent that:

(1) The fair value of the assets held by or for the benefit of the ceding insurer equals or exceeds
the obligations due and payable to the ceding insurer by the special purpose reinsurance vehicle
under the special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract;

(2) The assets are held in accordance with the requirements in subchapter 6;

(3) The assets are administered in the manner and pursuant to arrangements under subchapter
6;

(4) The assets are held or invested in one or more of the forms allowed in section 795; and

(5) The contract complies with all other relevant requirements of subchapter 6; [PL 2007, c.
386, §1 (AMD).]

B. Is domiciled and licensed in a state that employs standards regarding credit for reinsurance
substantially similar to those applicable under this section, if the insurer:

(1) Submits to the authority of this State to examine its books and records; and
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(2) Except where reinsurance is ceded and assumed pursuant to pooling arrangements among
insurers in the same holding company system, maintains a surplus regarding policyholders in
an amount not less than $20,000,000; [PL 1991, c. 828, §16 (AMD).]

B-1. Is accredited as a reinsurer in this State, in accordance with the following standards.

(1) To apply for accreditation, a reinsurer shall file with the superintendent a written
application on a form prescribed by the superintendent, accompanied by the fee prescribed in
section 601, subsection 26 and an agreement to submit to the jurisdiction of the courts of this
State and to the authority of the superintendent to examine the reinsurer's books and records.

(2) An accredited reinsurer must be licensed to transact insurance or reinsurance in at least one
state, or in the case of a United States branch of an alien reinsurer, that reinsurer must be entered
through and licensed to transact insurance or reinsurance in at least one state.

(3) An accredited reinsurer shall file with the superintendent, as part of its application and
annually thereafter, a copy of its annual statement filed with the insurance department of its
state of domicile or United States port of entry and a copy of its most recent audited financial
statement.

(4) A reinsurer applying for accreditation that maintains a surplus as regards to policyholders
in an amount not less than $20,000,000 is deemed to be accredited if the reinsurer's application
is not denied by the superintendent within 90 days after submission of the application. The
superintendent has the discretion to grant accreditation to an applicant with a surplus less than
$20,000,000 subject to such terms and conditions as the superintendent determines to be
necessary and appropriate for the protection of domestic ceding insurers and their
policyholders; [PL 2021, c. 16, §6 (AMD).]

B-2. Is certified as a reinsurer in this State and secures its obligations in accordance with this
paragraph.

(1) To be eligible for certification, the assuming insurer must meet the following requirements:

(a) The assuming insurer must be domiciled and licensed to transact insurance or
reinsurance in a jurisdiction determined by the superintendent to be a qualified jurisdiction
pursuant to subparagraph (3);

(b) The assuming insurer must maintain minimum capital and surplus, or its equivalent, in
an amount to be determined by the superintendent pursuant to rules adopted under
subsection 7;

(c) The assuming insurer must maintain financial strength ratings from 2 or more rating
agencies determined by the superintendent to be acceptable pursuant to rules adopted under
subsection 7;

(d) The assuming insurer must agree to submit to the jurisdiction of this State and to
appoint an agent for service of process in the same manner as provided for authorized
insurers under section 421 and agree to provide security for 100% of the assuming insurer's
liabilities attributable to reinsurance ceded by United States ceding insurers if the assuming
insurer resists enforcement of a final United States judgment;

(e) The assuming insurer must agree to meet applicable information filing requirements as
determined by the superintendent, both with respect to an initial application for certification
and on an ongoing basis. Documents filed with the superintendent by the assuming insurer
are not public records if the documents are confidential under the laws of the assuming
insurer's domiciliary jurisdiction;
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(f) The assuming insurer must pay the application fee prescribed in section 601, subsection
26-A and, to the extent provided in rules adopted under subsection 7, must agree to pay
reasonable costs of review; and

(g) The assuming insurer must satisfy any other requirements for certification established
by the superintendent.

(2) An association including incorporated and individual unincorporated underwriters may be
a certified reinsurer. In order to be eligible for certification, in addition to satisfying the
requirements of subparagraph (1):

(a) The association may satisfy its minimum capital and surplus requirements through the
capital and surplus equivalents, net of liabilities, of the association and its members, which
must include a joint central fund that may be applied to any unsatisfied obligation of the
association or any of its members, in an amount determined by the superintendent to
provide adequate protection;

(b) The incorporated members of the association may not be engaged in any business other
than underwriting as a member of the association and must be subject to the same level of
regulation and solvency control by the association's domiciliary regulator as are the
unincorporated members; and

(c) Within 90 days after its financial statements are due to be filed with the association's
domiciliary regulator, the association shall provide to the superintendent an annual
certification by the association's domiciliary regulator of the solvency of each underwriter
member of the association or, if a certification is unavailable, financial statements, prepared
by independent public accountants, of each underwriter member of the association.

(3) The superintendent shall create and publish a list of jurisdictions that are qualified to serve
as the domiciliary regulators of certified reinsurers.

(a) In order to determine whether the domiciliary jurisdiction of an alien assuming insurer
is eligible to be recognized as a qualified jurisdiction, the superintendent shall evaluate the
appropriateness and effectiveness of the reinsurance supervisory system of the jurisdiction,
both initially and on an ongoing basis, and consider the rights, benefits and the extent of
reciprocal recognition afforded by the jurisdiction to reinsurers licensed and domiciled in
the United States. To be recognized as qualified, a jurisdiction must agree to share
information and cooperate with the superintendent with respect to all certified reinsurers
domiciled within that jurisdiction. A jurisdiction may not be recognized as a qualified
jurisdiction if the superintendent has determined that the jurisdiction does not adequately
and promptly enforce final United States judgments and arbitration awards. The
superintendent may consider additional factors.

(b) If the National Association of Insurance Commissioners has published a list of
recommended qualified jurisdictions, the superintendent shall consider that list in
determining qualified jurisdictions. If the superintendent recognizes a jurisdiction as
qualified that does not appear on the list published by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners, the superintendent shall make detailed findings of fact supporting the
recognition in accordance with criteria to be developed in rules adopted under subsection
7.

(c) United States jurisdictions that are accredited by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners must be recognized as qualified jurisdictions.

(d) If a certified reinsurer's domiciliary jurisdiction ceases to be a qualified jurisdiction,
the superintendent may suspend the reinsurer's certification indefinitely, in lieu of
revocation.
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(4) The superintendent shall assign a rating to each certified reinsurer, giving due consideration
to the financial strength ratings that have been assigned by rating agencies determined to be
acceptable pursuant to rules adopted under subsection 7. The superintendent shall publish a
list of all certified reinsurers and their ratings.

(5) A certified reinsurer shall secure all obligations assumed from United States ceding insurers
under this subsection, and under comparable laws of other states, at a level consistent with its
rating and in a form acceptable to the superintendent, in compliance with rules adopted under
subsection 7.

(a) Ifthe security is insufficient, the superintendent shall reduce the allowable credit by an
amount proportionate to the deficiency and may impose further reductions in allowable
credit upon finding that there is a material risk that the certified reinsurer's obligations will
not be paid in full when due.

(b) The reinsurer may secure its obligations as a certified reinsurer through a
multibeneficiary trust that meets the requirements of paragraph C and subsection 2-A, with
the following modifications.

(i) The maximum credit allowable may exceed the value of the qualifying security to
the extent provided in this subparagraph.

(i) The minimum trusteed surplus is $10,000,000, rather than the amount specified in
paragraph C.

(ii1) If the certified reinsurer also maintains a multibeneficiary trust for obligations
required to be fully secured under paragraph C or comparable laws of other states, the
certified reinsurer shall maintain separate trust accounts for its obligations incurred
under reinsurance agreements issued or renewed with reduced security as permitted by
this paragraph or comparable laws of other United States jurisdictions and for its
obligations that are required to be fully secured. The trust accounts may not be
approved as qualifying security unless the reinsurer has bound itself, by the language
of the trust and by agreement with the insurance regulator with principal oversight of
each such trust account, to apply, upon termination of any such trust account, the
remaining surplus of that trust to the extent necessary to fund any deficiency of any
other such trust account.

(c) If a certified reinsurer does not secure its obligations through a qualifying
multibeneficiary trust, it must secure its obligations to the ceding insurer consistent with
the requirements of subsection 3, except that the maximum credit allowable may exceed
the value of the qualifying security to the extent provided in this subparagraph.

(d) For purposes of this subparagraph, a certified reinsurer whose certification has been
terminated for any reason must be treated as a certified reinsurer required to secure 100%
of its obligations, unless the superintendent has continued to assign a higher rating, as
permitted by other provisions of this section, to a certified reinsurer in inactive status or to
a reinsurer whose certification has been suspended.

(6) If an applicant for certification has been certified as a reinsurer in a jurisdiction accredited
by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, the superintendent may defer to that
jurisdiction's certification to grant certification in this State and may defer to the rating assigned
by that jurisdiction.

(7) A certified reinsurer that ceases to assume new business in this State may request to
maintain its certification in inactive status in order to continue to qualify for a reduction in
security for its in-force business. An inactive certified reinsurer shall continue to comply with
all applicable requirements of this subsection, and the superintendent shall assign a rating that
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takes into account, if relevant, the reasons why the reinsurer is not assuming new business; [PL

2021, c. 16, §6 (AMD).]

B-3. Meets each of the conditions established in subparagraphs (2) to (8).

(1) For purposes of this paragraph, the following terms have the following meanings.

(a) "Covered agreement" means an agreement, entered into pursuant to the federal Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act, 31 United States Code, Sections
313 and 314, that is in effect or in a period of provisional application and addresses the
elimination, under specified conditions, of collateral requirements as a condition for
entering into any reinsurance agreement with a ceding insurer domiciled in this State or for
allowing the ceding insurer to recognize credit for reinsurance.

(b) "Reciprocal jurisdiction" means a jurisdiction that is:

(i) A non-United States jurisdiction that is subject to an in-force covered agreement
with the United States, as long as each agreeing jurisdiction is within its legal authority
to enter the agreement, or, in the case of a covered agreement between the United States
and the European Union, a member state of the European Union;

(i1)) A United States jurisdiction that meets the requirements for accreditation under
the financial regulation standards and accreditation program of the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners; or

(ii1)) A qualified jurisdiction, as determined by the superintendent pursuant to
paragraph B-2, subparagraph (3), that meets certain additional requirements, consistent
with the terms and conditions of covered agreements, as specified by the
superintendent by rule.

(2) The assuming insurer must have its domicile or head office in, and be licensed in, a
reciprocal jurisdiction.

(3) The assuming insurer must have and maintain on an ongoing basis minimum capital and
surplus, or its equivalent, calculated according to the methodology applicable in its domiciliary
jurisdiction, in an amount established by rule. If the assuming insurer is an association that
includes incorporated and individual unincorporated underwriters, it must have and maintain
on an ongoing basis minimum capital and surplus equivalents, net of liabilities, calculated
according to the methodology applicable in its domiciliary jurisdiction, and a central fund
containing a balance in amounts established by rule.

(4) The assuming insurer must have and maintain on an ongoing basis a minimum solvency or
capital ratio, as applicable, as established by rule. If the assuming insurer is an association that
includes incorporated and individual unincorporated underwriters, it must have and maintain
on an ongoing basis a minimum solvency or capital ratio, as applicable, in the jurisdiction
where the assuming insurer has its head office or is domiciled, as applicable.

(5) The assuming insurer must agree, and provide adequate assurance to the superintendent in
a form specified by the superintendent by rule, as follows:

(a) The assuming insurer must provide prompt written notice and explanation to the
superintendent if it fails to meet the minimum requirements set forth in subparagraph (3)
or (4) or if any regulatory action is taken against it for serious noncompliance with
applicable law;

(b) The assuming insurer must consent in writing to the jurisdiction of the courts of this
State and to the appointment of the superintendent as agent for service of process. The
superintendent may require the assuming insurer to include such consent in each
reinsurance agreement for which credit is taken under this paragraph. This division does

108 |

Generated

Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE 10.30.2023



MRS Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE

not limit or in any way alter the capacity of parties to a reinsurance agreement to agree to
alternative dispute resolution mechanisms, except to the extent that such agreements are
unenforceable under applicable insolvency or delinquency laws;

(c) The assuming insurer must consent in writing to pay all final judgments, wherever
enforcement is sought, that are obtained by a ceding insurer or its legal successor and that
have been declared enforceable in the jurisdiction where the judgment was obtained;

(d) Each reinsurance agreement for which credit is taken under this paragraph must include
a provision requiring the assuming insurer to provide security for the full amount of the
assuming insurer's liabilities attributable to reinsurance ceded pursuant to that agreement
if the assuming insurer resists enforcement of a final judgment that is enforceable under
the law of the jurisdiction where the final judgment was obtained or resists enforcement of
a properly enforceable arbitration award, whether the judgment or award is obtained by the
ceding insurer or by its legal successor on behalf of its resolution estate. As used in this
division, "resolution estate" means the estate of an insurer or reinsurer that has been placed
into a receivership or comparable legal status; and

(e) The assuming insurer must confirm that it is not participating in any solvent scheme of
arrangement that involves this State's ceding insurers and must agree to notify the ceding
insurer and the superintendent and to provide security for the full amount of the assuming
insurer's liabilities to the ceding insurer should the assuming insurer enter into such a
solvent scheme of arrangement. Such security must be in a form consistent with the
provisions of paragraph B-2 and subsection 3 and as specified by the superintendent by
rule.

(6) The assuming insurer or its legal successor must provide, on behalf of itself and any legal
predecessors, certain documentation to the superintendent as specified by the superintendent
by rule, if requested by the superintendent.

(7) The assuming insurer must maintain a practice of prompt payment of claims under
reinsurance agreements, pursuant to criteria established by rule.

(8) The supervisory authority for insurance for the jurisdiction of the assuming insurer must
confirm to the superintendent on an annual basis that, as of the preceding December 31st or the
annual date specified in statute for reporting to that supervisory authority in the assuming
insurer's jurisdiction, the assuming insurer complies with the requirements of subparagraphs
(3) and (4).

(9) The assuming insurer may provide additional information on a voluntary basis.

(10) The superintendent shall promptly create, publish and administer a list of reciprocal
jurisdictions as described in this subparagraph.

(a) The superintendent shall include all reciprocal jurisdictions identified in subparagraph
(1), division (b), subdivisions (i) and (ii) in the list maintained pursuant to this
subparagraph.

(b) If the National Association of Insurance Commissioners has published a list of
recommended reciprocal jurisdictions, the superintendent shall consider that list and may
defer to that list in determining whether a jurisdiction qualifies as a reciprocal jurisdiction
pursuant to subparagraph (1), division (b), subdivision (iii). The superintendent may
determine that a jurisdiction that does not appear on the recommended list is a reciprocal
jurisdiction in accordance with criteria established in rules adopted by the superintendent.

(c) If a jurisdiction has been determined to be a reciprocal jurisdiction pursuant to
subparagraph (1), division (b), subdivision (iii), the superintendent, in accordance with a
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process established by rule by the superintendent, may determine that the jurisdiction is no
longer a reciprocal jurisdiction and remove it from the list of reciprocal jurisdictions upon
a determination that the jurisdiction no longer meets the conditions of this paragraph. Upon
removal of a reciprocal jurisdiction from the list, credit for reinsurance ceded to an
assuming insurer that has its head office or is domiciled in that jurisdiction is allowed only
as otherwise allowed pursuant to this section.

(11) The superintendent shall promptly create, publish and administer a list of assuming
insurers that have satisfied the conditions set forth in subparagraphs (2) to (8) for recognition
for credit for reinsurance. The superintendent may add an assuming insurer to the list if it has
been listed under a substantially similar law by a jurisdiction accredited by the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners or if, upon a request for recognition of eligibility, the
assuming insurer submits the information to the superintendent as required under subparagraph
(5) and complies with any additional requirements that the superintendent may impose by rule,
except to the extent that those requirements conflict with an applicable covered agreement.

(12) If the superintendent determines that an assuming insurer no longer meets one or more of
the conditions of this paragraph, the superintendent may suspend or revoke the recognition of
the assuming insurer for credit for reinsurance under this paragraph in accordance with
procedures established by rule.

(a) While an assuming insurer's recognition for credit is suspended, a reinsurance
agreement issued, amended or renewed after the effective date of the suspension does not
qualify for credit under this paragraph. Credit may be granted only to the extent that the
assuming insurer's obligations under the contract are secured in accordance with other
provisions of this subsection or with subsection 3.

(b) If an assuming insurer's recognition for credit is revoked, credit for reinsurance may
not be granted after the effective date of the revocation with respect to any reinsurance
agreements entered into by the assuming insurer, including reinsurance agreements entered
into before the date of revocation, except to the extent that the assuming insurer's
obligations under the contract are secured in a form acceptable to the superintendent and
consistent with other provisions of this subsection or with subsection 3.

(13) If a ceding insurer that has been granted credit under this paragraph is subject to a legal
process of rehabilitation, liquidation or conservation, the ceding insurer or its representative
may seek and, if determined appropriate by the court in which the proceedings are pending,
may obtain an order requiring the assuming insurer to post security for all outstanding ceded
liabilities.

(14) This paragraph does not limit or in any way alter the capacity of parties to a reinsurance
agreement to agree on requirements for security or other terms in that reinsurance agreement,
except as expressly prohibited by this section or other applicable law or rule.

(15) Credit under this paragraph may be taken only for reinsurance pursuant to reinsurance
agreements entered into, renewed or amended on or after the effective date of this paragraph
and only with respect to losses incurred or reserves reported on or after the date on which the
assuming insurer has met all eligibility requirements pursuant to subparagraphs (2) to (8) or
the effective date of the new reinsurance agreement, amendment or renewal, whichever is later.

This subparagraph does not alter or impair a ceding insurer's right to take credit for reinsurance,
to the extent that credit is not available under this paragraph, as long as the reinsurance qualifies
for credit under any other applicable provision of this section.

(16) Nothing in this paragraph:
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(a) Authorizes an assuming insurer to withdraw or reduce the security provided under any
reinsurance agreement except as permitted by the terms of the agreement; or

(b) Limits, or in any way alters, the capacity of parties to any reinsurance agreement to
renegotiate the agreement; [PL 2021, c. 16, §6 (NEW).]

C. Maintains a trust fund in a qualified United States financial institution for the payment of the
valid claims of its United States ceding insurers, their assigns and successors in interest.

(1) The assuming insurer shall report annually to the superintendent information substantially
the same as that required to be reported on the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners Annual Statement form by licensed insurers to enable the superintendent to
determine the sufficiency of the trust fund.

(2) In the case of a single assuming insurer, the trust must consist of a trusteed account
representing the assuming insurer's liabilities attributable to reinsurance ceded by United States
ceding insurers and, in addition, unless the assuming insurer has permanently discontinued
underwriting new business secured by the trust for at least 3 full years, must include a trusteed
surplus of at least $20,000,000. The trust must provide that after the assuming insurer has
permanently discontinued underwriting new business secured by the trust for at least 3 full
years, the insurance regulator with principal oversight of the trust may authorize a reduction in
the required trusteed surplus, but only after a finding, based on an assessment of the risk, that
the new required surplus level is adequate for the protection of United States ceding insurers,
policyholders and claimants in light of reasonably foreseeable adverse loss development. The
risk assessment may involve an actuarial review, including an independent analysis of reserves
and cash flows, and must consider all material risk factors, including when applicable the lines
of business involved, the stability of the incurred loss estimates and the effect of the surplus
requirements on the assuming insurer's liquidity or solvency. The minimum required trusteed
surplus may not be reduced to an amount less than 30% of the assuming insurer's liabilities
attributable to reinsurance ceded by United States ceding insurers covered by the trust.

(3-A) A group including incorporated and individual unincorporated underwriters may secure
its obligations with funds held in trust in compliance with the following standards.

(a) For reinsurance ceded under reinsurance agreements with an inception, amendment or
renewal date on or after January 1, 1993, the trust must consist of a trusteed account in an
amount at least equal to the respective underwriters' several liabilities attributable to
reinsurance ceded by United States domiciled ceding insurers to any underwriter that is a
member of the group.

(b) Notwithstanding the other provisions of this section, for reinsurance ceded under
reinsurance agreements with an inception date on or before December 31, 1992 and not
amended or renewed after that date, the trust must consist of a trusteed account in an
amount not less than the respective underwriters' several insurance and reinsurance
liabilities attributable to business written in the United States.

(¢) In addition, the group shall maintain a trusteed surplus of at least $100,000,000 held
jointly for the benefit of the United States domiciled ceding insurers of any member of the
group for all years of account.

An incorporated member of the group may not be engaged in any business other than
underwriting as a member of the group and is subject to the same level of solvency regulation
and control by the group's domiciliary regulator as are the unincorporated members. Within 90
days after its financial statements are due to be filed with the group's domiciliary regulator, the
group shall provide to the superintendent an annual certification by the group's domiciliary
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regulator of the solvency of each underwriter member of the group or, if a certification is
unavailable, financial statements prepared by independent public accountants.

(4-A) The superintendent in rules adopted pursuant to subsection 7 may establish alternative
criteria for approval of a reinsurance trust if the superintendent determines that the criteria
provide adequate protection to policyholders of United States ceding insurers and are in
substantial conformance with standards approved by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners.

(5) The trust must be established in a form approved by the superintendent and consistent with
any rules adopted by the superintendent pursuant to this section. The form of the trust and any
amendments to the trust must also have been approved by the insurance regulatory official of
the state where the trust is domiciled or of another state that, pursuant to the terms of the trust
instrument, has accepted principal regulatory oversight of the trust. The trust instrument must
provide that contested claims are valid and enforceable upon the final order of any court of
competent jurisdiction in the United States. The trust must vest legal title to its assets in the
trustees of the trust for the benefit of the assuming insurer's United States ceding insurers, their
assigns and successors in interest. The trust and the assuming insurer are subject to
examination, as determined by the superintendent, at the assuming insurer's expense. The trust
must remain in effect for as long as the assuming insurer has outstanding obligations due under
the reinsurance agreements subject to the trust.

(6) The trustees of the trust shall report to the superintendent in writing by February 28th of
each year, setting forth the balance of the trust and listing the trust's investments at the end of
the preceding year and certifying the date of termination of the trust, if so planned, or certifying
that the trust does not expire before December 3 1st of the current year.

(7) The corpus of the trust is to be valued as any other admitted asset or assets; or [PL 2021,
c. 16, §6 (AMD).]

D. Does not meet the requirements of paragraph A, B, B-1, B-2, B-3 or C, but only with respect to
risks located in a jurisdiction where that reinsurance is required by law. The superintendent may
waive the requirements of subsections 2 and 5 to the extent that compliance with those requirements
is not feasible for compulsory reinsurance subject to this paragraph. The superintendent for good
cause after notice and opportunity for hearing may disallow or reduce the credit otherwise permitted
under this paragraph. [PL 2021, c. 16, §6 (AMD).]

[PL 2021, c. 16, §6 (AMD)]

1-A. The superintendent may suspend or revoke a reinsurer's accreditation or certification under

subsection 1, after notice and opportunity for hearing, for failure to meet the applicable requirements
of subsection 1 or on any ground that would warrant similar action against the certificate of authority
of an authorized insurer.

A. A suspension or revocation under this subsection may not take effect until after the
superintendent's order following a hearing, unless:

(1) The reinsurer waives its right to a hearing;

(2) The superintendent's order is based on regulatory action by the reinsurer's domiciliary
jurisdiction or the voluntary surrender or termination of the reinsurer's eligibility to transact
insurance or reinsurance business in its domiciliary jurisdiction or in the primary certifying
state of the reinsurer under subsection 1, paragraph B-2, subparagraph (6); or

(3) The superintendent finds that an emergency requires immediate action and a court of
competent jurisdiction has not stayed the superintendent's action. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. B,
§7 (NEW).]
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B. While a reinsurer's accreditation or certification is suspended pursuant to this subsection, no
reinsurance contract issued or renewed after the effective date of the suspension qualifies for credit
under subsection 1 except to the extent that the reinsurer's obligations under the contract are secured
in accordance with subsection 3. If a reinsurer's accreditation or certification is revoked pursuant
to this subsection, no credit for reinsurance may be granted after the effective date of the revocation
except to the extent that the reinsurer's obligations under the contract are secured in accordance
with subsection 1, paragraph B-2, subparagraph (5) or subsection 3. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. B, §7
(NEW).]

C. The superintendent may deny an application for accreditation or certification under subsection
1, or may impose conditions or restrictions on a reinsurer's accreditation or certification, on any
ground for which accreditation or certification may be suspended or revoked. [PL 2013, c. 238,
Pt. B, §7 (NEW).]

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. B, §7 (NEW).]

2. The credit permitted by subsection 1 is not to be allowed unless the assuming insurer agrees in
the reinsurance agreements:

A. That, if the assuming insurer fails to perform its obligations under the terms of the reinsurance
agreement, the assuming insurer, at the request of the ceding insurer:

(1) Will submit to the jurisdiction of any court of competent jurisdiction in any state of the
United States;

(2) Will comply with all requirements necessary to give the court jurisdiction; and

(3) Will abide by the final decision of the court or of any Appellate Court in the event of an
appeal; and [PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §2 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF).]

B. To designate the superintendent or an attorney as its attorney upon whom may be served any
lawful process in any action, suit or proceeding instituted by or on behalf of the ceding company,
as required in section 421. [PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §2 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §4
(AFF).]

This provision is not intended to conflict with or override the obligation of the parties to a reinsurance
agreement to arbitrate their disputes, if such an obligation is created in the agreement.
[PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §2 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF).]

2-A. Credit for reinsurance may not be allowed on the basis of a trust maintained pursuant to
subsection 1, paragraph C unless the assuming insurer agrees in the trust agreements to the following
conditions.

A. Notwithstanding any other provisions in the trust instrument, if the trust fund contains an
amount less than the amount required by this section, or if the grantor of the trust has been declared
insolvent or placed into receivership, rehabilitation, liquidation or similar proceedings under the
laws of its state or country of domicile, the trustee shall comply with an order of the commissioner
with regulatory oversight over the trust or with an order of a court of competent jurisdiction
directing the trustee to transfer to the commissioner with regulatory oversight all of the assets of
the trust fund. [PL 2001, c. 47, §5 (NEW).]

B. The assets must be distributed by and claims must be filed with and valued by the commissioner
with regulatory oversight in accordance with the laws of the state in which the trust is domiciled
that are applicable to the liquidation of domestic insurance companies. [PL 2001, c. 47, §5
(NEW).]

C. If the commissioner with regulatory oversight determines that the assets of the trust fund or any
part of the assets of the trust fund are not necessary to satisfy the claims of the United States ceding
insurers of the grantor of the trust, the assets or part of the assets of the trust fund must be returned
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by the commissioner with regulatory oversight to the trustee for distribution in accordance with the
trust agreement. [PL 2001, c. 47, §5 (NEW).]

D. The grantor shall waive any right otherwise available to it under United States law that is
inconsistent with this subsection. [PL 2001, c. 47, §5 (NEW).]

[PL 2001, c. 47, §5 (NEW)]

2-B. Through rules adopted under subsection 7, the superintendent may establish additional

requirements that reinsurance agreements that are subject to this subsection must satisfy to qualify for
credit.

A. This subsection applies only to reinsurance of:

(1) Life insurance policies with guaranteed nonlevel gross premiums or guaranteed nonlevel
benefits;

(2) Universal life insurance policies with provisions resulting in the ability of a policyholder
to keep a policy in force over a secondary guarantee period,

(3) Variable annuities with guaranteed death or living benefits;
(4) Long-term care insurance policies; or

(5) Other life and health insurance and annuity products for which the National Association of
Insurance Commissioners adopts model regulatory requirements with respect to credit for
reinsurance. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

B. Requirements established under this subsection may address:
(1) The valuation of assets or reserve credits;

(2) The amount and forms of acceptable security, in accordance with rules that may supplement
or modify the requirements of subsection 3; and

(3) The circumstances pursuant to which credit will be reduced or eliminated. [PL 2017, c.
169, Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

C. Requirements established under this subsection may take into consideration the results of
applying the valuation manual adopted under section 959 to ceded policies whose statutory reserves
are calculated according to a prior methodology. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

D. Requirements established with respect to reinsurance described in paragraph A, subparagraphs
(1) and (2) may apply to any treaty for which the risk ceded includes:

(1) Policies issued on or after January 1, 2015; or

(2) Risk on policies issued before January 1, 2015 and ceded in connection with the treaty, in
whole or in part, on or after January 1, 2015. [PL 2017, c. 169, Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

E. This subsection does not apply to cessions to an assuming insurer that:
(1) Is certified in this State pursuant to subsection 1, paragraph B-2;

(2) Maintains at least $250,000,000 in capital and surplus as determined in accordance with
section 901-A, excluding the impact of any permitted or prescribed practices, and is:

(a) Licensed in at least 26 states; or

(b) Licensed in at least 10 states and licensed or accredited in a total of at least 35 states;
or

(3) Is eligible for credit for assumed reinsurance by reciprocity pursuant to subsection 1,
paragraph B-3. [PL 2021, c. 16, §7 (AMD).]

[PL 2021, c. 16, §7 (AMD)]
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3. An asset or a reduction from liability for the reinsurance ceded to an assuming insurer not
meeting the requirements of subsection 1 is allowed in an amount not exceeding the liabilities carried
by the ceding insurer. The reduction must equal the value of funds held by or on behalf of the ceding
insurer, including funds held in trust for the ceding insurer, under a reinsurance contract with such
assuming insurer as security for the payment of obligations under the contract, if such security is held
in the United States subject to withdrawal solely by, and under the exclusive control of, the ceding
insurer or, in the case of a trust, held in a qualified United States financial institution. This security
may be in the form of:

A. Cash; [PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §2 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF)]

B. Securities listed by the Securities Valuation Office of the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners, including those designated as exempt from filing in the purposes and procedures
manual of the Securities Valuation Office, and qualifying as admitted assets; [PL 2021, c. 16, §8
(AMD).]

C. Clean, irrevocable, unconditional letters of credit, issued or confirmed by a qualified United
States financial institution no later than December 3 1st of the year for which filing is being made
and in the possession of the ceding company on or before the filing date of its annual statement.

(1) A letter of credit from an issuer determined to be acceptable as of the date of issuance or
the date of confirmation of the letter, notwithstanding the issuing or confirming institution's
subsequent failure to meet applicable standards of issuer acceptability, continues to be
acceptable as security until its expiration, extension, renewal, modification or amendment,
whichever first occurs. The ceding insurer shall replace a nonqualifying letter of credit at its
carliest opportunity.

(2) The letter of credit must indicate that it is not subject to any condition or qualification
outside the letter of credit, and that the beneficiary need only draw a sight draft under the letter
and present the letter to obtain funds and that no other document need be presented; or [PL
2021, c. 16, §9 (AMD).]

D. Any other form of security that the superintendent may permit by rule adopted as set forth in
subsection 7. [PL 2021, c. 16, §10 (NEW).]
[PL 2021, c. 16, §§8-10 (AMD).]

4. For purposes of this section, a "qualified United States financial institution" means an institution
that:

A. Is organized or, in the case of a United States branch or agency office of a foreign banking

organization, is licensed under the laws of the United States or any state of the United States; [PL
1991, c. 828, §17 (AMD).]

B. Isregulated, supervised and examined by federal or state authorities having regulatory authority
over banks and trust companies; and [PL 1991, c. 828, §17 (AMD).]

C. Has been determined by the superintendent or the Securities Valuation Office of the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners to meet standards of financial condition and standing that
are considered necessary and appropriate to regulate the quality of financial institutions whose
letters of credit will be acceptable to the superintendent. [PL 1991, c. 828, §17 (NEW).]

[PL 1991, c. 828, §17 (AMD).]

4-A. "Qualified United States financial institution" means for purposes of those provisions of this
section specifying those institutions that are eligible to act as a fiduciary of a trust an institution that:

A. Is organized or in the case of a United States branch or agency office of a foreign banking
organization licensed under the laws of the United States or any state of the United States and has
been granted authority to operate with fiduciary powers; and [PL 1991, c. 828, §18 (NEW).]
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B. Is regulated, supervised and examined by federal or state authorities having regulatory authority
over banks and trust companies. [RR 1993, c. 1, §56 (COR).]
[RR 1993, c. 1, §56 (COR).]

5. Credit is allowed as an asset or deduction from liability to any ceding insurer only for
reinsurance ceded to an assuming insurer qualified under this section, except that no credit is allowed,
unless the reinsurance contract provides, in substance, that in the event of the insolvency of the ceding
insurer, the reinsurance is payable under a contract or contracts reinsured by the assuming insurer on
the basis of reported claims allowed by the court, without diminution because of the insolvency of the
ceding insurer. The payments must be made directly to the ceding insurer or to the ceding insurer's
domiciliary receiver unless the contract or other written agreement specifically provides another payee
in the event of the insolvency of the ceding insurer or unless the assuming insurer, with the consent of
the direct insured or insureds, has assumed the policy obligations of the ceding insurer as direct
obligations of the assuming insurer to the payees under the reinsured policies and in substitution for the
obligations of the ceding insurer to those payees.

The reinsurance agreement may condition the payments upon written notice by the ceding insurer's
domiciliary receiver to the assuming insurer of the pendency of a claim on the contract reinsured within
a reasonable time after the claim is filed in the proceeding where the claim is to be adjudicated. During
the pendency of such a claim, any assuming insurer may investigate the claim and interpose, at the
assuming insurer's own expense, any defenses in the proceeding that the assuming insurer determines
available to the ceding insurer or to the ceding insurer's receiver. The expenses may be filed as a claim
against the insolvent ceding insurer to the extent of its proportionate share of the benefit that may accrue
to the ceding insurer solely as a result of the defense undertaken by the assuming insurer. When 2 or
more assuming insurers are involved in the same claim and a majority in interest elect to interpose a
defense to the claim, the expense must be apportioned in accordance with the terms of the reinsurance
agreement as though the expense had been incurred by the ceding insurer.

[PL 2001, c. 47, §7 (AMD).]

6.
[PL 1999, c. 113, §21 (RP).]

7. The superintendent may adopt rules, subject to Title 5, chapter 375, to implement this section.
Rules adopted under this section are routine technical rules pursuant to Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter
II-A.

[PL 2001, c. 47, §8 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §§2, 4 (NEW). PL 1991, c. 38 (AMD). PL 1991, c. 828, §§16-18 (AMD).
RR 1993, c. 1, §56 (COR). PL 1993, c. 313, §§17, 18 (AMD). PL 1993, c. 666, Pt. C, §1
(AMD). PL 1999, c. 113, §§19-21 (AMD). PL 2001, c. 47, §§2-8 (AMD). PL 2003, c. 249, §1
(AMD). PL 2007, c. 386, §1 (AMD). PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. B, §§3-8 (AMD). PL 2017, c. 169, Pt.
C, §§1, 2 (AMD). PL 2021, c. 16, §§6-10 (AMD).

§731-C. Bulk reinsurance

The cession of bulk reinsurance by a domestic insurer is subject to section 3483. [PL 1989, c.
846, Pt. E, §2 (NEW); PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1989, c. 846, §§E2,4 (NEW).
§731-D. Notification of reinsurance changes

The superintendent may by rule or order require an insurer to promptly inform the superintendent
in writing of the cancellation or any other material change of any of the insurer's reinsurance treaties or
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arrangements. Rules adopted pursuant to this section are routine technical rules as defined in Title 5,
chapter 375, subchapter 2-A. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. B, §9 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §2 (NEW). PL 1989, c. 846, Pt. E, §4 (AFF). PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. B,
§9 (AMD).

§731-E. Reinsurance concentration risk

1. Reinsurance claim exposure. An insurer shall manage its reinsurance recoverables
proportionate to its own book of business. A domestic insurer shall notify the superintendent within
30 days after reinsurance recoverables from any single assuming insurer, or group of affiliated
assuming insurers, exceed 50% of the insurer's last reported surplus to policyholders or after it is
determined that reinsurance recoverables from any single assuming insurer, or group of affiliated
assuming insurers, are likely to exceed this limit.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. B, §10 (NEW).]

2. Diversification. An insurer shall diversify its reinsurance program to the extent reasonably
necessary to avoid imprudent concentrations of risk. A domestic insurer shall notify the superintendent
within 30 days after ceding to any single assuming insurer, or group of affiliated assuming insurers,
more than 20% of the insurer's gross written premium in the prior calendar year or after the insurer has
determined that the reinsurance ceded to any single assuming insurer, or group of affiliated assuming
insurers, is likely to exceed this limit.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. B, §10 (NEW) ]

3. Risk management. A notice provided by an insurer under subsection 1 or 2 must include a
demonstration that the insurer is safely managing the exposure.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. B, §10 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. B, §10 (NEW).

§732. Deposits and funds withheld under reinsurance treaties

Any ceding insurer must report in its annual statement all funds withheld and deposit funds
established pursuant to contracts of ceded reinsurance. Ceding insurers must report this and related
information as required by reporting rules established by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners. [PL 1991, c. 828, §19 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1991, c. 828, §19 (NEW).
§733. Examination of reinsurance agreements

The superintendent may examine the reinsurance agreements or deposit arrangements of a ceding
insurer at any time. [PL 1991, c. 828, §19 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1991, c. 828, §19 (NEW).
§734. Minimum surplus regarding policyholders to assume property and casualty reinsurance

1. Prohibition. Notwithstanding section 731-B, subsection 1, paragraph B, a domestic property
or domestic casualty insurer, other than mutual assessment insurers operating pursuant to chapter 51,
possessing less than $10,000,000 in surplus regarding policyholders may not, without the prior written
approval of the superintendent, assume reinsurance on any risk that it is otherwise permitted to assume
except when the reinsurance is:
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A. Required by applicable law or rule; or [PL 1991, c. 828, §19 (NEW).]

B. Assumed pursuant to pooling arrangements among members of the same holding company
system. [PL 1991, c. 828, §19 (NEW).]
[PL 1991, c. 828, §19 (NEW).]

2. Application. This section applies to contracts of reinsurance entered into or renewed after the
effective date of this section.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §19 (NEW).]

3. Effect. The performance of an activity prohibited by this section does not invalidate any
reinsurance contract between the parties to the contract.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §19 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1991, c. 828, §19 (NEW).

SUBCHAPTER 4
REINSURANCE INTERMEDIARIES

§741. Definitions

As used in this subchapter, unless the context otherwise indicates, the following terms have the
following meanings. [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

1. Actuary. "Actuary" means a person who is a member in good standing of the American
Academy of Actuaries.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

2. Cession. "Cession" means a transfer by a policy originating insurer to a reinsurer of the whole
or a portion of a single risk, defined policy or defined division of business as set out in a reinsurance
contract.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

3. Controlling person. "Controlling person" means any person who directly or indirectly has the
power to direct or cause to be directed the management, control or activities of the reinsurance
intermediary.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW),]

4. Insurer. "Insurer" means every person engaged as principal and as indemnitor, surety or
contractor in the business of entering into contracts of insurance who holds an existing certificate of
authority to transact insurance in this State pursuant to section 404.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

5. Reinsurance intermediary. "Reinsurance intermediary" means a reinsurance intermediary-
broker or a reinsurance intermediary-manager as these terms are defined in subsections 6 and 7.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

6. Reinsurance intermediary-broker. "Reinsurance intermediary-broker" means any person,
other than an officer or employee of the ceding insurer who solicits, negotiates or places reinsurance
cessions or retrocessions on behalf of a ceding insurer without the authority or power to bind
reinsurance on behalf of the insurer.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW)]

7. Reinsurance intermediary-manager. "Reinsurance intermediary-manager" means any person
who has authority to bind or manages all or part of the assumed reinsurance business of a reinsurer,
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including the management of a separate division, department or underwriting office, and acts as an
agent for such a reinsurer whether known as a reinsurance intermediary-manager, manager or other
similar term. The term does not include:

A. An employee of the reinsurer; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

B. A manager of a branch of an alien reinsurer that is located in the United States; [PL 1991, c.
828, §20 (NEW).]

C. An underwriting manager that, pursuant to contract, manages all the reinsurance operations of
the reinsurer, is under common control with the reinsurer subject to section 222 and whose
compensation is not based on the volume of premiums written; and [PL 1991, c. 828, §20
(NEW).]

D. The manager of a group, association, pool or organization of insurers that engages in joint
underwriting or joint reinsurance and who is subject to examination by the public insurance
regulatory official of the state or country in which the manager's principal business office is located.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

8. Reinsurer. "Reinsurer" means any person who operates as an insurer in any manner under
applicable provisions of this Title in the assumption of reinsurance risks.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW)]

9. Retrocession. "Retrocession" means a transfer by a reinsurer to another reinsurer of those risks
defined in subsection 2.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW)]

10. Retrocessionaire. "Retrocessionaire" means an insurer or reinsurer assuming reinsurance
risks under a retrocession.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW)]

11. Qualified United States financial institution. For purposes of this section, a "qualified
United States financial institution" means an institution that:

A. Is organized or, in the case of a United States branch or agency office of a foreign banking
organization, is licensed under the laws of the United States or any state of the United States and
has been granted authority to operate with fiduciary powers; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

B. Isregulated, supervised and examined by federal or state authorities having regulatory authority
over banks and trust companies; and [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

C. Has been determined by the superintendent or the Securities Valuation Office of the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners to meet standards of financial condition and standing that
are considered necessary and appropriate to regulate the quality of financial institutions whose
letters of credit will be acceptable to the superintendent. [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

12. Qualified United States financial institution. "Qualified United States financial institution"
means for the purposes of those provisions of this section specifying those institutions that are eligible
to act as a fiduciary of a trust an institution that:

A. Is organized or in the case of a United States branch or agency office of a foreign banking
organization licensed under laws of the United States or any state of the United States and has been
granted authority to operate with fiduciary powers; and [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

B. Is regulated, supervised and examined by federal or state authorities having regulatory authority
over banks and trust companies. [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
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SECTION HISTORY
PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).
§742. Reinsurance intermediaries; licensing

1. Qualifications for license. For the protection of the people of this State, the superintendent
may not issue, continue or permit to exist any reinsurance intermediary license except in compliance

with this subchapter.
[PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (AMD).]

2. License requirement.
[PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (RP).]

2-A. License requirement. A person or organization may be authorized by the superintendent to
act as a reinsurance intermediary under the following circumstances.

A. A person or organization acting in this State as a reinsurance intermediary broker who has an
office in this State must be licensed as a resident agent, broker or reinsurance intermediary broker
in order to do business in this State. [PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (NEW).]

B. A person or organization acting in this State as a reinsurance intermediary broker who does not
maintain an office in this State must either:

(1) Be licensed in this State as a nonresident agent, broker or reinsurance intermediary broker;
or

(2) Be licensed in another state with substantially similar laws. [PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (NEW).]

C. A person or organization acting in this State as a reinsurance intermediary manager, by
representing a domestic insurer or by maintaining an office in this State, must be licensed as a
resident agent, broker or reinsurance intermediary broker in order to do business in this State. [PL
1995, c. 544, §7 (NEW).]

D. A person or organization acting in this State as a reinsurance intermediary manager who does
not maintain an office in this State and who does not represent a domestic insurer must either:

(1) Be licensed as a nonresident agent, broker or reinsurance intermediary manager in this
State; or

(2) Be licensed as an agent, broker or reinsurance intermediary manager in another state with
substantially similar laws. [PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (NEW).]
[PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (NEW).]

3. License forms. The superintendent shall prescribe, consistent with the applicable requirements
of this subchapter, and furnish all printed forms required under this subchapter in connection with
application for and issuance of licenses.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
4. Application for licensure. Application for licensure is governed by this subsection.

A. Written application for a reinsurance intermediary license must be made to the superintendent
by the applicant and be accompanied by the applicable license application and issuance fee shown
in section 601. The application must be signed and duly sworn to by the applicant. [PL 1991, c.
828, §20 (NEW).]

A-1. Prior to filing an application with the superintendent, the superintendent may require each
applicant to take a written examination to test the applicant's competence to act as a reinsurance
intermediary. [PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (NEW).]

B. If the applicant is an individual, the application must include full answers to questions
reasonably necessary to determine the applicant's identity, age, residence, present occupation,
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financial responsibility and insurance experience. The application must contain any other facts as
the superintendent may require relative to the applicant's qualifications for the license as those
qualifications are stated in this subchapter. [PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (AMD).]

C. If the applicant is a firm, association, partnership or corporation, the application must include,
in addition, the names and residence addresses of all members, officers and directors and designate
the name and residence address of each individual who is to exercise the license powers. Each
individual shall furnish information concerning that individual for an individual license. Every
individual named in the application is authorized to act in the name of the organization licensed as
a reinsurance intermediary in this State. [PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (AMD).]

D. The application must indicate whether any insurance license was ever refused, suspended,
revoked or continuance refused and whether any insurer, general agent, individual or organization
claims that the applicant is indebted to it and, if so, the details of the indebtedness and the applicant's
defense to that indebtedness. [PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (AMD).]

[PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (AMD).]

5. Additional requirements. The superintendent may require a reinsurance intermediary manager
to:

A. File a surety bond issued by a licensed insurer, in an amount and format acceptable to the
superintendent, for the protection of the reinsurer; or [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

B. Maintain an errors and omissions policy issued by an insurer licensed in this State in an amount
acceptable to the superintendent. [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
[PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (AMD).]

6. Nonresident applicant. If the applicant for a reinsurance intermediary license is a nonresident,
the applicant, as a condition precedent to receiving or holding a license, must designate the
superintendent as agent for service of process in the manner and with the same legal effect provided
for by this Title for designation of service of process upon unauthorized insurers. The applicant shall
furnish the superintendent with the name and address of a resident of this State upon whom notices or
orders of the superintendent or process affecting the nonresident reinsurance intermediary may be
served. If a nonresident applicant becomes licensed, the licensee shall promptly notify the
superintendent in writing of every change in its designated agent for service of process. Such a change
is not effective until acknowledged by the superintendent.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

7. Attorneys exempted. Licensed attorneys-at-law of this State when acting in their professional
capacity are exempt from this section.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW). PL 1995, c. 329, §5 (AMD). PL 1995, c. 544, §7 (AMD).
§743. General provisions

The superintendent may issue a reinsurance intermediary license to any person or organization that
complies with the requirements of this subchapter. [PL 1995, c. 544, §8 (AMD).]

1. Licensing; persons that are not individuals. Licensing of a firm, association, partnership or
corporation is subject to this subsection.

A. A license issued to a firm, association, partnership or corporation authorizes all the members of
the firm, association, partnership or corporation and employees of those entities to act as
reinsurance intermediaries if each individual is named in the application and registered with the
superintendent. Those individuals exercise the license power only for and in the name of the
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organization. This paragraph does not prevent an individual from being separately licensed and
acting in that individual's own behalf and name. [PL 1995, c. 544, §8 (AMD).]

B. The superintendent may not license a firm, association, partnership or corporation unless the
license is within purposes stated in the partnership agreement or articles of incorporation. All
licensees are subject to the applicable standards of section 407, subsection 2. [PL 2013, c. 299,
§1 (AMD).]

C. All licensees under this subsection are subject to the same restrictions with regard to business
names as applied to insurers under section 408. [PL 1995, c. 544, §8 (AMD).]
[PL 2013, c. 299, §1 (AMD).]

2. Advertising. Licensees may advertise only in the name under which they are licensed.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

3. Notice of change. Licensees shall promptly notify the superintendent of every change in address
and notify the superintendent of every change among its members, directors and officers and of other

individuals designated in or registered to the license.
[PL 1995, c. 544, §8 (AMD).]

4. Refusal. The superintendent may refuse to issue a license to a reinsurance intermediary if, in
the superintendent's judgment, the applicant, any person named on the application, or a member,
principal, officer or director of the applicant, is not trustworthy, has given cause for revocation or
suspension of such license or has failed to comply with any prerequisite for the issuance of such license,
or that any controlling person of an applicant is not trustworthy to act as a reinsurance intermediary.

[PL 1995, c. 544, §8 (AMD)]

5. Superintendent review. If the superintendent finds that the application is complete and that
the applicant is otherwise qualified for the license applied for, the superintendent shall promptly issue
the license. Otherwise, the superintendent shall refuse to issue the license, promptly notify the applicant
of the refusal and state the grounds for refusal.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

6. Refund. If the license is refused, the superintendent shall promptly refund to the applicant all
fees received for application for a reinsurance intermediary license.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

7. Duration. Unless revoked or suspended, a reinsurance intermediary license remains in effect
as long as the licensee pays the annual fee required by section 601 before the anniversary date of the
license.

[PL 1995, c. 544, §8 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW). PL 1995, c. 544, §8 (AMD). PL 2013, c. 299, §1 (AMD).
§744. Required contract provisions; reinsurance intermediary-broker

Transactions between a reinsurance intermediary-broker and the insurer it represents in such a
capacity may be entered into only pursuant to a written authorization specifying the responsibilities of
each party. The authorization must, at a minimum, provide that: [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

1. Termination. The insurer may terminate the reinsurance intermediary-broker's authority at any
time upon 5 days' written notice to the reinsurance intermediary-broker;
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

2. Accounting. The reinsurance intermediary-broker shall render timely accounts to the insurer
accurately detailing all material transactions, including information necessary to support all
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commissions, charges and other fees received by or owed, to the reinsurance intermediary-broker and
remit all funds due to the insurer within 30 days of receipt;
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

3. Bank as fiduciary. All funds collected for the insurer's account must be held by the reinsurance
intermediary-broker in a fiduciary capacity in a bank that is a qualified United States financial
institution;

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

4. Compliance with law. The reinsurance intermediary-broker shall comply with section 745;
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

5. Compliance with standards. The reinsurance intermediary-broker shall comply with the
written standards established by the insurer for the cession or retrocession of all risks; and
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

6. Disclosure. The reinsurance intermediary-broker shall disclose to the insurer any relationship
with any reinsurer or insurer to which business will be ceded or retroceded.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).

§745. Books and records; reinsurance intermediary-brokers

1. Records required. For at least 10 years after expiration of each contract of reinsurance
transacted by the reinsurance intermediary-broker, the reinsurance intermediary-broker shall keep a
complete record for each transaction showing:

A. The type of contract, limits, underwriting restrictions, classes of risks and territory; [PL 1991,
c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

B. Period of coverage, including effective and expiration dates, cancellation provisions and notice
required of cancellation; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

C. Reporting and settlement requirements of balances; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
D. Rate used to compute the reinsurance premium; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
E. Names and addresses of assuming reinsurers; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

F. Rates of all reinsurance commissions, including the commissions on any retrocessions handled
by the reinsurance intermediary-broker; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

G. Related correspondence and memoranda; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
H. Proof of placement; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

I. Details regarding retrocessions handled by the reinsurance intermediary-broker, including the
identity of retrocessionaires and percentage of each contract assumed or ceded; [PL 1991, c. 828,
§20 (NEW).]

J. Financial records, including, but not limited to, premium and loss accounts; and [PL 1991, c.
828, §20 (NEW).]

K. When the reinsurance intermediary-broker procures a reinsurance contract on behalf of a
licensed ceding insurer:

(1) Directly from any assuming reinsurer, written evidence that the assuming reinsurer has
agreed to assume the risk; or
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(2) Placed through a representative of the assuming reinsurer that is not an employee, written
evidence that the reinsurer has delegated binding authority to the representative. [PL 1991, c.
828, §20 (NEW).]

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

2. Access. The insurer must have access and may copy and audit all accounts and records
maintained by the reinsurance intermediary-broker related to its business in a form usable by the
insurer.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).

§746. Duties of insurers utilizing the services of a reinsurance intermediary-broker

1. License requirements. An insurer may not engage the services of any person to act as a
reinsurance intermediary-broker on the insurer's behalf unless that person is licensed as required by this

subchapter.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

2. Status of intermediary-broker. An insurer may not employ an individual who is employed
by a reinsurance intermediary-broker with which the insurer transacts business, unless such reinsurance
intermediary-broker is under common control with the insurer and subject to section 222.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

3. Financial statements. The insurer shall annually obtain a copy of statements of current origin
of the financial condition of each reinsurance intermediary-broker with which the insurer transacts
business. These statements must be certified reports or reviews performed by a certified public
accountant.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).

§747. Required contract provisions; reinsurance intermediary-managers

Transactions between a reinsurance intermediary-manager and the reinsurer it represents in such
capacity may be entered into only pursuant to a written contract, specifying the responsibilities of each
party, that must be approved by the reinsurer's board of directors. At least 30 days before the reinsurer
assumes or cedes business through the reinsurance intermediary-manager, a true copy of the approved
contract must be filed with the superintendent for approval. The contract must, at a minimum, contain
the following terms and conditions. [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

1. Termination. The reinsurer may terminate the contract for cause upon 5 days' written notice
to the reinsurance intermediary-manager. The reinsurer may immediately suspend the authority of the
reinsurance intermediary-manager to assume or cede business during the pendency of any dispute
regarding the cause for termination.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

2. Accounting. The reinsurance intermediary-manager shall render accounts to the reinsurer
accurately detailing all material transactions, including information necessary to support all
commissions, charges and other fees received by or owed, to the reinsurance intermediary-manager and
remit all funds due under the contract to the reinsurer on not less than a monthly basis.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

3. Bank as fiduciary. All funds collected for the reinsurer's account must be held in trust by the
reinsurance intermediary-manager in a fiduciary capacity in a bank that is a qualified United States
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financial institution. The reinsurance intermediary-manager may retain no more than 3 months'
estimated claims payments and allocated loss adjustment expenses. The reinsurance intermediary-
manager shall maintain a separate bank account for each reinsurer that it represents.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

4. Compliance with law. The reinsurance intermediary-manager shall comply with section 748.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

5. Access. The reinsurer must have access to and may copy all accounts and records maintained
by the reinsurance intermediary-manager related to its business in a form usable by the reinsurer.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

6. Nonassignable. The contract may not be assigned in whole or in part by the reinsurance
intermediary-manager.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

7. Compliance with standards. The reinsurance intermediary-manager shall comply with the
written underwriting and rating standards established by the insurer for the acceptance, rejection or

cession of all risks.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

8. Commissions; fees. The contract must set forth the rates, terms and purposes of commissions,
charges and other fees that the reinsurance intermediary-manager may levy against the reinsurer.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

9. Settlement. If the contract permits the reinsurance intermediary-manager to settle claims on
behalf of the reinsurer:

A. All claims must be reported to the reinsurer in a timely manner; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20
(NEW).]

B. A copy of each claim file must be sent to the reinsurer at its request or as soon as it becomes
known that the claim:

(1) Has the potential to exceed the lesser of an amount determined by the superintendent or
the limit set by the reinsurer;

(2) Involves a coverage dispute;
(3) May exceed the reinsurance intermediary-manager's claims settlement authority;
(4) Is open for more than 6 months; or

(5) Is closed by payment of the lesser of an amount set by a court of competent jurisdiction or
an amount agreed by the reinsurer; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

C. All claim files must be the joint property of the reinsurer and the reinsurance intermediary-
manager; except that, upon an order of liquidation of the reinsurer, the files become the sole

property of the reinsurer or its estate. The reinsurance intermediary-manager must have reasonable
access to and may copy the files on a timely basis; and [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

D. Any settlement authority granted to the reinsurance intermediary-manager may be terminated

for cause upon the reinsurer's notice to the reinsurance intermediary-manager or upon the

termination of the contract. The reinsurer may suspend the settlement authority during the

pendency of the dispute regarding the cause of termination. [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

10. Interim profits. If the contract provides for a sharing of interim profits by the reinsurance
intermediary-manager, interim profits may not be paid until one year after the end of each underwriting
period for property business and 5 years after the end of each underwriting period for casualty business
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or other period set by the superintendent for other specified kinds of insurance and not until the
adequacy of reserves on remaining claims has been verified pursuant to section 750, subsection 3.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

11. Financial statements. The reinsurance intermediary-manager shall annually provide the
reinsurer with a statement of current origin of its financial condition prepared by an independent
certified accountant. These statements must be certified reports or review statements prepared by a

certified public accountant.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

12. On-site review. The reinsurer shall periodically and no less than semiannually conduct an on-
site review of the underwriting and claims processing operations of the reinsurance intermediary-

manager.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW)]

13. Disclosure. The reinsurance intermediary-manager shall disclose to the reinsurer any
relationship the reinsurer has with any insurer prior to ceding or assuming any business with the insurer
pursuant to this contract.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

14. Scope of authority. Within the scope of its actual or apparent authority the acts of the
reinsurance intermediary-manager are deemed to be the acts of the reinsurer on whose behalf it is acting.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).
§748. Books, records and powers; reinsurance intermediary-managers

1. Records required. For at least 10 years after expiration of each contract of reinsurance
transacted by the reinsurance intermediary-manager, the reinsurance intermediary-manager shall keep
a complete record for each transaction showing:

A. The type of contract, limits, underwriting restrictions, classes of risks and territory; [PL 1991,
c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

B. Period of coverage, including effective and expiration dates, cancellation provisions and notice
required for cancellation, and status of disposition of outstanding reserves on covered risks; [PL
1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

C. Reporting and settlement requirements of balances; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
D. Rate used to compute the reinsurance premium; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
E. Names and addresses of reinsurers; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

F. Rates of all reinsurance commissions, including the commissions on any retrocessions handled
by the reinsurance intermediary-manager; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

G. Related correspondence and memoranda; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
H. Proof of placement; [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

I. Details regarding retrocessions handled by the reinsurance intermediary-manager including the
identity of retrocessionaires and the percentage of each contract assumed or ceded; [PL 1991, c.
828, §20 (NEW).]

J. Financial records, including but not limited to, premium and loss accounts; and [PL 1991, c.
828, §20 (NEW).]

Generated

126 | Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE 10.30.2023



MRS Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE

K. When the reinsurance intermediary-manager places a reinsurance contract on behalf of a ceding
insurer:

(1) Directly from any assuming reinsurer, written evidence that the assuming reinsurer has
agreed to assume the risk; or

(2) If placed through a representative of the assuming reinsurer, other than an employee,
written evidence that the reinsurer has delegated binding authority to the representative. [PL
1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).
§749. Prohibited acts
The reinsurance intermediary-manager may not: [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

1. Retrocession. Retrocede business on behalf of the reinsurer; except that, the reinsurance
intermediary-manager may facultatively retrocede business pursuant to obligatory facultative
agreements if the contract with the reinsurer contains reinsurance underwriting guidelines for any such
retrocession. The guidelines must include a list of reinsurers with which automatic agreements are in
effect, commission schedules and for each reinsurer, the coverages and amounts or percentages that
may be reinsured;

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

2. Use of syndicates. Commit the reinsurer to participate in reinsurance syndicates;
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

3. Use of other licensees. Make use of any agent or broker without ensuring that the agent or
broker is lawfully licensed to transact the kind of reinsurance for which the agent or broker is being

used;
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

4. Claim payment. Without prior approval of the reinsurer, pay or commit the reinsurer to pay a
claim, net of retrocessions, that exceeds the lesser of an amount specified by the reinsurer or one percent
of the reinsurer's policyholder surplus as of December 31st of the next preceding calendar year;

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

5. Claim recovery. Collect any payment from a retrocessionaire or commit the reinsurer to any
claim settlement with a retrocessionaire, without prior approval of the reinsurer. If prior approval is
given, a report must be promptly forwarded to the reinsurer;

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

6. Joint employment. Jointly employ an individual who is employed by the reinsurer unless the
reinsurance intermediary-manager is under common control with the reinsurer subject to section 222;
or

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW)]

7. Subcontract. Assign duties under a contract to a subcontracting manager.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).
§750. Duties of reinsurers utilizing the services of a reinsurance intermediary-manager

1. License required. A reinsurer may not engage the services of any person to act as a reinsurance
intermediary-manager on its behalf unless that person is licensed as required by this subchapter.

0.30.2023 Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE | 127



MRS Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

2. Financial statements. The reinsurer shall annually obtain a copy of statements of the financial
condition of each reinsurance intermediary-manager that the reinsurer has engaged prepared by an
independent certified public accountant in a form acceptable to the superintendent.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW)]

3. Actuarial review. Ifareinsurance intermediary-manager establishes loss reserves, the reinsurer
shall annually obtain the opinion of an actuary who specializes in the type of insurance under
consideration attesting to the adequacy of loss reserves including losses incurred and outstanding on
business produced by the reinsurance intermediary-manager. This opinion is in addition to any other
required loss reserve certification.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW)]

4. Binding authority. Binding authority for all retrocessional contracts or participation in
reinsurance syndicates rests with an officer of the reinsurer who may not be affiliated with the
reinsurance intermediary-manager.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

5. Notice of termination. Within 30 days of termination of a contract with a reinsurance
intermediary-manager, the reinsurer shall provide written notification of termination to the
superintendent.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

6. Board member qualifications. A reinsurer may not appoint to its board of directors, any
officer, director, employee, controlling shareholder or subproducer of its reinsurance intermediary-
manager. This subsection does not apply to relationships governed by section 222 or chapter 77.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).
§751. Examination authority

1. Authority. A reinsurance intermediary is subject to examination by the superintendent. The
superintendent must have access to all books, bank accounts and records of the reinsurance
intermediary in a usable form.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW)]

2. Status. A reinsurance intermediary-manager may be examined as if it were the reinsurer.

[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).
§752. Penalties and liabilities

1. Violation. A reinsurance intermediary, insurer or reinsurer found by the superintendent, after
a hearing conducted in accordance with the Maine Administrative Procedure Act, to be in violation of
any provision of this Title, is subject to the following.

A. For each separate violation, a violator must pay a penalty of not less than $5,000 and not more
than $100,000 for each separate violation. [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

B. A violator is subject to revocation or suspension of its license. [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

C. Ifaviolation was committed by the reinsurance intermediary, the reinsurance intermediary shall
make restitution to the insurer, reinsurer, rehabilitator or liquidator of the insurer or reinsurer for
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the net losses incurred by the insurer or reinsurer attributable to such violation. [PL 1991, c. 828,
§20 (NEW).]
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

2. Final agency action. The decision, determination or order of the superintendent pursuant to

this section is a final agency action and may be appealed pursuant to section 236.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

3. Nonexclusivity of penalties. Nothing contained in this section affects the right of the
superintendent to impose any other penalties provided in this Title.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

4. Rights of others. Nothing contained in this subchapter limits or restricts the rights of
policyholders, claimants, creditors or other 3rd parties or confers any rights to those persons.
[PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).
§753. Rules

The superintendent may adopt reasonable rules for the implementation and administration of the
provisions of this subchapter. [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).
§754. Effective date

This subchapter takes effect January 1, 1993. An insurer or reinsurer may not continue to utilize
the services of a reinsurance intermediary on and after February 1, 1993 unless utilization is in
compliance with this subchapter. [PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1991, c. 828, §20 (NEW).

SUBCHAPTER 5
ASSUMPTION REINSURANCE

§761. Definitions

As used in this subchapter, unless the context otherwise indicates, the following terms have the
following meanings. [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

1. Assuming insurer. "Assuming insurer" means the insurer that acquires an insurance obligation
or risk from the transferring insurer pursuant to an assumption reinsurance agreement.

[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

2. Assumption reinsurance agreement. "Assumption reinsurance agreement" means a contract
that both:

A. Transfers insurance obligations or risks of existing or in-force contracts of insurance from a
transferring insurer to an assuming insurer; and [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

B. Is intended to effect a novation of the transferred contract of insurance with the result that the
assuming insurer becomes directly liable to the policyholders of the transferring insurer and the
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transferring insurer's insurance obligations or risks under the contracts are extinguished. [PL 1993,
c. 603 (NEW).]
[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

3. Contract of insurance. "Contract of insurance" means a written agreement between an insurer
and policyholder pursuant to which the insurer, in exchange for premium or other consideration, agrees
to assume an obligation or risk of the policyholder or to make payments on behalf of, or to, the
policyholder or its beneficiaries. Contract of insurance may include property, casualty, life, health,
accident, surety, title and annuity business authorized to be written pursuant to the insurance laws of
this State.

[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

4. Home service business. "Home service business" means insurance business on which
premiums are collected on a weekly or monthly basis by an agent of the insurer.
[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

5. Notice of transfer. "Notice of transfer" means the written notice to policyholders required by
section 764, subsection 1.
[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

6. Policyholder. "Policyholder" means an individual or entity that has the right to terminate or
otherwise alter the terms of a contract of insurance. It includes a certificateholder whose certificate is
in force on the proposed effective date of the assumption, if the certificateholder has the right to keep
the certificate in force without change in benefit following termination of the group policy.

The right to keep the certificate in force referred to in this section does not include the right to elect
individual coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, COBRA, of
the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, 29 United States Code, Section
1161 to 1168.

[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

7. Transferring insurer. "Transferring insurer" means the insurer that transfers an insurance
obligation risk to an assuming insurer pursuant to an assumption reinsurance agreement.

[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).
§762. Scope

1. Application. This subchapter applies to an insurer authorized in this State that either assumes
or transfers the obligations or risks on contracts of insurance pursuant to an assumption reinsurance
agreement.

[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

2. Exceptions. This subchapter does not apply to the following:

A. A reinsurance agreement or transaction in which the ceding insurer continues to remain directly
liable for its insurance obligations or risks under the contracts of insurance subject to the
reinsurance agreement; [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

B. The substitution of one insurer for another upon the expiration of insurance coverage pursuant
to statutory or contractual requirements and the issuance of a new contract of insurance by another
insurer; [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

C. The transfer of contracts of insurance pursuant to mergers or consolidations of 2 or more insurers
to the extent that those transactions are regulated by law; [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

D. An insurer subject to a judicial order of liquidation or rehabilitation; [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]
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E. A reinsurance agreement or transaction to which a state insurance guaranty association is a
party, except that policyholders do not lose any rights or claims afforded under their original
policies pursuant to chapter 57, subchapter IIT and chapter 62; or [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

F. The transfer of liabilities from one insurer to another under a single group policy upon the
request of the group policyholder, unless the certificateholder pays all or substantially all of the
premium. [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).
§763. Notice requirements of intent to transfer insurance contract

1. Notice to policyholders, agents and brokers. Notice to policyholders, agents and brokers is
required as follows.

A. The transferring insurer shall provide or cause to be provided to each policyholder a notice of
transfer by first class mail, addressed to the policyholder's last known address or to the address to
which premium notices or other policy documents are sent or, with respect to home service
business, by personal delivery with acknowledged receipt. A notice of transfer must also be sent
to the transferring insurer's agents or brokers of record on the affected policies. [PL 1993, c. 603
(NEW).]

B. The notice of transfer must state or provide:

(1) The date the transfer and novation of the policyholder's contract of insurance is proposed
to take place;

(2) The names and addresses and telephone numbers of the assuming and transferring insurers;
(3) That the policyholder has the right to either consent to or reject the transfer and novation;
(4) The procedures and time limit for consenting to or rejecting the transfer and novation;

(5) A summary of an effect that consenting to or rejecting the transfer and novation has on the
policyholder's rights;

(6) A statement that the assuming insurer is licensed to write the type of business being
assumed in the state where the policyholder resides or is otherwise authorized, as provided in
this subchapter, to assume the business;

(7) The name and address of the person at the transferring insurer to whom the policyholder
should send a written statement of acceptance or rejection of the transfer and novation;

(8) The address and phone number of the Bureau of Insurance so that the policyholder may
write or call for further information regarding the financial condition of the assuming insurer;
and

(9) The following financial data for both companies:

(a) Ratings for the last 5 years if available or for a lesser period as are available from 2
nationally recognized insurance rating services acceptable to the superintendent including
the rating service's explanation of the meaning of the ratings. If ratings are unavailable for
a year of the 5-year period, this must also be disclosed;

(b) A balance sheet as of December 3 1st for the previous 3 years if available or for a lesser
period as is available and as of the date of the most recent quarterly statement;

(c) A copy of the Management's Discussion and Analysis that was filed as a supplement
to the previous year's annual statement; and
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(d) An explanation of the reason for the transfer. [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

C. Notice must be given in a manner that conforms to the following form:

NOTICE OF TRANSFER

IMPORTANT: THIS NOTICE AFFECTS
YOUR CONTRACT RIGHTS.
PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.
Transfer of Policy

The [name of assuming insurer] has agreed to replace us as your insurer under [policy or
certificate name and number] effective [date]. The [name of assuming insurer] principal place of
business is [address]. Certain financial information concerning both companies is attached,
including (1) ratings for the time period required by the Bureau of Insurance from 2 nationally
recognized insurance rating services; (2) balance sheets for the time period required by the Bureau
of Insurance and as of the date of the most recent quarterly statement; (3) a copy of the
Management's Discussion and Analysis that was filed as a supplement to the previous year's annual
statement; and (4) an explanation of the reason for the transfer. You may obtain additional
information concerning [name of assuming insurer] from reference materials in your local library
or by contacting the Superintendent of Insurance at [address and phone number].

The [name of assuming insurer] is licensed to write this coverage in your state. The
Superintendent of Insurance in your state has reviewed the potential effect of the proposed
transaction and has approved the transaction.

Your Rights

You may choose to consent to or reject the transfer of your policy to [name of assuming
insurer]. If you want your policy transferred, you may notify us in writing by signing and returning
the enclosed preaddressed, postage-paid card or by writing to us at:

[name, address and facsimile number of contact person]

Payment of your premium to the assuming company constitutes acceptance of the transaction.
A method is provided to allow you to pay the premium while reserving the right to reject the
transfer.

If you reject the transfer, you may keep your policy with us or exercise an option under your
policy. If we do not receive a written rejection you have, as a matter of law, consented to the
transfer. Before this consent is final you will be provided a second notice of the transfer 24 months
from now. After the second notice is provided, you have one month to reply. If you have paid
your premium to the [name of assuming insurer], without reserving your right to reject the transfer,
you will not receive a second notice.

() This is your first notice. Please respond within 24 months.

() This is your second notice. You must respond within one month to reject the transfer of
your policy. If we do not hear from you by [date], your policy will be transferred to [name of
assuming insurer].

Effect of Transfer
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[PL

If you accept this transfer, [name of assuming insurer] will be your insurer. The insurer has
direct responsibility to you for the payment of all claims, benefits and for all other policy
obligations. We no longer have an obligation to you.

If you accept this transfer, you must make all premium payments and claims submissions to
[name of assuming insurer] and direct all questions to [name of assuming insurer].

For your convenience, we have enclosed a preaddressed postage-paid response card. Please
take time now to read the enclosed notice and complete and return the response card to us.

If you have further questions about this agreement, you may contact [name of transferring
insurer| or [name of assuming insurer].

Sincerely,
[name of transferring insurer [name of assuming insurer
address address
phone] phone]

[Notice Date]

RESPONSE CARD

Yes, I accept the transfer of my policy from [name of transferring insurer] to [name of
assuming insurer].

No, I reject the proposed transfer of my policy from [name of transferring insurer] to
[name of assuming insurer]| and wish to retain my policy with [name of transferring
insurer].

Date: Signature:
Name:
Address:

[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

D. The notice of transfer must include a preaddressed, postage-paid response card that a

policyholder may return as the written statement of acceptance or rejection of the transfer and
novation. [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

E. The notice of transfer must be filed as part of the prior approval requirement set forth in
subsection 2, paragraph A. [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]
1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

2. Notification and prior approval. The requirements for notification and prior approval are as

follows:

A. Prior approval by the superintendent is required for a transaction when an insurer domiciled in
this State assumes or transfers obligations or risks on contracts of insurance under an assumption
reinsurance agreement. An insurer licensed in this State may not transfer obligations or risks on
contracts of insurance issued to or owned by residents of this State to an insurer that is not licensed
in this State. An insurer domiciled in this State may not assume obligations or risks on contracts
of insurance issued to or owned by policyholders residing in another state unless it is licensed in
the other state or the insurance regulatory official of that state has approved the assumption. [PL
1993, c. 603 (NEW).]
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B. A licensed foreign insurer that enters into an assumption reinsurance agreement that transfers
the obligations or risks on contracts of insurance issued to or owned by residents of this State shall
file or cause to be filed the assumption certificate with the superintendent a copy of the notice of
transfer and an affidavit that the transaction is subject to substantially similar requirements in the
state of domicile of both the transferring and assuming insurer. [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

C. A licensed foreign insurer that enters into an assumption reinsurance agreement that transfers
the obligations or risks on contracts of insurance issued to or owned by residents of this State shall
obtain prior approval of the superintendent and be subject to all other requirements of this
subchapter unless the transferring and assuming insurers are subject to assumption reinsurance
requirements adopted by law or rule in the jurisdiction of their domicile, which are substantially
similar to those contained in this subchapter. [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

D. The following factors, along with such factors as the superintendent determines appropriate
under the circumstances, must be considered by the superintendent in reviewing a request for
approval:

(1) The financial condition of the transferring and assuming insurers and the effect the
transaction has on the financial condition of each company;

(2) The competence, experience and integrity of those persons who control the operation of
the assuming insurer;

(3) The plans or proposals the assuming party has with respect to the administration of the
policies subject to the proposed transfer;

(4) Whether the transfer is fair and reasonable to the policyholders of both companies; and

(5) Whether the notice of transfer to be provided by the insurer is fair, adequate and not
misleading. [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]
[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).
§764. Rights of policyholder

1. Right to reject. Every policyholder has the right to reject the transfer and novation of the
contracts of insurance. A policyholder electing to reject the assumption transaction shall return to the
transferring insurer the preaddressed, postage-paid response card or other written notice and indicate
on the response card that the assumption is rejected.

[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW)]

2. Payment of premium. Payment of the next premium to the assuming company after notice is
received is determined to indicate the policyholder's acceptance of the transfer to the assuming insurer
and a novation is determined to have been effected if the premium notice clearly states that payment of
the premium to the assuming insurer constitutes acceptance of the transfer. The premium notice must
also provide a method for the policyholder to pay the premium while reserving the right to reject the
transfer. With respect to a home service business or any other business not using premium notices, the
disclosures and procedural requirements of this subsection are to be set forth in the notice of transfer

required by section 763, subsection 1, paragraph A and in the assumption certificate.
[PL 1995, c. 329, §6 (AMD).]

3. Additional notice. No fewer than 24 months after the mailing of the initial notice of transfer
required under section 763, if positive consent to the transfer and assumption has not been received or
consent has not been determined to have occurred under subsection 1, the transferring company shall
send to the policyholder a 2nd and final notice of transfer as specified in section 763, subsection 1. If
the policyholder does not reject the transfer during the one-month period immediately following the
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date on which the transferring insurer mailed the 2nd and final notice of transfer, the policyholder's
consent is determined to have occurred and novation of the contract is effected. With respect to the
home service business, the 24 and one-month periods must be measured from the date of delivery of

the notice of transfer pursuant to section 763, subsection 1, paragraph A.
[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

4. Response cards. The transferring insurer is deemed to have received the response card on the
date it is postmarked. A policyholder may also send a response card by facsimile or other electronic
transmission or by registered mail, express delivery or courier service, in which case the response card
is determined to have been received by the assuming insurer on the date of actual receipt by the
transferring insurer.

[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW). PL 1995, c. 329, §6 (AMD).
§765. Effect of consent by the policyholder

If a policyholder consents to the transfer pursuant to section 764 or if the transfer is effected under
section 766, there is a novation of the contract of insurance subject to the assumption reinsurance
agreement with the result that the transferring insurer is relieved of all insurance obligations or risks
transferred under the assumption reinsurance agreement and the assuming insurer is directly and solely
liable to the policyholder for those insurance obligations or risks. [PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).
§766. Authority of the insurance regulatory official

1. Transfer in the best interest of the policyholders. If an insurer domiciled in this State or in a
jurisdiction having a substantially similar law is determined by the domiciliary insurance regulatory
official to be in hazardous financial condition or an administrative proceeding has been instituted
against it for the purpose of reorganizing or conserving the insurer, and the transfer of the contracts of
insurance is in the best interest of the policyholders, as determined by the domiciliary insurance
regulatory official, a transfer and novation may be effected notwithstanding the provisions of this
subchapter. This may include a form of implied consent and adequate notification to the policyholder

of the circumstances requiring the transfer as approved by the insurance regulatory official.
[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

2. Protection. Notwithstanding any other provision of law, in the event that a transfer and novation
is effected by a decision of a domiciliary insurance regulatory official under this section, the residents
of this State whose policies are transferred to an unlicensed insurer are entitled to full protection under
chapter 57, subchapter III and chapter 62.

[PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1993, c. 603 (NEW).

SUBCHAPTER 6
SPECIAL PURPOSE REINSURANCE VEHICLE

§781. Definitions
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As used in this subchapter, unless the context otherwise indicates, the following terms have the
following meanings. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

1. Aggregate limit. "Aggregate limit" means the maximum sum payable to the ceding insurer
under a special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW)]

2. Catastrophe excess of loss property reinsurance. "Catastrophe excess of loss property
reinsurance” means excess of loss reinsurance for a catastrophe layer of a reinsurance program, written
on either a per occurrence or aggregate basis.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

3. Catastrophe life or health reinsurance. "Catastrophe life or health reinsurance" means
reinsurance of life, health or annuity products that transfers mortality, morbidity, survival or other
related risks in excess of existing proportional or nonproportional automatic and facultative treaties

newly placed or in force on the same risks.
[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

4. Ceding insurer. "Ceding insurer" means an insurer that enters into a special purpose
reinsurance vehicle contract with a special purpose reinsurance vehicle and includes a reinsurer
retroceding assumed reinsurance to a special purpose reinsurance vehicle. A group of affiliated insurers
under common control entering into a special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract on a coordinated
basis is considered a single ceding insurer.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW)]

5. Control. "Control," including the terms "controlling," "controlled by" and "under common
control," means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of a person, whether through the ownership of voting securities, by contract
other than a commercial contract for goods or nonmanagement services, or otherwise, unless the power
is the result of an official position with or corporate office held by the person. Control is presumed to
exist if any person, directly or indirectly, owns, controls, holds with the power to vote or holds proxies
representing 10% or more of the voting securities of any other person. This presumption may be
rebutted by a showing that control does not exist. Notwithstanding this subsection, for the purposes of
this subchapter, the fact that a special purpose reinsurance vehicle exclusively provides reinsurance to
a ceding insurer under a special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract is not by itself sufficient grounds
for a finding that the reinsurance vehicle or the special purpose reinsurance vehicle organizer or owner
is controlled by or under common control with the ceding insurer.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

6. Fair value. "Fair value" means:
A. As to cash, the amount of cash; and [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

B. As to an asset other than cash:

nn

(1) The amount at which that asset could be bought or sold in a current transaction between
arms-length, willing parties;

(2) The quoted market price for the asset in active markets must be used if available; and

(3) If quoted market prices are not available, a value determined using the best information
available considering values of like assets and other valuation methods, such as present value
of future cash flows, historical value of the same or similar assets or comparison to values of
other asset classes the value of which have been historically related to the subject asset. [PL
2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]
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7. Fully funded. "Fully funded" means, with respect to a special purpose reinsurance vehicle
contract, that the fair value of the assets under the control of the ceding insurer or held in trust for the
benefit of the ceding insurer under the special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract on the date on which
the special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract is effected, equals or exceeds the aggregate limit as
defined in subsection 1.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §2 (AMD).]

7-A. Impairment. "Impairment" or "impaired" means, with respect to a special purpose
reinsurance vehicle or any of its protected cells, that either:

A. The available capital of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle or protected cell has fallen
below the applicable initial capital requirement without the approval of the superintendent; or [PL
2007, c. 386, §3 (NEW).]

B. The fair value of the assets under the control of the ceding insurer or held in trust for the benefit
of the ceding insurer under a special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract is less than the aggregate
limit remaining under the contract as of the time the determination is made. [PL 2007, c. 386, §3
(NEW).]

[PL 2007, c. 386, §3 (NEW).]

8. Indemnity trigger. "Indemnity trigger" means a transaction term by which the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle's obligation to pay the ceding insurer for losses covered by a special purpose

reinsurance vehicle contract is triggered by the ceding insurer incurring a specified level of losses.
[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

9. Insolvency. "Insolvency" or "insolvent" means that the special purpose reinsurance vehicle or
one or more of its protected cells is unable to pay its obligations when they are due unless the obligations

are the subject of a bona fide dispute.
[PL 2007, c. 386, §4 (AMD).]

10. Nonindemnity trigger. "Nonindemnity trigger" means a transaction term by which the special
purpose reinsurance vehicle's obligation to pay the ceding insurer under a special purpose reinsurance
vehicle contract arises from the occurrence or existence of some event or condition other than the ceding
insurer incurring a specified level of losses under its insurance or reinsurance contracts.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

11. Permitted investments. "Permitted investments" means those investments that meet the
qualifications under section 795.
[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

11-A. Protected cell. "Protected cell" means a separate account established and maintained by a
special purpose reinsurance vehicle for one special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract and the
accompanying insurance securitization with a ceding insurer as further provided for in section 784-A.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §5 (NEW).]

12. Qualified United States financial institution. "Qualified United States financial institution"
means for purposes of meeting the requirements of a trustee as specified in section 784 a financial
institution that is eligible to act as a fiduciary of a trust and:

A. Is organized or, in the case of a United States branch or agency office of a foreign banking
organization, is licensed under the laws of the United States or any state; and [PL 2003, c. 249,
§2 (NEW).]

B. Isregulated, supervised and examined by federal or state authorities having regulatory authority
over banks and trust companies. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]
[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

13. Reinsurance vehicle. "Reinsurance vehicle" means a special purpose reinsurance vehicle.
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[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

14. Special purpose reinsurance vehicle. "Special purpose reinsurance vehicle" means an entity
domiciled in and organized under the laws of this State that has received a limited certificate of authority
from the superintendent under this subchapter exclusively for the limited purpose of entering into and
effectuating special purpose reinsurance vehicle insurance securitizations, special purpose reinsurance
vehicle contracts and other related transactions permitted by this subchapter.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

15. Special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract; contract. "Special purpose reinsurance
vehicle contract" or "contract" means a contract between the special purpose reinsurance vehicle and
the ceding insurer pursuant to which the special purpose reinsurance vehicle agrees to pay the ceding
insurer an agreed amount upon the occurrence of a triggering event.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

16. Special purpose reinsurance vehicle insurance securitization; insurance securitization.
"Special purpose reinsurance vehicle insurance securitization" or "insurance securitization" means a
package of related risk transfer instruments, capital market offerings and facilitating administrative
agreements by which proceeds are obtained by a special purpose reinsurance vehicle directly or
indirectly through the issuance of securities and are held in trust or under the control of the ceding
insurer pursuant to the requirements of this subchapter to secure the obligations of the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle under one or more special purpose reinsurance vehicle contracts with one or more
ceding insurers, when investment risk to the holders of these securities is contingent upon the
obligations of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle to the ceding insurer or ceding insurers under the
special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract in accordance with the transaction terms.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §6 (AMD).]

17. Special purpose reinsurance vehicle organizer; organizer. "Special purpose reinsurance
vehicle organizer" or "organizer" means one or more persons that have organized or intend to organize
a special purpose reinsurance vehicle under authority obtained as specified in this subchapter.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

18. Special purpose reinsurance vehicle securities; securities. "Special purpose reinsurance
vehicle securities" or "securities" means the securities issued by a special purpose reinsurance vehicle.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

19. Triggering event. "Triggering event" means an event or condition that if and when it occurs
or exists obligates the special purpose reinsurance vehicle to make a payment to the ceding insurer
under the provisions of a special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 386, §§2-6 (AMD).
§782. Limited certificate of authority required

1. Limited certificate of authority. In order to securitize one or more ceding insurers' risks, a
special purpose reinsurance vehicle shall obtain a limited certificate of authority from the
superintendent according to the provisions of this section.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

2. Application. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle organizer seeking to obtain a limited
certificate of authority for a special purpose reinsurance vehicle shall file an application for a limited
certificate of authority with the superintendent and pay the application fee specified in section 601,
subsection 1. A complete application must include the following:
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A. An affidavit verifying that each prospective organizer meets the requirements of this subchapter;

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

B. A representation that the prospective organizer intends to form a special purpose reinsurance
vehicle that operates in accordance with the requirements under this subchapter; [PL 2003, c.
249, §2 (NEW).]

C. The proposed name of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle; [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

D. Biographical affidavits of all organizers setting forth their legal names, any names under which
they have conducted or are conducting their affairs and any names of any person affiliated, as
defined in section 222, with any organizer, together with such other biographical information as
the superintendent may request; [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

E. The source and form of the minimum capital to be contributed to the special purpose reinsurance
vehicle; [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

F. Any persons with which the special purpose reinsurance vehicle is or upon formation will be
affiliated as defined in section 222; [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

G. The names and biographical affidavits of the proposed members of the board of directors and
principal officers of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle pursuant to section 790, setting forth
their legal names, any names under which they have conducted or are conducting their affairs and
any names of any person affiliated, as defined in section 222, with any proposed director or officer,

together with such other biographical information as the superintendent may request; [PL 2003,
C. 249, §2 (NEW).]

H. A plan of operation, consisting of a description of the contemplated insurance securitization or
securitizations, the special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract and related transactions, which
must include:

(1) Draft documentation or at the discretion of the superintendent a written summary of all
material agreements that are planned in order to effectuate the insurance securitization or
securitizations and the related contract, including the names of the ceding insurers, the nature
of the risks being assumed and the maximum amounts, purpose and nature and the
interrelationships of the various transactions required to effectuate the insurance securitization
or securitizations;

(2) The investment strategy of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle and a representation
that the investment strategy complies with the investment requirements set forth in this
subchapter and that the strategy includes investment practices or other provisions to preserve
asset values that facilitate attainment of full funding during the term of the insurance
securitization or securitizations with assets that can be monetized in response to a triggering
event without a substantial loss in value;

(3) A description of the method by which losses covered by the contract that may develop after
the termination of the contract period are to be addressed under the provisions of the contract;

(4) If applicable, a representation that the special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract with
the ceding insurer, the security agreement or trust agreement under section 784, subsection 4,
paragraph D-1 or E and any trusts holding assets that secure the obligations of the special
purpose reinsurance vehicle under the contract are structured in accordance with the
requirements under this subchapter ; and

(5) If protected cells are to be used, a description of the procedures for maintaining and
safeguarding separate accounts as required by section 784-A, subsection 1 and an application
for approval of each initial protected cell as required by section 784-A, subsection 2. [PL
2007, c. 386, §7 (AMD).]
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[PL 2007, c. 386, §7 (AMD).]

3. Additional information. The superintendent shall notify the special purpose reinsurance
vehicle organizer if any additional information is needed in order to review the application and shall
approve or deny the application within 60 days after determining that the application is complete.

A. The superintendent shall approve the application and issue a limited certificate of authority
under this section if the superintendent finds that:

(1) The proposed plan of operation provides a reasonable expectation of a successful operation;

(2) The terms of the contract and related transactions comply with this subchapter and any
applicable rules adopted by the superintendent;

(3) The proposed plan of operation is not hazardous to any ceding insurer or to policyholders;
and

(4) The insurance regulator of the state of domicile of each ceding insurer has notified the
superintendent in writing that it has not disapproved the transaction. The superintendent may
waive this requirement for a ceding insurer whose domiciliary state does not have a
substantially similar law if the superintendent finds that the domiciliary regulator has had notice
and adequate opportunity to review the proposal and has not objected. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2
(NEW).]

B. In evaluating the expectation of a successful operation, the superintendent shall consider, among
other factors, whether the proposed organizer, directors and officers of the proposed special purpose
reinsurance vehicle are of good character and not reasonably believed to be affiliated, directly or
indirectly, through ownership, control, management, reinsurance transactions or other insurance or
business relations, with any person known to have been involved in the improper manipulation of
assets, accounts or reinsurance. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

C. If the superintendent denies the application or if the superintendent withholds consent to a
proposed transaction involving a domestic ceding insurer under a similar law of another jurisdiction
the proposed organizer or ceding insurer has the right to a hearing upon a timely request filed
pursuant to section 229. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

4. Approval. Upon approval of the application by the superintendent and the issuance of a limited
certificate of authority, the special purpose reinsurance vehicle may be acquired or formed and, in
accordance with the approved plan of operation, the special purpose reinsurance vehicle may enter into
contracts and conduct other activities within the scope of the filed plan of operation.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

5. Reinsurance activities. The limited certificate of authority must state that the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle's authorization to be involved in the business of insurance is limited only to the
reinsurance activities that the special purpose reinsurance vehicle is allowed to conduct pursuant to this
subchapter.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

6. Documentation of insurance securitization. The special purpose reinsurance vehicle
organizer shall provide a complete set of the documentation of the insurance securitization to the
superintendent upon closing of any transactions, including an opinion of legal counsel with respect to
compliance with this subchapter and any other applicable laws as of the effective date of any
transaction.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §8 (AMD)]

7. Changes in plan of operation. Any material change to the special purpose reinsurance vehicle's
plan of operation filed pursuant to subsection 2, including, but not limited to, the initiation of a new
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insurance securitization to continue the activities of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle pursuant to
this subchapter after expiration and full satisfaction of the initial securitization transactions, requires
prior approval of the superintendent. A change in the counterparty to swap transactions for an existing
insurance securitization as allowed under this subchapter is not considered a material change unless the
special purpose reinsurance vehicle's managers know or should know that the new counterparty
presents a substantial risk of default.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §9 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 386, §§7-9 (AMD).
§783. Limited purpose of special purpose reinsurance vehicle

Special purpose reinsurance vehicles authorized under this subchapter are created for the limited
purpose of entering into insurance securitization transactions with investors and related agreements to
pay one or more ceding insurers agreed-upon amounts under a special purpose reinsurance vehicle
contract upon the occurrence of triggering events related to the insurance business of the ceding insurer.
A special purpose reinsurance vehicle may not issue a contract for assumption of risk or indemnification
of loss other than a special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).
§784. Approved transactions and operation of special purpose reinsurance vehicles

1. Contracts. Special purpose reinsurance vehicles authorized under this subchapter may enter
into and effectuate special purpose reinsurance vehicle contracts with one or more ceding insurers as
long as the contracts:

A. Obligate the reinsurance vehicle to indemnify the ceding insurer for losses; [PL 2003, c. 249,
§2 (NEW).]

B. Are securitized in full through a single special purpose reinsurance vehicle insurance
securitization or, if protected cells are used, through a single special purpose reinsurance vehicle
insurance securitization for each protected cell; and [PL 2007, c. 386, §10 (AMD).]

C. Are fully funded and secured with assets held in trust in accordance with the requirements of
this section pursuant to agreements proposed under this subchapter, and invested in a manner that
meets the criteria set forth in section 795. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

[PL 2007, c. 386, §10 (AMD).]

2. Eligible lines of business. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract may only provide
catastrophe excess of loss property reinsurance coverage or catastrophe life or health reinsurance
coverage, unless the superintendent adopts rules pursuant to section 797 specifying additional lines of
business that may be reinsured by a special purpose reinsurance vehicle or approves a waiver of the

requirement of this subsection for good cause shown with respect to a particular application.
[PL 2007, c. 386, §11 (AMD).]

3. Multiple ceding insurers. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle may enter into contracts with
multiple ceding insurers only if each contract is attributable to a different protected cell or if:

A. The special purpose reinsurance vehicle reinsures no more than 10 ceding insurers; and [PL
2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

B. Each ceding insurer has no more than $50,000,000 in surplus as reported in its most recent
financial statement filed with its domiciliary regulator, as of the date the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle is licensed. A group of ceding insurers under common control may elect to be
treated as separate insurers for purposes of this subsection, but only if each insurer in the group that
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is reinsured by the same special purpose reinsurance vehicle is counted separately for purposes of
the 10-cedent limit. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]
[PL 2007, c. 386, §12 (AMD).]

4. Terms of operation. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle may enter into agreements with 3rd
parties and conduct business necessary to fulfill its obligations and administrative duties incident to the
insurance securitization and the special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract. The agreements may
include entering into swap agreements or other transactions that have the objective of leveling timing
differences in funding upfront or ongoing transaction expenses or managing credit or interest rate risk
of the investments in trust to ensure that the assets held in trust are sufficient to satisfy payment or
repayment of the securities issued pursuant to an insurance securitization transaction and any other
obligations of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle. In fulfilling its function, the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle shall adhere to the following requirements and shall, to the extent of its powers,
ensure that contracts obligating other parties to perform certain functions incident to its operations are
substantively and materially consistent with the following requirements and guidelines.

A. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle must have a distinct name, which must include the
designation "SPRV" or "Special Purpose Reinsurance Vehicle." The name of the reinsurance
vehicle may not be deceptively similar to, or likely to be confused with or mistaken for, any other
existing business name registered in this State. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

B. Unless otherwise provided in the plan of operation, the principal place of business and office of
any reinsurance vehicle organized under this subchapter must be located in this State. [PL 2003,
c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

C. The assets of a reinsurance vehicle must be preserved and administered by or on behalf of the
reinsurance vehicle to satisfy the liabilities and obligations of the reinsurance vehicle incident to
the insurance securitization and other related agreements including the contract. [PL 2003, c. 249,
§2 (NEW).]

D. Except as provided in paragraph D-1, assets of the reinsurance vehicle that are pledged to secure
obligations of the reinsurance vehicle to a ceding insurer under a contract must be held in trust and
administered by a qualified United States financial institution serving as trustee. The qualified
United States financial institution may not control, be controlled by or be under common control
with the reinsurance vehicle or any ceding insurer. [PL 2007, c. 386, §13 (AMD).]

D-1. If approved by the superintendent, the reinsurance vehicle and the ceding insurer may enter
into a written agreement, in compliance with the ceding insurer's applicable domiciliary credit for
reinsurance laws, under which the assets pledged as security, in lieu of being held in trust, are held
in the United States subject to withdrawal solely by the ceding insurer and under its exclusive
control. The security agreement may not be approved unless the superintendent determines that
the agreement is consistent with the purposes of this subsection, that the ceding insurer has
unconditional access to the funds necessary to fulfill the reinsurance vehicle's obligations to the
ceding insurer and that the assets withheld under the control of the ceding insurer are never less
than the amount that would otherwise be required to be held in trust. [PL 2007, c. 386, §13
(NEW).]

E. The trust described in paragraph D must be governed by a written agreement between the
reinsurance vehicle and the ceding insurer that creates one or more trust accounts into which all
pledged assets must be deposited and held until distributed in accordance with the trust agreement.
The pledged assets must be held by the trustee at the trustee's office in the United States and may
be held in certificated or electronic form. [PL 2007, c. 386, §13 (AMD).]

F. The provisions for withdrawal by the ceding insurer of funds from the trust must comply with
the ceding insurer's applicable domiciliary credit for reinsurance laws and be clean and
unconditional, subject only to the following requirements:
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(1) The ceding insurer has the right to withdraw assets from the trust account at any time
without notice to the reinsurance vehicle subject only to written notice to the trustee from the
ceding insurer that funds in the amount requested are due and payable by the reinsurance
vehicle;

(2) No other statement or document need be presented in order to withdraw assets, except that
the ceding insurer may be required to acknowledge receipt of withdrawn assets;

(3) The trust agreement described in paragraph E must indicate that it is not subject to any
conditions or qualifications outside of the trust agreement;

(4) The trust agreement described in paragraph E may not contain references to any other
agreements or documents; and

(5) Reference may not be made to the fact that these funds may represent reinsurance premiums
or that the funds have been deposited for any specific purpose. [PL 2007, c. 386, §13
(AMD).]

G. The trust agreement described in paragraph E must be established for the sole use and benefit
of the ceding insurer at least to the full extent of the reinsurance vehicle's obligations to the ceding
insurer under the contract. In the case of more than one ceding insurer or more than one reinsurance
contract with the same ceding insurer, a separate trust agreement must be entered into with each
ceding insurer and a separate trust account must be maintained for each ceding insurer. [PL 2007,
c. 386, §13 (AMD).]

H. The trust agreement described in paragraph E must provide for the trustee to:
(1) Receive assets and hold all assets in a safe place;

(2) Determine that all assets are in a form that the ceding insurer or the trustee, upon direction
by the ceding insurer, may whenever necessary negotiate the assets, without consent or
signature from the reinsurance vehicle or any other person or entity;

(3) Furnish to the reinsurance vehicle, the superintendent and the ceding insurer a statement
of all assets in the trust account referred to in paragraph E reported at fair value upon its
inception and at intervals no less frequent than the end of each calendar quarter;

(4) Notify the reinsurance vehicle and the ceding insurer within 10 days of any deposits to or
withdrawals from the trust account referred to in paragraph E;

(5) Upon written demand of the ceding insurer, immediately take steps necessary to transfer
absolutely all right, title and interest in the assets held in the trust account referred to in
paragraph E to the ceding insurer and deliver physical custody of the assets to the ceding
insurer; and

(6) Allow no substitutions or withdrawals of assets from the trust account referred to in
paragraph E except on written instructions from the ceding insurer. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2
(NEW).]

I. The trust agreement described in paragraph E must provide that at least 30 days but not more
than 45 days before termination of the trust account written notification of termination must be
delivered by the trustee to the ceding insurer. [PL 2007, c. 386, §13 (AMD).]

J. The trust agreement described in paragraph E may be made subject to and governed by the laws
of any state in addition to the requirements for the trust as provided in this subchapter as long as
the state is disclosed in the plan of operation filed with and approved by the superintendent. [PL
2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]
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K. The trust agreement described in paragraph E must prohibit invasion of the trust account
referred to in paragraph E for the purpose of paying compensation to or reimbursing the expenses
of the trustee. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

L. The trust agreement described in paragraph E must provide that the trustee be liable for the
trustee's own negligence, willful misconduct or lack of good faith.

(1) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph F, subparagraphs (3) to (5) and paragraph M,
subparagraph (5), when a trust agreement described in paragraph E is established in conjunction
with a contract, then the trust agreement may provide that the ceding insurer shall undertake to
use and apply any amounts drawn upon the trust account without diminution because of the
insolvency of the ceding insurer or the reinsurance vehicle for the following purposes:

(a) To pay or reimburse the ceding insurer amounts due to the ceding insurer under the
contract, including, but not limited to, unearned premiums due to the ceding insurer if not
otherwise paid by the reinsurance vehicle in accordance with the terms of that trust
agreement; or

(b) When the ceding insurer has received notification of termination of the trust account
referred to in paragraph E and when some or all of the reinsurance vehicle's obligations
under the specific contract remain unliquidated and undischarged 10 days before the
termination date, to withdraw amounts equal to the undischarged obligations and deposit
the amounts in a separate account in the name of the ceding insurer in any qualified United
States financial institution apart from its general assets in trust for the sole purpose of
discharging any contractual obligations of the reinsurance vehicle that may remain
executory after the withdrawal and for any period after the termination date. Assets so held
must revert to the reinsurance vehicle when they are no longer necessary to secure the
obligations of the reinsurance vehicle and may not exceed the sum of the following
amounts as determined in good faith by the ceding insurer:

(i) Losses and loss expenses paid by the ceding insurer but not recovered from the
reinsurance vehicle;

(i) Reserves for losses reported and outstanding;
(ii1)) Reserves for losses incurred but not reported;
(iv) Reserves for loss expenses;

(v) Reserves for unearned premiums; and

(vi) Any additional amount necessary to maintain full funding of the aggregate limit
remaining under the contract if the period of coverage or the agreed-upon period of
loss development has yet to expire.

(2) The provisions to be included in the trust agreement described in paragraph E pursuant to
this paragraph may instead be included in the underlying contract. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2
(NEW).]

M. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract must contain provisions that:
(1) Require the reinsurance vehicle to :

(a) Enter into a trust agreement described in paragraph E and establish a trust account
referred to in paragraph E for the benefit of the ceding insurer; or

(b) Enter into a security agreement described in paragraph D-1.

The trust agreement or security agreement must specify what recoverables or reserves or
both the agreement is to cover;
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(2) Stipulate that assets pledged as security be valued according to their current fair value for
purposes of the contract and may consist only of permitted investments;

(3) If applicable, require the reinsurance vehicle, before depositing assets with the trustee, to
execute assignments or endorsements in blank or to transfer legal title to the trustee of all
shares, obligations or any other assets requiring assignments in order that the ceding insurer or
the trustee upon the direction of the ceding insurer may whenever necessary negotiate any such
assets without consent or signature from the reinsurance vehicle or any other entity;

(4) Require that all settlements of account between the ceding insurer and the reinsurance
vehicle be made in cash or its equivalent; and

(5) Stipulate that the reinsurance vehicle and the ceding insurer agree that the assets in any
trust account referred to in paragraph E and established pursuant to the provisions of the
contract may be withdrawn by the ceding insurer at any time notwithstanding any other
provisions in the contract and must be used and applied by the ceding insurer or any successor
by operation of law of the ceding insurer, including, but not limited to, and subject to the
provisions of section 793, any liquidator, rehabilitator, receiver or conservator of the ceding
insurer, without diminution because of insolvency on the part of the ceding insurer or the
reinsurance vehicle, only for the following purposes:

(a) To transfer all such assets into one or more trust accounts pursuant to paragraph L for
the benefit of the ceding insurer pursuant to the terms of the contract and in compliance
with this subchapter; and

(b) To pay any other amounts that the ceding insurer claims are due under the contract.
[PL 2007, c. 386, §13 (AMD).]

N. The contract entered into by the reinsurance vehicle may contain provisions that give the
reinsurance vehicle the right to seek approval from the ceding insurer to withdraw from the trust
account referred to in paragraph E all or part of the assets contained in the trust account and to
transfer the assets to the reinsurance vehicle as long as:

(1) The reinsurance vehicle shall at the time of the withdrawal replace the withdrawn assets
with other qualified assets having a fair value equal to the fair value of the assets withdrawn
and that meet the requirements of section 795; and

(2) After the withdrawals and transfer, the fair value of the assets in the trust account referred
to in paragraph E securing the obligations of the reinsurance vehicle under the contract is no
less than an amount needed to satisfy the full funding requirement of the contract. The ceding
insurer has the sole discretion to determine whether these provisions have been satisfied but
may not unreasonably nor arbitrarily withhold its approval. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

O. The contract must provide that investors in the reinsurance vehicle agree that any obligation to
repay principal, interest or dividends on the securities issued by the reinsurance vehicle must be
reduced upon the occurrence of a triggering event, to the extent that the assets of the reinsurance
vehicle held in trust for the benefit of the ceding insurer are remitted to the ceding insurer in
fulfillment of the obligations of the reinsurance vehicle under the contract. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2
(NEW).]

P. Assets held by a reinsurance vehicle in trust must be valued at their fair value. [PL 2003, c.
249, §2 (NEW).]

Q. The proceeds from the sale of securities by the reinsurance vehicle to investors must be
deposited with the trustee or under the control of the ceding insurer as described in this subchapter
and must be held or invested in accordance with the requirements of section 795. [PL 2007, c.

386, §13 (AMD).]
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R. A reinsurance vehicle organized under this subchapter may engage only in fully funded
contracts to support in full the ceding insurer's exposures assumed by the reinsurance vehicle. A
contract must be indemnity-triggered unless the superintendent adopts rules pursuant to section 797
authorizing nonindemnity-triggered contracts and addressing the treatment of the portion of the risk
that is nonindemnity-based, including accounting, disclosure, risk-based capital treatment and the
manner in which risks associated with a nonindemnity-based contract may be evaluated and
managed. Assets of the reinsurance vehicle may be used to pay interest or other consideration on
any outstanding debt or other obligation of the reinsurance vehicle and nothing in this paragraph
may be construed or interpreted to prevent a reinsurance vehicle from entering into a swap
agreement or other transaction that has the effect of guaranteeing interest or other consideration.
[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

S. In the special purpose reinsurance vehicle insurance securitization, the contracts or other relating
documentation must contain provisions identifying the reinsurance vehicle that enters into the
reinsurance securitization and the contracts or other documentation must clearly disclose that the
assets of the reinsurance vehicle and only those assets are available to pay the obligations of that
reinsurance vehicle. Notwithstanding this paragraph, and subject to the provisions of this
subchapter and any other applicable law, the failure to include such language in the contracts or
other documentation may not be used as the sole basis by creditors, reinsurers or other claimants to
circumvent the provisions of this subchapter. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

T. A reinsurance vehicle is not authorized to:
(1) Issue or otherwise administer primary insurance policies;
(2) Have any obligation to the policyholders or reinsureds of the ceding insurer;

(3) Enter into a contract with a person that is not licensed or otherwise authorized to conduct
the business of insurance or reinsurance in at least its state or country of domicile; or

(4) Assume or retain exposure to insurance or reinsurance losses for its own account that is
not initially fully funded by proceeds from an insurance securitization that meets the
requirements of this subchapter. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

U. At the cessation of business of a reinsurance vehicle, the limited certificate of authority granted
by the superintendent under section 782 expires and the reinsurance vehicle may no longer be
authorized to conduct activities pursuant to this subchapter until a new certificate of authority is
issued pursuant to a new filing in accordance with section 782. The completion of a reinsurance
vehicle's securitization activities does not constitute the cessation of business for purposes of this
paragraph if the reinsurance vehicle's approved business plan contemplates additional
securitizations. [PL 2007, c. 386, §13 (AMD).]

V. It is unlawful for a reinsurance vehicle to lend or otherwise invest or place in custody, trust or
under management any of its assets with or to borrow money or receive a loan or advance from,
other than by issuance of the securities pursuant to an insurance securitization, from anyone
convicted of a felony, anyone who is untrustworthy or of known bad character or anyone convicted
of a criminal offense involving the conversion or misappropriation of fiduciary funds or insurance
accounts, theft, deceit, fraud, misrepresentation or corruption. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

W. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle may purchase reinsurance with the approval of the
superintendent to retrocede risks assumed through a special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract.
Reinsurance purchased by the reinsurance vehicle does not reduce the aggregate limit of the
reinsurance vehicle or the covered protected cell and may only be credited toward the funding
requirements of the reinsurance vehicle or the covered protected cell to the extent that the ceding
insurer has a direct right of recovery against the retrocessionaire that is secured by assets deposited
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[PL

with the trustee or under the control of the ceding insurer in accordance with this section and held
or invested in accordance with the requirements of section 795. [PL 2007, c. 386, §13 (NEW).]
2007, c. 386, §13 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 386, §§10-13 (AMD).
§784-A. Protected cells

1. Establishment of protected cells. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle may establish and

maintain one or more protected cells with the prior written approval of the superintendent, subject to
compliance with the provisions of this section.

A. A protected cell may be established only for the purpose of insuring or reinsuring risks of one
or more special purpose reinsurance vehicle contracts with the intent of facilitating an insurance
securitization. The establishment of a protected cell in compliance with this section in connection
with a lawful insurance securitization does not constitute a fraudulent conveyance, a scheme to
defraud creditors or a transaction of business for a fraudulent purpose. [PL 2007, c. 386, §14
(NEW).]

B. Each protected cell must be accounted for separately on the books and records of the special
purpose reinsurance vehicle to reflect the financial condition and results of operations of the
protected cell, net income or loss, dividends or other distributions for the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle contract with each cell and other factors as may be provided in the special
purpose reinsurance vehicle contract, insurance securitization transaction documents, plan of
operation or business plan, or as required by the superintendent. The special purpose reinsurance
vehicle must establish administrative and accounting procedures necessary for the proper
attribution of protected cell assets and protected cell liabilities to each protected cell. The directors
of a special purpose reinsurance vehicle shall keep the protected cell assets and liabilities
attributable to each protected cell separate and separately identifiable from the assets and liabilities
of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle's general account and from the protected cell assets and
liabilities attributable to any other protected cell. [PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

C. Amounts attributed to a protected cell under this section, including assets transferred to a
protected cell account, are owned by the special purpose reinsurance vehicle, and the special
purpose reinsurance vehicle is not and may not hold itself out to be a trustee with respect to those
protected cell assets of that protected cell account. [PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

D. All attributions of assets and liabilities between a protected cell and the general account must
be in accordance with the plan of operation approved by the superintendent. No other attribution
of assets or liabilities may be made by a special purpose reinsurance vehicle between the special
purpose reinsurance vehicle's general account and its protected cell or cells. The special purpose
reinsurance vehicle must attribute all insurance obligations, assets and liabilities relating to a
special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract and the related insurance securitization transaction,
including any securities issued by the special purpose reinsurance vehicle as part of the insurance
securitization and any taxes or other obligations arising by operation of law, to the associated
protected cell. [PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

E. The assets of a protected cell are not chargeable with liabilities arising out of a special purpose
reinsurance vehicle contract related to or associated with another protected cell. More than one
special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract may not be attributed to the same protected cell unless
those special purpose reinsurance vehicle contracts are intended to be, and ultimately are, part of a
single securitization transaction. [PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

F. A sale, exchange or other transfer of assets may not be made by the special purpose reinsurance
vehicle between or among any of its protected cells without the consent of the superintendent, the
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ceding insurer or insurers and the holders of the securities issued by each protected cell. [PL 2007,
c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

G. A sale, exchange, transfer of assets, dividend or distribution may not be made from a protected
cell without the superintendent's approval except as authorized in advance under the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle contract or related insurance securitization transaction documents and may not
be approved if the sale, exchange, transfer, dividend or distribution would result in insolvency or
impairment with respect to a protected cell. [PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

H. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle may pay interest or repay principal, or both, and make
distributions or repayments in respect of any securities attributed to a particular protected cell from
assets or cash flows relating to or emerging from the special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract
and the insurance securitization transactions that are attributable to that particular protected cell in
accordance with the provisions of this subchapter or as otherwise approved by the superintendent.
[PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

[PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

2. Approval of protected cells. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract with or attributable
to a protected cell does not take effect without the superintendent's prior written approval, and the
addition of each new protected cell constitutes a change in the business plan requiring the
superintendent's prior written approval and the amendment of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle's
limited certificate of authority. The superintendent may retain legal, financial and examination services
from outside the bureau to examine and investigate the application for a protected cell, the reasonable
cost of which may be charged against the applicant, or the superintendent may use internal resources
to examine and investigate the application, the reasonable cost of which may be charged against the
applicant up to a maximum of $12,000, or both. The application for approval of a protected cell must
include a plan of operation for the protected cell consistent with the requirements of section 782,
subsection 2, paragraph H.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

3. Minimum capital requirements. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle with protected cells
shall possess and maintain capitalization in each protected cell in the amount and manner required for
a special purpose reinsurance vehicle in section 787 and, in addition, shall possess and maintain
minimum capitalization separate and apart from the capitalization of its protected cell or cells in an
amount determined by the superintendent after giving due consideration of the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle's business plan, feasibility study and proforma financial statements, including the
nature of the risks to be insured or reinsured.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

4. Status of protected cells. A protected cell is not a legal person separate from the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle. However, a protected cell must have its own distinct name or designation that
includes the words "protected cell" and all protected cells must be identified by name in the special
purpose reinsurance vehicle's limited certificate of authority. The special purpose reinsurance vehicle
shall hold all assets attributable to the protected cell in one or more separately established and identified
protected cell accounts bearing the name or designation of that protected cell.

A. The assets of a protected cell are available only to the ceding insurer and other creditors of that
protected cell and may not be used to pay expenses or claims other than those attributable to the
protected cell. Creditors with respect to a protected cell are not entitled to any recourse against the
protected cell assets of other protected cells or the assets of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle's
general account. If an obligation of a special purpose reinsurance vehicle relates only to the general
account, the creditor is entitled to have recourse with respect to that obligation only to the assets of
the general account. [PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]
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B. Protected cell assets may not be pledged or otherwise encumbered except for the benefit of
creditors of that protected cell in furtherance of the securitization in accordance with the approved
plan of operation. [PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

C. All contracts or other documentation reflecting protected cell liabilities must clearly indicate
that only the protected cell assets are available for the satisfaction of those protected cell liabilities.
In all special purpose reinsurance vehicle insurance securitizations involving a protected cell, the
contracts or other documentation effecting the transaction must contain provisions identifying the
protected cell to which the transaction is attributed. In addition, the contracts or other
documentation must clearly disclose that the assets of that protected cell, and only those assets, are
available to pay the obligations of that protected cell. However, failure to include express language
attributing obligations under a contract to a protected cell does not give a party the right to void or
reform the contract if the party had notice that the contract related to a protected cell. [PL 2007,
c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

D. If the special purpose reinsurance vehicle enters into a contract involving more than one
protected cell, the rights and obligations relating to each protected cell must be several rather than
joint and the contract must make clear provisions for their apportionment between protected cells.
[PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

E. In any action or proceeding involving the potential for monetary recovery by or against a special
purpose reinsurance vehicle with protected cells, or for nonmonetary relief relating to a particular
protected cell or cells, any process, pleading or order must name the specific cell or cells affected,
including if applicable the general account. [PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

[PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

5. Separate administrative services. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle may contract with or
arrange for an investment advisor, commodity trading advisor or other 3rd party to manage the assets
or administer the obligations of a protected cell, if all remuneration, expenses and other compensation
arising out of services performed with respect to that protected cell are payable only from the assets of
that protected cell or, with the approval of the superintendent, from the assets of the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle's general account.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW),]

6. Notice of impairment or insolvency. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle with protected
cells shall notify the superintendent in writing within 10 business days after the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle or any protected cell becomes impaired or insolvent.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW),]

7. Conversion to protected cell framework. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle without
protected cells may apply to the superintendent in accordance with subsection 2 to revise its plan of
operation to establish one or more protected cells. If there is an existing insurance securitization in
force at the time of the application, the revised plan of operation must provide for the establishment of
a protected cell for that securitization and the transfer to the protected cell of all assets and liabilities
relating to the securitization.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

8. Termination of protected cell. At the cessation of business of a protected cell in accordance
with the plan approved by the superintendent, the special purpose reinsurance vehicle shall close out
the protected cell account and the superintendent shall modify the limited certificate of authority to
reflect the termination.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2007, c. 386, §14 (NEW).
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§785. Powers

1. Powers. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle authorized under this subchapter has the powers
to enter into contracts and to conduct other commercial activities necessary to fulfill the purposes of
this subchapter. These activities may include, but are not limited to, entering into contracts, issuing
securities of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle and complying with the terms of the contracts,
entering into trust agreements, swap agreements and any other agreements necessary to effectuate an
insurance securitization in compliance with the limitations and pursuant to the authorities granted to
the reinsurance vehicle under this subchapter or the plan of operation approved by the superintendent.
[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

2. Bylaws. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle organized or doing business under this
subchapter is capable of suing or being sued and may make or enforce contracts in relation to the
business of the reinsurance vehicle; may have and use a common seal and in the name of the reinsurance
vehicle or by a trustee chosen by the board of directors is capable of taking, purchasing, holding and
disposing of real and personal property for carrying into effect the purposes of its organization; and
may by its board of directors, trustees, officers or managers make bylaws and amendments to the bylaws
not inconsistent with the laws or the constitution of this State or of the United States. The bylaws must
define the manner of electing directors, trustees or managers and officers of the reinsurance vehicle,
together with their qualifications, duties and term of office.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).
§786. Affiliation

Notwithstanding the provisions of section 222, the special purpose reinsurance vehicle, the special
purpose reinsurance vehicle organizer or subsequent debt or equity investors in special purpose
reinsurance vehicle securities are not deemed affiliates of the ceding insurer by virtue of the special
purpose reinsurance vehicle contract between the ceding insurer and the reinsurance vehicle, the
securities of the reinsurance vehicle or related agreements necessary to implement the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle insurance securitization. [PL 2007, c. 386, §15 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 386, §15 (AMD).
§787. Capitalization

A special purpose reinsurance vehicle must have minimum initial capital of not less than $5,000.
All of the initial capital must be received by the reinsurance vehicle in cash. The minimum initial
capital required and all other funds of the reinsurance vehicle in excess of its minimum initial capital,
including funds held in trust to secure the obligations of the reinsurance vehicle pursuant to its special
purpose reinsurance vehicle contracts, must be invested as provided in section 795. [PL 2003, c. 249,
§2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).
§788. Dividends

The special purpose reinsurance vehicle may not declare or pay dividends in any form to its owners
unless the dividends do not cause the reinsurance vehicle or any of its protected cells to become
impaired and, after giving effect to the dividends, the assets of the reinsurance vehicle, including assets
held in trust pursuant to the terms of the insurance securitization, must be sufficient to meet its
obligations. Except for dividends specifically provided for in the approved plan of operation under
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section 782, subsection 2, paragraph H, the prior approval of the superintendent is required for any
dividend paid during the term of coverage or while the reinsurance vehicle has undischarged obligations
to the ceding insurer. The dividends may be declared by the board of directors of the reinsurance
vehicle if the dividends would not violate the provisions of this subchapter or the approved plan of
operation and would not jeopardize the fulfillment of the obligations of the reinsurance vehicle or the
trustee pursuant to the special purpose reinsurance vehicle insurance securitization, the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle contract or any related transaction. The provisions of section 222, subsection 11-C
do not apply to such dividends. [PL 2009, c. 511, Pt. A, §6 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 386, §16 (AMD). PL 2009, c. 511, Pt. A, §6 (AMD).
§789. Records and financial reports

1. Records. The records of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle must be maintained in this
State and must be available for examination by the superintendent at any time. No later than 5 months
after the end of the fiscal year of the reinsurance vehicle, the reinsurance vehicle shall file with the
superintendent an audit by a certified public accounting firm of the financial statements of the

reinsurance vehicle and the trust accounts referred to in section 784, subsection 2, paragraph E.
[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

2. Statement of operation. Each special purpose reinsurance vehicle organized under this
subchapter shall file with the superintendent no later than March 1st of each year a statement of
operations, including a statement of income, a balance sheet and a detailed listing of invested assets,
including identification of assets held in trust to secure the reinsurance vehicle's obligations under the
special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract, for the year ending the prior December 31st. The
statements must be prepared in accordance with statutory accounting principles consistent with section
901-A on forms required by the superintendent. If one or more protected cells have been established,
the statement must detail the financial experience of the general account and each protected cell
separately, in addition to providing the combined financial experience of the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle and all protected cells.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §17 (AMD).]

3. Financial statement. The special purpose reinsurance vehicle shall keep its books and records
in such manner that its financial condition, affairs and operations can be ascertained and so that its
financial statements filed with the superintendent can be readily verified and its compliance with the
provisions of this subchapter determined. The books and records may be photographed, reproduced on
film or stored and reproduced electronically.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

4. Preservation. All books, records, documents, accounts and vouchers must be preserved and
kept available in this State for the purpose of examination and until authority to destroy or otherwise
dispose of the records is secured from the superintendent. The original records may, however, be kept
and maintained outside this State if, according to a plan adopted by the special purpose reinsurance
vehicle's board of directors and approved by the superintendent, it maintains suitable records in lieu of
the original records.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 386, §17 (AMD).
§790. Officers and directors

The directors of a special purpose reinsurance vehicle shall elect officers that they consider
necessary to carry out the purposes of the reinsurance vehicle pursuant to this subchapter. The

0.30.2023 Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE | 151



MRS Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE

provisions of Title 13-C, section 857 apply to the indemnification of officers and directors of
reinsurance vehicles organized under this subchapter. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

1. Appointment; election of officers; directors. Each special purpose reinsurance vehicle
authorized to do business in this State shall notify the superintendent within 30 days after the
appointment or election of any new officers or directors.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

2. Removal of officer; director. When the superintendent determines that an officer or director
does not meet the standards set forth in this section, the superintendent shall, after notice and
opportunity for hearing afforded to the officer or director, and after a finding that the officer or director
is incompetent or untrustworthy or of known bad character, order the removal of the person. If the
reinsurance vehicle does not comply with a removal order within 30 days, the superintendent may
suspend that reinsurance vehicle's limited certificate of authority until such time as the order is complied
with.,

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

3. Loans with affiliate. The reinsurance vehicle may make no loans to any special purpose
reinsurance vehicle organizer, owner, director, officer, manager or affiliate of the reinsurance vehicle.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).
§791. Fees and taxes

A special purpose reinsurance vehicle application under section 782, subsection 2 is subject to the
application fee specified in section 601, subsection 1. A reinsurance vehicle is also responsible for
expenses and costs incurred by the bureau in accordance with section 228. The reinsurance vehicle is
not subject to state premium or other taxes incidental to the operation of its business as long as the
business remains within the limitations of this subchapter. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).
§792. Dissolution

A special purpose reinsurance vehicle operating under this subchapter may be dissolved at any time
by a vote of its directors under section 790 and after the action has been approved by the superintendent.
Voluntary dissolution may not be effected or allowed until and unless all of the obligations of the
reinsurance vehicle pursuant to the insurance securitization or securitizations have been fully and
finally satisfied pursuant to their terms. In the case of voluntary dissolution, the disposition of the
affairs of the reinsurance vehicle, including the settlement of all outstanding obligations, must be made
by the officers or directors of the reinsurance vehicle and when the liquidation has been completed and
a final statement in acceptable form has been filed with and approved by the superintendent the
provisions for voluntary dissolution under section 3484 must be followed to dissolve the reinsurance

vehicle. [PL 2007, c. 386, §18 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 386, §18 (AMD).
§793. Conservation, rehabilitation or liquidation

1. Authorized insurer. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle is considered an authorized insurer
for purposes of section 4351, subsection 1, and the provisions of chapter 57 apply to a reinsurance

vehicle or to any of a reinsurance vehicle's protected cells, except to the extent modified by this section.
[PL 2007, c. 386, §19 (AMD).]
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2. Grounds for action. Notwithstanding the provisions of sections 4356 and 4357, the Superior
Court may issue an order authorizing the superintendent to conserve, rehabilitate or liquidate a special
purpose reinsurance vehicle domiciled in this State, or one or more of its protected cells, only if the
superintendent proves by clear and convincing evidence or the reinsurance vehicle stipulates after
notice and opportunity for hearing that:

A. There has been embezzlement, wrongful sequestration, dissipation or diversion of the assets of
the reinsurance vehicle or protected cell intended to be used to pay amounts owed to the ceding
insurer or the holders of special purpose reinsurance vehicle securities; or [PL 2007, c. 386, §19

(AMD) ]

B. The reinsurance vehicle or protected cell is insolvent and the holders of a majority in outstanding
principal amount of each class of special purpose reinsurance vehicle securities request or consent
to conservation, rehabilitation or liquidation under this subchapter. [PL 2007, c. 386, §19
(AMD).]

[PL 2007, c. 386, §19 (AMD).]

3. Receiver. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Title, rules adopted under this Title
or any other applicable law, upon any order of conservation, rehabilitation or liquidation of the special
purpose reinsurance vehicle or one or more of its protected cells, a receiver is bound to deal with the
reinsurance vehicle's assets and liabilities in accordance with the requirements under this subchapter.

[PL 2007, c. 386, §19 (AMD)]

3-A. Protected cells. The following provisions apply to the insolvency of a special purpose
reinsurance vehicle with protected cells or to the insolvency of a protected cell.

A. The insolvency of one protected cell does not constitute the insolvency of any other protected
cell or of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle itself. The insolvency of a special purpose
reinsurance vehicle does not constitute the insolvency of any of its solvent protected cells and is
not a basis for the receivership of any solvent protected cell capable of independent operation. [PL
2007, c. 386, §19 (NEW).]

B. Notwithstanding the insolvency of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle or of any other
protected cell, the obligations attributed to any solvent protected cell must continue to be paid as
they come due. [PL 2007, c. 386, §19 (NEW).]

C. The assets attributed to a protected cell may not be applied to the liabilities attributed to another
protected cell or to the reinsurance vehicle generally, except that:

(1) If the insolvency of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle renders a protected cell
incapable of being managed independently, a receiver may, after consultation with the creditors
of the protected cell, contract for the management of the protected cell and charge to the
protected cell a reasonable amount for those services;

(2) A general liability of an insolvent special purpose reinsurance vehicle may be apportioned
equitably in whole or in part to one or more of its protected cells if the Superior Court
determines that the liability arises out of the operations of the protected cell or cells and that
the interests of innocent creditors of the protected cell or cells are not unreasonably impaired;
and

(3) Ifassets or liabilities have been commingled, or have been wrongfully transferred between
protected cells or between a protected cell and the general account, the Superior Court shall
trace the assets and attribute them to the proper accounts, giving due consideration to the terms
of any relevant governing instrument or contract. [PL 2007, c. 386, §19 (NEW).]

D. The plan of rehabilitation or liquidation of any special purpose reinsurance vehicle with
protected cells must make reasonable provision for the continued operation of all solvent protected
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cells, which may involve the formation of one or more new special purpose reinsurance vehicles
or the transfer of one or more protected cells. [PL 2007, c. 386, §19 (NEW).]
[PL 2007, c. 386, §19 (NEW).]

4. Recoverable amounts. With respect to amounts recoverable under a special purpose
reinsurance vehicle contract, the amount recoverable by the receiver may not be reduced or diminished
as a result of the entry of an order of conservation, rehabilitation or liquidation with respect to the
ceding insurer, notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary in the contracts or other documentation
governing the special purpose reinsurance vehicle insurance securitization.

A. Notwithstanding the provisions of chapter 57, an application or petition in any delinquency
proceeding relating to a ceding insurer or any temporary restraining order or injunction issued in
any such proceeding may not prohibit the transaction of any business by a reinsurance vehicle,
including any payment by a reinsurance vehicle made pursuant to a special purpose reinsurance
vehicle security or any action or proceeding against a reinsurance vehicle or its assets. [PL 2003,
c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

B. Notwithstanding the provisions of chapter 57, subchapter 2, the commencement of a summary
proceeding or other interim proceeding commenced prior to a formal delinquency proceeding with
respect to a reinsurance vehicle and any order issued by the court in such proceeding may not
prohibit a reinsurance vehicle from making a payment pursuant to a special purpose reinsurance
vehicle security or contract or from taking any action required to make the payment. [PL 2003, c.
249, §2 (NEW).]

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

5. Nonfraudulent transfer. Notwithstanding any other provision of chapter 57 or other state law:

A. A receiver of a ceding insurer may not void a nonfraudulent transfer by a ceding insurer to a

special purpose reinsurance vehicle of money or other property made pursuant to a special purpose
reinsurance vehicle contract; and [PL 2007, c. 386, §19 (AMD).]

B. A receiver of a special purpose reinsurance vehicle may not void a nonfraudulent transfer by
the reinsurance vehicle of money or other property made to a ceding insurer pursuant to a special
purpose reinsurance vehicle contract or made to or for the benefit of any holder of a special purpose
reinsurance vehicle security on account of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle security. [PL
2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

[PL 2007, c. 386, §19 (AMD).]

6. Fulfillment of obligations. With the exception of the fulfillment of the obligations under a
special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract and notwithstanding any other provisions of this
subchapter or other law of this State to the contrary, the assets of a special purpose reinsurance vehicle
including assets held in trust may not be consolidated with or included in the estate of a ceding insurer
in any delinquency proceeding against the ceding insurer under this subchapter for any purpose,
including, without limitation, distribution to creditors of the ceding insurer.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

7. Domiciliary receiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this subchapter:

A. The domiciliary receiver of a special purpose reinsurance vehicle domiciled in another state is
vested by operation of law with the title to all of the assets, property, contracts and rights of action
and all of the books, accounts and other records of the reinsurance vehicle located in this State.
The domiciliary receiver has the immediate right to recover all such vested property, assets and
causes of action of the reinsurance vehicle located in this State ; and [PL 2007, c. 386, §19
(AMD).]

B. An ancillary proceeding may not be commenced or prosecuted in this State against a special
purpose reinsurance vehicle domiciled in another state. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]
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[PL 2007, c. 386, §19 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 386, §19 (AMD).

§794. Not subject to guaranty funds; residual market or similar arrangements

1. Guaranty funds. The special purpose reinsurance vehicle or the activities, assets and
obligations relating to the reinsurance vehicle are not subject to the provisions of chapter 57, subchapter
3 or chapter 62 and a reinsurance vehicle may not be assessed by or otherwise be required to contribute
to any guaranty fund or guaranty association in this State with respect to the activities, assets or
obligations of a reinsurance vehicle or the ceding insurer.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

2. Residual market. The special purpose reinsurance vehicle may not be required to participate
in any residual market, so-called "FAIR" plan or other similar plan to provide insurance coverage, take
out policies, assume risks, make capital contributions, pay or be otherwise obligated for assessments,
surcharges or fees or otherwise support or participate in such plans or arrangements.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).
§795. Asset and investment limitations

1. Assets. Assets of the special purpose reinsurance vehicle held in trust to secure obligations
under the special purpose reinsurance vehicle contract must at all times be held in:

A. Cash and cash equivalents; [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

B. Securities listed by the Securities Valuation Office of the National Association of
Commissioners or its successor organization and qualifying as admitted assets under statutory
accounting principles pursuant to section 901-A; or [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

C. Any other form of security acceptable to the superintendent. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]
[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

2. Investment practices. In addition, the special purpose reinsurance vehicle may enter into swap
agreements or other transactions that have the objective of leveling timing differences in funding of
upfront or ongoing transaction expenses or managing credit or interest rate risk of the investments in
the trust to ensure that the investments are sufficient to ensure payment or repayment of the securities
and related interest or principal payments issued pursuant to a special purpose reinsurance vehicle
insurance securitization transaction or the reinsurance vehicle's obligations under the special purpose
reinsurance vehicle contract.

[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).

§796. No transaction of insurance business by investors in securities

The securities issued by the special purpose reinsurance vehicle pursuant to a special purpose
reinsurance vehicle insurance securitization are not deemed to be insurance or reinsurance contracts.
An investor in such securities issued pursuant to insurance securitization or any holder of such securities
may not by sole means of this investment or holding be deemed to be transacting an insurance business
in this State. The underwriters or selling agents and their partners, directors, officers, members,
managers, employees, agents, representatives and advisors involved in an insurance securitization are
not deemed to be acting as insurance or reinsurance producers, intermediaries or consultants by virtue
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of their activities in connection with the special purpose reinsurance vehicle or with the insurance
securitization. [PL 2007, c. 386, §20 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 386, §20 (AMD).
§796-A. Confidentiality of proprietary information

Any requirement established by this subchapter to file proprietary business information with the
superintendent does not in and of itself make that information a public record. Information filed with
the superintendent pursuant to this subchapter is entitled to any privileges and confidentiality
protections that would apply if the special purpose reinsurance vehicle were a captive insurance
company licensed by the superintendent pursuant to section 6702. [PL 2007, c. 386, §21 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2007, c. 386, §21 (NEW).
§797. Authority to adopt rules

The superintendent may adopt rules necessary to effectuate the purposes of this subchapter. Any
rules so adopted do not affect a special purpose reinsurance vehicle insurance securitization in effect at
the time of adoption. Rules adopted pursuant to this subchapter are routine technical rules as defined
in Title 5, chapter 375, subchapter 2-A. [PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).
§798. Exemption from insurance laws within limitations

1. Titles consistent. A special purpose reinsurance vehicle is subject to chapters 1, 3 and 5 to the
extent consistent with this subchapter.
[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

2. Provisions not applicable. No other provisions of this Title are applicable to a special purpose
reinsurance vehicle organized under this subchapter, except as expressly provided in this subchapter or

in rules adopted by the superintendent pursuant to section 797.
[PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW).]

3. Variance. The superintendent may issue an order exempting a special purpose reinsurance
vehicle or a protected cell from provisions of this subchapter upon a finding that the variance is
necessary for conformance to the laws or regulatory requirements of a ceding insurer's state of domicile
and that the variance is consistent with the purposes of this subchapter given the nature of the risks to

be insured.
[PL 2007, c. 386, §22 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2003, c. 249, §2 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 386, §22 (AMD).

CHAPTER 11
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
SUBCHAPTER 1

ASSETS
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§901. "Assets" defined
(REPEALED)
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1981, c. 501, §42 (AMD). PL
1991, c. 828, §21 (AMD). PL 2001, c. 72, §6 (RP).

§901-A. Statutory accounting principles; reserves

1. Principles; admitted assets. In evaluating the financial condition of an insurer, the
superintendent shall determine which assets may be recognized as admitted assets and shall value the
insurer's admitted assets and the insurer's liabilities:

A. In accordance with recognized statutory accounting principles as codified by the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners or its successor organization and reflected in the
association's accounting practices and procedures manual and valuation of securities manual and
their successor publications; and [PL 2001, c. 524, §1 (NEW).]

B. In accordance with any additional accounting practices permitted by the superintendent upon
the request of the insurer. [PL 2001, c. 524, §1 (NEW).]
[PL 2001, c. 524, §1 (RPR).]

2. Reserve required. If the superintendent finds, in view of the character of investments held by
a domestic insurer, that it would be prudent for the insurer to establish a special reserve for possible
losses or fluctuations in the value of its investments, including realty holdings acquired by mortgage
loan default, the superintendent may permit or require the insurer to establish such a reserve, reasonable
in amount, and may require that the reserve be maintained and reported in any statement or report of
the financial condition of the insurer.
[PL 2001, c. 72, §7 (NEW).]

3. Rules. The superintendent may adopt rules to implement the purposes of this section. Rules
adopted pursuant to this subsection are routine technical rules as defined in Title 5, chapter 375,
subchapter II-A.

[PL 2001, c. 72, §7 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 2001, c. 72, §7 (NEW). PL 2001, c. 524, §1 (AMD).

§902. Assets not allowed

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1987, c. 399, §2 (AMD). PL 2001, c. 72, §8 (RP).

SUBCHAPTER 2
LIABILITIES
(REPEALED)

§921. Liabilities, in general
(REPEALED)
SECTION HISTORY
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PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1977, c. 432, §1 (AMD). PL 2001,
c. 72, §9 (RP).

§922. Disallowance of "wash' transactions

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 2001, c. 72, §9 (RP).
§923. Unearned premium reserve

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 2001, c. 72, §9 (RP).

§924. Unearned premium reserve for marine and transportation insurance
(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 2001, c. 72, §9 (RP).
§925. Health insurance policy reserves

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 124 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1979, c.
453, §1 (RPR). PL 1979, c. 663, §§140,141 (AMD). PL 2001, c. 72, §9 (RP).

§926. Title insurance reserves

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 2001, c. 72, §9 (RP).
§927. Mortgage guaranty contingency reserve
(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1969, c. 177, §16 (AMD). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL
1981, c. 501, §43 (AMD). PL 2001, c. 72, §9 (RP).

SUBCHAPTER 2-A
PROPERTY CASUALTY INSURANCE RESERVES

§941. Definitions

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 128 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 281, §1 (RP). PL 2007, c. 281, §3 (AFF).
§942. Property and casualty insurance reserves; required annual certifications
(REPEALED)
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SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 128 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 281, §1 (RP). PL 2007, c. 281, §3 (AFF).
§943. Statement of certifying actuary

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 128 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 281, §1 (RP). PL 2007, c. 281, §3 (AFF).
§944. Exceptions

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 128 (NEW). PL 1999, c. 113, §22 (RP).

§945. Transition period

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 128 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 281, §1 (RP). PL 2007, c. 281, §3 (AFF).
§946. Required notice

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 128 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 281, §1 (RP). PL 2007, c. 281, §3 (AFF).
§947. Rules authorized

(REPEALED)

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1991, c. 128 (NEW). PL 2007, c. 281, §1 (RP). PL 2007, c. 281, §3 (AFF).

SUBCHAPTER 3
LIFE INSURANCE RESERVES

§951. Short title

This subchapter may be known and cited as "the Standard Valuation Law." [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt.
C, §1 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1983, c. 346, §1 (AMD). PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §1 (RPR).
§951-A. Definitions

As used in this subchapter, unless the context otherwise indicates, the following terms have the
following meanings. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

1. Appointed actuary. "Appointed actuary" means the actuary appointed by an insurer pursuant
to section 952-A, subsection 1.
[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

2. NAIC.
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[PL 2021, c. 521, §26 (RP).]

3. Operative date. "Operative date," with respect to the initial adoption of the valuation manual,
means January st of the first calendar year beginning at least 6 months after all of the following events
have occurred:

A. The valuation manual has been adopted by the NAIC by an affirmative vote of at least 42
members or 3/4 of the members voting, whichever is greater; [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §2
(NEW).]

B. The NAIC's model standard valuation law, as amended by the NAIC in 2009, or legislation
including substantially similar terms and provisions has been enacted by states representing greater
than 75% of the direct premiums written as reported in the following annual statements submitted

for 2008: life, accident and health annual statements; health annual statements; or fraternal annual
statements; and [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

C. The NAIC's model standard valuation law, as amended by the NAIC in 2009, or legislation
including substantially similar terms and provisions has been enacted by at least 42 of the following
55 jurisdictions: the 50 states of the United States, American Samoa, the District of Columbia,
Guam, the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and the United States Virgin Islands. [PL 2013, c. 238,
Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

4. Policyholder behavior. "Policyholder behavior" means any action a policyholder, contract
holder or any other person with the right to elect options, such as a certificate holder, may take under a
policy or contract subject to this subchapter, including, but not limited to, lapse, withdrawal, transfer,
deposit, premium payment, loan, annuitization or benefit elections prescribed by the policy or contract,
but excluding events of mortality or morbidity that result in benefits prescribed in their essential aspects
by the terms of the policy or contract.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §2 (NEW) ]

5. Principle-based valuation. "Principle-based valuation" means a reserve valuation that uses
one or more methods or one or more assumptions determined by the insurer and is subject to section
960.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

6. Qualified actuary. "Qualified actuary" means an individual who is qualified to sign the
applicable statement of actuarial opinion in accordance with the American Academy of Actuaries
qualification standards for actuaries signing such statements and who meets all applicable requirements
specified in the valuation manual or by rule adopted by the superintendent.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §2 (NEW) ]

7. Subject lines of insurance. "Subject lines of insurance" means life insurance, accident and
health insurance and deposit-type contracts, as those terms are defined in the valuation manual.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §2 (NEW)]

8. Tail risk. "Tail risk" means a risk for which the frequency of low-probability events is higher
than expected under a normal probability distribution or the risk of events of very significant magnitude.
[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

9. Valuation manual. "Valuation manual" means the manual of valuation instructions adopted
by the NAIC as specified in section 959.
[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §2 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §2 (NEW). PL 2021, c. 521, §26 (AMD).

§952. Calculation of reserve liabilities
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1. The superintendent shall annually value, or cause to be valued, the reserve liabilities, hereinafter
called reserves, for all outstanding life insurance policies and annuity and pure endowment contracts
of every life insurer transacting business in this State in accordance with this subchapter, except that in
the case of an alien insurer, such valuation must be limited to its United States business; and may certify
the amount of any such reserves, specifying the mortality table or tables, rate or rates of interest and
methods, net level premium method or other, used in the calculation of such reserves. In calculating
such reserves, the superintendent may use group methods and approximate averages for fractions of a
year or otherwise. In lieu of the valuation of the reserves required of any foreign or alien insurer, the
superintendent may accept any valuation made, or caused to be made, by the insurance supervisory
official of any state or other jurisdiction when such valuation complies with the minimum standard
herein provided. For policies and contracts issued before the operative date of the valuation manual or
not addressed by the valuation manual, reserves must be determined according to sections 953 to 958-A.
For policies and contracts issued after the operative date of the valuation manual, reserves must be
determined according to sections 959 and 960 and as specified by the valuation manual.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §3 (AMD).]

2. Any such insurer which at any time shall have adopted any standard of valuation producing
greater aggregate reserves than those calculated according to the minimum standard herein provided
may, with the approval of the superintendent, adopt any lower standard of valuation, but not lower than
the minimum herein provided.

[PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD).]

3. Beginning on the operative date of the valuation manual, a life or health insurer and a casualty
or multiple lines insurer transacting health insurance shall comply with the applicable requirements of
this subchapter if the insurer is required to hold a certificate of authority to write one or more subject
lines of insurance in this State or if the insurer has written, issued or reinsured contracts of one or more
subject lines of insurance in this State and has at least one such policy in force or on claim.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §4 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §§3, 4 (AMD).
§952-A. Actuarial opinion of reserves

1. General. An insurer doing business in this State subject to this subchapter shall appoint a
qualified actuary, in accordance with any applicable requirements of the valuation manual or rules
adopted by the superintendent, and annually submit the opinion of the appointed actuary as to whether
the reserves and related actuarial items of that insurer held in support of the policies and contracts
specified by the superintendent by rule are computed appropriately, are based on assumptions that
satisfy contractual provisions, are consistent with prior reported amounts and comply with applicable
laws of this State. Before the operative date of the valuation manual, the superintendent by rule shall
define the specifics of the opinion. On and after the operative date of the valuation manual, if the
valuation manual has prescribed specific requirements applicable to the opinion, the opinion must
comply with those requirements. The superintendent by rule may add any other items considered
necessary to the scope of the opinion.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (AMD).]

2. Actuarial analysis of reserves and assets supporting those reserves. Except as otherwise
authorized or required in accordance with rules adopted by the superintendent or applicable provisions
of the valuation manual, an insurer subject to this subchapter shall include in the opinion required by
subsection 1 an opinion of the appointed actuary as to whether the reserves and related actuarial items
held in support of the policies and contracts specified by the superintendent by rule, when considered
in light of the assets held by the insurer with respect to the reserves and related actuarial items,
including, but not limited to, the investment earnings on the assets and the considerations anticipated
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to be received and retained under the policies and contracts, adequately provide for the insurer's
obligations under the policies and contracts, including, but not limited to, the benefits under and
expenses associated with the policies and contracts.

The superintendent may provide by rule for a transition period for establishing any higher reserves that

the appointed actuary may consider necessary in the opinion required by this subsection.
[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (AMD).]

3. Requirement for opinion under subsection 2. An opinion required by subsection 2 is

governed by the following provisions.

A. A memorandum, in form and substance acceptable to the superintendent as specified in the

valuation manual or by rule, must be prepared to support the actuarial opinion. [PL 2013, c. 238,
Pt. C, §5 (AMD).]

B. If the insurer fails to provide a supporting memorandum at the request of the superintendent
within a period specified in the valuation manual or by rule or the superintendent determines that
the supporting memorandum provided by the insurer fails to meet the prescribed standards or is
otherwise unacceptable to the superintendent, the superintendent may engage a qualified actuary at
the expense of the insurer to review the opinion and the basis for the opinion and prepare a
supporting memorandum as required by the superintendent. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (AMD).]

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (AMD)]

4. Requirement for all opinions. An opinion required pursuant to subsection 1 or 2 is governed

by the following provisions.

A. The opinion must be submitted with the annual statement reflecting the valuation of reserve
liabilities for each year ending on or after December 31, 1995. [PL 1993, c. 634, Pt. B, §1
(NEW); PL 1993, c. 634, Pt. B, §4 (AFF).]

B. The opinion must apply to all business in force, including individual and group health insurance
plans, in a form and substance acceptable to the superintendent. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5
(AMD).]

B-1. The opinion must comply with the requirements of any applicable rules and, on and after the

operative date of the valuation manual, must comply with all applicable requirements of the
valuation manual. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (NEW).]

C. The opinion must be based on standards adopted by the Actuarial Standards Board or its
successor and, to the extent applicable, on any additional standards prescribed by the valuation
manual or prescribed by the superintendent by rule. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (AMD).]

D. In the case of an opinion required to be submitted by a foreign or alien insurer, the
superintendent may accept the opinion filed by that insurer with the insurance supervisory official
of another state if the superintendent determines that the opinion reasonably meets the requirements
applicable to an insurer domiciled in this State. [PL 1993, c. 634, Pt. B, §1 (NEW); PL 1993,
c. 634, Pt. B, §4 (AFF).]

E. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (RP).]

F. Except in cases of fraud or willful misconduct, the appointed actuary is not liable for damages
to any person, other than the insurer and the superintendent, for any act, error, omission, decision
or conduct with respect to the appointed actuary's opinion. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (AMD).]

G. The superintendent may take disciplinary action against the insurer or the appointed actuary
pursuant to section 12-A for knowing violations of this section and may establish additional
grounds for disciplinary action by rule. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (AMD).]

H. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (RP).]

162 |

Generated

Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE 10.30.2023



MRS Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE

. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (RP).]
J. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (RP) ]
K. [PL 2013, c.238, Pt. C, §5 (RP).]
L. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (RP)]

M. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (RP).]
[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (AMD)]

5. Applicability to health carriers. A health carrier not otherwise subject to this section or section
993 shall file an actuarial opinion in accordance with the applicable National Association of Insurance
Commissioners annual statement instructions. For purposes of this section, "health carrier" means an
insurer, health maintenance organization, nonprofit corporation subject to Title 24 or fraternal benefit
society that provides health insurance or comparable health benefits. This section and rules adopted
pursuant to this section apply to health carriers to the extent provided in the valuation manual. Before
the operative date of the valuation manual, this section and rules adopted pursuant to this section apply
to health carriers to the extent that they specifically refer to health carriers or impose requirements that
are consistent with and no more stringent than the annual statement instructions.

[PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §5 (AMD)]
SECTION HISTORY

PL 1993, c. 634, Pt. B, §1 (NEW). PL 1993, c. 634, Pt. B, §4 (AFF). PL 2001, c. 89, §§1, 2
(AMD). PL 2009, c. 511, Pt. B, §1 (AMD). PL 2011, c. 320, Pt. A, §6 (AMD). PL 2013, c. 238,
Pt. C, §5 (AMD).

§952-B. Applicability of reserving methodologies

Sections 953 to 958-A do not apply to a policy or contract that is issued on or after the operative
date of the valuation manual and is subject to section 959, unless those sections are made applicable by
reference in whole or part in the valuation manual. [PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §6 (NEW).]

SECTION HISTORY
PL 2013, c. 238, Pt. C, §6 (NEW).
§953. Minimum standards

1. This subsection applies only to policies and contracts issued prior to January 1, 1948, or such
earlier date after July 21, 1945, as shall have been elected by an insurer as the date on and after which
it would comply with the standard nonforfeiture law.

Except as otherwise provided in subsection 3, the legal minimum standard of value for such life
insurance policies issued on or after the first day of September, 1931, by any life insurer chartered by
this State, shall be the American Experience Table of Mortality with interest at 3 1/2% per year. Any
such life insurer may, at its option, value its insurance policies issued on and after such day, in
accordance with their terms on the basis of the American Men Ultimate Table of Mortality with interest
not higher than 3 1/2% per year by the net level premium method. Reserves for all such policies and
contracts may be calculated, at the option of the insurer, according to any standards which produce
greater aggregate reserves for all such policies and contracts than the minimum reserves required by
this subsection.

[PL 1975, c. 342, §1 (AMD).]

2. This subsection applies only to policies and contracts issued on and after January 1, 1948, or
the earlier date after July 21, 1945, as shall have been elected by an insurer as the date on and after
which it would comply with the standard nonforfeiture law.
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Except as otherwise provided in subsection 3 and section 953-A, the minimum standard for the
valuation of all those policies and contracts shall be the commissioners reserve valuation method
defined in section 954, 3 1/2% interest, or in the case of policies and contracts, other than annuity and
pure endowment contracts, issued on or after December 31, 1975, 4% interest, and the following tables,
or in the case of these policies and contracts, other than annuity and pure endowment contracts, issued
on or after January 1, 1980, 4 1/2% interest, and the following tables.

A. Standard Ordinary Mortality Table. For all ordinary policies of life insurance issued on the
standard basis, excluding any disability and accidental death benefits in these policies, -- the
Commissioners 1941 Standard Ordinary Mortality Table; provided that the Commissioners 1958
Standard Ordinary Mortality Table shall be the table for the minimum standard for those policies
issued on and after January 1, 1966, or such earlier date after September 12, 1959, as shall have
been elected by an insurer as the date on and after which it would use such table as the basis for
minimum cash surrender values and nonforfeiture benefits under the standard nonforfeiture law
and prior to the operative date of the Standard Nonforfeiture Law for Life Insurance, section
2532-A; provided that for any category of those policies issued on female risks all modified net
premiums and present values referred to in sections 951 to 957 may be calculated according to an
age not more than 3 years younger than the actual age of the insured, or in the case of those policies
issued on or after January 1, 1980, according to an age not more than 6 years younger than the
actual age of the insured. For those policies issued on or after the operative date of the Standard
Nonforfeiture Law for Life Insurance, section 2532-A, the Commissioners 1980 Standard Ordinary
Mortality Table, or at the election of the company for any one or more specified plans of life
insurance, the Commissioners 1980 Standard Ordinary Mortality Table with Ten-Year Select
Mortality Factors or any ordinary mortality table, adopted after 1980 by the National Association
of Insurance Commissioners, that is approved by regulation promulgated by the superintendent for
use in determining the minimum standard of valuation for the policies. [PL 1983, c. 346, §2

(AMD) ]

B. Standard Industrial Mortality Table. For all industrial life insurance policies issued on the
standard basis, excluding any disability and accidental death benefits in the policies, -- the 1941
Standard Industrial Mortality Table; provided that the Commissioners 1961 Standard Industrial
Mortality Table, or any industrial mortality table, adopted after 1980 by the National Association
of Insurance Commissioners, that is approved by regulation promulgated by the superintendent for
use in determining the minimum standard of valuation for those policies, shall be the table for the
minimum standard for those policies issued on and after January 1, 1968, or such earlier date after
September 1, 1963, as shall have been elected by the insurer as the date on and after which it would
use such table as the basis for minimum cash surrender values and nonforfeiture benefits under the
standard nonforfeiture law. [PL 1983, c. 346, §2 (AMD).]

C. Standard Annuity Mortality Table or Annuity Mortality Table. For individual annuity and pure
endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental death benefits in those policies -- the
1937 Standard Annuity Mortality Table or, at the option of the insurer, the Annuity Mortality Table
for 1949, Ultimate, or any modification of either of these tables approved by the superintendent.
[PL 1983, c. 346, §2 (AMD).]

D. Group Annuity Mortality Table. For group annuity and pure endowment contracts, excluding
any disability and accidental death benefits in those policies -- the Group Annuity Mortality Table
for 1951, any modification of the table approved by the superintendent, or, at the option of the
insurer, any of the tables or modifications of tables specified for individual annuity and pure
endowment contracts. [PL 1983, c. 346, §2 (AMD).]

E. Class (3) Disability Table. For total and permanent disability benefits in or supplementary to
ordinary policies or contracts -- for policies or contracts issued on or after January 1, 1966, the
tables of Period 2 disablement rates and the 1930 to 1950 termination rates of the 1952 Disability
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Study of the Society of Actuaries, with due regard to the type of benefit or any tables of disablement
rates and termination rates, adopted after 1980 by the National Association of Insurance
Commissioners, that are approved by regulation promulgated by the superintendent for use in
determining the minimum standard of valuation for those policies; for policies or contracts issued
on or after January 1, 1961 and prior to January 1, 1966, either those tables or, at the option of the
insurer, the Class (3) Disability Table (1926); and for policies issued prior to January 1, 1961, the
Class (3) Disability Table (1926). Any such table shall, for active lives, be combined with a
mortality table permitted for calculating the reserves for life insurance policies. [PL 1983, c. 346,
§2 (AMD).]

F. Inter-Company Double Indemnity Mortality Table. For accidental death benefits in or
supplementary to policies -- for policies issued on or after January 1, 1966, the 1959 Accidental
Death Benefits Table or any accidental death benefits table, adopted after 1980 by the National
Association of Insurance Commissioners, that is approved by regulation promulgated by the
superintendent for use in determining the minimum standard of valuation for those policies; for
policies issued on or after January 1, 1961 and prior to January 1, 1966, either that table or, at the
option of the insurer, the Inter-Company Double Indemnity Mortality Table; and for policies issued
prior to January 1, 1961, the Inter-Company Double Indemnity Mortality Table. Either table shall
be combined with a mortality table permitted for calculating the reserves for life insurance policies.

[PL 1983, c. 346, §2 (AMD).]

G. Group Life Insurance Tables. For group life insurance, life insurance issued on the substandard
basis and other special benefits -- such table as may be approved by the superintendent. [PL 1983,
c. 346, §2 (AMD).]

[PL 1983, c. 346, §2 (AMD).]

3. Except as provided in section 953-A, the minimum standard for the valuation of all individual
annuity and pure endowment contracts issued on or after the effective date of this subsection, as defined
herein, and for all annuities and pure endowments purchased on or after the effective date under group
annuity and pure endowment contracts, shall be the commissioners reserve valuation method defined
in section 954 and the following tables and interest rates.

A. 1971 Individual Annuity Mortality Table. For individual annuity and pure endowment
contracts, excluding any disability and accidental death benefits in those contracts -- the 1971
Individual Annuity Mortality Table, or any individual annuity mortality table, adopted after 1980
by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, that is approved by regulation
promulgated by the superintendent for use in determining the minimum standard of valuation for
those contracts, or any modification of these tables approved by the superintendent, and 6% interest
for single premium immediate annuity contracts, and 4% interest for all other individual annuity
and pure endowment contracts, or in the case of these contracts issued on or after January 1, 1980,
7 1/2% interest for individual single premium immediate annuity contracts, 5 1/2% interest for
single premium deferred annuity and pure endowment contracts and 4 1/2% interest for all other
individual annuity and pure endowment contracts. [PL 1983, c. 346, §2 (AMD).]

B. 1971 Group Annuity Mortality Table. For all annuities and pure endowments purchased under
group annuity and pure endowment contracts, excluding any disability and accidental death benefits
purchased under those contracts -- the 1971 Group Annuity Mortality Table, or any group annuity
mortality table, adopted after 1980 by the National Association of Insurance Commissioners, that
is approved by regulation promulgated by the superintendent for use in determining the minimum
standard of valuation for those annuities and pure endowments, or any modification of these tables
approved by the superintendent, and 6% interest, or in the case of annuities and pure endowments
purchased under those contracts on or after January 1, 1980, 7 1/2% interest. [PL 1983, c. 346,
§2 (AMD).]
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This subsection shall not apply to any insurer before January 1, 1979, unless the insurer shall have filed
with the superintendent an election to comply with the provisions of this subsection after a specified
date before January 1, 1979, provided that an insurer may elect different dates on which this subsection
shall apply to individual and pure endowment contracts and to group annuity and pure endowment
contracts. If an insurer makes no such election, this subsection shall apply to that insurer on January 1,
1979.

[PL 1983, c. 346, §2 (AMD).]

SECTION HISTORY

PL 1969, c. 132, §1 (NEW). PL 1973, c. 585, §12 (AMD). PL 1975, c. 342, §§1-3 (AMD). PL
1979, c. 453, §§2-4 (AMD). PL 1983, c. 346, §2 (AMD).

§953-A. Applicable interest rates

1. The interest rates used in determining the minimum standard for the valuation of the following
shall be the calendar year statutory valuation interest rates, as defined in this section:

A. All life insurance policies issued in a particular calendar year, on or after the operative date of
the Standard Nonforfeiture Law for Life Insurance, section 2532-A; [PL 1983, c. 346, §3
(NEW).]

B. All individual annuity and pure endowment contracts issued in a particular calendar year on or
after January 1, 1984, or January 1, 1983, at the election of the insurer; [PL 1983, c. 346, §3
(NEW).]

C. All annuities and pure endowments purchased in a particular calendar year on or after January
1, 1984, or January 1, 1983, at the election of the insurer, under group annuity and pure endowment
contracts; and [PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

D. The net increase, if any, in a particular calendar year after January 1, 1984, or January 1, 1983,
at the election of the insurer, in amounts held under guaranteed interest contracts. [PL 1983, c.
346, §3 (NEW).]

An insurer electing January 1, 1983, in lieu of January 1, 1984, in paragraph B, C or D, shall notify the
superintendent of its election by written notice no later than December 31, 1983.
[PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

2. The calendar year statutory valuation interest rates, I, shall be determined as follows and the
results rounded to the nearest 1/4 of 1%:

A. For life insurance:
[=.03+W (R;-.03)+ W (R,-.09)
2 [PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

B. For single premium immediate annuities and for annuity benefits involving life contingencies
arising from other annuities with cash settlement options and from guaranteed interest contracts
with cash settlement options:

[=.03 + W (R -.03) [PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]
where R, is the lesser of R and .09,
R, is the greater of R and .09,

R is the reference interest rate defined in this section, and W is the weighting factor defined in
this section; [PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

C. For other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options, valued on an issue year basis, except as stated in paragraph B, the formula for

Generated

166 | Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE 10.30.2023



MRS Title 24-A. MAINE INSURANCE CODE

life insurance stated in paragraph A shall apply to annuities and guaranteed interest contracts with
guarantee durations in excess of 10 years, and the formula for single premium immediate annuities
stated in paragraph B shall apply to annuities and guaranteed interest contracts with guarantee
duration of 10 years or less; [PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

D. For other annuities with no cash settlement options and for guaranteed interest contracts with
no cash settlement options, the formula for single premium annuities stated in paragraph B shall
apply; and [PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

E. For other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options, valued on a change in fund basis, the formula for single premium immediate
annuities stated in paragraph B shall apply. [PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

If the calendar year statutory valuation interest rate for any life insurance policies issued in any calendar
year, determined without reference to this sentence, differs from the corresponding actual rate for
similar policies issued in the immediately preceding calendar year by less than 1/2 of 1%, the calendar
year statutory valuation interest rate for those life insurance policies shall be equal to the corresponding
actual rate for the immediately preceding calendar year. For purposes of applying the immediately
preceding sentence, the calendar year statutory valuation interest rate for life insurance policies issued
in a calendar year shall be determined for 1980, by using the reference interest rate defined for 1979,
and shall be determined for each subsequent calendar year, regardless of when the Standard
Nonforfeiture Law for Life Insurance, section 2532-A, becomes operative.

[PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

3. The weighting factors in the formulas in subsection 2 are given in the following tables:

A. Weighting Factors for Life Insurance:

Guarantee

Duration Weighting
(Years) Factors
10 or less .50
More than 10, but not more than 20 45
More than 20 35

For life insurance, the guarantee duration is the maximum number of years the life insurance can
remain in force on a basis guaranteed in policy or under options to convert to plans of life insurance
with premium rates or nonforfeiture values or both which are guaranteed in the original policy; [PL
1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

B. Weighting factor for single premium immediate annuities and for annuity benefits involving
life contingencies arising from other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest
contracts with cash settlement options:.80; [PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

C. Weighting factors for other annuities and for guaranteed interest contracts, except as stated in
paragraph B, shall be as specified in subparagraphs (1), (2) and (3), according to the rules and
definitions in subparagraphs (4), (5) and (6):

(1) For annuities and guaranteed interest contracts valued on an issue year basis:

Guarantee Weighting Factor for Plan Types

Duration

(Years) A B C
5 or less: .80 .60 .50
More than 5, but not more than 10: 75 .60 .50
More than 10, but not more than 20: .65 .50 .45
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More than 20: 45 35 35

(2) For annuities and guaranteed interest contracts valued on a change in fund basis, the factors
shown in subparagraph (1) increased by:

Plan Type
A B C
1525 .05

(3) For annuities and guaranteed interest contracts valued on an issue year basis, other than
those with no cash settlement options, which do not guarantee interest on considerations
received more than one year after issue or purchase and for annuities and guaranteed interest
contracts valued on a change in fund basis which do not guarantee interest rates on
considerations received more than 12 months beyond the valuation date, the factors shown in
subparagraph (1) or derived in subparagraph (2) increased by:

Plan Type
A B C
.05 .05 .05;

(4) For other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options, the guarantee duration is the number of years for which the contract
guarantees interest rates in excess of the calendar year statutory valuation interest rate for life
insurance policies with guarantee duration in excess of 20 years. For other annuities with no
cash settlement options and for guaranteed interest contracts with no cash settlement options,
the guarantee duration is the number of years from the date of issue or date of purchase to the
date annuity benefits are scheduled to commence;

(5) Plan type as used in the subparagraphs (1), (2) and (3) tables is defined as follows.

(a) Plan Type A. At any time policyholder may withdraw funds, only: With an adjustment
to reflect changes in interest rates or asset values since receipt of the funds by the insurance
company; without that adjustment, but in installments over 5 years or more; as an
immediate life annuity; or no withdrawal permitted.

(b) Plan Type B. Before expiration of the interest rate guarantee, policyholder may
withdraw funds, only: With an adjustment to reflect changes in interest rates or asset values
since receipt of the funds by the insurance company; without that adjustment, but in
installments over 5 years or more; or no withdrawal permitted. At the end of interest rate
guarantee, funds may be withdrawn without that adjustment in a single sum or installments
over less than 5 years.

(c) Plan Type C. Policyholder may withdraw funds before expiration of interest rate
guarantee in a single sum or installments over less than 5 years, either: Without adjustment
to reflect changes in interest rates or asset values since receipt of the funds by the insurance
company; or subject only to a fixed surrender charge stipulated in the contract as a
percentage of the fund; and

(6) A company may elect to value guaranteed interest contracts with cash settlement options
and annuities with cash settlement options on either an issue year basis or on a change in fund
basis. Guaranteed interest contracts with no cash settlement options and other annuities with
no cash settlement options must be valued on an issue year basis. As used in this section, an
issue year basis of valuation refers to a valuation basis under which the interest rate used to
determine the minimum valuation standard for the entire duration of the annuity or guaranteed
interest contract is the calendar year valuation interest rate for the year of issue or year of
purchase of the annuity or guaranteed interest contract, and the change in fund basis of
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[PL

[PL

valuation refers to a valuation basis under which the interest rate used to determine the
minimum valuation standard applicable to each change in the fund held under the annuity or
guaranteed interest contract is the calendar year valuation interest rate for the year of the change
in the fund. [PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

4. The reference interest rate referred to in subsection 2 is defined as follows:

A. For all life insurance, the lesser of the average over a period of 36 months and the average over
a period of 12 months, ending on June 30th of the calendar year next preceding the year of issue,
of Moody's Corporate Bond Yield Average-Monthly Average Corporates, as published by Moody's
Investors Service, Inc.; [PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

B. For single premium immediate annuities and for annuity benefits involving life contingencies
arising from other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with
cash settlement options, the average over a period of 12 months, ending on June 30th of the calendar
year of issue or year of purchase, of Moody's Corporate Bond Yield Average-Monthly Average
Corporates, as published by Moody's Investors Service, Inc.; [PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

C. For other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options, valued on a year of issue basis, except as stated in paragraph B, with guarantee
duration in excess of 10 years, the lesser of the average over a period of 36 months and the average
over a period of 12 months, ending on June 30th of the calendar year of issue or purchase, of
Moody's Corporate Bond Yield Average-Monthly Average Corporates,as published by Moody's
Investors Service, Inc.; [PL 1983, c. 346, §3 (NEW).]

D. For other annuities with cash settlement options and guaranteed interest contracts with cash
settlement options, valued on a year of issue basis, except as stated in paragraph B, with guarantee
duration of 10 years or less, the average over a period of 12 months, ending on June 30th of the
calendar year of issue or purchase